Basis of the vocal communication in hummingbirds



Dissertation

Fakultät für Biologie

Ludwig-Maximilians-Universität

München

Durchgeführt am

Max-Planck-Institut für Biologische Intelligenz

Seewiesen

Amanda Monte Bauer

Seewiesen

17. Juli 2023

Erstgutachter:	Prof. Dr. Manfred Gahr
Zweitgutachter:	Prof. Dr. Benedikt Grothe
Tag der Abgabe:	17.07.2023
Tag der mündlichen Prüfung:	21.11.2023

Ehrenwörtliche Versicherung

Ich versichere hiermit an Eides statt, dass die von mir vorgelegte Dissertation von mir selbstständig und ohne unerlaubte Hilfe angefertigt worden ist.

München, den 17.07.2023

Amanda Monte Bauer

Erklärung

Hiermit erkläre ich, dass die Dissertation nicht ganz oder in wesentlichen Teilen einer anderen Prüfungskommission vorgelegt worden ist. Im Weiteren erkläre ich, dass ich mich nicht anderweitig einer Doktorprüfung ohne Erfolg unterzogen habe oder ohne Erfolg versucht habe, eine Dissertation einzureichen oder mich einer Doktorprüfung zu unterziehen.

München, den 17.07.2023

Amanda Monte Bauer

Table of contents

Author contributions	1
Summary	3
General introduction	5
Chapter 1	
Absence of song suggests heterogeneity of vocal-production learning in hummingbirds	37
Chapter 2	
The hummingbird syrinx morphome: a detailed three-dimensional description of the	
black jacobin's vocal organ	63
Chapter 3	
Testosterone treatment unveils testosterone-insensitive song in an early-branched	
hummingbird	81
Chapter 4	
Absence of androgen receptors in the putative vocal control system of hummingbirds	129
Chapter 5	
Map of an immediate-early gene expression in the brain of the long-tailed hermit when	
singing spontaneously in the lek	169
General discussion	205
References	231
Acknowledgments	265

Author contributions

The doctoral research presented here was conducted at the Max Planck Institute for Biological Intelligence (former Max Planck Institute for Ornithology, Seewiesen). The study was carried out from September 2013 until November 2021; the thesis writing was concluded in Mai 2023. For all studies (Chapters 1-5), I performed the fieldwork, data collection, part of laboratory work, data analysis and writing of the manuscripts under the guidance of my supervisor Prof. Dr. Manfred Gahr, who fund the project, contributed to conceiving the study, scientific discussion and writing, except for the Chapter 2 which was conducted under the expertise of Dr. Daniel N. Düring. Dr. Maria Luisa da Silva co-supervised the studies of Chapter 1, 3, 4 and 5, contributed to fieldwork and helped with the acquisition of permits necessary to perform fieldwork in Brazil in all studies. Alexander F. Cerwenka and Dr. Bernhard Ruthensteiner contributed to data acquisition (µCT scan of the vocal organ) in Chapter 2. Dr. Albertine Leitão and Dr. Carolina Frankl-Vilches contributed to the experimental design, collecting of data during fieldwork, data analysis and scientific discussion of Chapter 3 and 4. Dr. Carolina Frankl-Vilches also contributed to the development of experimental techniques (molecular sexing and in situ hybridization) in Chapter 3, 4 and 5. Rodrigo da Silva Matos, Viviany Costa and Danielson Aleixo contributed to the fieldwork and data collection (Chapters 3, 4 and 5). Monika Trappschuh contributed to the hormone analysis of Chapter 3. Antie Backer performed the laboratory analysis of samples (molecular sexing and in situ hybridization) in Chapter 3 and 4 and Nina Sohnius-Wilhelmi (in situ hybridization) in Chapter 5. All authors approved the final manuscripts written and published.

Summary

Although hummingbirds draw attention to their unique hovering flight, as other birds, they strongly rely on sounds to communicate. As songbirds and parrots, hummingbirds convergently evolved the capacity of learning how to produce certain vocalizations early in life in a process similar to speech acquisition, vocal production learning, based on analogous neural substrate. During the past two decades of investigation on vocal production learning in birds, many similarities have been shown among avian vocal learners. However, comparative studies were mainly focused on the North American radiation of hummingbirds which is more than 15 million years apart to the common ancestors originated in the lowlands of South America. Furthermore, investigations on the principles governing vocal production learning in South American hummingbirds meets the lack of information about the basis of their vocal communication. Therefore, in this thesis, I investigate the vocal communication of hummingbirds using a comprehensive approach on an evolutionary perspective by focusing each chapter on a different yet complementary aspect: (i) evolution of their vocal behavior, (ii) anatomy of their vocal organ, sensibility of their (iii) vocal behavior and (iv) brain to androgens and (v) neural activity during vocalizations in the wild. I found that when investigated comparatively, hummingbirds show a number of dissimilarities concerning their vocal organ, brain and androgen sensibility when compared to other vocal learners and a hitherto overlooked heterogeneity in their vocal communication within the family. Towards the base of the hummingbird phylogeny, both sexes vocalize in similar rates independently of androgen. I propose the black jacobin (Florisuga fusca) as a model species here and in future studies to better represent the putative ancestral condition of the family. The inclusion of key yet understudied species, such as the black jacobin, in comparative studies can shed a different light on the understanding of vocal production learning in birds. This thesis paves the way to further

investigations on the evolution of vocal production learning from a more comprehensive perspective.

General introduction

Living organisms often leave traces of their activities that can be perceived by others and used as a source of information (Bradbury & Vehrencamp, 2011). In aquatic ecosystems, for example, a wide variety of planktonic organisms such as ciliates, algae, rotifers and crustaceans detect the presence of predators by sensing their chemicals diluted in the water and can react consequently (reviewed in Lass and Spaak 2003). One extreme case can take place for example in a tree hole where rainwater accumulates and mosquito larvae develop and feed on a ciliate species. When the ciliate detects chemicals in the water produced by the larvae, their free-living forms start cell division to transform into a parasitic form that is able to infect and eventually kill the larvae (Washburn et al., 1988). Such inadvertent or inevitable by-product of the larvae activity is used by the ciliate as a cue. Cues, like this, can also become signals, conforming the origin of a communication process (Bradbury & Vehrencamp, 2011). A signal can be defined as change in the environment caused by one individual (i.e., the emitter) to convey information to another (i.e., the receiver; Endler et al. 1993). Signals are the centerpiece of communication as they are expected to influence or alter the receiver's behavior and, importantly, have direct fitness consequences either on the emitter, the receiver or both (Bradbury & Vehrencamp, 2011).

There are limited mediums for the transmission of a signal: air, water, or solid substrates with fixed physical properties. However, the strategies of communication are infinite and the way how different organisms develop these strategies is just fascinating. For example, a bean plant infested by the aphid, a small sap-sucking insect, can communicate the danger to the neighbor plants by releasing odorous chemicals into the air, then the neighbors can respond by emitting different chemicals that repel the aphids and attract aphid-hunting wasps (Kost & Heil, 2006). When the infected bean plants were enclosed into plastic bags to prevent their alarm chemicals from spreading into the air, they still could alarm the neighbors, but this time by

sending chemicals via mycorrhizal fungi under the soil (Babikova et al., 2013). Either through the air or soil, the plant developed a successful strategy to transmit further the information: "There is something going wrong in here!" Humans could be surrounded by infested bean plants and still not perceive their chemical alarm without the proper tools because this chemical signal is tuned to the plant's morphology, the environment it occupies, and how this environment is sensed.

The evolution of communication signals depend on two factors: the efficacy of the receiver in decoding the message and the signal's 'design' which must contain enough information for receivers to retain their responsiveness (Bradbury & Vehrencamp, 2011; Guilford & Dawkins, 1991). While the signal efficacy is determined by the sender preadaptation, the signal design is determined by the receiver's (Bradbury & Vehrencamp, 2011). Additionally to sender and receiver preadaptation, the evolution of a signal is shaped by the environment that imposes both physical and biological constraints like attenuation, degradation or even the interaction with other life forms (Endler, 1992; Endler et al., 1993). Here, organisms can evolve different modes of communication like acoustic (also called auditory which is composed of water- or airborne signals), chemical (also called olfactory), electric, seismic (also called vibratory which is composed by substrate-borne signal), tactile and visual (Bradbury & Vehrencamp, 2011).

Among all communication forms, chemical communication constitutes the first one to evolve (reviewed in Tietjen and Rovner 1982). Chemical communication is the most primitive, widespread, and probably the primary mode of communication in the majority of living organisms (reviewed in Wyatt 2014). Although animals seem pre-adapted to detect chemical information in the environment (Wyatt, 2014), after the development of internal cavities (Coelomata), most animal taxa evolved other ways to communicate (Fig. 1). In birds, for example, although some ducks, auklets and petrels use chemical communication (Caro & Balthazart, 2010), the majority of the species have acoustic and visual as their primary modes of communication (Butcher & Rohwer, 1989; Catchpole & Slater, 1995; Haldane, 1955).

In organisms that disperse in the environment, sender and receiver can be more than a hundred meters apart and the information needs to travel over distance, consequently, some modes of communication such as electric or tactile can be infeasible. Another implication of communication over distance is the presence of obstacles in between, for example, in a dense forest or an ocean, there are many objects or other organisms in between emitter and receiver, thus, the signal must follow a trajectory around trees or a set of corals. Therefore, acoustic communication is used by a wide variety of animals due to the propagation properties of the sound waves in air or water that warrants efficient transmission over distance and obstacles (Bradbury & Vehrencamp, 2011).

The need for structures specialized in the production and perception of sound waves might have been a constraining factor in the early evolution of acoustic communication in Coelomata. Insects, for example, are known for their remarkable ways to produce sounds such as the stridulation in crickets and the loud sounds produced by the contraction of tymbals in cicadas, however, only nine out of 32 orders (~ 28 %) have specializations to perceive sound (Greenfield, 2016). Instead, insects use seismic communication – composed of self-generated vibrations transmitted via a substrate such as the soil or a plant stem (Narins, 1990) – more often because they produce these vibrations by diverse methods independent of morphological specializations and detected them by sensitive receptors present in all six legs (Virant-Doberlet & Cokl, 2004). In contrast, all classes of vertebrates have inner ears structures which seems a synapomorphy that has evolved ~ 400 mya (reviewed in Greenfield 2016).

Acoustic communication is widespread in terrestrial vertebrates (tetrapods, superclass *Tetrapoda*) and prevalent in most amphibians, mammals, crocodilians, and birds except for most lepidosaurs and turtles (Chen & Wiens, 2020). Chen and Wiens (2020) reconstructed the

evolution of acoustic communication across tetrapods and found that acoustic communication evolved independently in each of the major tetrapod groups and was preceded by nocturnal activity; the idea is corroborated by the fact that acoustic communication is rare among lepidosaurs but evolved repeatedly within the predominantly nocturnal clade, Gekkota (Chen & Wiens, 2020). In both amphibians and mammals, acoustic communication evolved ~200 mya and has been maintained in many lineages to the present day, however, secondarily losses have happened in several species. Such evolutionary loss was not identified in birds in which acoustic communication was inferred to be present in the most recent ancestor of living birds and the most recent ancestor of living crocodilians, each of these ancestors is ~100 million years old (Chen & Wiens, 2020).



Fig. 1 – The mode of communication is diverse among living organisms. Simplified tree of life redrawn based on an image available in "mammothmemory.net". Information about phylogenetic relationships is also from the textbooks Ruppert et al. 2004 (invertebrates) and Pough et al. 2004 (vertebrates). To access examples of communication in each taxon, I

performed a keyword search in Google Scholar by entering "communication AND" followed by the Latin taxon name or common taxon name as depicted on the tree, then I inspected the first five results pages. The modes of communication are represented by letters and colors: acoustic (A, orange); chemical (C, light blue); electrical (E, green); seismic (S, magenta); tactile (T, yellow) and visual (V, brown). References: chemical communication in Archae, Bacteria (Keller & Surette, 2006) and Fungi (Cottier & Mühlschlegel, 2011); use of volatile chemicals for communication in plants (Karban et al., 2014); use of pheromones for reproduction in Platyhelminthes (Bone, 1982); pheromones in Rotifera (Snell et al., 1995; Timmermeyer & Stelzer, 2006); visual displays (color-change) in Mollusca (Adamo & Hanlon, 1996; Shashar et al., 2004); acoustic (Greenfield, 2016), chemical (Pelosi et al., 2014), seismic (Virant-Doberlet & Cokl, 2004), tactile (Leonhardt et al., 2016) and visual (dance, Dethier 1957 and bioluminescence, Lloyd 1983) communication in Hexapoda (includes all insects); acoustic (Schmitz, 2002), chemical (Atema & Steinbach, 2007) and tactile (Karplus, 1979) communication in Crustacea; acoustic (Uetz & Stratton, 1982), chemical (Tietjen & Rovner, 1982), seismic (Barth, 1982; Rovner & Barth, 1981) and visual (D. L. Clark et al., 2011; Uetz et al., 2011) communication in Chelicerata (including spiders and scorpions); chemical (Sombke et al., 2011) communication in Myriapoda (centipedes and milipedes); electric (Bratton & Ayers, 1987) and visual (Hart et al., 2006) in cartilaginous fish; acoustic (Bass & McKibben, 2003), chemical (Liley, 1982; Stacey & Sorensen, 1991), electric (Kramer, 1990, 1996), tactile sensed by the mechanosensory lateral line system (Butler & Maruska, 2016) and visual (ultraviolet signaling, Cummings et al. 2003) communication in bony fishes (Teleosts); acoustic (Colafrancesco & Gridi-Papp, 2016), chemical (Madison, 1977), seismic (Narins, 1990) and visual (Hodl & Amézquita, 2001); acoustic, chemical, tactile and visual communication in marsupials (Russell, 1984) and in primates (Peters & Ploog, 1973); acoustic (Okanoya & Screven, 2018), chemical (Johnston, 2003) and seismic (Francescoli & Altuna, 1998) communication in rodents; acoustic (Catchpole & Slater, 1995), chemical (demonstrated for ducks, auklets and petrels, Caro and Balthazart 2010) and visual (Butcher & Rohwer, 1989) in birds; also acoustic (Colafrancesco & Gridi-Papp, 2016), chemical (Madison, 1977) and visual (Brejcha & Kleisner, 2016) communication in turtles (Chelonia) and acoustic (in geckos, Marcellini 1977), chemical (Madison, 1977), tactile and visual (Carpenter, 1977) in Lepidisaurs (lizards, snakes and tatuara).

Vocal communication in birds

Differently from chemical or visual, acoustic signals can be directly controlled by organs at the disposal of voluntary muscles and produced or interrupted instantly through body movements (Goller & Suthers, 1996; Hartshorne, 1973). Furthermore, sound waves have temporal and spectral parameters that can, to a certain degree, be voluntarily modulated (Hartshorne, 1973; Podos, 1997). Thus, sounds are fitted for signaling rapidly, subtly, and in a variety of ways (Hartshorne, 1973). Probably, the possibility of direct control was one of the factors that contributed to the positive selection for the use of sounds in birds (class Aves) culminating in the evolution of sophisticated systems of acoustic communication (Catchpole, 1982). In fact,

acoustic communication was initially proposed as the main driver through the diversification of the most successful radiation of birds, the songbirds (suborder *Passeri*, order *Passeriformes*, $\sim 41\%$ of the extant birds). Despite this idea was recently proved wrong, vocal communication is still a well-conserved and fascinating trait within birds (Chen & Wiens, 2020).

Birds produce a wide variety of sounds including a diversity of mechanical sounds that are generated by non-vocal sources such as wings, tails or bills (C. J. Clark & Feo, 2008; Dodenhoff et al., 2001; Gaunt & Nowicki, 2012). Woodpeckers (family *Picidae*), for example, can strike with their bill on a substrate to produce drumming that serves to communicate as this sound can elicit a conspecific response (Dodenhoff et al., 2001). The sounds produced by the vocal organ (vocalizations) have drawn attention particularly because they can be conspicuous, melodic and overlapping with human audible range (Catchpole & Slater, 1995). Moreover, after the 1960s, substantial advances in recording devices and software for sound analysis supported the development of bioacoustics – the study of the sounds of animals (Vielliard & Silva, 2010). Therefore, bird vocalizations, particularly those of songbirds, have been intensively studied for the past six decades being the most studied communication systems after human language (Catchpole & Slater, 1995; Tomasello, 2010). Bioacoustics has a specific terminology to classify birds' vocal communication that is largely but arbitrarily used (Spector, 1994).

Birds' vocal repertoire is divided into song and calls

Each bird species can produce a set of different vocalizations consistently in certain behavioral contexts, the vocal repertoire, which is arbitrarily classified as calls or song (Catchpole & Slater, 1995; Spector, 1994). The traditional definition is strongly influenced by studies of temperate songbirds that, mostly, follow strict seasonal regimes (Catchpole & Slater, 1995). Thus, the traditional definition states that calls are generally short and simple and are uttered by both sexes at all times of the year each in a distinct context such as alarm or begging, whereas songs are longer, more complex, and generally restricted to the males that emits it during the breeding

season for territorial defense and mate attraction (Catchpole, 1982; Catchpole & Slater, 1995). The traditional definition of song is based on multiple criteria (relative complexity of the spectral parameters, sex, seasonality and presumed function), therefore, this definition, which suits most songbirds, suits only partially many further bird species, in particular those from the tropics (Spector, 1994).

Studies focused on tropical species tend to use a broader definition; in these studies, song is the vocalization that, among other functions, primarily serves species-specific recognition (Vielliard 1987, e.g. Mathevon et al. 2008). Thus, each species is supposed to have a unique song that encodes a species signature, whereas calls are all other non-song vocalizations (Vielliard, 1987). Recently, in the attempt to expand the traditional definition of song for southern birds, a broader definition of song was proposed as "a sequence of several vocal elements with species-specific characteristics, performed with a particular rhythmic pattern, which serves for intraspecific communication" (Bonnevie & Craig, 2018).

Defining songs in hummingbirds

The ambiguity in the song definition can be tackled by each study with a simple declaration of the definition used (Spector, 1994). However, studies that compare songs of many species by using information from multiple other studies, as in a systematic review, may come across a homology problem. Given the suitability of the traditional definition, comparative studies of songbirds and maybe other well-studied taxa do not meet such a problem, but this is not the case for other taxa whose song definition is unclear as, for example, hummingbirds (family *Trochilidae*).

In the literature about the vocalization of hummingbirds, I found a few discordances in which of the vocalizations within the vocal repertoire of a species is the song. Authors might have relied on dissimilar song definitions but they do not always disclose a definition in the study. For example, in the case of the long-tailed hermit (*Phaethornis superciliosus*), the males

aggregate and vocalize in assemblies during the breeding season where each male perches in its territory to deliver a monotonous vocalization for up to 30 minutes (Stiles & Wolf, 1979). This vocalization was described either as song (Skutch, 1964; Stiles & Wolf, 1979), as call (B. K. Snow, 1973) or reported simply as a "janging noise" (Nicholson 1931). Another example is vocalization of the fork-tailed hummingbird (*Thalurania furcata*) which is also emitted by males in an assembly, Pizo and Silva (2001) classified it as an "advertisement call" whereas Vielliard (1983) classified it as song because "playback experiments elicit strong territorial response" and the response was interpreted as the recognition of a conspecific. Can this lack of consensus be taken as a sign of the unsuitability of the traditional song definition for hummingbirds? This question was addressed in **Chapter 1**.

Morphological basis of vocal production

In contrast to all other tetrapods which produce vocalizations with their larynx, birds has an unique vocal organ, the syrinx (Ames, 1971; Bass, 1989). The syrinx is located in the caudal end of the Trachea (Fig. 2a), suspended inside of the interclavicular air sac, and composed of vibrating membranes, associated cartilages and muscles (Clarke et al., 2016; King, 1989). In both the larynx and syrinx, sound vibrations are produced by the opening and closing of membranes during upstream airflow (reviewed in Bradbury and Vehrencamp 2011). Birds still have a larynx, but they only use the syrinx to produce sounds because the syrinx offers a biomechanical advantage for sound production over the larynx (Riede et al., 2019). This advantage is given by the location of the syrinx deep in the thorax with a longer vocal tract above the source of sound which improves vocal efficiency by demanding a lower phonation threshold pressure and generating higher sound intensities (Riede et al., 2019).

The anatomy of the syrinx is highly variable across different avian taxa to the extent that it has been used to guide avian phylogenetic classification (Ames, 1971; Suthers & Zollinger, 2008). Up to three pairs of vibrating membranes are present and depending on where

these membranes are allocated, the syrinx can be classified into tracheal, tracheobronchial or bronchial (Smolker, 1947). The syrinx musculature can be only partially attached to the syrinx, the extrinsic muscles, or completely attached, the intrinsic muscles (Ames, 1971; Gaunt & Gaunt, 1985). In contrast to the extrinsic, intrinsic muscles are facultative (Gaunt & Gaunt, 1985) and vary largely in number, for example, songbirds have from three up to nine muscle pairs (Ames, 1971; Gaunt, 1983) while parrots (order *Psittaciformes*) have two (Gaunt, 1983; Nottebohm, 1976) (Fig. 2b).

As intrinsic muscles provide finer control over the vibratory membranes, it was hypothesized that a syrinx with intrinsic musculature is a prerequisite for the production of complex vocalizations (Gaunt, 1983). Similar to songbirds and parrots, some hummingbirds species produce complex vocalizations (Ferreira et al., 2006; Olson et al., 2018; Silva & Vielliard, 2006). Hummingbirds have a tracheobronchial syrinx (Müller, 1878; Zusi, 2013) which, in species of a relatively recent taxon, is convergent to the syrinx of songbirds (Riede & Olson, 2020) (Fig 2b). However, it was unknown whether this convergence was also observed in early branched hummingbird species. Therefore, in **Chapter 2**, I investigated the syrinx anatomy of the black jacobin (*Florisuga fusca*), a hummingbird species that is phylogenetically distant to those previously studied and belongs to the sister taxa of all other extent hummingbirds (McGuire et al., 2014). By investigating the black jacobin, I could suggest synapomorphies to the hummingbird family and their implications for the production of complex vocalizations which are potentially learned.



Fig. 2 - The vocal organ of tetrapods is part of their respiratory system and birds evolved a novel vocal organ, the syrinx, which is diverse among avian taxa. (a) Schematic representation of the respiratory system indicating the location of the vocal organ (yellow) that is cranial for the larynx and caudal for the bird syrinx. Redraw from Bradbury and Vehrencamp (2011). (b) General syrinx anatomy of songbirds (ventral view; based on brown thrasher, Toxostoma rufum, and cardinal, *Cardinalis cardinalis*), parrots (ventral view; cockatiels, *Nymphicus hollandicus*) and hummingbirds (dorsal view where intrinsic muscles can be better visualized; black jacobin, Florisuga fusca). The intrinsic musculature is completely attached (pink) and the extrinsic (orange) is only partially attached to the syrinx. The number of intrinsic muscles varies among taxa but is present in all three of them. The tracheolateral muscle (TL) is present in all of them but the sterno-tracheal muscle (ST), responsible for the stabilization of the syrinx in the interclavicular air sac, is absent in hummingbirds (Chapter 2). Trachea and Bronchi are represented in blue. The songbird and parrot syrinxes were redrawn from Larsen and Goller (2002) and the hummingbird from Monte et al. (2020). dS, musculus syringealis dorsalis; dTB, *m. tracheobronchialis dorsalis*; SP, *m. syringealis profundus*; SS, *m. syringealis superficialis*; ST, m. sternotrachealis; TL, m. tracheolateralis; vS, m. syringealis ventralis; vTB, m. tracheobronchialis ventralis; CrS, m. syringealis cranialis; CeS, m. syringealis centralis; CaS, m. syringealis caudalis.

Learned versus innate vocalizations

In the syrinx, air-induced vibratory movements generates sounds whose acoustic features can be modulated by changes in the geometry of the membranes given by muscle activity (Goller & Larsen, 1997; Larsen & Goller, 1999). Contraction of different syringeal muscles can withdraw or close membranes from the syringeal lumen, causing opening or closing of the syringeal airways (Larsen & Goller, 1999; Rüppell, 1933). Complex sounds such as the song of a canary (*Serinus canaria*) with its high variation in pitch can be reproduced by the simple oscillations in bronchial pressure and vocal fold tension (Gardner et al., 2001). Nevertheless, the production of specific acoustic features such as of the canary song depends on the precise coordination of respiratory and syringeal muscles given by the brain (Alonso et al., 2015). The brain coordinate the production of sounds via a interconected network of nuclei distributed across several regions: brainstem, thalamus and telecephalon that functions in a circular fashion (Alonso et al., 2015). Most of bird vocalizations are produced without the need of auditory preexposure, for example, flycatchers raised in acoustic isolation develop similar songs to wild cospecifics; these vocalizations are innate (Kroodsma, 1984, 1996; Marler, 2004). Whereas some requires a learning process, for example, canaries not exposed to their specific song during their first year developed a abnormal song; these vocalizations are learned (Leitner & Catchpole, 2007). Only learned vocalizations demands a complete brain network including some telencephalic nuclei (reviewed in Nottebohm 2005).

Vocal production learning

To produce complex vocalizations, some animals need to undergo a learning process that holds striking parallels with speech acquisition in humans, namely vocal production learning or simply vocal learning (reviewed in Marler 1970b and recently in Jarvis 2019). Vocal production learning is the ability to learn how to produce novel sounds based on auditory experiences (Doupe & Kuhl, 1999; Nottebohm, 1970). This ability is rare and evolved independently only in a handful of unrelated mammals and birds (reviewed in Janik and Slater 1997, 2000).

Among mammals, the vocal learners are bats (order *Chiroptera*, reviewed in Knörnschild 2014), cetaceans (infraorder *Cetacea*, including dolphins and whales, reviewed in Janik 2014), some elephants (Poole et al., 2005), pinnipeds (a clade composed by three families of seals, sea lions, and walruses, reviewed in Reichmuth and Casey 2014) as well as humans (reviewed in

Jarvis 2019), and most recently mole rats (Barker et al., 2021). Among birds, the vocal learners are songbirds (suborder *Passeri* or *Oscines*) (Bottjer et al., 1985; Nottebohm et al., 1976), parrots (order *Psittaciformes*) (Jarvis & Mello, 2000) and hummingbirds (family *Trochilidae*) (Baptista & Schuchmann, 1990).

Before reviewing the current knowledge on vocal learning, it is important to first define the difference among usage vocal learning, auditory learning and vocal production learning because only the latter is rare (Jarvis, 2019; Petkov & Jarvis, 2012). Usage vocal learning is the ability to learn through social experience to use vocalizations in a specific context (Petkov & Jarvis, 2012). Meerkats (*Suricata suricatta*), for example, have spectrally different alarm calls that are given to specific predators such as the snake and the avian predator and elicit contrasting conspecific responses (Manser et al., 2002). Both alarm calls are innate, but juvenile meerkats probably need to learn from more experienced ones to match the call to the corresponding predator and which is the appropriate response. Auditory learning is also the ability to associate a sound, vocal or not, with a behavioral reaction but the difference from usage learning is that this association is made with a sound that is heard, for example, the use of different keywords to train a dog (Petkov & Jarvis, 2012). In contrast to usage and auditory learning, vocal production learning is primary a motor rather than associative learning (Feenders et al., 2008).

To be listed as a vocal learner, Kroodsma and Baylis (1982) proposed that a species must show at least one of the following characteristics: (*i*) natural interspecific vocal imitation; (*ii*) intraspecific vocal imitation; (*iii*) experimental vocal imitation of conspecifics, heterospecific or non-avian sounds and; (*iv*) abnormal vocal development under acoustic deprivation. Additionally, the presence of the brain specializations related to vocal production learning is taken as a neurobiological piece of evidence because vocal learners convergently evolved these brain specializations that are absent in non-vocal learners (Gahr, 2000; Jarvis, 2007). Among the several hypotheses proposed to explain the selective advantages leading to vocal production learning, the sexual selection hypothesis is suggested to have a broader taxonomic application (Jarvis, 2006; Nowicki & Searcy, 2014). The sexual selection hypothesis, also called mate attraction, suggests that vocal production learning enables vocalizations to become more varied as a result of a mating preference for vocal complexity (Nowicki & Searcy, 2014). Nevertheless, in less studied vocal learners such as hummingbirds, it is unclear whether learned vocalizations are subjected to sexual selection in the first place.

Birds are excellent study models to investigate the mechanism of vocal production learning due to their mostly dial activity and conspicuous vocalizations that are relatively accessible and quantifiable (Catchpole & Slater, 1995). During the past five decades, numerous studies focused particularly on a few species of songbirds were conducted and elucidated important neurobiological and physiological aspects underlying the ontogeny of vocal production learning. However, the selective pressures underlying the evolution of high cognitive ability as vocal production learning in such different taxa remains unknown (Jarvis, 2006; Nowicki & Searcy, 2014).

In birds, the ontogeny of vocal production learning can be divided in two phases: sensory and sensorimotor (Doupe & Kuhl, 1999; Nottebohm, 1970). The sensory phase happens when a juvenile gets repeatedly exposed to the sound to be learned and memorizes it, and the sensorimotor phase when the juvenile progressively reproduces a more accurate copy of the memorized model by auditory feedback (Doupe & Kuhl, 1999; Marler & Peters, 1982; Nottebohm, 1970). These phases can be constrained to early life (closed-ended learners) or happen throughout life (open-ended learners) (Nottebohm, 1992). Among songbirds, there are both closed-ended, for example, zebra finches (*Taeniopygia guttata*, Zann 1990) and open-ended learners, for example, canaries (*Serinus canaria*, Nottebohm and Nottebohm 1978); among parrots, all species investigated to date seem open-learners (Bradbury & Balsby, 2016)

and among hummingbirds, two distant related species are suggested to be open-learners (Araya-Salas & Wright, 2013; Johnson & Clark, 2020).

Research on vocal communication is primarily associated with songbird species and only to a lesser extent with parrots and hummingbirds. Thus, it is unclear whether the sexual selection hypothesis can explain the origin of vocal production learning in any bird taxa other than songbirds. Comprehensive comparison among bird vocal learners -- songbirds, parrots and hummingbirds -- will benefit from in-depth investigations of hummingbirds' vocal communication. Especially hummingbirds because they have not only the smallest brains capable of vocal production learning but also, they are the vocal learner with the fastest metabolism, in addition to several specializations which makes them unique. Therefore, hummingbirds is a key taxon in comparative studies to investigate which are prerequisites to the evolution of vocal production learning in animals.

Vocal production learning in hummingbirds

Most of the pieces of evidence for vocal production learning in hummingbirds are given by dialects of lekking species (e.g. González and Ornelas 2005, Araya-Salas and Wright 2013, Lara et al. 2015). The first studies suggesting the existence of vocal production learning in hummingbirds date from the end of the 1960s, when intraspecific vocal imitation was described in lekking hermits (subfamily *Phaethornithinae*) (D. W. Snow, 1968). Males of most hermit species aggregate in communal display grounds, the so-called leks, where they perform vocal and complementary visual displays to compete for females (D. W. Snow, 1968; Stiles & Wolf, 1979; Wiley, 1971). These studies found that, in the leks, neighboring males have more similar songs than geographically distant males (D. W. Snow, 1968; Stiles & Wolf, 1979; Wiley, 1971). Such geographical variation of song, the so-called vocal dialect (M. C. Baker & Cunningham, 1985), can be a result of genetic differentiation among populations (M. C. Baker, 1982) rather

than vocal imitation, however, it does not seem to be the case in hummingbirds (González & Ornelas, 2014).

In the 1990s, Baptista and Schuchmann (1990) provided the first experimental evidence for vocal production learning in hummingbirds. The authors hand-raised one juvenile of Anna's hummingbirds (*Calypte anna*) acoustically isolated from conspecifics and a group of three juveniles without acoustic exposure to conspecifics other than to each other. They observed that when adults, the bird that was isolated produced a much simpler song than wild conspecifics and those raised in a group resembled each other suggesting intraspecific imitation.

In the 2000s, two independent studies on different species using different methods demonstrated that unrelated species showed brain specializations analogous to those found in songbirds and parrots related to vocal production learning (Gahr, 2000; Jarvis et al., 2000). These brain specializations were shown to be active during song production (Jarvis et al., 2000) in the rufous-breasted hermit (*Glaucis hirsutus*) and sombre hummingbird (*Aphantochroa cirrochloris*), they were present in Anna's hummingbirds and Amazilia hummingbird (*Amazilia amazilia*), but vestigial in ruby-throated hummingbirds (*Archilochus colubris*) and Allen's hummingbirds (*Selasphorus sasin*) (Gahr, 2000).

Meanwhile, other studies demonstrated vocal dialects which is direct evidence for vocal production learning in species other than hermits, for example, in the wedge-tailed sabrewing (*Campylopterus curvipennis*) (González & Ornelas, 2005). As well as indirect evidence for vocal production learning such as high vocal complexity in white-vented violetear (*Colibri serrirostris*) (Silva & Vielliard, 2006) and the blue-throated hummingbird (*Lampornis clemenciae*) (Ficken et al., 2000); intraindividual variation in the long-billed hermit (*Phaethornis longirostris*) which indicated that hummingbirds are open learners (Araya-Salas & Wright, 2013) and convergence in the regulation of specialized genes (SLIT–ROBO) in the brain of Anna's hummingbirds, songbirds and parrots (Wang et al., 2015).

About 20 years later, another study conducted an acoustic isolation experiment and investigated the ontogeny of vocal production learning in the sister species of Anna's hummingbirds, Costa's hummingbird (*Calypte costae*) (Johnson & Clark, 2020). This study demonstrated that the simple song of Costa's hummingbird is learned, but juveniles are able to copy adult's songs only after many hours of auditory exposure and if raised in visual contact with a conspecific (Johnson & Clark, 2020). A recent study on bees hummingbirds (tribe *Mellisugini*) showed that producing songs and mechanical sounds with the wing are negatively correlated (C. J. Clark et al., 2018). However, to date, no investigations tackled singing and vocal production learning at the family level, and questions remained open such as whether singing is the ancestral condition in hummingbirds, loss of song is consistently related to evidence against vocal production learning or there are pieces of evidence for losses of vocal production learning in taxa other than bees.

Endocrinological basis of vocal production

In vertebrates, many processes including vocal production, are coordinated by one or more hormones (reviewed in Baker 2003 and Harding 2008). In particular, steroid hormones such as androgens and estrogens can affect developmental stages and cause unreversible changes (organizational effects) and affect adult stages when changes are reversible (activational effects) (Phoenix et al., 1959).

There are two general types of steroid hormones: adrenocortical and sex (or gonadal) hormones; because both types are synthesized from cholesterol, they have in common a sterol nucleus but differ in organ source and physiological functions (reviewed in Nelson and Cox 2008). Adrenocortical hormones are produced in the cortex of the adrenal gland and can, for example, affect the metabolism of carbohydrates (glucocorticoids) (Olefsky & Kimmerling, 1976) or regulate the concentration of electrolytes in the blood (mineralocorticoids) (reviewed in Connell et al. 2001). Sex hormones (androgens and estrogens) are produced by the gonads,

also adrenals to some extent, and the brain (Schlinger & Arnold, 1991, 1992) and promote the development and determination of the reproductive system at the embryonic stage, masculinizing or feminizing the brain at birth, control reproduction, reproductive behavior, and the development of secondary sexual characteristics in adults (reviewed in Harding 2008). Sex differentiation is thought being regulated mainly by higher levels of estrogens in females and androgens in males, although both sexes have both (reviewed in Bear et al. 2007).

Due to their sterol nucleus, steroid hormones are too hydrophobic to dissolve in the blood and need to be transported on specific carrier proteins from their point of release to their target tissues where these hormones can bind to their respective receptors and affect the tissue via two alternative pathways depending on the location of these receptors (reviewed in Wehling 1997, Nelson and Cox 2008 and Harding 2008). In the classic genomic pathway, which may take several hours to days to cause hormonal effects, the hormone passes through the plasma membrane by simple diffusion and can bind to a specific receptor in the nucleus (reviewed in Nelson and Cox 2008 and in Harding 2008). Alternatively, in the non-classical signaling pathway, which happens on the scale of milliseconds to minutes, the steroids are thought to bind to its receptor or a non-specific protein or lipid located at the surface of the plasma membrane that mediates the activation of intracellular signaling cascades (reviewed in Wehling 1997). If there are indeed specific cell surface receptors for androgens and estrogens is a controversial issue, nevertheless, the non-classical signaling may not require the binding to a membrane receptor to play its seemly essential role in full responses of steroid hormones (Cooke & Walker, 2022; Cornil et al., 2006). Interestingly, in the classic genomic pathway, the intracellular steroid receptors act as ligand-regulated transcription factors, binding to DNA response elements and altering the transcription of specific genes and subsequently the production of proteins, including enzymes and other receptors (reviewed in Harding 2008) (Fig.

Testosterone

Testosterone is the main androgen in mammals and birds and plays an essential role in the anabolic process and androgenic effects in males (reviewed in Cai et al. 2016 for mammals and in Gahr 2020b for birds). Testosterone is synthesized from cholesterol after five enzymatic reactions and released mainly by the testicles (reviewed in Cai et al. 2016). Testosterone can be converted into and rogen 5α -dihydrotestosterone (DHT) by the enzyme 5α -reductase and into the estrogen 17β -estradiol (E2), which is the main estrogen released by the ovary, by the enzyme aromatase (reviewed in Frankl-Vilches and Gahr 2018). Testosterone and DHT bind to and rogen receptors (AR) and the estrogen to any of both estrogen receptor α (ER α) and estrogen receptor β (ER β) (reviewed in Frankl-Vilches and Gahr 2018) (Fig. 3b). Due to its greater molarity, DHT has a higher affinity to the AR and a stronger androgenic activity than testosterone (reviewed in Cai et al. 2016). As the enzymes that metabolize testosterone (aromatase and 5α -reductase) are expressed in certain brain regions, active and rogens and estrogens can be produced not only in the gonads but also directly in the brain (reviewed in Gahr 2020b). Aromatization of testosterone to E2 in the brain is critical for the activation of innate sexual behavior in rats and birds, quails and zebra finches (Cornil et al., 2006; Vockel et al., 1990). Once secreted, testosterone enters the circulation and is transported to target tissues where it (or its 5a-reduced metabolite 5a-DHT) may bind with AR that then forms protein complexes with coactivators and corepressors to modulate gene transcription. Alternatively, after aromatization, testosterone might bind in form of E2 to the ERa and ERb. AR, respectively ERa and ERb, binds to specific DNA sequences located in the regulatory sequences of genes. However, it is still a matter of debate which genes of a particular genome can be activated by the AR or the ERs or both. Likewise, it is unclear if the pleiotropic effects induced by testosterone AR interaction and by E2 ERs interaction are related to the transcription of a few hub genes or to the parallel AR facilitated transcription of very many genes (Ko et al., in press).

Testosterone dependence of singing

In birds, often singing behavior is sexually dimorphic and functionally related to reproduction, thus, its development and adult differentiation are sensitive to sex hormones (reviewed in Gahr 2007). Vocalizations related to reproduction was restored in castrated males or induced in juveniles after testosterone implantation in unrelated bird groups such as galliformes (e.g.: domestic chickens - *Gallus gallus* Andrew 1963, Grey Partridge - *Perdix perdix* Fusani et al. 1994, and Japanese quail - *Coturnix japonica* Beani et al. 2000), columbiformes (e.g.: ring doves - *Streptopelia sp.* Adkins-Regan 1981), parrots (e.g.: budgerigars - *Melopsittacus undulatus* Brockway 1968), suboscines passerines (e.g.: golden-collared manakins - *Manacus vitellinus* Chiver and Schlinger 2019) and several songbird species (reviewed in Gahr 2020a).

Specifically, in vocal learners, sex hormones have organizational effects not only on singing behavior but also on the brain (reviewed in Bottjer and Arnold 1986); these effects can be dissimilar among species and result in different degrees of dimorphism ranging from high, for example, in zebra finches only male sing (R. A. Zann, 1996), to low, female canaries rarely sings (Ko et al., 2020). Therefore, some species, as zebra finch, have obligate and others, as canaries, have facultative sex-specific songs (Gahr, 2007). In both vocal learners and vocal non-learners, sex hormones have activational effects in adult singing (reviewed in Harding 2008). In most of the species in which only male sings and follow seasonal reproductive cycles, sex hormones, in this case mainly testosterone, become high in the reproductive season and facilitate singing among other reproductive behaviors (reviewed in Gahr 2020b). As prolonged high levels of testosterone may incur physiological 'costs', such as exposure to predators and loss of fat stores (Wingfield et al., 2001), some species with expanded reproductive seasons have reproductive behavior related alternatively to high levels of sex steroid precursors such as dehydroepiandrosterone (DHEA) (Hau et al., 2004).

The effect of testosterone on the singing behavior was experimentally demonstrated in numerous bird species by castration (reviewed in Gahr 2020a). After castration, adult males reduce their singing rate which is recovered after consecutive pharmacological implantation of testosterone (e.g. Arnold 1975). In adult females, such implantations induce masculinized song only in species with facultative sex-specific songs (e.g. Vallet et al. 1996). However, in the female zebra finch, a species with obligate sex-specific songs, the administration of estradiol (17 β -estradiol or E2) early in the development induce singing (Gurney & Konishi, 1980). Whereas effects of testosterone in the singing behavior of females are species-specific, in males, testosterone affects at least the singing rate of all species tested to date (Gahr, 2020a). Further temporal and spectral properties of male song are also testosterone sensitive, but such as female singing, this sensitivity is species-specific (Gahr, 2020a). The testosterone dependence of singing in hummingbirds remained completely unknown.

Even in the tropics where seasons are not well marked, hummingbirds reproduce during a specific time of the year (Ruschi, 1964). It is, therefore, expected that males produce certain types of vocalizations only in the breeding season, whose, as in other bird taxa, are probably testosterone sensitive. I investigated the testosterone sensibility of male songs (or any other vocalization) as well as the masculinization of female vocal behavior under high testosterone levels in **Chapter 3**.



Fig. 3 – General mechanism of action and metabolism of sex steroids. (a) Representation of the main steps of the classic genomic pathway. The hormone is carried to the target tissue on a binding protein across the cytoplasm and binds to its specific receptor. The binding changes the conformation of the receptor which forms a receptor complex that binds to specific regulatory regions called hormone response element (HRE) in the DNA. These HREs are adjacent to specific genes that are regulated by the receptor. The receptor can attract either coactivator or corepressor proteins which increases or decreases, respectively, the mRNA formation rate of the adjacent gene. The mRNA can be translated and produce proteins that coordinate the cellular response to the hormone. Redraw from Nelson and Cox (2008). (b) Simplified diagram showing part of the general pathway for the synthesis of steroids sex hormones. The main androgen (blue box) is testosterone and estrogen (red box) is estradiol. In red are the enzymes and the red arrows indicated their respective metabolite which is represented in molecular form. Black arrows indicate the corresponding receptor which some of the metabolites can bind. Androgen receptor (AR), estrogen receptor α (ER α) and estrogen receptor β (ER β) are depicted. Based on Häggström and Richfield (2014) and Frankl-Vilches and Gahr (2018).

Neuronal basis of vocal production

The brain coordinates vocal production by sending motor commands to respiratory, vocal and upper vocal tract muscles (Wild, 1997; Zeigler & Marler, 2008). In birds, distinct brainstem nuclei directly control muscles of the syrinx (tracheosyringeal part of the hypoglossal motor nucleus, nXIIts) and indirectly control muscles of expiration (nucleus retroambigialis, RAm) and inspiration (nucleus parambigualis, PAm) (reviewed in Schmidt and Ashmore 2008). The nXIIts receive projections from a specific steroid-sensitive region of the mesencephalic nucleus

intercollicularis (ICo), the dorsomedial subregion (DM) in the mesencephalon, which, in turn, receive afferents from thalamic and hypothalamic nuclei in the diencephalon such as the nucleus pretectalis (PT), ventromedial nucleus (VMN), anterior dorsomedial thalamic region (DMA), occipitomesencephalic tract (OM) and nucleus rotundus (nRt) (Briganti et al., 1996). These mesencephalic and diencephalic nuclei mediate the activation of vocal behavior in all birds including vocal learners and vocal non-learners (Gahr, 2000; Wild, 1997).

Birds perceive sounds through a specialized brain circuit, the auditory system, which shows many similarities to other vertebrates (reviewed in Theunissen et al. 2008; Fig. 4, areas in blue). Briefly, the auditory system is composed of afferents from the cochlea in the ear that projects to the cochlear nucleus in the medulla that converges in the dorsal lateral nucleus of the mesencephalon (MLd). The MLd project to the nucleus ovoidalis (Ov) in the thalamus which, in turn, sends projections to the primary auditory area in the pallium, the Field L (divided into subregions L1, L2a, L2b, L3 and L), more specifically to the subregions L2a and L2b. These subregions make bidirectional connections with the adjacent ones, then L1 and L3, make also bidirectional connections with two secondary areas in the pallium: the nidopallium caudal medial (NCM) and the caudal lateral mesopallium (CLM) which are interconnected via the caudal medial mesopallium (CMM) (reviewed in Theunissen et al. 2008).

Vocal control system

Additionally to the vocal-respiratory and auditory systems, bird vocal learners have a set of anatomically discrete but interconnected nuclei in their forebrain that is involved in the process of vocal production learning, the so-called song control system (reviewed in Nottebohm 2005). This system, present only in vocal learners, is the basic mechanism to control vocal production and receives motor commands from the forebrain (Gahr, 2000; Nottebohm, 1991; Schmidt & Ashmore, 2008). In songbirds, these nuclei and their pathways are as well involved in calling (Ter Maat et al., 2014), thus, they are named broadly the vocal control system. Comparisons

among songbirds, parrots, and hummingbirds revealed striking similarities in the neuroanatomy of their vocal control system considering where they occur in the brain (Jarvis and Mello 2000, Jarvis et al. 2000, Gahr 2000; Fig. 4). This similarity is explained by some researchers as convergent evolution of the vocal control system from a pre-existing motor pathway that controls movement which is common to all birds (Feenders et al., 2008). However, this view is highly controversial.

The vocal control system of songbirds includes two nuclei that compose a motor, or posterior, pathway (HVC, proper name and the RA, robust nucleus of the arcopallium) which makes a direct projection from the arcopallium onto the vocal motoneurons in the brainstem and four nuclei that compose an anterior pathway loop which interconnect the nidopallium (HVC and the LMAN, lateral magnocellular nucleus of the anterior neostriatum) with the striatum (Area X) and thalamus (DLM, nucleus of the dorsolateral thalamus) which, in turn, projects back to the nidopallium (reviewed in Brainard and Doupe, 2002). Whereas the motor pathway is necessary for normal song production throughout life, the anterior pathway is important for vocal production learning early in life and song plasticity in adult birds (reviewed in Farries and Perkel, 2008; Fig. 4). HVC is part of both pathways, when bilaterally lesioned, the song is eliminated, whereas when RA is lesioned, song is only partially disrupted (Bottjer & Arnold, 1986). LMAN is the main nucleus of the anterior pathway, when lesioned in deaf birds, the song is not affected, however, lesions in intact birds make the song less variable (Brainard & Doupe, 2000). Thus, the anterior pathway plays a role in the modulation of song even in adult closed-ended learners (reviewed in Brainard and Doupe 2002).

Although convergently evolved, the vocal control nuclei of parrots and hummingbirds differ from that of songbirds in cytoarchitecture and connections, therefore, the nuclei are named differently (Gahr, 2000; Jarvis et al., 2000; Striedter, 1994). In parrots, the vocal control system also includes nuclei that compose a posterior pathway (NLC, central nucleus of the

lateral nidopallium and AAC, central nucleus of the anterior arcopallium) and an anterior pathway (MO, oval nucleus of the mesopallium; NAO, oval nucleus of the anterior nidopallium; MMSt, magnocellular nucleus of the anterior striatum and DMm, magnocellular nucleus of the dorsomedial thalamus) (reviewed in Jarvis 2007). However, some aspects seem unique in parrots: additionally to the projection to tracheosyringeal portion (nXIIts), AAc projects to the lingual portion of the hypoglossal nucleus (Striedter, 1994) and all nuclei have an anatomically distinct subdivision in the ventral part with distinct connectivity, the "shell" system, which function is unclear but suggested to be related to parrots' specific cognitive abilities (Chakraborty et al., 2015). In hummingbirds, the vocal control system also includes a posterior pathway (VLN, vocal nucleus of the lateral nidopallium and VA, vocal nucleus of the arcopallium) which projects to the brainstem and an anterior pathway (VAN, vocal nucleus of the anterior nidopallium and VASt, vocal nucleus of the anterior striatum) (Gahr, 2000; Jarvis et al., 2000). Interestingly in hummingbird, the vocal control system of males in two closerelated species seem vestigial when delimited by androgen receptor similar to non-singing females of songbirds (Gahr, 2000). It remains unknown whether this pattern is restricted to this group of hummingbirds, therefore, in Chapter 4 I used androgen receptors to delimitate the vocal control system of phylogenetically distant species and to confirm these delimitations, I used the functional activation of an immediate early gene immediate (EGR-1) of a species that belongs to the radiation evolved in the lowlands of South America in Chapter 5.



Fig. 4 – Vocal respiratory, auditory and vocal control systems in birds. The vocal control system is an exclusivity of vocal learners (songbirds, parrots and hummingbirds). In blue are the nuclei of the auditory system, in yellow are those of the posterior or motor pathway and in red of the anterior pathway that, together with the former, compose the vocal control system. The full lines indicate connections of the posterior pathway and dashed lines of the anterior pathway. Redraw from Jarvis (2007) and Bruno et al. (2020). AAC, central nucleus of the anterior arcopallium; ACM, caudal medial arcopallium; Ai, intermediate arcopallium; Area X, area X of the striatum; Av, avalanche; CM, caudal mesopallium; CSt, caudal striatum; DLM, medial nucleus of dorsolateral thalamus; DM, dorsal medial midbrain; DMm, magnocellular nucleus of the dorsomedial thalamus; HVC, vocal control area (proper name); HVC shelf, shelf of cells below HVC; L2, field L2; LAN, lateral nucleus of the anterior nidopallium; LAM, lateral nucleus of the anterior mesopallium; MAN, magnocellular nucleus of anterior nidopallium; MLd, mesencephalic lateral dorsal nucleus; MMSt, magnocellular nucleus of the anterior striatum; MO, oval nucleus of the mesopallium; MO-like, similar to the oval nucleus of the mesopallium; NCM, nidopallium, caudal medial; NDC, caudal dorsal nidopallium; NIDL, intermediate dorsal lateral nidopallium; NIf, interfacial nucleus of the nidopallium; NLC, central nucleus of the lateral nidopallium; nXIIts, tracheosyringeal subdivision of the 12th nucleus; RA, robust nucleus of the arcopallium; RA shelf, shelf of cells below RA; VA, vocal nucleus of the arcopallium; VAM, vocal nucleus of the anterior mesopallium; VAN, vocal nucleus of the anterior nidopallium; VASt, vocal nucleus of the anterior striatum; VLN, vocal nucleus of the lateral nidopallium; VMM, vocal nucleus of the medial mesopallium; VMN, vocal nucleus of the medial nidopallium.

Hormone sensitivity of the vocal control system

Despite the overall similarities among species, the vocal control system seems to undergo striking structural species-specific and individual changes during development and adulthood (Frankl-Vilches & Gahr, 2018). These changes are consequence of the organizational (development) and activational (adulthood) effect of sex hormones in the brain (Schlinger & Arnold, 1991). Androgen (AR) and estrogen receptors (ER) are widely distributed in the brain (reviewed in Frankl-Vilches and Gahr 2018). AR is present in nearly all forebrain nuclei of the vocal control system, except for Area-X showing strong inter-individual variation, some nuclei of the auditory system (e.g. NCM), diecephalon (e.g. MLd, nucleus mesencephali lateralis, pars dorsalis) and brainstem (e.g. nXIIts; reviewed in Gahr 2020b). In contrast to AR, ER presence in the vocal and auditory circuits is more restricted. For example, while ER α was found in the NCM of zebra finches, canaries and starlings, ER β was found only in the NCM of starlings (reviewed in Frankl-Vilches and Gahr 2018 and in Gahr 2020b). AR and ER in the nuclei of the vocal control system in the forebrain are unique to vocal learners (reviewed in Frankl-Vilches and Gahr 2018).

During development, the vocal control system undergoes sex differentiation. The degree of differentiation can vary depending on the species (reviewed in Gahr, 2007). In zebra finches, for example, only males sing and adult females have a vestigial HVC (Bottjer et al., 1985), yet females can develop a masculinized song and HVC if they receive 17ß-estradiol (E2) implantation early in life (Gurney & Konishi, 1980). In canaries, females rarely sing (Ko et al., 2020) and their HVC is strikingly smaller than males (Nottebohm & Arnold, 1976), however, adult females produce masculinized song and HVC after testosterone implantation (Nottebohm, 1980). In blue-capped cordon-bleus, females sing almost as much as males and their HVC is moderately smaller than males (Lobato et al., 2015).
During adulthood, the vocal control system undergoes annual changes in males of some seasonally breeding birds. For example in white-crowned sparrow (Zonotrichia leucophrys), HVC, RA and Area X, become larger during the breeding season (longer days) when males sing more than during the non-breeding season (shorter days) when singing declines (Nottebohm 1981; Tramontin et al. 2003). However, this concept of seasonal growth was questioned by detailed analysis of this process in other seasonal species such as the canary (Gahr, 1990, 1997). HVC reorganization during the breeding season can even take place in equatorial songbirds where the difference between the longest and shortest day of the year can be as little as 20 minutes (Quispe et al., 2016). Which organization level may be affected by sex hormones in a particular brain area, e.g. the RA, is likely species-specific but little studied, for example, testosterone affects dendritic morphology in the RA but not HVC of canaries (Vellema et al., 2019) but this has not been studied in other species. Likewise, testosterone induces a generalized restructuration in HVC by affecting, in nearly all cell types, the expression of more than half of the protein-coding genes of the canary genome (Ko et al., 2022) In non-singing female zebra finches, it is the auditory nucleus NCM that undergoes some life stage dependent changes by showing the increased amplitude of neural responses when estrogen levels are high which probably leads to faster replies to their mates during vocal interactions (Adreani et al., 2020).

ARs were found in the vocal control system of all vocal learners investigated to date (reviewed in Frankl-Vilches and Gahr 2018). These constituted at least 19 songbird species (Brenowitz & Kroodsma, 1996), the most studied parrot, the budgerigar (*Melopsittacus undulatus*) (Matsunaga & Okanoya, 2008) and two hummingbird species, Anna's and Amazilia hummingbird (Gahr, 2000). Although the vocal control system shows similarities in morphology and chemical properties across taxa (reviewed in Brenowitz and Kroodsma 1996), these taxa have dissimilar learning phenotypes considering sexual dimorphism, adult song plasticity (Beecher & Brenowitz, 2005) and also in how much of the song is actually learned

which is unrelated to phylogeny (Love et al., 2019). It is expected that the hormone sensitivity of the vocal control system is a universal mechanism among vocal learners to modulate the different learning phenotypes, however, the understanding of this mechanism is limited to the studies on a couple of temperate songbirds which may provide a rather limited overview of the possible phenotypes and their modulation. Therefore, the study of hormone sensitivity both in singing behavior and in the vocal control system in non-conventional model systems, in special those with different life stories and physiology such as hummingbirds, has the potential to expand our understanding of sex hormone role on the modulation of multiple learning phenotypes. Thus, the hormone sensitivity of singing (**Chapter 3**) and brain (**Chapter 4**) in an early-branched species such as the black jacobin is the focus of the last chapters of this thesis.

Natural history of hummingbirds

The hummingbird family (*Trochilidae*) is a radiation (McGuire et al., 2014) composed of 354 species that inhabit the Americas (Winkler et al., 2020). Previously, due to the lack of knowledge about the relationships within the family, the hummingbird family was crudely divided into two subfamilies: *Phaethornithidae*, the hermits with 34 species, and *Trochilinae*, the typical hummingbirds with the remaining species, (Schuchmann, 1999). More recently, McGuire et al. (2014) proposed a time-calibrated phylogeny strongly supported by molecular markers that cohere with geographic events and the distribution of the species. This phylogeny divides the hummingbird family into nine major clades: Topazes (*Topazini*), Hermits (*Phaethornithinae*), Mangoes (*Polytmini*), Coquettes (*Lophoornithini*), Brilliants (*Coeligenini*), Patagona (*Patagonini*), Mountain Gems (*Lampornithini*), Bees (*Mellisugini*) and Emeralds (*Trochilini*) (McGuire et al., 2009, 2014). Six out of nine major clades of hummingbirds (Topazes, Hermits, Mangoes, Coquettes, Brilliants, and Patagona) are nearly entirely composed of species restricted to South America, two clades (Coquettes and Brilliants) of species restricted to the Andes Mountains and one (Bees) to North America (McGuire et al., 2014).

The stem hummingbirds evolved outside of the current geographic range of the family, in Eurasia, where fossils dated from between 34 to 28 mya were found (Mayr, 2004). Then, at about 22.4 million years ago, hummingbirds ocupied the lowlands of South America where they first diversified. More 'recently', about 12 million years ago, the common ancestor of the Bee and Mountain Gem clades ocupied North America where a rapid species accumulation happened during the past five million years ago; at this time the Panamanian uplift was formed and favored multiple independent ocupations by Emeralds, Coquettes, Mangoes, and Hermits and single ocupation by Brilliants and Topazes via the Panamanian land bridge. Also about five million years ago, hummingbirds ocupied the Caribbean (McGuire et al., 2014). Between 10 and 2 million years ago, another uplift, this time that of the Andes Mountains, is suggested to have played a dominant role in the diversification of the South American hummingbirds because in the Andes there are at least 140 species which corresponds to 40% of contemporary hummingbird diversity (McGuire et al. 2014; Fig. 5). The success of the Andean radiation was favored by the lack of natural predators and the independent evolution of hemoglobin with enhanced oxygen-binding properties so these species can thrive in the oxygen-poor environment characteristic of high altitudes (Projecto-Garcia et al., 2013).

The split of the hummingbird family (*Trochilidae*) from their closer sister families swift (*Apodidae*) and treeswift (*Hemiprocnidae*) was suggested to have happened approximately 42 million years ago (McGuire et al., 2014). The phylogenetical proximity of hummingbirds, swifts and treeswifts – traditionally, the order *Apodiformes* – is supported by morphological features, molecular markers, cytogenetics and whole genomic studies (Mayr, 2002). Considering the morphological features, myology and osteology were the most explored. The study of Zusi and Bentz (1984) proposed that swifts and hummingbirds present several similarities in the muscles of the jay, abdomen, wing and especially neck. For example, two morphological synapomorphies of Apodiformes are neck muscle *musculus splenius capites* related to neck movement during the insect capture in fast flights (Zusi, 2013) and a unique

quadrate-squamosal articulation in their skull (Cracraft, 1981). More recently, an avian phylogeny based on the whole genome proposed that hummingbirds are sister taxa of the swift family (*Apodidae*) and both are close related to the nightjar family (*Caprimulgidae*) that together compose the order *Caprimulgiformes* embedded in the Neoaves (Jarvis et al., 2014). Another avian phylogeny based on 259 nuclear loci was consistent with the relationship between swift and hummingbird families, but grouped them in the order *Apodiformes* suggested being sister taxa of the nightjar family which together compose the Strisores clade placed at the base of the Neoaves branch (Prum et al., 2015). Recently, an avian phylogeny based on noncoding 3-prime untranslated region (30-UTR) sequences resolved the relationship at a family level and placed the hummingbird family in the Caprimulgiformes order embedded in the Neoaves (Kuhl et al., 2020). Interestingly, although swift and treeswift are close related to hummingbirds, only hummingbirds evolved the brain specializations related to vocal production learning (Gahr, 2000).

Hummingbirds are phylogenetically distant from the songbirds and parrots (Kuhl et al., 2020; Prum et al., 2015) which supports the idea that vocal production learning evolved independently in the group and most likely after the invasion of South America about 22 million years ago. However, it remains unclear whether this evolution happened in the common ancestor of all hummingbirds or independently in a few clades because of the evidence for vocal production learning in Topazes, the sister clade of all other clades, is still lacking. Therefore, the evidence for vocal production learning over a phylogenetic framework is the subject of the first chapter (Chapter 1) and morphological (Chapter 2), endocrinological (Chapter 3) and neuroanatomical (Chapter 4 and 5) basis of vocal communication were conducted on model systems from the clades closer to the root of the hummingbirds to pave the way in understanding the intriguing evolution of vocal production learning in such specialized birds in many aspects from diet to metabolism as hummingbirds are. Hummingbirds can potentially

unveil overlooked aspects about not only the evolution but the physiological mechanisms underlying vocal production learning.



Fig. 5 – Natural history of the Trochilidae family proposed by McGuire et al. (2014). Each of the nine major clades is represented by a drawing. On the bottom, a scale represents the time before the present in million years (Ma) and the respective geological eras (Miocene in orange; Pliocene in yellow and Pleistocene in green). On the top, is a drawing of a partial world map. The arrows indicate when (time scale) and where (world map), according to the phylogeny of McGuire et al. (2014), the clade or the common ancestor of two clades originated. Topazes, Hermits, Mangoes and Emeralds in South America; Coquettes, Brilliants and Patagona in the Andes Mountains, and Mountain Gems (Mtn. Gems) and Bees in Central and North America. A fossil of a stem hummingbird was found in Germany and is dated from between 34 to 28 million years ago (Mayr, 2004). The drawing was modified from McGuire et al. (2014) and the fossil from Mayr (2004).

Chapter 1

Absence of song suggests heterogeneity of vocal-production learning in hummingbirds

Abstract

Hummingbirds have been recognized, along with songbirds and parrots, as capable of learning songs. However, it is still unclear whether singing can be treated as a homologous trait within the family, analogous to songbirds. Therefore, we systematically compared the information about hummingbird vocalizations in the literature in a phylogenetic framework. In general, songs were emitted by perching males in a reproductive context, while calls were mainly in agonistic contexts. Singing was ancestral in most of the nine major hummingbird clades, but has been lost at least once in the mountain gem clade and twice in the bee clade. This evolutionary loss of singing might suggest heterogeneity of vocal-production learning.

Monte, A.; da Silva, M. L.; Gahr, M. (2023). Absence of song suggests heterogeneity of vocal-production learning in hummingbirds. *Journal of Ornithology*, 164 (3): 721 – 727. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10336-023-02057-9 | Chapter 1

SHORT COMMUNICATION



Absence of song suggests heterogeneity of vocal-production learning in hummingbirds

Amanda Monte¹ · Maria Luisa da Silva² · Manfred Gahr¹

Received: 14 August 2022 / Revised: 6 February 2023 / Accepted: 25 February 2023 © The Author(s) 2023

Abstract

Hummingbirds have been recognized, along with songbirds and parrots, as capable of learning songs. However, it is still unclear whether singing can be treated as a homologous trait within the family, analogous to songbirds. Therefore, we systematically compared the information about hummingbird vocalizations in the literature in a phylogenetic framework. In general, songs were emitted by perching males in a reproductive context, while calls were mainly in agonistic contexts. Singing was ancestral in most of the nine major hummingbird clades, but has been lost at least once in the mountain gem clade and twice in the bee clade. This evolutionary loss of singing might suggest heterogeneity of vocal-production learning.

Keywords Evolution · Vocal communication · Vocal learning · Ancestral state estimation · Trochilidae

Zusammenfassung

Das Fehlen des Gesangs deutet auf Heterogenität beim Gesangslernen von Kolibriarten hin. Kolibris sind ebenso wie Singvögel und Papageien in der Lage, Gesänge zu lernen. Es ist jedoch unklar, ob das Singen als ein homologes Merkmal innerhalb der Familie der Kolibris zu sehen ist, analog zum Singen der Singvögel. Daher haben wir die in der Literatur vorhandenen Informationen über Kolibri-Gesänge systematisch in einem phylogenetischen Rahmen verglichen. Im Allgemeinen sangen die dabei in der Regel sitzenden Männchen in einem reproduktiven Kontext, während das Rufen hauptsächlich in agonistischen Kontexten stattfand. Der Gesang war in den meisten der neun großen Kolibri-Gruppen evolutiv ursprünglich vorhanden, ist aber mindestens einmal bei Arten der "moutain gem "-Gruppe und zweimal in der "bee "-Gruppe verloren gegangen. Dieser evolutionäre Verlust des Gesangs deutet auf eine Heterogenität beim vokalen Lernen der Kolibris hin.

Introduction

For communication, birds use a range of species-specific sounds uttered in specific behavioral contexts, arbitrarily divided into two mutually exclusive subgroups: songs and calls (Spector 1994; Catchpole and Slater 1995). In most studies referring to temperate songbirds, the term "song" is used to the elaborate vocalizations emitted by males in the

Communicated by T. S. Osiejuk.

Amanda Monte amanda.monte@bi.mpg.de

² Laboratory of Ornithology and Bioacoustics, Federal University of Para, Belem, Brazil context of reproduction to defend their territory and attract females (Catchpole and Slater 1995). In studies mainly referring to tropical birds, "song" is the vocalization that, among other functions, primarily serves species-specific recognition (Vielliard 1987; Mathevon et al. 2008). In contrast, "call" has always been a broader term, often used for all non-singing vocalizations, such as those used to maintain contact, beg for food, and alarm conspecifics (Catchpole and Slater 1995). The definition of song is of particular interest because there are numerous examples of song learning in songbirds, but very few examples of call learning (Zann 1990). Therefore, song in songbirds is usually considered a learned behavior. Although hummingbirds are less studied, there is compelling evidence of song learning (e.g.: Jarvis et al. 2000; Gahr 2000; Araya-Salas and Wright 2013; Johnson and Clark 2020); however, a direct comparison to songbirds and within hummingbirds may come across a homology

¹ Department of Behavioural Neurobiology, Max Planck Institute for Biological Intelligence, Seewiesen, Germany

problem given by the possibility that different authors may have relied on different definitions of song. We investigated this problem in here first, then analyzed the evolution of singing in hummingbirds under the light of the most recent phylogeny (McGuire et al. 2014).

Methods and results

Singing in hummingbirds is functionally equivalent to songbirds

First, we gathered information from the literature on the vocalizations of hummingbirds to investigate which are classified as songs or calls and in which context they occur. In our survey, we reviewed 74 publications, from which we extracted 98 vocalizations described as songs and 125 as calls. This comprised 78 species (22% of the 363 species) and three subspecies (Table S1) representing 47 genera (42%of the 112 genera). The hummingbird family (Trochilidae) was traditionally subdivided into two subfamilies (Phaethornithinae and Trochilinae) (Hoyo et al. 1999); however, the most updated phylogeny suggests nine clades (eight tribes and one subfamily) (McGuire et al. 2009). Here, we follow the subdivisions suggested by McGuire et al. (2014) based on a multilocus (six genes and five loci) phylogenetic estimate which recognized nine clades. We sampled eight of these clades: topazes (three species, 75% of the total of 4 species in the clade); hermits (12 species, 30.8% of the total); mangoes (9 species, 32.1%); coquettes (7 species, 10.4%); Patagona (single species clade); mountain gems (3 species, 17.6%); bees (17 species, 48.6%) and emeralds (26 species, 22.6%) (McGuire et al. 2014; Winkler et al. 2020). Then we grouped the references by phylogenetic clades and applied a text mining method using the packages "dplyr" (Wickham et al. 2020), "tidytext" (Silge and Robinson 2016) and "wordcloud" (Fellows 2018) in R (R Core Team 2018). We obtained word clouds for seven of the nine major clades except for the little-studied Patagona and Brilliant clades. Details on the literature survey and word mining are in the Supplementary Material.

The most commonly used terms to describe the behavioral context of songs in all clades were "perch(ed)", "male(s)" and "display" and of calls were "agonistic" and "aggressive", except in hermits, whose calls are emitted mainly in flight ("flight" and "flying", most frequently used words) (Fig. 1, right column). We know from songbirds that perching songs emitted by males are frequently associated with reproductive contexts (Catchpole and Slater 1995), and this seems to be the same for hummingbirds. Although inter-species comparisons of hummingbird show strikingly different levels of temporal–spectral complexity in their songs (Fig. 1, left column), song appears to be functionally equivalent within the family.

Singing is ancestral, widespread, but not ubiquitous

Since the term "song" was used consistently in the analyzed publications, we used these references to investigate the evolution of singing in the hummingbird family. Seventy-one of the 78 included species and three subspecies were described as singing and 7 species (9%) as non-singing (Fig. 2, green and red circles). The sex of singing species was unknown in 54%, only males sang in 38%, and both sexes sang in 8% (six species, Fig. 2, venus symbol). Singing females are scattered throughout the phylogeny, thus, it is probably overlooked rather than rare. Likewise, non-singing species may be underrepresented since it is not attractive to report negative observations such as "non-singing". Being aware of these limitations, we, nevertheless, estimated the probabilities of singing occurring in the clades of the phylogeny (McGuire et al. 2014) using the maximum-likelihood method on the equal rate (ER) model and all different rates (ARD) model provided by the R package "ape" (Paradis and Schliep 2019). The ARD model had a better fit to the data compared to the ER model (LR = 7.12, df = 1, p < 0.01). Thus, gains and losses of singing behavior within hummingbirds might have happened at different rates. The ARD model estimated higher transition rates for gains (0.034 ± 0.016) than for losses (0.003 ± 0.002) . We obtained the posterior probabilities of the ARD model for singing to estimate the ancestral conditions of the hummingbird family and the clades within the family using the R package "phylotools" (Revell 2012). Support values above 70% are in general thought to be acceptable. Details on ancestral character estimation are provided in the Supplementary Material. In the hummingbird family as a whole, the probability of singing as an ancestral trait (92.6%) is higher than the non-singing (7.4%). Within the family, singing is probably, except for bees (69.1%), the evolutionary ancestral condition in topazes (94.2%), hermits (92.2%), mangoes (92.8%), coquettes (92.1%), mountain gems (90.9%) and emeralds (92.2%). Within bees, the ARD model estimated at least two evolutionary losses of song in the ancestor of the genus Archilochus (96.4%) and the common ancestor of the genera Selasphorus and Atthis (100%). As species in the genus Atthis sing, the model estimated a recovery (100%) in ancestors of this genus. Regardless, further loss of song occurred within mountain gems (Fig. 2, pie charts).

The presence of song in hummingbirds appears to correlate with vocal-production learning (Fig. 2, white circles, triangles and squares), as is also the case in songbirds (Kuhl et al. 2020), and evolutionary loss of song with degenerate



Fig. 1 Songs in hummingbirds are emitted mainly by perched males and calls mainly in an aggressive context. This result was derived from word cloud analysis containing a maximum of 100 words used at least twice in the literature to describe hummingbirds' songs and calls grouped by clade. The clades are represented in different colors (topazes, dark green; hermits, red; mangoes, blue; coquettes, purple; mountain gems, yellow; bees, pink and emeralds, green). Bigger font sizes in each group represent the word that was repeated the most. Songs of seven of the nine clades are represented by one species and highlighted in different colors. Examples of songs are represented by spectrograms. The recordings were obtained from or deposited in the online sound library xeno-canto (https://www.xeno-canto.org/), except for that of the black jacobin (*Florisuga fusca*), which is available only in our archive. The catalog number of the recordings are

as follows: long-tailed hermit (*Phaethornis superciliosus*) (Amanda Monte, XC454960), white-vented violetear (*Colibri serrirostris*) (Luiz C. Silva, XC138158), Brazilian ruby (*Clytolaema rubricauda*) (Jayrson Araujo de Oliveira, XC469392), blue-throated hummingbird (*Lampornis clemenciae*) (Richard E. Webster, XC324498), Anna's hummingbird (*Calypte anna*) (Paul Marvin, XC448778), sombre hummingbird (*Aphantochroa cirrochloris*) (Amanda Monte, XC454963). The xeno-canto recordings are shared under the Creative Commons License (CC BY-NC-SA). The hummingbirds' pictures were reproduced with permission from the rights owners: black jacobin, long-tailed hermit, white-vented violetear, and sombre hummingbird (Amanda Monte); Brazilian ruby (Lucia Calvet); blue-throated hummingbird (Steve Wolfe) and Anna's hummingbird (Janine Russell)

development of the putative vocal control system (Fig. 2, crossed squares), a phenotype similar to that of female songbirds unable to produce learned songs (Gahr 2000) (Table 1).

Discussion

Hummingbird songs are mainly emitted by males perched on exposed twigs probably because, in several species, males aggregate into singing assemblies (leks) (Stiles



Fig. 2 Ancestral character estimation of singing behavior in hummingbirds. Evolutionary history of the singing behavior in a sample of 78 hummingbird species (22% of the family) and three subspecies on a phylogenetic tree of the hummingbird family (adapted from McGuire et al. 2014). The outer circle indicates the prevalence of singing. Note that singing behavior is heterogeneously distributed within the hummingbird family. The alternate rates (ARD) model was used to estimate the ancestral character for each node. The area of pie represents the proportion given by the Bayesian posterior probability that the ancestral condition in the node is associated with one of two

alternative conditions' presence (green) or absence (red) of singing. Singing behavior was gained, lost, and regained within the hummingbird family. The venus symbol indicates species with singing females. The type of evidence of vocal-production learning (VPL) is also represented: the presence of dialect (circle), the abnormal development of song under experimental acoustic isolation (triangle), the presence of a putative vocal control system (VCS) (square), and vestigial VCS (crossed square). Note that Anna's hummingbird accumulates multiple pieces of evidence for VPL

and Wolf 1979; Martínez-García et al. 2013; Araya-Salas and Wright 2013). Using a broad definition of lek as the mating system in which males gather in communal display grounds for the sole purpose of competing for mates (Payne 1984), lekking behavior is widespread among hummingbirds (reviewed in Martínez-García et al. 2013). Lekking species often have vocal dialects that, in some of them, cannot be explained by genetic differentiation (González and Ornelas 2014, 2019), but rather by cultural transmission. Thus, vocal dialects are also evidence for **Table 1** Evidence of vocal-
production learning (VPL) with
respective references

Clade	Species	Evidence VPL	Reference VPL
Hermits	Glaucis hirsutus	VCS present	Jarvis et al. (2000)
Hermits	Phaethornis longuemareus	Dialect	Snow (1968), Wiley (1971)
Hermits	Phaethornis ruber	Dialect	Davis (1958)
Hermits	Phaethornis eurynome	Dialect	Vielliard (1983)
Hermits	Phaethornis longirostris	Dialect	Araya-Salas and Wright (2013)
Hermits	Phaethornis guy guy	Dialect	Snow (1977)
Hermits	Phaethornis guy coruscus	Dialect	Snow (1977)
Mangoes	Colibri coruscans	Dialect	Gaunt et al. (1994)
Mangoes	Colibri thalassinus	Dialect	Gaunt et al. (1994) Lara et al. (2015)
Mountain Gems	Lampornis clemenciae	Dialect	Ficken et al. (2000)
Bees	Archilochus colubris	VCS vestigial	Gahr (2000)
Bees	Calliphlox evelynae evelynae	Dialect	Feo et al. (2015)
Bees	Calypte anna	Dialect VCS present Abnormal song under acoustic isolation	Mirsky (1976), Yang et al. (2007), Gahr (2000), Baptista and Schuchmann (1990)
Bees	Calypte costae	Abnormal song under acoustic isolation	Johnson and Clark (2020)
Bees	Selasphorus sasin	VCS vestigial	Gahr (2000)
Emeralds	Campylopterus curvipennis	Dialect	González and Ornelas (2005, 2009, 2014)
Emeralds	Aphantochroa cirrochloris	VCS present	Jarvis et al. (2000)
Emeralds	Amazilia amazilia	VCS present	Gahr (2000)

Pieces of evidence of VPL are the occurrence of similarities in the song of a certain population that is attributed to natural intraspecific vocal imitation ("Dialect"); the abnormal vocal development under acoustic deprivation observed under experimental conditions ("Abnormal song under acoustic isolation"), and the presence of brain nuclei related to VPL, the vocal control system (VCS) ("VCS present"), which is vestigial in two species ("VCS vestigial")

vocal-production learning (Kroodsma and Baylis 1982; Araya-Salas and Wright 2013) (Table 1).

It is, therefore, possible that males of a lek use dialects to acoustically distinguish neighbors, which are most likely to hold singing territories with stable boundaries within the leks, from newcomers, which are probably seeking a singing territory. Thus, territorial males can use this information to modulate their aggression during territorial responses, according to the risk of the threat. This hypothesis predicts two selective benefits: (1) males can increase their detectability and consequently their mating success and (2) decrease the costs of a fight, thus increasing their survival odds. The reduced aggression toward familiar individuals is called the "dear enemy effect" and has been shown in songbirds (Briefer et al. 2008), but this effect is awaiting experimental confirmation in hummingbirds.

In bees, the evolution of singing is negatively correlated to the production of sounds with the wing during dive displays (wing trills) as they seem functionally equivalent (Clark et al. 2018). Dive display is ancestral (Clark and Feo 2010; Clark et al. 2018), whereas dive or homologous behaviors seem rare outside the bees (Clark et al. 2018). Furthermore, their relatively small body sizes may lower the energetic requirements for dives and modified wings may facilitate maneuverability (Payne 1984; Clark et al. 2011). Interestingly, bumblebee hummingbird (*Atthis heloisa*) and wine-throated hummingbird (*Atthis ellioti*) which inhabit forests, pine-oak woodlands, and neighboring shrubby areas (Arizmendi et al. 2020; Thurber et al. 2020) are non-diving and regained singing (Clark et al. 2018). Overall, the expansion of bees to North America and consequent occupation of open habitats combined with their anatomical specializations might have favored the enhancement of visual displays and associated mechanical sounds.

Most of the bees species that lost the song occupy open habitats, for example, Allen's hummingbird (*Selasphorus sasin*) is a riparian breeder that often perches conspicuously on leafless branches (Clark and Mitchell 2020). The predation of adults has been, nevertheless, seldom observed and predation does not seem a significant risk to hummingbirds (Miller and Gass 1985). It is, therefore, possible that some bees avoided perched song because, particularly in open habitats, learned songs that are, in general, more variable and less susceptible to habituation, made them more conspicuous to predators. A relaxed predatory pressure seems to precede the evolution of vocal-production learning because predators, likely, habituate more easily to the constancy of innate calls than to the variation of learned songs (Jarvis 2006; Nowicki and Searcy 2014). Predatory risks must be investigated comparatively between singing and non-singing bees to elucidate this possibility.

Conclusion

In summary, singing is ancestral in most of the hummingbird clades and commonly associated with lekking behavior whereas evolutionary losses happened especially in bees, a clade that also evolved sophisticated visual displays such as the dive. We especulate that gains, losses and regains of singing and maybe vocal-production learning seem to have happened under distinct evolutionary pressures. It is important to bear in mind that such a literature survey can be biased toward singing species. Particularly species of clades in which singing is ancestral need to be investigated to confirm our findings. Although recent studies have shed light on the ontogeny of vocal-production learning in some hummingbirds (Johnson and Clark 2020, 2022), experimental studies that tackle vocal-production learning are still scarce and the related neurobiological correlates need confirmation; the brain areas suggested by connectivity, histology and gene expression to control song of hummingbirds (Jarvis et al. 2000; Gahr 2000) have not yet been confirmed using electrophysiological or lesion approaches. Nevertheless, the diversity in the vocal communication of hummingbirds including songs of different complexity levels which can be combined with a variety of visual displays or predominately visual offers a unique opportunity to investigate the mechanistic convergence, and perhaps the phylogenetic constraints, of vocal-production learning. Furthermore, comparative studies involving little-studied songbird and parrot taxa would reveal whether a similar heterogeneity exists in the other two vocal learner bird groups.

Supplementary Information The online version contains supplementary material available at https://doi.org/10.1007/s10336-023-02057-9.

Acknowledgements We thank Nicolas M. Adreani, Kauê Machado Costa, Nicole Fritz, Laurence Richard O'Neill, Stefan Leitner, Juan Francisco Ornelas, and Christopher Clark for valuable comments on previous versions of the manuscript; Steve Wolfe, Janine Russell, and Lucia Calvet for the permission to use their hummingbird photos. A. M. received an International Max Planck Research School for Organismal Biology grant for language editing; we thank E. Wheeler for the helpful comments.

Author contributions AM conceived the idea for the paper, and collected and analyzed the data; MLS and MG supervised the research; AM, MLS, and MG wrote and/or substantially edited the paper; and MG secured funding for this work.

Funding This project was supported by the International Max Planck Research School (IMPRS) of Organismal Biology and the Max Planck Institute for Ornithology. The funders had no impact on the study design, conduction, or interpretation of data.

Data availability All datasets, scripts, and supplementary information are available at: https://osf.io/u7z4s/

Declarations

Conflict of interest The authors report no conflict of interest.

Open Access This article is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License, which permits use, sharing, adaptation, distribution and reproduction in any medium or format, as long as you give appropriate credit to the original author(s) and the source, provide a link to the Creative Commons licence, and indicate if changes were made. The images or other third party material in this article are included in the article's Creative Commons licence, unless indicated otherwise in a credit line to the material. If material is not included in the article's Creative Commons licence and your intended use is not permitted by statutory regulation or exceeds the permitted use, you will need to obtain permission directly from the copyright holder. To view a copy of this licence, visit http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/.

References

- Araya-Salas M, Wright T (2013) Open-ended song learning in a hummingbird. Biol Lett 9:20130625. https://doi.org/10.1098/rsbl. 2013.0625
- Arizmendi MDC, Rodríguez-Flores CI, Soberanes-González CA, Schulenberg TS (2020) Bumblebee hummingbird (*Atthis heloisa*). Birds of the world. Cornell Lab of Ornithology, Ithaca
- Baptista LF, Schuchmann K-L (1990) Song learning in the anna hummingbird (*Calypte anna*). Ethology 84:15–26. https://doi.org/10. 1111/j.1439-0310.1990.tb00781.x
- Briefer E, Aubin T, Lehongre K, Rybak F (2008) How to identify dear enemies: the group signature in the complex song of the skylark *Alauda arvensis*. J Exp Biol 211:317–326. https://doi.org/ 10.1242/jeb.013359
- Catchpole CK, Slater PJB (1995) Bird song: biological themes and variations, 2nd edn. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge
- Clark CJ, Feo TJ (2010) Why do Calypte hummingbirds "sing" with both their tail and their syrinx? An apparent example of sexual sensory bias. Am Nat 175:27–37. https://doi.org/10.1086/648560
- Clark CJ, Mitchell DE (2020) Allen's Hummingbird (*Selasphorus sasin*). Birds of the world. Cornell Lab of Ornithology, Ithaca
- Clark CJ, Elias DO, Prum RO (2011) Aeroelastic flutter produces hummingbird feather songs. Science 333:1430–1433. https://doi.org/ 10.1126/science.1205222
- Clark CJ, McGuire JA, Bonaccorso E et al (2018) Complex coevolution of wing, tail, and vocal sounds of courting male bee hummingbirds. Evolution 72:630–646. https://doi.org/10.1111/evo.13432
- Davis TAW (1958) The displays and nests of three forest hummingbirds of british guiana. Ibis 100:31–39. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1474-919X.1958.tb00363.x
- Fellows I (2018) wordcloud: word clouds

- Feo TJ, Musser JM, Berv J, Clark CJ (2015) Divergence in morphology, calls, song, mechanical sounds, and genetics supports species status for the Inaguan hummingbird (*Trochilidae: Calliphlox* "evelynae" lyrura). Auk 132:248–264. https://doi.org/10.1642/ AUK-14-108.1
- Ficken MS, Rusch KM, Taylor SJ, Powers DR (2000) Blue-throated hummingbird song: a pinacle of nonoscine vocalizations. Auk 117:120–128. https://doi.org/10.1093/auk/117.1.120
- Gahr M (2000) Neural song control system of hummingbirds: comparison to swifts, vocal learning (Songbirds) and nonlearning (Suboscines) passerines, and vocal learning (Budgerigars) and nonlearning (Dove, owl, gull, quail, chicken) nonpasserines. J Comp Neurol 426:182–196
- Gaunt SLL, Baptista LF, Sánchez JE, Hernandez D (1994) Song learning as evidenced from song sharing in two hummingbird species (*Colibri coruscans* and *C. thalassinus*). Auk 111:87–103. https:// doi.org/10.2307/4088508
- González C, Ornelas JF (2005) Song structure and microgeographic song variation in wedge-tailed sabrewings (*Campylopterus curvipennis*) in veracruz, mexico. Auk 122:593–607. https://doi.org/10. 1642/0004-8038(2005)122[0593:SSAMSV]2.0.CO;2
- González C, Ornelas JF (2009) Song variation and persistence of song neighborhoods in a lekking hummingbird. Condor 111:633–640. https://doi.org/10.1525/cond.2009.090029
- González C, Ornelas JF (2014) Acoustic divergence with gene flow in a lekking hummingbird with complex songs. PLoS ONE 9:e109241. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0109241
- González C, Ornelas JF (2019) Male relatedness, lekking behavior patterns, and the potential for kin selection in a Neotropical hummingbird. Auk. https://doi.org/10.1093/auk/ukz038
- Hoyo JD, Elliott A, Sargatal J (1999) Handbook of the birds of the world: barn-owls to hummingbirds. Lynx Edicions, Cerdanyola del Vallès
- Jarvis ED (2006) Selection for and against vocal learning in birds and mammals. Ornithol Sci 5:5–15. https://doi.org/10.2326/osj.5.5
- Jarvis ED, Ribeiro S, da Silva ML et al (2000) Behaviourally driven gene expression reveals song nuclei in hummingbird brain. Nature 406:628–632. https://doi.org/10.1038/35020570
- Johnson KE, Clark CJ (2020) Ontogeny of vocal learning in a hummingbird. Anim Behav 167:139–150. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. anbehav.2020.07.010
- Johnson KE, Clark CJ (2022) Costa's hummingbird has an extended sensitive phase of vocal learning. Anim Behav 188:75–84. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.anbehav.2022.04.001
- Kroodsma DE, Baylis JR (1982) Appendix: a world survey of evidence for vocal learning in birds. Acoustic communication in birds: song learning & its consequences. Academic Press, New York
- Kuhl H, Frankl-Vilches C, Bakker A et al (2020) An unbiased molecular approach using 3'-UTRs resolves the avian family-level tree of life. Mol Biol Evol. https://doi.org/10.1093/molbev/msaa191
- Lara C, Martínez-García V, Ornelas JF (2015) Microgeographical variation in song repertoire and structure between the leks of green violetears *Colibri thalassinus* in Central Mexico. Acta Ornithol 50:23–32. https://doi.org/10.3161/00016454AO2015.50.1.004
- Martínez-García V, Lara C, Ornelas JF (2013) Lek characteristics and the static male song of the green violet-ear (*Colibri thalassinus*) during a 3-year study in a temperate forest of Central Mexico. Ornitol Neotrop 24:183–200
- Mathevon N, Aubin T, Vielliard J et al (2008) Singing in the rain forest: how a tropical bird song transfers information. PLoS ONE 3:e1580. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0001580
- McGuire JA, Witt CC, Remsen JV et al (2009) A higher-level taxonomy for hummingbirds. J Ornithol 150:155–165. https://doi. org/10.1007/s10336-008-0330-x

- McGuire JA, Witt CC, Remsen JV Jr et al (2014) Molecular phylogenetics and the diversification of hummingbirds. Curr Biol 24:1–7. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2014.03.016
- Miller RS, Gass CL (1985) Survivorship in hummingbirds: is predation important? Auk 102:175–178. https://doi.org/10.2307/4086840
- Mirsky EN (1976) Song divergence in hummingbird and junco populations on Guadalupe Island. Condor 78:230–235
- Nowicki S, Searcy WA (2014) The evolution of vocal learning. Curr Opin Neurobiol 28:48–53. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.conb.2014. 06.007
- Paradis E, Schliep K (2019) ape 5.0: an environment for modern phylogenetics and evolutionary analyses in R. Bioinformatics (oxford, England) 35:526–528
- Payne RB (1984) Sexual selection, lek and arena behavior, and sexual size dimorphism in birds. Ornithol Monogr 33:1–52
- R Core Team (2018) R: a language and environment for statistical computing
- Revell LJ (2012) phytools: an R package for phylogenetic comparative biology (and other things). Methods Evol Res 3:217–223
- Silge J, Robinson D (2016) tidytext: text mining and analysis using tidy data principles in R. J Open Source Softw 1:37. https://doi. org/10.21105/joss.00037
- Snow DW (1968) The singing assemblies of Little Hermits. Liv Birds 47–55
- Snow BK (1977) Comparison of the leks of guy's hermit hummingbird *Phaethornis guy* in Costa Rica and Trinidad. Ibis 119:211–214. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1474-919X.1977.tb03543.x
- Spector DA (1994) Definition in biology: the case of "bird song." J Theor Biol 168:373–381. https://doi.org/10.1006/jtbi.1994.1117
- Stiles FG, Wolf LL (1979) Ecology and evolution of lek mating behavior in the long-tailed hermit hummingbird. Ornithol Monogr. https://doi.org/10.2307/40166760
- Thurber WA, Schulenberg TS, Sedgwick CW (2020) Wine-throated hummingbird (*Atthis ellioti*). Birds of the world. Cornell Lab of Ornithology, Ithaca
- Vielliard J (1983) Catálogo sonográfico dos cantos e piados dos beijaflores do Brasil, 1. Boletim Do Museu De Biologia Prof Mello Leitão 58:1–22
- Vielliard J (1987) O uso da bioacústica na observação de aves. UFRJ, Rio de janeiro, pp 98–121
- Wickham H, François R, Henry L, Müller K (2020) dplyr: a grammar of data manipulation
- Wiley RH (1971) Song groups in a singing assembly of little hermits. Condor 73:28–35. https://doi.org/10.2307/1366121
- Winkler DW, Billerman SM, Lovette IJ (2020) Hummingbirds (Trochilidae), version 1.0. Birds World. https://doi.org/10.2173/bow. trochi1.01
- Yang X-J, Lei F-M, Wang G, Jesse AJ (2007) Syllable sharing and inter-individual syllable variation in Anna's hummingbird *Calypte* anna songs, in San Francisco, California—Institute of Zoology Chinese Academy of Sciences. Folia Zool 53:307–318
- Zann R (1990) Song and call learning in wild zebra finches in southeast Australia. Anim Behav 40:811–828. https://doi.org/10.1016/ S0003-3472(05)80982-0

Publisher's Note Springer Nature remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.

Supplementary Material

Absence of song suggests heterogeneity of vocal-production learning in hummingbirds

Amanda Monte, Maria Luisa da Silva and Manfred Gahr

Supplemental Methods

Literature survey

We compiled data on hummingbirds' vocalizations by conducting an informative rather than comprehensive literature survey. We collected descriptions of vocalizations that were classified by the author as song or calls and provided information further than onomatopoeic representations used for species identification in the field. We aimed for publications which focus was describing the vocal repertoire of the species. To include as many species as possible with a replicable method, reliable and detailed information, we searched for peer-reviewed articles in electronic databases. As exceptions, we included peer-reviewed conference articles if these had methods and results sections, and doctoral theses if these were available in an online repository. We are aware that this is far for being a comprehensive survey, nevertheless, for our goal to investigate the evolution of song within the family, it was important that we verified whether different authors had comparable song definitions before considering singing as a homologous trait.

Search strategy

We conducted the electronic search in January 2018 and carried out an updated version in April 2021. The search was divided into three steps: first, we used the web search engine "Web of Science" (<u>https://apps.webofknowledge.com</u>); second, the web search "Google Scholar" (<u>https://scholar.google.com/</u>); and third, we inspected the database of the journal "Boletim do

Museu de Biologia Mello Leitão" (http://boletim.sambio.org.br/index.html) because their articles were not fully covered by the web search. The first search in the "Web of Science" included "All databases" in the basic research tool. The timespan selected was all years from 1864 to date. In the field "topic," we used the keywords "hummingbird AND vocalization." Then, we refined the output by setting the document type selection for "article," "meeting," "review" and "other." We inspected the abstract of all 101 results back in 2018 and additional 10 results obtained in the last update. In the second search in the "Google Scholar," we included only the box "articles," enabled with the same keywords, "hummingbird AND vocalization." Then, we refined the output by disabling the options "patents" and "citations." The output, sorted by relevance, was 5,110 results back in 2018 and 7,820 in the last update. We inspected the abstract of all results on a page (10 results); then, if at least one of the results on the current page had new information about hummingbirds' vocalization, we inspected the following page. We inspected in total 20 pages (200 results) until no further information was found. The third search was conducted in the database of the journal "Boletim do Museu de Biologia Mello Leitão". This journal was funded by the naturalist Augusto Ruschi, who successfully bred several species of South American hummingbirds and documented their biology. This journal also includes a sonographic catalog of the hummingbirds' vocalizations conducted by Jacques Vielliard, who founded the largest sound library in South America. These articles were not included in the web search because the text is in Portuguese. We inspected the abstracts of all articles in the series "Biology" (http://boletim.sambio.org.br/biologia.html), "Zoology" (http://boletim.sambio.org.br/zoologia.html) and "Divulgation" (http://boletim.sambio.org.br/divulgacao.html). Additionally, we inspected the reference lists of the articles that provided information about hummingbirds' vocalizations and included cited articles in our survey.

Inclusion criteria

Initially, we sorted out publications which title indicated that the main subject of the study is not birds (e.g.: "Sensory ecology of the frog-eating bat, *Trachops cirrhosus*, from DNA metabarcoding and behavior"). Subsequently, we inspected the abstracts of the remaining publications and accepted publications for viewing at the full text if it appeared that they may contain information about hummingbirds' vocalizations or if the abstract was ambiguous about their content. The criteria which studies had to meet for inclusion into the final stage of the survey were: (*i*) the main subject of the study was hummingbirds; (*ii*) the author mentioned a vocalization emitted by a valid species or subspecies of hummingbirds – a species or subspecies was considered valid if listed in "Birds of the World" online database and (*iii*) the author specified either clearly or implicitly (e.g., intermittent use of the term vocalization and song in any part of the text) whether the vocalization is either a song or a call. Field guides were not included because they aim to provide information used for species identification in the field, thus vocalizations are often described as onomatopoeic representations.

From all inspected results, 74 publications ranging from 1930 to 2020 met the inclusion criteria. A complete list of publications is in the Table S1.

Data extraction

From these publications, we collected data about the prevalence of songs. Species which song was described were assigned as singing and those reported to lack a song were assigned as nonsinging, when the term song was not mentioned or ambiguous, we considered as "unknown." In the case of an existing conflict between authors, the song was defined as present if at least one of the authors described a song for the species. We generated a dataset containing information about at least one trait for 78 hummingbird species and three subspecies from eight of the major hummingbird clades proposed by McGuire et al. (2009, 2014). We additionally inspected the entries for each of these species in the "Birds of the World" (BotW) online database (<u>https://birdsoftheworld.org/</u>) and added missing information on the prevalence of song. Except for field guides and books unavailable online, nearly all articles cited in BotW were already covered by our survey (Table S1).

Additional to song, we also obtained information on the pieces of evidence for vocal production learning demonstrated for hummingbird species. As behavioral evidence, we listed the occurrence of similarities in the song of a certain population that is attributed to natural *intra*specific vocal imitation, or dialect (Kroodsma and Baylis, 1982); as experimental evidence, the abnormal vocal development under acoustic deprivation observed under experimental conditions (Kroodsma and Baylis, 1982) and as neurobiological evidence, the prevalence of a set of brain nuclei analogous to the vocal control system (VCS) present in songbirds (Gahr, 2000; Jarvis et al., 2000).

Word cloud

We obtained data about the behavior of the emitter during vocal production by selecting the corresponding quote from the publications with the descriptions of the spectral and temporal characteristics of the song or call ("song or call description") and the emitter's behavior during the production ("song or call context"). When the publication was not in English, we translated it.

We used the data about the behavior of the emitter during the production of songs and calls to access the probable function of the hummingbirds' vocalizations. We sorted the quotes with the description of the songs' or calls' behavioral context by clade and applied the text-mining method. The text-mining method consists of highlighting the most frequent word in a text. For text mining, we used the package "dplyr" (Wickham et al., 2020) and "tidytext" (Silge and Robinson, 2016) in R (R Core Team, 2018). We excluded from the descriptions all prepositions (e.g., 'for' and 'to'), determiners (e.g., 'the' and 'a'), numbers, and words we listed as noninformative: song(s), singing, vocalization(s), note(s), syllable(s), phrase(s), kHz, hummingbird(s), bird(s) and unknown. We represented the most common words separately for songs and calls with a word cloud. The word cloud is a visual representation of the frequency of words in a text as represented by their font size: the most frequent words have the biggest font size. For the word cloud, we used the package "wordcloud" (Fellows, 2018) in R (R Core Team, 2018). In the word clouds, we represented a maximum of 100 words used at least twice, except when there were less than 40 words; then, we kept words used only once.

Ancestral character estimation

Phylogeny

We reproduced a phylogenic tree for the 78 hummingbirds species and the three subspecies by subsetting the complete tree published by McGuire et al. (2014). To create the subsetted tree, we used the Tree Snatcher Plus software (Laubach and von Haeseler, 2007). In the software, we draw the tree tips and respective nodes over the phylogenetic tree available in the supplementary material of McGuire et al. (2014). For five species and three subspecies present in our dataset but absent in McGuire's phylogeny, we assigned the node of the closest species of the same genus. TreeSnatcher Plus detected the original tree structure from the image, recreated the phylogenetic tree with the nodes given and produced the Newick representation of the subsetted tree with the estimated branch lengths. The representation of the phylogenetic tree was generated in R (R Core Team, 2018) with the packages "ape" (Paradis and Schliep, 2019) and "phytools" (Revell, 2012).

Estimation of the ancestral trait

We investigated the evolution of singing in hummingbirds by estimating the probabilities that this trait occurs across the phylogeny. Thus, we used discrete databases with presence ("yes") and absence ("no") of singing and the subsetted hummingbirds' phylogeny (see subsection Phylogeny) to run an ancestral state reconstruction. For the reconstruction, we excluded species in which data were unknown both from the datasets and the phylogeny. We ran the reconstruction with 78 species and three subspecies by using the function "ace" set to maximum likelihood (ML) in the R package "ape" (Paradis and Schliep, 2019). The ML method reconstructs the ancestral character states that are most likely to predict the contemporary state (Pagel, 1999). We fitted two alternative evolutionary models: in the first, the gains and losses were supposed to have happened at the same rate (equal rate, - ER model), and in the second, the gains and losses were supposed to have happened at different rates (all rates different, -ARD model) (Felsenstein, 2003). Because the trait is dichotomic ("yes" or "no"), a symmetrical model (- SYM model) would give results identical to the ER model; thus, a SYM model was not necessary. Then, to verify whether one of the models presented a better fit to the data, we compared the likehoods of the models using a likelihood ratio test (LR) as in Pagel (1994). For the LR test, the degrees of freedom (df's) were given by the difference in the number of parameters required to estimate each likelihood: one parameter for the ER model and two parameters for the ARD model. Then, we used the ARD model to estimate the probabilities of song being ancestral in each of the main clades of the phylogeny only if this model fits the data better than the ER model.

We used the function "make.simmap" in the package "phylotools" (Revell, 2012) to simulate stochastic character maps on each subsetted phylogenetic tree. We ran 1000 simulations to estimate the posterior probabilities of each node. We then integrated information across this set of stochastic maps into a Bayesian posterior probability for each branch in the tree using the function "describe.sinmap" in the package "phylotools" (Revell 2012). For each node, we plotted a pie chart showing the relative Bayesian posterior probability of the character state. We selected the nodes that aggregate all species of each of the major clades in the subsetted phylogeny as a representation of the ancestral condition for the respective clade.

Recordings and pictures information

The recordings are taken from or deposited in the online sound library xeno-canto (https://www.xeno-canto.org/), except for the recordings of the black jacobin (*Florisuga fusca*), which is available on request. The xeno-canto recordings are shared under the Creative Commons License (CC BY-NC-SA). The catalog number of the xeno-canto recordings are as follows: XC454960 (long-tailed hermit), XC138158 (white-vented violetear), XC469392 (Brazilian ruby), XC608771 (blue-throated hummingbird), XC501895 (Anna's hummingbird) and XC454963 (sombre hummingbird). The photographers of the pictures are: Amanda Monte (black jacobin, long-tailed hermit, white-vented violetear and sombre hummingbird); Lucia Calvet (Brazilian ruby); Steve Wolfe (blue-throated hummingbird) and Janine Russell (Anna's hummingbird).

Supplemental Tables

Table S1 – List of hummingbird species with respective publications where was obtained the information about the presence ("yes") and absence ("no") of song. Species in which only calls were reported in the literature without information about song were assigned as "unknown" and not included in the ancestral reconstruction neither in this list. The sex of the songs' emitter is depicted as provided in the song descriptions ("male" or "both" for male and female). When the sex of the emitter was not mentioned in the literature, we assigned as "unknown". In the

case of an existing conflict between authors, the song was defined as present if at least one of the authors described a song for the species. "NA"s are inserted where information does not apply

Clade	Species	Song	Emitter's sex	Reference song
Topazes	Florisuga fusca	yes	Unknown	Ruschi 1973
				Vielliard 1983
				Olson et al. 2018
Topazes	Topaza pella	yes	Male	Davis 1958
Topazes	Topaza pyra	yes	Unknown	Hu et al. 2000
Hermits	Ramphodon naevius	yes	Unknown	Ruschi 1978
Hamaita	Jreitasi Thuan atau mushani		Mala	Slautch 1064
Hermits		yes	Male	Skuleli 1904
Hermits	Inrenetes leucurus	yes	Male	Snow 1975 Vielliard 1983
Hermits	Glaucis hirsutus	ves	Unknown	Vielliard 1983
Tierints	Gladels hir suids	<i>yc</i> ₀	Chikilown	Ferreira et al. 2006
Hermits	Phaethornis mexicanus	ves	Unknown	del Hovo et al. 2020a
	griseoventer	5		
Hermits	Phaethornis	yes	Unknown	Nicholson 1931
	longuemareus			Snow 1968
				Wiley 1971
Hermits	Phaethornis ruber	yes	Both	Nicholson, 1931
				Snow 1973
				Vielliard 1983
				Felton et al. 2008
Hermits	Phaethornis eurynome	yes	Unknown	Vielliard 1983
Hermits	Phaethornis augusti	yes	Male	Ramjohn et al. 2003
Hermits	Phaethornis petrei	yes	Unknown	Vielliard 1983
Hermits	Phaethornis	yes	Male	Skutch 1964
	supercilious			Stiles and Wolf 1979
				Snow 1973
Hermits	Phaethornis	yes	Male	Araya-Salas and Wright
	longirostris		** 1	2013
Hermits	Phaethornis guy guy	yes	Unknown	Nicholson, 1931 Snow 1977
Hermits	Phaethornis aux	ves	Unknown	Show 1977 Skutch 1964
Tierinits		yes	UIIKIIOWII	Shutch 1904 Snow 1977
	cornscus			Macdougall-Shackleton
				and Harbison 1998
Mangoes	Colibri serrirostris	ves	Unknown	Vielliard 1983
U		5		Silva and Vielliard 2006
Mangoes	Colibri coruscans	yes	Male	Gaunt et al. 1994
Mangoes	Colibri delphinae	yes	Unknown	Vielliard 1983
-	greenewalti	-		
Mangoes	Colibri thalassinus	yes	male	Gaunt et al. 1994
				Barrantes et al. 2008

				Lara et al. 2015
Mangoes	Heliactin bilophus	ves	male	Vielliard 1983
Mangoes	Polytmus guainumbi	yes	unknown	Vielliard 1983
Mangoes	Chrysolampis	yes	unknown	Vielliard 1983
U	mosquitus	5		
Mangoes	Anthracothorax	yes	unknown	Vielliard 1983
	nigricollis			Araujo-Silva and Bessa 2010
Mangoes	Eulampis jugularis	yes	male	Schuchmann and Schuchmann-Wegert 1984
Brilliants	Clytolaema rubricauda	yes	unknown	Vielliard 1983
Coquettes	Lophornis magnificus	yes	both	Ruschi 1973b
Coquettes	Phlogophilus harterti	yes	unknown	David et al. 2018
Coquettes	Aglaiocercus kingii	yes	unknown	Stiles and Cortés-Herrera 2015
Coquettes	Oreotrochilus chimborazo	yes	male	Duque et al. 2020
Conjuettes	Oreotrochilus	ves	both	Sornoza-Molina et al 2018
coquettes	cvanolaemus	yes	boun	Somoza Monna et al. 2010
Coquettes	Metallura tyrianthina	yes	unknown	Stiles and Cortés-Herrera 2015
Patagona	Patagona gigas	yes	unknown	Heynen et al., 2020
Mountain	Panterpe insignis	no	NA	Wolf 1969
Gems				Wolf and Stiles 1970
Mountain Gems	Lampornis clemenciae	yes	both	Ficken et al. 2000, 2002
Mountain	Lampornis	ves	male	Ornelas et al. 2002
Gems	amethystinus	<i>y</i> e s	mure	
Bees	Calliphlox amethystina amethystina	yes	male	Ruschi 1973a
Bees	Rhodopis vesper	yes	male	Clark et al. 2012
Bees	Thaumastura cora	yes	male	Clark et al. 2013
Bees	Eulidia yarrellii	yes	male	Clark et al. 2013
Bees	Archilochus alexandri	no	NA	Rusch et al. 1996
Bees	Archilochus colubris	no	NA	Clark et al. 2018
Bees	Mellisuga minima	yes	unknown	Clark 2006
Bees	Calliphlox evelynae evelynae	yes	unknown	Feo et al. 2015
Bees	Calliphlox evelynae lyrura	yes	male	Feo et al. 2015
Bees	Calvpte anna	ves	male	Mirsky 1976
	71	2		Wells et al. 1978
				Baptista and Matsui 1979
				Stiles 1982
				Baptista and Schuchmann 1990
				Zyskowski et al. 1998
Bees	Calypte costae	yes	both	Wells et al. 1978
		-		Williams and Houtman 2008

				Clark and Feo 2010
Bees	Atthis heloisa	yes	male	Zyskowski et al. 1998
Bees	Atthis ellioti	yes	male	Bent 1940
		•		Zyskowski et al. 1998
Bees	Selasphorus scintilla	no	NA	Clark et al. 2011
Bees	Selasphorus flammula	no	NA	Clark et al. 2011
Bees	Selasphorus sasin	no	NA	Wells and Baptista 1979
Bees	Selasphorus rufus	no	NA	Hammersley 1928 Clark and Feo 2010
Emeralds	Campylopterus excellens	yes	male	Winker et al. 1992
Emeralds	Campylopterus curvipennis	yes	male	González and Ornelas 2005, 2009
Emeralds	Stephanoxis lalandi lalandi	yes	male	Vielliard 1983
Emeralds	Stephanoxis lalandi loddigesii	yes	male	Pizo 2012
Emeralds	Campylopterus largipennis aequatorialis	yes	unknown	Ruschi 1973c
Emeralds	Chlorostilbon lucidus	yes	unknown	Bündgen et al. 2020
Emeralds	Hylocharis leucotis leucotis	yes	male	Bent 1940
Emeralds	Thalurania glaucopis	yes	unknown	Ruschi 1973e Vielliard 1983
Emeralds	Phaeochroa cuvierii	yes	unknown	Skutch 1964a Stiles and Wolf 1970
Emeralds	Aphantochroa cirrochloris	yes	unknown	Vielliard 1983 Ferreira et al. 2006
Emeralds	Eupetomena macroura	yes	unknown	Vielliard 1983
Emeralds	Trochilus polytmus polytmus	yes	male	Schuchmann 1978
Emeralds	Trochilus polytmus scitulus	yes	male	Schuchmann 1978
Emeralds	Amazilia rutila	yes	unknown	Arizmendi et al. 2020b
Emeralds	Amazilia tzacatl tzacatl	yes	male	Bent 1940
Emeralds	Amazilia amazilia	yes	unknown	Weller 2000
Emeralds	Chrysuronia oenone	yes	unknown	Vielliard 1983
Emeralds	Amazilia versicolor	yes	unknown	Vielliard 1983
Emeralds	Amazilia leucogaster	yes	unknown	Vielliard 1983
Emeralds	Amazilia candida	yes	unknown	Atwood et al. 1991
Emeralds	Hylocharis cyanus	yes	unknown	Vielliard 1983
Emeralds	Chlorestes notatus	yes	both	Carvalho 1958
Emeralds	Leucochloris albicollis	yes	unknown	Vielliard 1983
Emeralds	Hylocharis sapphirina	yes	unknown	Vielliard 1983
Emeralds	Amazilia lactea	yes	unknown	Vielliard 1983
Emeralds	Amazilia fimbriata tephrocephala	yes	unknown	Vielliard 1983

Data availability

All datasets, scripts and supplementary information is available at https://osf.io/u7z4s/

Supplementary References

- Araujo-Silva, L.E., Bessa, E., 2010. Territorial behaviour and dominance hierarchy of Anthracothorax nigricollis Vieillot 1817 (Aves: Trochilidae) on food resources. Revista Brasileira de Ornitologia 18, 89–96.
- Araya-Salas, M., Wright, T., 2013. Open-ended song learning in a hummingbird. Biol. Lett. 9, 20130625. https://doi.org/10.1098/rsbl.2013.0625
- Arizmendi, M. del C., Rodríguez-Flores, C.I., Soberanes-González, C.A., Schulenberg, T.S., 2020. Cinnamon Hummingbird (Amazilia rutila). Birds of the World.
- Atwood, J.L., Fitz, V.L., Bamesberger, J.E., 1991. Temporal Patterns of Singing Activity at Leks of the White-Bellied Emerald. Wilson Bulletin 103, 373–386.
- Baptista, L.F., Matsui, M., 1979. The Source of the Dive-Noise of the Anna's Hummingbird. The Condor 81, 87–89.
- Baptista, L.F., Schuchmann, K.-L., 1990. Song Learning in the Anna Hummingbird (Calypte anna). Ethology 84, 15–26. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1439-0310.1990.tb00781.x
- Barrantes, G., Sánchez, C., Hilje, B., Jaffé, R., 2008. Male song variation of Green Violetear (Colibri thalassinus) in the Talamanca Mountain Range, Costa Rica. wils 120, 519– 524. https://doi.org/10.1676/07-024.1
- Bent, A.C., 1940. Life histories of North American cuckoos, goatsuckers, hummingbirds, and their allies. Orders Psittaciformes, Cuculiformes, Trogoniformes, Coraciiformes, Caprimulgiformes, and Micropodiiformes. Bulletin of the United States National Museum 1–506.
- Bündgen, R., Kirwan, G.M., Boesman, P.F.D., 2020. Glittering-bellied Emerald (Chlorostilbon lucidus). Birds of the World.
- Carvalho, C.T. de, 1958. Notas biológicas sôbre Chlorestes notatus (Reich.) (Aves, Trochilidae). Boletim do Museu Paraense Emilio Goeldi 18, 1–17.
- Clark, C.J., 2006. Observations on the Vervain Hummingbird's (Mellisuga minima) display dive and territorial behavior. Ornitologia Neotropical 17, 403–408.
- Clark, C.J., Feo, T.J., 2010. Why do Calypte hummingbirds "sing" with both their tail and their syrinx? An apparent example of sexual sensory bias. Am. Nat. 175, 27–37. https://doi.org/10.1086/648560
- Clark, C.J., Feo, T.J., Bryan, K.B., 2012. Courtship Displays and Sonations of a Hybrid Male Broad-Tailed × Black-Chinned Hummingbird. cond 114, 329–341. https://doi.org/10.1525/cond.2012.110058
- Clark, C.J., Feo, T.J., Dongen, W.F.D.V., 2013. Sounds and Courtship Displays of the Peruvian Sheartail, Chilean Woodstar, Oasis Hummingbird, and a Hybrid Male Peruvian Sheartail × Chilean Woodstar. The Condor 115, 558–575. https://doi.org/10.1525/cond.2013.120047

- Clark, C.J., Feo, T.J., Escalante, I., 2011. Courtship displays and natural history of scintillant (Selasphorus scintilla) and volcano (S. flammula) hummingbirds. The Wilson Journal of Ornithology 123, 218–228.
- Clark, C.J., McGuire, J.A., Bonaccorso, E., Berv, J.S., Prum, R.O., 2018. Complex coevolution of wing, tail, and vocal sounds of courting male bee hummingbirds. Evolution 72, 630–646. https://doi.org/10.1111/evo.13432
- David, S., Jankowski, J.E., Londoño, G.A., 2018. Combining multiple sources of data to uncover the natural history of an endemic Andean hummingbird, the Peruvian Piedtail (Phlogophilus harterti). Journal of Field Ornithology 89, 315–325. https://doi.org/10.1111/jofo.12275
- Davis, T. a. W., 1958. The displays and nests of three forest hummingbirds of british guiana. Ibis 100, 31–39. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1474-919X.1958.tb00363.x
- del Hoyo, J., Collar, N., Kirwan, G.M., Boesman, P.F.D., 2020. Mexican Hermit (Phaethornis mexicanus). Birds of the World.
- Duque, F.G., Rodriguez-Saltos, C.A., Uma, S., Nasir, I., Monteros, M.F., Wilczynski, W., Carruth, L.L., 2020. High-frequency hearing in a hummingbird. Science Advances 6, eabb9393. https://doi.org/10.1126/sciadv.abb9393
- Fellows, I., 2018. wordcloud: Word Clouds.
- Felsenstein, J., 2003. Inferring Phylogenies, 2 edition. ed. Sinauer Associates is an imprint of Oxford University Press, Sunderland, Mass.
- Felton, A., Felton, A.M., Lindenmayer, D.B., 2008. The Display of a Reddish Hermit (Phaethornis ruber) in a Lowland Rainforest, Bolivia. wils 120, 201–204. https://doi.org/10.1676/06-186.1
- Feo, T.J., Musser, J.M., Berv, J., Clark, C.J., 2015. Divergence in morphology, calls, song, mechanical sounds, and genetics supports species status for the Inaguan hummingbird (Trochilidae: Calliphlox "evelynae" lyrura). Auk 132, 248–264. https://doi.org/10.1642/AUK-14-108.1
- Ferreira, A.R.J., Smulders, T.V., Sameshima, K., Mello, C.V., Jarvis, E.D., 2006. Vocalizations and associated behaviors of the Sombre Hummingbird (Aphantochroa cirrhochloris) and the Rufous-Breasted Hermit (Glaucis hirsutus). Auk 123, 1129– 1148.
- Ficken, M.S., Rusch, K.M., Taylor, S.J., Powers, D.R., 2002. Reproductive behavior and communication in blue-throated hummingbirds. The Wilson Bulletin 114, 197–209. https://doi.org/10.1676/0043-5643(2002)114[0197:RBACIB]2.0.CO;2
- Ficken, M.S., Rusch, K.M., Taylor, S.J., Powers, D.R., 2000. Blue-Throated Hummingbird song: a pinacle of nonoscine vocalizations. The Auk 117, 120–128. https://doi.org/10.1642/0004-8038(2000)117[0120:BTHSAP]2.0.CO;2
- Gahr, M., 2000. Neural song control system of hummingbirds: comparison to swifts, vocal learning (Songbirds) and nonlearning (Suboscines) passerines, and vocal learning (Budgerigars) and nonlearning (Dove, owl, gull, quail, chicken) nonpasserines. J. Comp. Neurol. 426, 182–196.
- Gaunt, S.L.L., Baptista, L.F., Sánchez, J.E., Hernandez, D., 1994. Song Learning as Evidenced from Song Sharing in Two Hummingbird Species (Colibri coruscans and C. thalassinus). The Auk 111, 87–103. https://doi.org/10.2307/4088508
- González, C., Ornelas, J.F., 2014. Acoustic Divergence with Gene Flow in a Lekking Hummingbird with Complex Songs. PLOS ONE 9, e109241. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0109241
- González, C., Ornelas, J.F., 2009. Song Variation and Persistence of Song Neighborhoods in a Lekking Hummingbird. The Condor 111, 633–640. https://doi.org/10.1525/cond.2009.090029

González, C., Ornelas, J.F., 2005. Song structure and microgeographic song variation in wedge-tailed sabrewings (Campylopterus curvipennis) in veracruz, mexico. The Auk 122, 593–607. https://doi.org/10.1642/0004-8038(2005)122[0593:SSAMSV]2.0.CO;2

- Hammersley, G., 1928. Observations on the rufous hummingbird (Selasphorus rufus), 1927. The Canadian field-naturalist 42, 149–150.
- Heynen, I., Boesman, P.F.D., Kirwan, G.M., 2020. Giant Hummingbird (Patagona gigas). Birds of the World.
- Hu, D.-S., Joseph, L., Agro, D., 2000. Distribution, variation, and taxonomy of Topaza hummingbirds (Aves: Trochilidae). Ornitologia Neotropical 11.
- Jarvis, E.D., Ribeiro, S., da Silva, M.L., Ventura, D., Vielliard, J., Mello, C.V., 2000. Behaviourally driven gene expression reveals song nuclei in hummingbird brain. Nature 406, 628–632. https://doi.org/10.1038/35020570
- Johnson, K.E., Clark, C.J., 2020. Ontogeny of vocal learning in a hummingbird. Animal Behaviour 167, 139–150. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.anbehav.2020.07.010
- Kroodsma, D.E., Baylis, J.R., 1982. Appendix: A World Survey of Evidence for Vocal Learning in Birds, in: Acoustic Communication in Birds: Song Learning & Its Consequences. Academic Press, New York.
- Lara, C., Martínez-García, V., Ornelas, J.F., 2015. Microgeographical Variation in Song Repertoire and Structure between the Leks of Green Violetears Colibri thalassinus in Central Mexico. Acta Ornithologica 50, 23–32. https://doi.org/10.3161/00016454AO2015.50.1.004
- Laubach, T., von Haeseler, A., 2007. TreeSnatcher: coding trees from images. Bioinformatics 23, 3384–3385. https://doi.org/10.1093/bioinformatics/btm438
- Macdougall-Shackleton, E., Harbison, H., 1998. Singing Behavior of Lekking Green Hermits. Condor 100, 149–152.
- McGuire, J.A., Witt, C.C., Remsen Jr., J.V., Corl, A., Rabosky, D.L., Altshuler, D.L., Dudley, R., 2014. Molecular Phylogenetics and the Diversification of Hummingbirds. Current Biology 24, 1–7. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2014.03.016
- Mirsky, E.N., 1976. Song Divergence in Hummingbird and Junco Populations on Guadalupe Island. The Condor 78, 230–235.
- Nicholson, E.M., 1931. Communal Display in Humming-birds. Ibis 73, 74–83. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1474-919X.1931.tb01506.x
- Olson, C.R., Fernández-Vargas, M., Portfors, C.V., Mello, C.V., 2018. Black Jacobin hummingbirds vocalize above the known hearing range of birds. Current Biology 28, R204–R205. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2018.01.041
- Ornelas, J.F., González, C., Uribe, J., Sealy, S.G., 2002. Complex Vocalizations and Aerial Displays of the Amethyst-throated Hummingbird (Lampornis amethystinus). The Auk 119, 1141–1149. https://doi.org/10.1642/0004-8038(2002)119[1141:CVAADO]2.0.CO;2
- Pagel, M., 1999. The Maximum Likelihood Approach to Reconstructing Ancestral Character States of Discrete Characters on Phylogenies. Systematic Biology 48, 612–622.
- Pagel, M., 1994. Detecting correlated evolution on phylogenies: a general method for the comparative analysis of discrete characters. Proceedings of the Royal Society of London. Series B: Biological Sciences 255, 37–45. https://doi.org/10.1098/rspb.1994.0006
- Paradis, E., Schliep, K., 2019. ape 5.0: an environment for modern phylogenetics and evolutionary analyses in R. Bioinformatics (Oxford, England) 35, 526–528.
- Pizo, M.A., 2012. Lek behavior of the plovercrest (Stephanoxis lalandi, Trochilidae). The Wilson Journal of Ornithology 124, 106–112.
- R Core Team, 2018. R: A Language and Environment for Statistical Computing. R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria.

- Ramjohn, C.L., Lucas, F.B., Hayes, F.E., Ballah, S.T., Johnson, N.C., Garcia, K.M., 2003.
 Lek Mating Behavior of the Sooty-Capped Hermit (Phaethornis augusti) in the Paria Peninsula of Venezuela (Sistema de apariamiento de leks en Phaethornis augusti, en la Península de Paria, Venezuela). Journal of Field Ornithology 74, 205–209.
- Revell, L.J., 2012. phytools: an R package for phylogenetic comparative biology (and other things). Methods in Evolutionary Research 3, 217–223.
- Rusch, K.M., Pytte, C.L., Ficken, M.S., 1996. Organization of Agonistic Vocalizations in Black-Chinned Hummingbirds. The Condor 98, 557–566.
- Ruschi, A., 1978. Aves Trochilidae Ramphodon naevius freitasi n.s.sp. Boletim do Museu de Biologia Prof. Mello Leitão 93, 1–6.
- Ruschi, A., 1973a. Algumas observações sobre Melanotrochilus fuscus (Vieillot, 1817). Boletim do Museu de Biologia Prof. Mello Leitão 51.
- Ruschi, A., 1973b. Algumas observações sobre Lophornis magnifica (Vieillot, 1817). Boletim do Museu de Biologia Prof. Mello Leitão 44.
- Ruschi, A., 1973c. Algumas observações sobre Calliphlox amethystina amethystina (Boddaert, 1783). Boletim do Museu de Biologia Prof. Mello Leitão 71.
- Ruschi, A., 1973d. Algumas observações sobre Campylopterus largipennis aequatorialis (Gould, 1861). Boletim do Museu de Biologia Prof. Mello Leitão 46.
- Ruschi, A., 1973e. Algumas observações sobre Thalurania glaucopis (Gmelin, 1788). Boletim do Museu de Biologia Prof. Mello Leitão 73.
- Schuchmann, K.-L., 1978. Allopatrische Artbildung bei der Kolibrigattung Trochilus. Ardea 66, 156–172.
- Schuchmann, K.-L., Schuchmann-Wegert, G., 1984. Notes on the displays and mounting behaviour in the Purple-throated Carib Hummingbird (Eulampis jugularis). Bonner Zoologische Beiträge 35, 327–334.
- Silge, J., Robinson, D., 2016. tidytext: Text Mining and Analysis Using Tidy Data Principles in R. Journal of Open Source Software 1, 37. https://doi.org/10.21105/joss.00037
- Silva, M.L., Vielliard, J., 2006. Entropy calculations for measuring bird song diversity: the case of the White-vented Violet-ear (Colibri serrirostris) (Aves, Trochilidae). Razprave IV. razreda SAZU 37–49.
- Skutch, A.F., 1964a. Life Histories of Hermit Hummingbirds. The Auk 81, 5–25. https://doi.org/10.2307/4082606
- Skutch, A.F., 1964b. Life Histories of the Scaly-breasted hummingbird. The Condor 66, 186–198.
- Snow, B.K., 1977. Comparison of the Leks of Guy's Hermit Hummingbird Phaethornis Guy in Costa Rica and Trinidad. Ibis 119, 211–214. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1474-919X.1977.tb03543.x
- Snow, B.K., 1973. The Behavior and Ecology of Hermit Hummingbirds in the Kanaku Mountains, Guyana. The Wilson Bulletin 85, 163–177. https://doi.org/10.2307/4160317
- Snow, D.W., 1968. The singing assemblies of Little Hermits. The Living Birds 47-55.
- Sornoza-Molina, F., Freile, J.F., Nilsson, J., Krabbe, N., Bonaccorso, E., 2018. A striking, critically endangered, new species of hillstar (Trochilidae: Oreotrochilus) from the southwestern Andes of Ecuador. tauk 135, 1146–1171. https://doi.org/10.1642/AUK-18-58.1
- Stiles, F.G., 1982. Aggressive and Courtship Displays of the Male Anna's Hummingbird. The Condor 84, 208–225.
- Stiles, F.G., Cortés-Herrera, J.O., 2015. Diagnosis and observations of a hybrid hummingbird (Metallura tyrianthina x Aglaiocercus kingi) in the Eastern Andes of Colombia. Rev. Acad. Colomb. Cienc. Ex. Fis. Nat 39, 481–490. https://doi.org/10.18257/raccefyn.260

- Stiles, F.G., Wolf, L.L., 1979. Ecology and Evolution of Lek Mating Behavior in the Long-Tailed Hermit Hummingbird. Ornithological Monographs iii–78. https://doi.org/10.2307/40166760
- Stiles, F.G., Wolf, L.L., 1970. Hummingbird Territoriality at a Tropical Flowering Tree. The Auk 87, 467–491.
- Vielliard, J., 1983. Catálogo sonográfico dos cantos e piados dos beija-flores do Brasil, 1. Boletim do Museu de Biologia Prof. Mello Leitão 58, 1–22.
- Weller, A.-A., 2000. Biogeography, geographic variation and habitat preference in the Amazilia Hummingbird Amazilia amazilia Lesson (Aves: Trochilidae), with notes on the status of Amazilia alticola Gould. J Ornithol 141, 93–101. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF01651776
- Wells, S., Baptista, L.F., 1979. Displays and Morphology of an Anna × Allen Hummingbird Hybrid. The Wilson Bulletin 91, 524–532.
- Wells, S., Bradley, R.A., Baptista, L.F., 1978. Hybridization in Calypte Hummingbirds. The Auk 95, 537–549.
- Wickham, H., François, R., Henry, L., Müller, K., 2020. dplyr: A Grammar of Data Manipulation.
- Wiley, R.H., 1971. Song Groups in a Singing Assembly of Little Hermits. The Condor 73, 28–35. https://doi.org/10.2307/1366121
- Williams, B.R., Houtman, A.M., 2008. Song of Costa's Hummingbird (Calypte Costae). The Auk 125, 663–669. https://doi.org/10.1525/auk.2008.07058
- Winker, K., Ramos, M.A., Rappole, J.H., Warner, D.W., 1992. A note on Campylopterus excellens in southern Veracruz, with a guide to sexing captured individuals.
- Wolf, L.L., 1969. Female Territoriality in a Tropical Hummingbird. The Auk 86, 490–504. https://doi.org/10.2307/4083410
- Wolf, L.L., Stiles, F.G., 1970. Evolution of Pair Cooperation in a Tropical Hummingbird. Evolution 24, 759–773. https://doi.org/10.2307/2406556
- Yang, X.-J., Lei, F.-M., Wang, G., Jesse, A.J., 2007. Syllable sharing and inter-individual syllable variation in Anna's hummingbird Calypte anna songs, in San Francisco, California----Institute of Zoology Chinese Academy of Sciences. Folia Zoologica 53, 307–318.
- Zyskowski, K., Peterson, A.T., Kluza, D.A., 1998. Courtship behaviour, vocalizations, and species limits in Atthis hummingbirds. BOC Bulletin 118, 82–90.

Chapter 2

The hummingbird syrinx morphome: a detailed threedimensional description of the black jacobin's vocal organ

Abstract

The ability to imitate sounds depends on a process called vocal production learning, a rare evolutionary trait. In addition to the few mammalian groups that possess this ability, vocal production learning has evolved independently in three avian clades: songbirds, parrots, and hummingbirds. Although the anatomy and mechanisms of sound production in songbirds are well understood, little is known about the hummingbird's vocal anatomy. We use highresolution micro-computed tomography (µCT) and microdissection to reveal the threedimensional structure of the syrinx, the vocal organ of the black jacobin (Florisuga fusca), a phylogenetically basal hummingbird species. We identify three features of the black jacobin's syrinx: (i) a shift in the position of the syrinx to the outside of the thoracic cavity and the related loss of the sterno-tracheal muscle, (ii) complex intrinsic musculature, oriented dorso-ventrally, and (iii) ossicles embedded in the medial vibratory membranes. The extra-thoracic placement of the black jacobin's syrinx and the dorso-ventrally oriented musculature likely aid to uncoupling syrinx movements from extensive flight-related thorax constraints. The syrinx morphology further allows for vibratory decoupling, precise control of complex acoustic parameters, and a large motor redundancy that may be key biomechanical factors leading to acoustic complexity and thus facilitating the occurrence of vocal production learning.

Monte, A., Cerwenka, A. F., Ruthensteiner, B., Gahr, M., & Düring, D. N. (2020). The hummingbird syrinx morphome: A detailed three-dimensional description of the black jacobin's vocal organ. *BMC Zoology*, *5*(1), 7. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s40850-020-00057-3</u>

RESEARCH ARTICLE

The hummingbird syrinx morphome: a detailed three-dimensional description of the black jacobin's vocal organ

Amanda Monte¹, Alexander F. Cerwenka², Bernhard Ruthensteiner², Manfred Gahr¹ and Daniel N. Düring^{1,3,4*}

Abstract

Background: The ability to imitate sounds depends on a process called vocal production learning, a rare evolutionary trait. In addition to the few mammalian groups that possess this ability, vocal production learning has evolved independently in three avian clades: songbirds, parrots, and hummingbirds. Although the anatomy and mechanisms of sound production in songbirds are well understood, little is known about the hummingbird's vocal anatomy.

Results: We use high-resolution micro-computed tomography (μ CT) and microdissection to reveal the threedimensional structure of the syrinx, the vocal organ of the black jacobin (Florisuga fusca), a phylogenetically basal hummingbird species. We identify three features of the black jacobin's syrinx: (i) a shift in the position of the syrinx to the outside of the thoracic cavity and the related loss of the sterno-tracheal muscle, (ii) complex intrinsic musculature, oriented dorso-ventrally, and (iii) ossicles embedded in the medial vibratory membranes.

Conclusions: The extra-thoracic placement of the black jacobin's syrinx and the dorso-ventrally oriented musculature likely aid to uncoupling syrinx movements from extensive flight-related thorax constraints. The syrinx morphology further allows for vibratory decoupling, precise control of complex acoustic parameters, and a large motor redundancy that may be key biomechanical factors leading to acoustic complexity and thus facilitating the occurrence of vocal production learning.

Keywords: Vocal production, Musculus sternotrachealis (ST), Intrinsic musculature, Vibrato, Evolution

Background

Vocal production learning in birds -- the rare ability to modify the acoustic parameters of a vocalization as a result of experience with external vocal signals -- holds striking parallels with speech acquisition in humans [1, 2]. Vocal learning evolved independently in songbirds (suborder Passeri) [3, 4], parrots (order Psittaciformes) [5] and hummingbirds (family Trochilidae) [6] due to convergent



Efforts to understand vocal learning have concentrated on the neural processes that modulate vocal output with little regard to the biomechanics of sound production in the vocal organ [12]. The vocal organ in birds is the syrinx [13, 14], an avian novelty hypothesized to be

© The Author(s), 2020 Open Access This article is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License. which permits use, sharing, adaptation, distribution and reproduction in any medium or format, as long as you give appropriate credit to the original author(s) and the source, provide a link to the Creative Commons licence, and indicate if changes were made. The images or other third party material in this article are included in the article's Creative Commons licence, unless indicated otherwise in a credit line to the material. If material is not included in the article's Creative Commons licence and your intended use is not permitted by statutory regulation or exceeds the permitted use, you will need to obtain permission directly from the copyright holder. To view a copy of this licence, visit http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/. The Creative Commons Public Domain Dedication waiver (http://creativecommons.org/publicdomain/zero/1.0/) applies to the data made available in this article, unless otherwise stated in a credit line to the data.





^{*} Correspondence: dduering@ethz.ch

¹Department of Behavioural Neurobiology, Max Planck Institute for Ornithology, Seewiesen, Germany

³Institute of Neuroinformatics, ETH Zurich & University of Zurich, Zurich, Switzerland

Full list of author information is available at the end of the article

neurological shifts [7]. Thus, the brains of avian vocal learners are uniquely specialized, unlike non-vocallearner species, to perceive, produce and memorize sounds [4, 8, 9]. However, the pressures underlying this convergent evolution remain unknown and attempts to explain the evolution of vocal learning face challenges from the divergences in ecological aspects, such as gregariousness or mating system, of the vocal learners [10, 11].

optimized for birds' particularly long air tracts [15]. The syrinx is located where the trachea bifurcates into the bronchi and is suspended inside the interclavicular air sac [13]. One or two pairs of vibratory membranes are present; depending on where these structures are located, the syrinx can be classified as tracheal, tracheobronchial or bronchial [16]. The syrinx musculature is of two basic types: extrinsic musculature, which is attached outside of the syrinx at one end, and intrinsic musculature, which is attached to the syrinx at both ends [17, 18]. While every bird has extrinsic musculature, not all syringes have intrinsic musculature [18], which varies among birds [13, 17]. For example, gallinaceous species have none, songbird species have from three to five intrinsic muscle pairs [17, 19], while parrot species mainly have two [19, 20].

Syrinx anatomy, in general, is highly variable among and consistent within higher-level taxa, to the extent that syrinx anatomy has been used to guide avian phylogenetic classification [12, 17, 21]. Similarities in gross morphology and its implications for vocal production may help us to understand the morphological basis of vocal learning [19, 22]. Thus, the presence of intrinsic musculature has been hypothesized as a prerequisite and not an adaptation for vocal learning [19, 23], that is, all vocal learners should have intrinsic muscles, but not all species that have intrinsic muscles are vocal learners. Unlike extrinsic muscles, which move the syrinx as a unit [19, 23], intrinsic muscles dissociate the control of tension from the control of amplitude, for example, which in turn affects fundamental frequency [24, 25].

Recent studies indicate that musculature is just one of the variables that define the multi-dimensional parameter space that translates motor commands into vocal output [12, 22, 24, 26]. Many factors, such as syrinx's morphology, physical interaction with the surrounding environment, and neuro-mechanic activity, contribute to the creation of a large acoustic space that is highly redundant in terms of control parameters [22]. When a certain sound is produced, the bird has more degrees of freedom than necessary to reach that specific target [22]. This motor control redundancy allows specific vocal parameters, such as frequency, to be achieved by multiple combinations of, for example, expiratory air pressure and muscle activity [22]. The availability of multiple motor commands for a certain acoustic target may simplify the trial-and-error learning process and is hypothesized as necessary for the development of vocal learning [22].

To approach vocal learning from the biomechanical perspective, the syringes of vocal learners need to be systematically compared. Among avian vocal learners, hummingbirds are the most basal taxon and phylogenetically distant from parrots and songbirds [6, 8, 27, 28], and the only group in which not all species have the ability of vocal learning [8, 29]. The acoustic features of their

vocalizations vary substantially within the group [30, 31], ranging from simple vocalizations to acoustic performances that are above the known perceptual limits of birds [32, 33]. Currently, we lack a detailed description of the hummingbird syrinx in basal clades and, therefore, insights into the biomechanics of hummingbirds' peculiar vocalizations.

Here we use micro-computed tomography (μ CT) and microdissection to resolve the detailed structure of osseous and cartilaginous elements and vibratory soft tissues of the black jacobin (*Florisuga fusca*) syrinx. The black jacobin belongs to the clade Topazes (tribe *Topazini*), relatively basal among hummingbirds [34]. It can vocalize on high fundamental frequency with harmonics over the human audible range [33]. Our results provide fundamental insights into the biomechanics of sound production in hummingbirds and the anatomical factors facilitating the emergence of vocal learning in birds.

Results

General anatomy of the black jacobin's syrinx

The black jacobin has a tracheobronchial syrinx that is located where the trachea bifurcates into the two primary bronchi, approximately 9.4 mm cranially distant from the heart and outside of the thoracic cavity (Fig. 1). The trachea is a long, funnel-shaped tube that extends along the cervical column whose diameter is reduced to around ¼ of its original size when proximal to the syrinx. From the syrinx on, the bronchi run parallel for about 1.3 mm, separating when inside the thorax. The bronchi are enveloped by a multi-layered membrane that keeps them tightly together. Parts of the trachea, bronchi, and the syrinx, are all tightly packed by this multi-layered membrane, most likely an evagination of the clavicular air sac membrane [35].

The osseous and cartilaginous syringeal structures of the black jacobin

The syrinx of the black jacobin is composed of cartilaginous tracheal rings, an osseous tympanum and modified bronchial half-rings, two of which are partially ossified (Fig. 2a and c). The trachea consists of complete cartilaginous rings (T1 to Tn), each of which is thinner in its dorsal part and narrower towards the tympanum. The tympanum is a cylindrical osseous element likely formed by the fusion of tracheal and bronchial rings; this fusion forms the tympanum in other tracheobronchial syringes, for example, that of the zebra finch syrinx [36]. Internally, the tympanum body is a relatively uniform tube with an ossified lamella in its caudal part that projects medially into the air passage. Externally, the ventral part of the tympanum body presents a squared expansion that, together with the internal lamella, constitutes the pessulus. The pessulus separates a symmetrical pair


of horizontal ridges that delimit medially the two main craniocaudal concavities to which muscles are attached (Fig. 2b). The U-shaped dorsal part of the tympanum is formed by two solid expansions in each of the lateral caudal edges and a medial concavity that extends horizontally along the entire surface as a muscle attachment site. In the caudomedial part, a pair of rounded osseous elements, the tympanic ossicles (*ossicula tympanica*), are embedded in an extension of the most medial part of the vibratory membranes (Fig. 2d).

Caudally to the tympanum, bronchial half-rings (B1 to Bn) extend for around 12.3 mm until reaching the lungs. Only the first two pairs are partially ossified (B1 and B2); the others are cartilaginous. The first pairs (B1 to B3) are highly modified compared to the other bronchial half-rings (Fig. 2a and b). Each ring of the B1 pair is composed of a ventral spherical ossification, and a cartilaginous arc projects both dorsally along the caudal part of the tympanum and caudally in relation to the B2 pair. The B2 pair is located in the dorsal part of the syrinx, in a transverse plane, each of which has round edges and a concavity towards the ventro-lateral part of the syrinx; a cartilaginous projection extends in the same shape into the caudal direction, almost reaching the B1 cartilaginous arc. Each of the B3 pairs is a cartilaginous arcshaped half-ring whose concavity extends toward the lumen of the bronchus. Slightly medial in relation to the B1 arc, each pair has ventral and dorsal extremities that serve as attachments for one of the vibratory membranes.

The syringeal muscles of the black jacobin

All syringeal muscles of the black jacobin are paired (Fig. 3). There is one pair of extrinsic, the *musculus*

tracheolateralis (tracheolateral muscle; TL) and at least three pairs of intrinsic syringeal muscles: *musculus syringealis cranialis* (cranial syringeal muscle; CrS), *musculus syringealis centralis* (central syringeal muscle; CeS), and *musculus syringealis caudalis* (caudal syringeal muscle; CaS) (Table 1).

The extrinsic TL is composed of a few sparse sheets of muscle fibers attached to the cranial part of the trachea. It extends caudally alongside the lateral part of the trachea until reaching the cranial end of the tympanum (Fig. 3e-g).

All intrinsic muscles are oriented ventro-dorsal. They attach ventrally to the tympanum and dorsally to some of the modified bronchial half rings. The CrS, the largest muscle, is responsible for just over 50% of the intrinsic musculature volume and follows the typical cardioid contour of the dorsal syringeal surface (Fig. 3c and d). The CrS caudal attachment site is in the ventrocranial head of the modified bronchial half-ring B2. A few muscle fibers of the CrS are attached via connective tissue to the tympanic ossicles. The CeS comprises about one-third of the intrinsic musculature volume placed mainly in the lateral part of the syrinx (Fig. 3f). The caudal attachment site of the CeS is located on the lateral extent of half-ring B2 and includes its cartilaginous expansion. The CaS makes the remaining of the intrinsic musculature volume and runs mainly ventrally (Fig. 3a and b). The attachment sites of the CaS are located at the most caudal concavities of the pessulus and along the lateral outline of the cartilaginous extension of the half-ring B1.



Vibratory membranes of the black jacobin's syrinx

The syringeal vibratory membranes are composed of a pair of lateral labia (LL), each labium located in the lateral part of each side of the syrinx, and a pair of medial labia (ML) that continue into the medial tympaniform membrane (MTM). ML and MTM form the medial vibratory mass (MVM) in the medial part of the syrinx caudal to the tympanum (Fig. 4a). The LL is placed

parallel to the ML and extends cranially over the tympanic lumen and caudally among the half-rings B1 to B3 (Fig. 4a). The LL has around 45% of the volume of the ML and is ventrally attached to the pessulus, dorsally to B2 and laterally to the medial part of the B1 (Fig. 4a). The MVM constitutes a continuous mass of vibratory tissue reduced to just over one-third in thickness from the cranially located ML to the MTM. The ML is



Table 1 Anatomical structures of the black jacobin syringes described in this study

English term	Abbreviation	Latin term	Source	Brief anatomical description	Figure(s)
lateral labium	LL	labium laterale	[36]	Paired soft tissue. Projects from between the caudal tympanum and half-ring B1 into the syrinx air passage.	Figure 4a
medial labium	ML	labium mediale	[36]	Paired soft tissue. Projects from the medial part of the syrinx into the air passage. Forms a tissue continuum with the medial tympaniform membrane.	Figure 4a
medial tympaniform membrane	MTM	membrana tympaniformis medialis	[36]	Paired connective tissue element. Suspended between the ventro- dorsal extremities of the bronchial half-rings B1 and B3. Forms a tissue continuum with the medial labium.	Figure 4a
tracheolateral muscle	TL	musculus tracheolateralis	[36]	Paired muscle. Forms an extended band along the trachea. Attaches caudally to the syrinx and cranially to the larynx.	Figure 3e- g
cranial syringeal muscle	CrS	musculus syringealis cranialis	present study	Paired muscle. Attaches to tympanum and the cranial part of the half-ring B2.	Figure 3
lateral syringeal muscle	CeS	musculus syringealis centralis	present study	Paired muscle. Attaches to tympanum and the central part of the half-ring B2.	Figure 3
caudal syringeal muscle	CaS	musculus syringealis caudalis	present study	Paired muscle. Attaches to tympanum and the lateral part of the half-ring B1.	Figure 3

cranioventrally attached to the pessulus and dorsally attached to the half-ring B2. In the craniodorsal part, the ML thickens nearly 5-fold in an extension that embeds the tympanic ossicles and projects to the air passage (Fig. 4b and c). This extension, which comprises just over 30% of the total volume of ML and the tympanic ossicles comprise a further 5%, connects to a muscle via a thin ligament such as was reported previously for hummingbirds [35]. The MTM is ventro-dorsally attached to the medial edges of the bronchial half-ring B3.

Hypothetical biomechanics of the black jacobin's syrinx

To explore potential general mechanisms of adduction, abduction, and stretching of the sound-producing elements, we carefully micro-dissected the black jacobin's syrinx under a stereo microscope. During manual manipulation of the musculature around the ML, we identified a potential mechanism, which in sequential muscle activation seems responsible for the adduction of the LL and stretching of the ML and LL. Applying an increasing amount of force to the caudal part of the cartilaginous arc extending from B1, the attachment site of CaS, resulted in an inward rotation of B1 and caused first partial and then complete adduction of the LL. A craniad force applied to the head of B2, the attachment site of the CrS, resulted in the dorso-ventral stretching of the ML and LL (Fig. 5a). Considering the anatomical disposition of the CeS, a lateral force applied on the lateral part of the B2, the attachment site of CeS, may result in outward rotation of the B2 and cause the abduction of the ML. Thus, each of the three intrinsic muscles seems to be involved in one of the main tasks controlling sound production in the syrinx: the CaS on adduction, which closes the bronchial lumen; the CeS on abduction, which opens the bronchial lumen; and the CrS, which controls the tension of ML and LL (Fig. 5b). Nonetheless, these suggestions should be confirmed by a paradigm that ensures muscle specificity such as the ex vivo paradigm of the syrinx described in [22].

Spectral analysis of the black jacobin's vocalization

The black jacobin vocalizes with a fundamental frequency (F0) that ranges from 1.8 to 11.8 kHz (n = 105 recordings with a total of 1242 motor units, so-called syllables). We identified three types of vocalizations with distinct spectral structure: low-pitched vocalization with an F0 average of 1.8 kHz (\pm 0.5, n = 66 syllables); clicklike chirps with an F0 average of 7.9 kHz (\pm 1, n = 148syllables); and high-pitched vibratos with an F0 average of 11.8 kHz (\pm 0.4, n = 1028 syllables) (Fig. 6a). The human voice from the lowest suitable phonation to the highest falsetto reaches 0.08 to 0.7 kHz for males and 0.1 to 1.1 kHz for females [37].

The black jacobin's most frequent type of vocalization is the high-pitched vibrato composed of syllables repeated in groups with up to three repetitions; the vibrato has a fundamental frequency of around 12 kHz with harmonics reaching the ultrasonic range of humans [33]. Each vibrato syllable is composed of fast oscillations with periodic changes of the fundamental frequency (Fig. 6b) and an average duration of 95.8 \pm 35 ms (n = 18 syllables). Within a syllable, the difference between the highest and the lowest modulation of frequency, known as the vibrato extent, ranged from 0.7 to 3 kHz (average 1.5 ± 0.5 kHz, n = 401 crest-trough pairs, Fig. 6b) with a periodicity of around 2.4 ms (\pm 1.4 ms, n = 401). Thus, the black jacobin can produce syllables that change their fundamental frequency at an average rate of 233.2 Hz (± 37.5, n = 18 syllables). For example, Whitney Houston produced an average vibrato rate of 5.1 Hz (\pm 0.6, n = 12 vibratos) with a vibrato extent of $0.05 \text{ kHz} (\pm 0.01)$ (Fig. 6c). The human vibrato rate is similar between different music



genres such as opera (5.8 Hz \pm 0.4, n = 5 singers), rock (5 Hz \pm 0.6, n = 5 singers) or Brazilian country music (6 Hz \pm 0.5, n = 5 singers) [38]. This means black jacobin's vibrato rate surpasses that of a human singer by more than 45-fold. Within birds, vibratos are reported to be produced by only a few species [30, 39], but no quantification of vibrato rate or extent is available. For comparison, we quantified the vibrato rate of a songbird, Eurasian skylark (*Alauda arvensis*). The skylark's vibrato rate is almost 17-fold higher than that of a human singer, with an average of 89.7 Hz (\pm 14.4, n = 10 syllables), and the vibrato extent averaged 8-fold larger, 0.4 kHz (\pm 0.02) (see Methods for details). No

vibrato reported to date combines such a fast rate and wide extent as that of the black jacobin (Fig. 6c).

Discussion

Here we present the first detailed description of the vocal tract of a basal hummingbird; a species with the potential to illuminate how vocal learning has evolved. We identified a tracheobronchial syrinx located in the dorsal part of the neck. The syrinx appears to be comprised of heavily modified osseous structures, intrinsic syringeal musculature with a particular ventro-dorsal orientation and a pair of vibratory membranes in each of



the sides of the syrinx. Further, we find one ossicle embedded in each of the medial vibratory membranes. This peculiar syringeal morphology allows the black jacobin to produce a vibrato that challenges the known limits of this acoustic feature.

Hummingbirds (family *Trochilidae*) are grouped with swifts (family *Apodidae*) and treeswifts (family *Hemiprocnidae*) in the order Apodiformes [27]. Within hummingbirds, a comparative study that included the syrinx of the clades Hermits, Mangoes and Brilliant suggested that adjacent bronchi, highly modified bronchial halfrings, intrinsic muscles and tympanic ossicle are unique to hummingbirds within Apodiformes [35]. A recent study that investigated the syrinx of the clade Bees, relatively recent radiation within hummingbirds [34], found also specialized pairs of accessory cartilages, one of them embedded in the medial vibratory membranes, and intrinsic muscles [40]. Similarly to hummingbirds, the syrinx of the swifts is tracheobronchial with an osseous tympanum [41]. However, the synrix of the swifts is placed inside of the thoracic cavity, have two pairs of extrinsic muscles (tracheolateralis and sternotrachealis) and no intrinsic muscles [35, 41–43]. Given the relatively basal placement of Topazes within hummingbirds [34] and the consistency of these characters in the hummingbird species reported to date, we suggest that the extrathoracic syrinx, heavily modified bronchial halfrings, tympanic ossicles, more than one pair of intrinsic muscles, lack of sterno-tracheal muscle and two pairs of vibratory membranes are synapomorphies of the family.

Decoupling from physiological noise and syrinx stabilization without ST muscles

The black jacobin's syrinx is located outside of the thoracic cavity, in contrast to most of the birds that have their syringes inside the thoracic cavity [17], except for the roseate spoonbill (*Platalea ajaja*) [42]. Hummingbirds are highly specialized for hovering: unsurprisingly,



the average fundamental frequency for the respective vocalization on their left, and the Whisker, the standard deviation. In **D**, an example of crest-trough detection in the high-pitched fragment (indicated by the red arrow) obtained by our customized R function. Red circles indicate the crest, and blue the trough; the difference between them is the vibrato extent. Note that the overlap of fundamental frequency contour and spectrogram are computed with different functions which induce a slight mismatch in the graphic representation. In **c**, the vibrato rate is calculated as the number of crest and trough pairs per second given in Hz, and the mean extent for each syllable/segment is calculated in kHz. The cross indicates means and arrows the standard deviation. Circles represent the data points obtained by an example of vibrato produced by a human singer (n = 12 vibrato segments in one song), triangles for Eurasian skylark (*Alauda arvensis*) (n = 11 syllables from two birds) and squares represent data points for the black jacobin (n = 18 syllables from three birds). See the Methods for the source of the sound recordings

its flight muscles make up 25 to 30% of its body weight, a ratio that is more than that of any other bird family [44]. The hummingbird's enlarged flight muscles are combined with an enlarged heart, comprising about 2.5% of its body mass, which beat rate is the highest among birds [44, 45]. The syrinx location outside of the thoracic cavity potentially alleviates spatial constraints caused by the enlarged flight muscles and avoids mechanical disturbances from the cardiac muscles. Thus, we speculate that an extrathoracic syrinx may have allowed hummingbirds to evolve control over its syringeal biomechanics despite their unique adaptations for the hovering flight.

The black jacobin's syrinx lacks the sterno-tracheal muscle (ST), in contrast to almost all other birds. Further exceptions are the nearly non-vocal New World vultures and the vocalizing tinamous Darwin's Nothura (*Nothura darwinii*) [46]. The function of ST is unclear,

in species in which intrinsic muscles are absent it is hypothesized to function as syringeal adductor [43, 47–49]. For example in the tracheal syrinx of pigeons, the shortening of the ST brings its cartilages closer together, thereby closing the syringeal lumen [23]. The adduction of the labia is crucial for sound production in general as it facilitates the build-up of the phonation threshold pressure (PTP), which is necessary for sound onset [50]. Surprisingly, in species with intrinsic syrinx muscles, adduction is achieved by intrinsic musculature rather than ST and ST function is attributed to syringeal stabilization [17, 51]. Similarly, and congruent with our observations, the closing mechanism in black jacobins is probably realized through intrinsic musculature. Darwin's nothura, which also lacks ST, has the membrane of the interclavicular air sac more caudal than in the other tinamous species and it is proposed to also stabilize the syrinx [46]. Black jacobins seem to obtain syrinx stabilization through tight wrapping of the syrinx in several layers of soft tissue. These layers create a rigid frame that might also compensate for the lack of rib cage protection. While protecting the syrinx from its immediate environment, this tight wrapping also keeps the syringeal elements inside flexible and potentially aids in maintaining the differential pressure necessary for the onset of sound production [18, 22]. The most external of these layers may be an evagination of the interclavicular membrane that cranially encloses the syrinx within the interclavicular air sac, which has also been reported in other hummingbird species [35].

The syrinx displacement may also have had implications for muscle orientation. The intrinsic muscles of the black jacobin's syrinx are oriented dorso-ventrally, while the intrinsic muscle fibers of most bird taxa run cranio-caudally, for example, the ventral syringeal muscle of songbirds [13, 16, 36]. Because all of the black jacobin's intrinsic muscles are ventrally attached to the tympanum, but each of them is dorsally attached to a different point, they run dorso-ventrally on different angles. The general dorso-ventral orientation with differences in angulation might allow the black jacobin to control the mobile syringeal elements despite the lack of lateral stabilization provided by the STs in other taxa.

The extrathoracic disposition of the syrinx and accompanied absence of STs in hummingbirds [35, 40, 52], might have been one of the driving pressures for the evolution of intrinsic muscles, a key prerequisite of vocal learning.

Tympanic ossicles

Although cartilaginous formations were found embedded in the vibratory membranes of songbirds [36], tympanic ossicles have not been reported in any species other than hummingbirds [35, 40, 52]. The origin of tympanic ossicles is uncertain. Due to their medial position and proximity to the tympanum, they might be either modified bronchial half-rings or have originated from a tracheal ring. In humans, the prevalence of a small sesamoid bone in the knee has increased worldwide in the past century, probably as a dissipative response to increased mechanical forces due to the enlargement of leg bones and muscles [53]. Similarly, increased tension in the labia might have led to the formation of tympanic ossicles in the black jacobin's syrinx.

In addition to direct muscular activity, stiffness of vocal tissues depends on the elastic properties of the tissue itself [24, 54]. In songbirds, cartilage embedded in the medial labia (ML) both aids in the dissipation of the tension, avoiding rupture under high stress and modifies the elastic properties of the syrinx [36]. In particular, the cartilage that connects with the muscle potentially supports a more gradual bending mechanism, which in turn allows uncoupling the control of amplitude and frequency [36]. Similarly, this might be the function of the cartilaginous extension in the dorsal part of the ML and its embedded ossicles, the tympanic ossicles, in the black jacobin. This extension is connected by a thin strip of connective tissue to a few muscle fibers of the larger syringeal muscle; given this arrangement, direct muscular control of the extension seems likely.

The tympanic ossicles may contribute to achieving the black jacobin's high fundamental frequency: they cause high local density and prevent an entire part of the ML from vibrating at all, thus shortening its length and increasing the fundamental frequency. In other words, the tympanic ossicles could be used as a secondary mechanism to gradually increase ML stiffness and reduce ML length. It is therefore likely that the cartilaginous extension of the ML in the black jacobin both shifted the elastic properties of the ML towards the optimal for high fundamental frequency by increasing ML density towards the muscle attachment site that directly controls ML stiffness, and shortened the vibratory part of the ML.

Extreme vocal performance

Black jacobins produce particularly rapidly-modulated vibrato sounds [33]. The black jacobins' vibratos oscillate periodically up and down with a frequency bandwidth of up to 3 kHz at a rate of about 250 Hz. This fast vibrato rate can be compared to that of other extreme vocal performances, such as of starlings (*Sturnus vulgaris*), a songbird whose muscle activity in the syrinx produces changes in sound amplitude at a repetition rate of 218 Hz [55]. The musculature of the songbird's syrinx belongs to a special class of muscles, called superfast muscles [56, 57], and can produce work at cycling limits of approximately 90 Hz to 250 Hz [58]. In vitro preparations revealed that the superfast songbird muscles in the syrinx have the potential to function at cycle frequencies

as fast as 250 Hz [55]. Although direct electromyographic recordings of the syringeal musculature would be needed to confirm that the black jacobin's vibrato rate of 250 Hz is a direct result of muscular control, this extremely fast performance suggests that the black jacobin's syringeal muscles produce work on the upper limit of the superfast muscle activity reported to date [55] and that black jacobins may have muscle properties comparable to those of songbirds.

Biomechanics of sound production and implications for vocal learning in hummingbirds

Parrots and songbirds, two vocal learners, have a tracheal and a tracheobronchial syrinx, respectively, both with intrinsic musculature [17, 20, 36, 59]. The black jacobin's syrinx, like that of all the other hummingbird species reported so far [35, 40, 52], is tracheobronchial, with three pairs of intrinsic muscles that are as complex as those of songbirds [40]. The black jacobin's multiple intrinsic muscles attach in close proximity to movable elements of its syringeal osseous elements (modified bronchial half-rings) to which the vibratory membranes (medial labia or lateral labia) are attached via cartilaginous extensions. These muscles seem to operate consecutively. For example, both lateral and medial labia are attached to the bronchial half-ring B2, where two large muscles are attached. At its cranial surface is the cranial syringeal muscle (CrS), and at its lateral part, the central syringeal muscle (CeS). Given the location and orientation of each muscle, we speculate that various amounts of contraction of each muscle might contribute gradually to distinct functions, such as the abduction of the ML and the stretching of the labia. Since the position and tension of the labia are directly related to distinct acoustic parameters, multiple muscles contributing to the same function creates redundancy in possible motor commands controlling acoustic parameters such as fundamental frequency. When the brain has multiple, rather than a single motor command available to achieve a certain vocal output, a redundant control space may simplify trial-and-error attempts during imitation in the vocal production learning process [22].

Hummingbirds and songbirds converge in their syrinx morphology, while parrots produce learned vocalizations with seemingly less complex syringeal musculature [40]. However, parrot's lingual articulation introduces a hitherto overlooked level of complexity to their vocal production system [60]. Syrinx muscle complexity alone does not correlate with vocal learning [61]. Nevertheless, the presence of intrinsic musculature when combined with further specializations leading to acoustic complexity may facilitate the evolution of neurological structures associated with vocal learning. Thus, we speculate that the more degrees of freedom are provided to the motor redundancy by peripheral adaptations for vocal production, the more likely a species is to follow on to the next evolutionary step towards the evolution of vocal learning.

Conclusions

Here we present the first high-resolution morphome of an ancestral hummingbird syrinx, the black jacobin's. We suggest that the absence of sterno-tracheal muscle, presence of tympanic ossicles and dorso-ventral muscle orientation are all present synapomorphies within hummingbirds. These characteristics might have evolved concomitantly with the displacement of the syrinx out of the thorax, as an operational solution to reduce interference of the syrinx with the enlarged heart and flight muscles. The vocal motor control redundancy emerging from the hummingbird's syrinx morphology may have facilitated the evolution of vocal learning in hummingbirds.

Methods

Tissue collection and preparation

The black jacobins (n = 3) were captured with a hummingbird-specific "Ruschi trap" [62] in the park of the National Institute of the Atlantic Forest (former Professor Mello Leitão Museum), Espírito Santo State, Brazil, in accordance with the Brazilian Institute of Environment and Renewable Natural (IBAMA) regulations under the Biodiversity Information and Authorization System (SISBIO) license number 41794–2.

After capture, two males were deeply anesthetized with an intramuscular injection of ketamine hydrochloride (Cetamin, Rhobifarma Indústria Farmacêutica Ltda, SP, Brazil) in the concentration recommended by the manufacturer (15 mg/kg). This method was the preferable alternative given the limitations in the field and the particular anatomy of the hummingbirds. No signs of distress were observed in the birds during and after the injection. When the birds were completely unconscious, they were perfused through a cardiac injection with the following sequence of solutions: 0.5 ml heparin-natriun anticoagulant, 0.9 saline buffer and 4% paraformaldehyde fixative. After the perfusion, the syrinx was dissected and stored in the fixative for 24 h and then stored in 0.1 M phosphate-buffered saline (PBS) in solution with 0.05% sodium acid until use. We used both fixed syringes for micro-computed tomography, one stained for the visualization of soft tissues and the other without the staining procedure for clear visibility of the ossified structures. Both syringes were dissected with a large part of the esophagus and bronchi as close as possible to the beak and lungs, respectively, to access the syrinx structures integrally. A third male black jacobin received an anesthetic overdose (ketamine hydrochloride: 15 mg/kg), when the bird was unconscious, the euthanasia was

confirmed by decapitation, the syrinx immediately dissected and cryopreserved at -80 °C until use. This syrinx was micro-dissected. The euthanasia method used in this study followed the guidelines n°. 13, 20 Sep 2013 of the Brazilian National Council on the Control of Animal Experiments (CONCEA).

Micro-dissection

The cryopreserved syrinx was thawed gradually. First, at -20 °C for 1 h followed by 24 °C during the time of manipulation. For manipulation, the syrinx was pinned down on a glass Petri dish covered by black dissecting pan wax and filled with 0.1 M PBS. We disassembled the syrinx under an MZ75 stereomicroscope (Leica Microsystems, Germany) equipped with an ISH500 5.0 MP camera (Tucsen Photonics, China).

The syrinx was inspected ventrally and dorsally; the main musculature and ossifications matched with the μ CT-based reconstruction. The difference in the density of adjacent soft tissues was noted by a comparison of their light reflection. We sectioned the muscles at their tympanic insertion site and noted the general orientation of fibers. We repositioned the syrinx caudally, centering it where the bronchia bifurcated, with bronchi angled at 180° exposing the vibratory membranes. The mobile structures in which the vibratory membranes were attached were noted. With a pin, we applied gentle force to each of these mobile structures and photographed the effect of the applied force on the vibratory membranes (See Fig. 5a).

Micro-computed tomography

The micro-computed tomography (μ CT) scans of isolated syringes (two males) was conducted at the Zoologische Staatssammlung München (Munich, Germany) using a phoenix nanotom m cone beam μ CT scanner (GE Measurement and Control, Wunstorf, Germany) with down to 3.1 μ m voxel size.

One syrinx was scanned without staining to access the anatomy of the ossified structures as a fourfold multiscan with the following parameters: 100 kV source voltage, 170 µA source current, 0.1 mm aluminum filter, 500 ms exposure time, $3.1 \,\mu m$ isotropic voxel resolution, 1000 projections over 360° with three averaged images per rotation position, and a total of 132 min scan time, using a molybdenum target. The second syrinx was stained with a contrast agent to image soft tissues. It was placed inside a glass vial with 0.1% Lugol's solution (Sigma Aldrich). The vial was placed on a tube roller for 48 h. The stained syrinx was scanned for 48 min using the following parameters: 80 kV source voltage, 180 µA source current, 0.1 mm copper filter, 500 ms exposure time, 3.6 µm isotropic voxel resolution, 1440 projections over 360° with three averaged images per rotation position, using a tungsten ("standard") target. The volume reconstructions were performed using the software phoenix datos 2 \times (GE Sensoring & Inspection Technologies GmbH, Germany).

Three-dimensional reconstruction and nomenclature

The annotation was performed onto the μ CT-based syringeal dataset of a black jacobin adult male. We identified the recognized musculature, ossification, cartilaginous pads, and vibratory membranes. The visualization procedures including volume rendering and manual segmentation for surface rendering and relative quantifications were done with the software Amira 6.1 (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Massachusetts, USA).

The syrinx structures were defined by the consensus of the microdissection and the µCT data. The nomenclature was given following the same procedure used in songbirds [36]. In the case of lacking analogous structures in songbirds, we proposed a nomenclature following the same procedure used in non-passerines to name syringeal muscles according to their topographic position [63] (Table 1). We named the tracheal rings T1 to Tn starting from tympanum and moving toward the larynx. We present a conservative number of intrinsic muscles due to their delineation. We delineated the intrinsic syringeal muscles by aggregating fibers that were oriented at the same angle and defined their differential attachment sites based on both microdissection and the μCT scans. The extrinsic musculature was not traced in the 3D reconstruction due to its undetermined tracheal insertion but is partially shown. The vibratory membranes we found are analogous to those described in songbirds [36].

Sound analysis

First, we investigated the fundamental frequency of the black jacobin's vocalizations in the wild. Observations and recordings were made in the Professor Mello Leitão Museum (Santa Teresa, Espirito Santo state, Brazil) at a feeding point where every day wild hummingbirds visit feeders that contain 25% sugar water solution. The observations were made over 9 days from November to December 2013, and over 15 days from September to October 2015 during the black jacobin's breeding season [64]. Black jacobins were observed continuously for 1 h a day on the dates mentioned above; observations were made sometime between 6:30 and 11 a.m. for a total of approximately 24 h. The sampling method was ad libitum [65], according to which the most conspicuous occurrences of the vocal behavior were recorded for the first black jacobin spotted at the feeding point until the individual had left the place. The black jacobins were not individually marked, but the high abundance of the species at the feeding point [66] and the fact that recordings were obtained over two non-consecutive years make it unlikely that the observations were biased toward a

few individuals. Recordings were made 3–10 m from the individuals with a *Marantz PMD 671* (Marantz, New York, USA) solid-state recorder connected to a Sennheiser MKH 70/P48 (Sennheiser, Wedemark, Germany) directional microphone in a 48 kHz sampling rate wave file. We obtained 105 recordings totaling 5 h. We isolated the black jacobin's vocalizations and calculated the fundamental frequency for each of their syllables (vocal units) using the packages "Seewave" [67] and "WarbleR" [68] in R 3.5.0 [69]. The recordings are not public due to storage reasons but are available from the corresponding author upon request.

Second, we focused on the most common vocalization of the black jacobin. This vocalization is composed of syllables with continuous and regular fast modulations in fundamental frequency [33]. Given the periodicity of these modulations, we classified the syllables as vibratos. Vibrato is a demanding vocal task produced by opera singers and characterized by periodic pitch fluctuation [70]. The accuracy of the vocal performance can be quantified in terms of four parameters: rate, extent, regularity, and waveform [70]. Here we measured two features of the black jacobin's vibrato: the rate that was measured by the number of oscillations per second and the extent that was the depth of the oscillations. We measured the vibrato based on and adapted from [71]. All calculations were performed on the platform R 3.5.0 [69]. For the calculations, syllables were selected from full recordings using the function autodetect() of the package "WarbleR" [68]. For each syllable, a spectrogram (Hanning windows) was generated with the function spectro() of the package "Seewave" [67]. The adequated windows length was selected manually per syllable and varied from 220 to 360. Then the fundamental frequency contour of each unit was identified with the function dfreq() of the package "Seewave" [67]. The crest-trough pairs were detected using a customized R script named "vibrato_scan.R" which is available in the following GitHub repository: https://github.com/amandamonte/ black_jacobin.git. The vibrato rate given in Hz was calculated by:

$$\sum \frac{Nct}{T}$$

Where Nct is the total number of crest-trough pairs detected per vocal unit, and T is the total duration of the unit in seconds.

The vibrato extent given in Hz was obtained per cresttrough pair by the difference between the frequency of the crest and the frequency of the trough. The values were presented as means (± standard deviation, sample size).

We analyzed three high-quality sound recordings and 18 syllables with the highest quality obtained from three black jacobins. These recordings were kindly provided by Chirstopher Olson, who obtained them using an Avisoft CM16/CMPA ultrasound microphone (2-250 kHz range) coupled to an UltraSoundGate 416H amplifier recorder at the frequency rate of 214 kHz. To have something to compare with the black jacobin, we analyzed the soundtrack "I will always love you" performed by Whitney Houston (© Sony Music, 1992) and selected 12 fragments in which the singer produces a vibrato as an example of a human singer (frequency rate of 44.1 kHz). As an example of a vibrato produced by a songbird, we analyzed two recordings of the Eurasian skylark (Alauda arvensis) obtained from the Xeno-canto collaborative bird sound collection (https://www.xeno-canto.org/), catalog numbers XC401962 and XC417772 uploaded by Karl-Birger Strann and Jarek Matusiak, respectively (frequency rate of 48 kHz). The vibrato examples of both the human singer and songbird were analyzed following the same parameters as the black jacobin recordings, except for the windows length (Eurasian skylark: 120 to 240 and Whitney Houston: 1200 to 1600).

Abbreviations

μCT: Micro-computed tomography; ST: *Musculus sternotrachealis* or sternotracheal muscle; T1 to Tn: First to the last cartilaginous rings; B1 to Bn: First to the last bronchial half-rings; TL: *Musculus tracheolateralis* or tracheolateral muscle; CrS: *Musculus syringealis cranialis* or cranial syringeal muscle; CeS: *Musculus syringealis or cartal syringeal muscle; CaS: Musculus syringealis caudalis* or caudal syringeal muscle; LL: Lateral labia; ML: Medial labia; MTM: Medial tympaniform membrane; MVM: Medial vibratory mass; F0: Fundamental frequency; PTP: Phonation threshold pressure

Acknowledgments

We are grateful to the staff of the Museu de Biologia Professor "Mello Leitao" (current National Institute of the Atlantic Forest) for assistance with data collection in the field and the former director Hélio de Queiroz Boudet Fernandes for logistical support. We thank Dr. Christopher Olson for providing high-quality sound recordings of the black jacobin. Dr. Moritz Hertel for insightful suggestions on data processing. AM received an International Max Planck Research School for Organismal Biology grant for language editing; we thank E. Wheeler for the helpful comments.

Authors' contributions

AM and DD conceived the study. AM, AC, BR, and DD contributed to data acquisition. DD, AC, BR, and MG contributed reagents, materials, and analytical tools. All authors contributed to data analysis. AM wrote the initial draft of the manuscript. All authors contributed to manuscript revision and approved the final version.

Funding

A grant for language editing was awarded by the International Max Planck Research School for Organismal Biology. The funder had no impact on study design, conduction or interpretation of data.

Availability of data and materials

The µCT scans and derived 3D surfaces of the black jacobin's syrinx generated during the current study are available in the Morphobank repository under the project number 3691, http://morphobank.org/permalink/?P3691

The customized R script generated during the current study to detect cresttrough pairs in vibrato is available in the GitHub repository under the file name "vibrato_scan.R", https://github.com/amandamonte/black_jacobin.git The sound recordings and respective datasets analysed during the current study are available from the corresponding author on reasonable request.

Ethics approval and consent to participate

The samples for this study were collected with permission from the direction of the National Institute of the Atlantic Forest (former Professor Mello Leitão Museum), Espírito Santo State, Brazil. All procedures were in conformity with the normative instruction n° 03/2014 of the Chico Mendes Institute for Biodiversity Conservation (ICMBio) and the Brazilian Institute of Environment and Renewable Natural (IBAMA) that regulates the collection of biological material for scientific and didactic purposes in the context of higher education under the Biodiversity Information and Authorization System (SISBio) license number 41794–2.

Consent for publication

Not applicable.

Competing interests

The authors declare that they have no competing interests.

Author details

¹Department of Behavioural Neurobiology, Max Planck Institute for Ornithology, Seewiesen, Germany. ²SNSB-Bavarian State Collection of Zoology, Munich, Germany. ³Institute of Neuroinformatics, ETH Zurich & University of Zurich, Zurich, Switzerland. ⁴Neuroscience Center Zurich (ZNZ), Zurich, Switzerland.

Received: 6 April 2020 Accepted: 25 June 2020 Published online: 06 July 2020

References

- Marler P. Birdsong and speech development: could there be parallels? There
 may be basic rules governing vocal learning to which many species
 conform, including man. Am Sci. 1970;58:669–73.
- Janik VM, Slater PJB. The different roles of social learning in vocal communication. Anim Behav. 2000;60:1–11.
- Bottjer SW, Glaessner SL, Arnold AP. Ontogeny of brain nuclei controlling song learning and behavior in zebra finches. J Neurosci. 1985;5:1556–62.
- 4. Nottebohm F, Stokes TM, Leonard CM. Central control of song in the canary, Serinus canarius. J Comp Neurol. 1976;165:457–86.
- Jarvis ED, Mello CV. Molecular mapping of brain areas involved in parrot vocal communication. J Comp Neurol. 2000;419:1–31.
- Baptista LF, Schuchmann K-L. Song learning in the Anna hummingbird (Calypte anna). Ethology. 1990;84:15–26.
- Jarvis ED. Neural systems for vocal learning in birds and humans: a synopsis. J Ornithol. 2007;148:35–44.
- Gahr M. Neural song control system of hummingbirds: comparison to swifts, vocal learning (songbirds) and nonlearning (suboscines) passerines, and vocal learning (budgerigars) and nonlearning (dove, owl, gull, quail, chicken) nonpasserines. J Comp Neurol. 2000;426:182–96.
- Paton J, Manogue K, Nottebohm F. Bilateral organization of the vocal control pathway in the budgerigar, *Melopsittacus undulatus*. J Neurosci. 1981;1:1279.
- Jarvis ED. Selection for and against vocal learning in birds and mammals. Jorn. 2006;5:5–15.
- Nowicki S, Searcy WA. The evolution of vocal learning. Curr Opin Neurobiol. 2014;28:48–53.
- Düring DN, Elemans CPH. Embodied Motor Control of Avian Vocal Production. In: Vertebrate Sound Production and Acoustic Communication: Springer, Cham; 2016. p. 119–57.
- King AS. Functional anatomy of the syrinx. In: form and function in birds. New York and London: Academic Press; 1989.
- 14. Clarke JA, Chatterjee S, Li Z, Riede T, Agnolin F, Goller F, et al. Fossil evidence of the avian vocal organ from the Mesozoic. Nature. 2016;538:502.
- 15. Riede T, Thomson SL, Titze IR, Goller F. The evolution of the syrinx: an acoustic theory. PLoS Biol. 2019;17:e2006507.
- Smolker RE. The avian syrinx, its use in classification. Master: Boston University; 1947. https://hdl.handle.net/2144/17264.
- 17. Ames PL. The morphology of the Syrinx in passerine birds. Peabody Museum of Natural History. Chicago: Yale University; 1971.
- Gaunt AS, Gaunt SLL. Syringeal structure and avian phonation. In: Current ornithology. New York: Plenum Press; 1985. p. 213–45. https://link.springer. com/chapter/10.1007/978-1-4613-2385-3_7. Accessed 23 Nov 2018.

- 19. Gaunt AS. An hypothesis concerning the relationship of Syringeal structure to vocal abilities. Auk. 1983;100:853–62.
- 20. Nottebohm F. Phonation in the Orange-winged Amazon parrot, Amazona amazonica. J Comp Physiol. 1976;108:157–70.
- Suthers RA, Zollinger SA. From brain to song: the vocal organ and vocal tract. In: Zeigler HP, Marler P, editors. Neuroscience of Birdsong. Cambridge University Press; 2008. p. 78–98.
- Elemans CPH, Rasmussen JH, Herbst CT, Düring DN, Zollinger SA, Brumm H, et al. Universal mechanisms of sound production and control in birds and mammals. Nat Commun. 2015;6:8978.
- 23. Mindlin GB, Laje R. The Physics of Birdsong: Springer Science & Business Media; 2006.
- Düring DN, Knörlein BJ, Elemans CPH. In situ vocal fold properties and pitch prediction by dynamic actuation of the songbird syrinx. Sci Rep. 2017;7. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-017-11258-1.
- Goller F, Riede T. Integrative physiology of fundamental frequency control in birds. J Physiol Paris. 2013;107:230–42.
- Amador A, Mindlin GB. Beyond harmonic sounds in a simple model for birdsong production. Chaos. 2008;18:043123.
- Prum RO, Berv JS, Dornburg A, Field DJ, Townsend JP, Lemmon EM, et al. A comprehensive phylogeny of birds (Aves) using targeted next-generation DNA sequencing. Nature. 2015;526:569.
- Jarvis ED, Ribeiro S, da Silva ML, Ventura D, Vielliard J, Mello CV. Behaviourally driven gene expression reveals song nuclei in hummingbird brain. Nature. 2000;406:628–32.
- 29. Williams BR, Houtman AM. Song of Costa's hummingbird (Calypte Costae). Auk. 2008;125:663–9.
- Ferreira ARJ, Smulders TV, Sameshima K, Mello CV, Jarvis ED. Vocalizations and associated behaviors of the sombre hummingbird (Aphantochroa cirrhochloris) and the Rufous-breasted hermit (Glaucis hirsutus). Auk. 2006; 123:1129–48.
- 31. Ficken MS, Rusch KM, Taylor SJ, Powers DR. Blue-throated hummingbird song: a pinacle of nonoscine vocalizations. Auk. 2000;117:120–8.
- 32. Duque FG, Rodríguez-Saltos CA, Wilczynski W. High-frequency vocalizations in Andean hummingbirds. Curr Biol. 2018;28:R927–8.
- Olson CR, Fernández-Vargas M, Portfors CV, Mello CV. Black Jacobin hummingbirds vocalize above the known hearing range of birds. Curr Biol. 2018;28:R204–5.
- McGuire JA, Witt CC, Remsen JV Jr, Corl A, Rabosky DL, Altshuler DL, et al. Molecular Phylogenetics and the diversification of hummingbirds. Curr Biol. 2014;24:1–7.
- Zusi RL. Introduction to the Skeleton of Hummingbirds (Aves: Apodiformes, Trochilidae) in Functional and Phylogenetic Contexts. In: Ornithological Monographs No. 77: American Ornithologists' Union; 2013. p. 1–94. https:// doi.org/10.1525/om.2013.77.1.1.
- Düring DN, Ziegler A, Thompson CK, Ziegler A, Faber C, Müller J, et al. The songbird syrinx morphome: a three-dimensional, high-resolution, interactive morphological map of the zebra finch vocal organ. BMC Biol. 2013;11:1.
- Harry H, Donald D, Patricia P. Phonational frequency ranges of adults. J Speech Hear Res. 1971;14:755–60.
- Pecoraro G, Curcio DF, Behlau M. Vibrato rate variability in three professional singing styles: opera, Rock and Brazilian country. Proc Mtgs Acoust. 2013;19: 035026.
- Mundinger PC. Behaviour-genetic analysis of canary song: inter-strain differences in sensory learning, and epigenetic rules. Anim Behav. 1995;50: 1491–511.
- 40. Riede T, Olson CR. The vocal organ of hummingbirds shows convergence with songbirds. Sci Rep. 2020;10:1–14.
- Thomassen HA. Swift as sound. Design and evolution of the echolocation system in Swiftlets (Apodidae: Collocaliini). Doctoral Thesis. Faculteit der Wiskunde en Natuurwetenschappen; 2005. https://openaccess.leidenuniv.nl/ handle/1887/3024. Accessed 14 Nov 2018.
- Beddard FE. The structure and classification of birds. London, New York and Bombay: Longmans, Green, and co.; 1898. http://archive.org/details/ structureclassif00bedd. Accessed 24 Jun 2019.
- Suthers RA, Hector DH. Mechanism for the production of echolocating clicks by the grey swiftlet, Collocalia spodiopygia. J Comp Physiol. 1982;148: 457–70.
- Schuchmann KL. Family Trochilidae (Hummingbirds). In: del Hoyo J, Elliott A, Sargatal J, editors. Handbook of the Biords of the World. Vol. 5. Barn-owls to Hummingbirds. Barcelona: Lynx Edicions; 1999. p. 34–75.

- 45. Odum EP. The heart rate of small birds. Science. 1945;101:153-4.
- Garitano-Zavala A. Evolutionary Loss of the Extrinsis Syringeal muscle Sternotrachealis in Darwin's Nothura (Nothura Darwinnii)Pérdida Evolutiva del Músculo Siríngeo Extrínseco Esternotraqueal en Nothura darwinii. Auk. 2009;126:134–40.
- 47. Suthers RA. Peripheral vocal mechanisms in birds: are songbirds special? Netherlands J Zool. 2001;51:217–42.
- Suthers RA, Hector DH. The physiology of vocalization by the echolocating oilbird,Steatornis caripensis. J Comp Physiol. 1985;156:243–66.
- Goller F, Larsen ON. In situ biomechanics of the syrinx and sound generation in pigeons. J Exp Biol. 1997;200:2165–76.
- 50. Titze IR. Phonation threshold pressure: a missing link in glottal aerodynamics. J Acoust Soc Am. 1992;91:2926–35.
- Goller F, Suthers RA. Role of syringeal muscles in gating airflow and sound production in singing brown thrashers. J Neurophysiol. 1996;75:867–76.
- Müller JP. On certain variations in the vocal organs of the Passeres that have hitherto escaped notice. Oxford: Clarendon Press; 1878. http://archive. org/details/cu31924000122428. Accessed 9 Nov 2018.
- Berthaume MA, Federico ED, Bull AMJ. Fabella prevalence rate increases over 150 years, and rates of other sesamoid bones remain constant: a systematic review. J Anat. 2019;235:67–79.
- Riede T, Fisher JH, Goller F. Sexual dimorphism of the Zebra finch Syrinx indicates adaptation for high fundamental frequencies in males. PLoS One. 2010;5:e11368.
- 55. Elemans CPH, Mead AF, Rome LC, Goller F. Superfast vocal muscles control song production in songbirds. PLoS One. 2008;3:e2581.
- 56. Rome LC. Design and function of superfast muscles: new insights into the physiology of skeletal muscle. Annu Rev Physiol. 2006;68:193–221.
- 57. Elemans CPH, Spierts ILY, Müller UK, van LJL, Goller F. Superfast muscles control dove's trill. Nature. 2004;431:146.
- Rome LC, Syme DA, Hollingworth S, Lindstedt SL, Baylor SM. The whistle and the rattle: the design of sound producing muscles. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1996;93:8095–100.
- Gaban-Lima R, Höfling E. Comparative anatomy of the syrinx in the tribe Arini (Aves: Psittacidae). Braz J morphol Sci. 2006;23:501–12.
- Beckers GJL, Nelson BS, Suthers RA. Vocal-tract filtering by lingual articulation in a parrot. Curr Biol. 2004;14:1592–7.
- Jarvis ED. Evolution of vocal learning and spoken language. Science. 2019; 366:50–4.
- 62. Ruschi PA. A new hummingbird trap. Boletim Museu Biologia Prof Mello Leitão. 2009;25:67–75.
- 63. King AS. Apparatus respiratorius. In: Baumel JJ, King AS, Breazile JE, Evans HE, Berge JCV, editors. Handbook of avian anatomy : Nomina Anatomica Avium. 2nd ed. Cambridge: Nuttall Ornithological Club; 1993. https://www. nhbs.com/handbook-of-avian-anatomy-nomina-anatomica-avium-book.
- Ruschi A. A estação ou o período de reprodução nos beija-flores. Boletim Museu Biologia Prof Mello Leitão. 1964;42.
- Martin P, Bateson P. Measuring Behaviour: An Introductory Guide. 3rd ed. Cambridge: University Press; 2007.
- Loss ACC, Silva AG. Comportamento de forrageio de aves nectarívoras de Santa Teresa – ES. Natureza Line. 2005;2:48–52.
- 67. Sueur J, Aubin T, Simonis C. Seewave, a free modular tool for sound analysis and synthesis. Bioacoustics. 2008;18:213–26.
- 68. Araya-Salas M, Smith-Vidaurre G, warbleR: an r package to streamline analysis of animal acoustic signals; 2017. https://doi.org/10.1111/2041-210X.12624.
- Core R. Team. R: a language and environment for statistical computing: Vienna, R Foundation for statistical Computing; 2018. https://www.R-project.org/.
- Sundberg J. Acoustic and psychoacoustic aspects of vocal vibrato. STL-QPSR. 1994;35:45–68.
- Migita N, Morise M, Nishiura T. A Study of Vibrato Features to Control Singing Voices. In: Proceedings of 20th International Congress on Acoustics, ICA 2010, vol. 2010: Sydney.

Publisher's Note

Springer Nature remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.

Ready to submit your research? Choose BMC and benefit from:

- fast, convenient online submission
- thorough peer review by experienced researchers in your field
- rapid publication on acceptance
- support for research data, including large and complex data types
- gold Open Access which fosters wider collaboration and increased citations
- maximum visibility for your research: over 100M website views per year

At BMC, research is always in progress.

Learn more biomedcentral.com/submissions



Chapter 3

Testosterone treatment unveils testosterone-insensitive song in an early-branched hummingbird

Abstract

Birdsong often plays a crucial role in sexual behavior, including territorial defense and mate attraction. This behavior is particularly well studied in species in which only males sing and respond to gonadal testosterone depending on the breeding season. Although hummingbirds are long known to sing in a breeding context, the sensitivity of these vocalizations to testosterone in both sexes remains unknown. Therefore, we investigated (*i*) which vocalizations are emitted during their breeding season, (*ii*) the testosterone levels in free-ranging birds, and (*iii*) the effect of testosterone on these vocalizations in a semi-natural environment in both sexes of the black jacobin (*Florisuga fusca*), an early-branched hummingbird. Females and males of black jacobin produced the same set of vocalizations (high-pitched song and chirp call) at a similar rate during the breeding season, although testosterone levels in males were significantly higher. Testosterone treatment did not affect the vocal activity or acoustic parameters of their song in both sexes. However, testosterone maintained high levels of aggression in treated birds of both sexes and hyper-developed the oviduct of females. In contrast to almost all well-studied bird species studied so far, the vocal behavior of the black jacobins in their breeding season seems to be insensitive to high testosterone levels.

Monte, A., Leitão, A., Frankl-Vilches, C., Matos, R. da S., Trappschuh, M., da Silva, M. L., & Gahr, M. (2023). Testosterone treatment unveils testosterone-insensitive song in an earlybranched hummingbird. *Ethology Ecology & Evolution*, 1–29.

https://doi.org/10.1080/03949370.2023.2181873



Ethology Ecology & Evolution

ISSN: (Print) (Online) Journal homepage: https://www.tandfonline.com/loi/teee20

Testosterone treatment unveils testosteroneinsensitive song in an early-branched hummingbird

Amanda Monte, Albertine Leitão, Carolina Frankl-Vilches, Rodrigo da Silva Matos, Monika Trappschuh, Maria L. da Silva & Manfred Gahr

To cite this article: Amanda Monte, Albertine Leitão, Carolina Frankl-Vilches, Rodrigo da Silva Matos, Monika Trappschuh, Maria L. da Silva & Manfred Gahr (2023): Testosterone treatment unveils testosterone-insensitive song in an early-branched hummingbird, Ethology Ecology & Evolution, DOI: <u>10.1080/03949370.2023.2181873</u>

To link to this article: <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/03949370.2023.2181873</u>

9	© 2023 The Authors. Published by Informa UK Limited, trading as Taylor & Francis Group.	+	View supplementary material 🕼
	Published online: 15 Mar 2023.		Submit your article to this journal 🖸
111	Article views: 74	Q	View related articles 🖸
CrossMark	View Crossmark data 🖸		



Testosterone treatment unveils testosterone-insensitive song in an early-branched hummingbird

Amanda Monte ¹,*, Albertine Leitão¹, Carolina Frankl-Vilches¹, Rodrigo da Silva Matos², Monika Trappschuh¹, Maria L. da Silva ³ and Manfred Gahr ¹

¹Department of Behavioural Neurobiology, Max Planck Institute for Biological Intelligence, Seewiesen, Germany

²Federal Institute of Education, Science and Technology of Rondônia, Vilhena, Brazil ³Laboratory of Ornithology and Bioacoustics, Institute of Biological Sciences, Federal University of Pará, Belem, Brazil

Received 27 September 2022, accepted 7 February 2023

Birdsong often plays a crucial role in sexual behavior, including territorial defense and mate attraction. This behavior is particularly well studied in species in which only males sing and respond to gonadal testosterone depending on the breeding season. Although hummingbirds are long known to sing in a breeding context, the sensitivity of these vocalizations to testosterone in both sexes remains unknown. Therefore, we investigated (i) which vocalizations are emitted during their breeding season, (ii) the testosterone levels in free-ranging birds, and (iii) the effect of testosterone on these vocalizations in a semi-natural environment in both sexes of the black jacobin (Florisuga fusca), an early-branched hummingbird. Females and males of black jacobin produced the same set of vocalizations (highpitched song and chirp call) at a similar rate during the breeding season, although testosterone levels in males were significantly higher. Testosterone treatment did not affect the vocal activity or acoustic parameters of their song in both sexes. However, testosterone maintained high levels of aggression in treated birds of both sexes and hyper-developed the oviduct of females. In contrast to almost all well-studied bird species studied so far, the vocal behavior of the black jacobins in their breeding season seems to be insensitive to high testosterone levels.

KEY WORDS: vocal behavior, sexual trait, breeding season, Trochilidae, black jacobin

INTRODUCTION

Sexual male-typical traits, such as song in Northern Hemisphere songbirds are known to be activated during the reproductive periods with high levels of testosterone (reviewed in Wingfield & Farner 1978; Gahr 2014). These traits are important for

^{*}Corresponding author: Amanda Monte, Department of Behavioural Neurobiology, Max Planck Institute for Biological Intelligence, Eberhard-Gwinner-Straße, 82319 Seewiesen, Germany (E-mail: amanda.monte@bi.mpg.de).

^{© 2023} The Authors. Published by Informa UK Limited, trading as Taylor & Francis Group.

This is an Open Access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivatives License (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/4.0/), which permits non-commercial re-use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited, and is not altered, transformed, or built upon in any way.

courtship (mate attraction) and agonistic encounters (territorial defense) (Catchpole & Slater 1995). Evidence of testosterone-dependent vocal performance is nevertheless not exclusive to songbirds (oscine passerines) since it has also been found in other taxa, as in suboscine passerines (Kroodsma 1984) and parrots (Brockway 1968; Nespor et al. 1996). Crowing of roosters in domestic chicken (*Gallus gallus*) as well as of other galliform species, such as the Japanese quail (*Coturnix japonica*) and the grey partridge (*Perdix perdix*), is another typical vocal trait known to be testosterone dependent (Hamilton 1938; Marler et al. 1962; Andrew 1963; Beani et al. 2000). A particular vocalization type, the nest-coo used in the courtship of male ring doves (*Streptopelia risoria*) was induced by brain implantation of testosterone (Cohen & Cheng 1982).

In all well-studied bird species, changes in vocalization were found in association with naturally elevated testosterone plasma levels of the breeding season or after testosterone implantation (Gahr 2020), for example, increase of vocal output (song or/ and call rate), acoustic features such as frequency range or stereotypy (Arnold 1975; Heid et al. 1985; Fusani et al. 1994), and utterance of testosterone-specific vocalizations such as trills (Pröve 1974; Fusani et al. 1994; Voigt & Leitner 2013). Further, a masculinized song can be induced in females (that do not sing otherwise) by testosterone implants, not only in songbirds such as canaries, chaffinches, whitecrowned sparrows and white-browed sparrow weavers (Kern & King 1972; Nottebohm 1980; Voigt & Leitner 2013; Chiver & Schlinger 2019; Vellema et al. 2019) but also in non-songbirds such as golden-collared manakins (*Manacus vitellinus*) (Chiver & Schlinger 2019), budgerigars (*Melopsittacus undulatus*) (Lahaye et al. 2012) and Japanese quail (Balthazart et al. 1983).

High levels of testosterone appear to be necessary to activate sexually relevant vocal behaviors in Northern Hemisphere songbirds during a short breeding season (Wingfield & Farner 1978; Gahr 2020), whereas, in tropical songbirds such as the silver-beaked tanager (*Ramphocelus carbo*), during a long breeding season (between 6 and 7 months), the testosterone levels are only high at the end of the season coinciding with higher rates of dawn-song, but this species show a higher brain sensitivity to testosterone in the beginning of the season which indicates testosterone sensitivity of their dawn-song (Quispe et al. 2016). However, testosterone sensitivity of these vocal behaviors are less clear in tropical and sub-tropical non-songbird species with protracted breeding periods or year-round territoriality (Goymann et al. 2004). Such a bird family are the hummingbirds in which males and in some species females are known to sing (Baptista & Schuchmann 1990; Ficken et al. 2000; da Silva & Vielliard 2006; Ferreira et al. 2006).

Hummingbirds have neural song control areas analog to songbirds which are active during song production (Jarvis et al. 2000) and express androgen receptors (binding site of testosterone and its converted product 5α -dihydrotestosterone, DHT) (Gahr 2000). Androgen receptors were also found in hummingbird syrinx (A. Monte unpublished data), the sound-producing organ of birds. Nevertheless, it is unknown whether song is a male-typical trait or whether any vocalization is testosterone sensitive in hummingbirds, hence our motivation to study these aspects in the black jacobin (*Florisuga fusca*). It is a species of the Topazes clade (tribe Topazini) which is a sister taxon of all other extant hummingbirds according to the most recent evolutionary tree (McGuire et al. 2009, 2014). Therefore, the study of the black jacobin may give insights into the ancestral condition of testosterone-sensitive vocalizations in the hummingbird family.

The black jacobin occurs in the Atlantic forest on the extent of the Brazilian coast until Uruguay and Argentina (Sick 1997; Schuchmann & Bonnan 2019). Black jacobins produce a high-pitched song composed of very fast frequency oscillations (Olson et al. 2018; Monte et al. 2020) and uttered in the breeding season (from September until March; Ruschi 1964); however, it is unknown whether this highpitched or other vocalizations produced in the breeding season are the exclusivities of males and whether they are testosterone sensitive. To investigate the sensitivity of their vocalizations to testosterone, firstly, we measured testosterone plasma levels and body weight of free-living black jacobins from both sexes in the middle of the breeding season (December). Secondly, we carried out an experiment with wild-caught birds placed in semi-natural aviaries. We recorded the vocalizations and associated behaviors before and after testosterone implants. We established their vocal repertoire and quantified their vocal output (song and call rate), as well as the acoustic parameters of the song. Additionally, we investigated the number of attacks as a proxy for aggressiveness and their feeding behavior. We found higher circulating testosterone levels and body weight in males than females, but no sex differences in their vocalizations. The testosterone treatment induced the hypertrophy of the oviduct but did not affect the testes weight. Both sexes maintained their aggressive behavior before and after testosterone implantation whereas the control group implanted with placebos reduced aggressiveness during the study period. Unexpectedly, we could not show any changes in their vocal behaviors following testosterone implantation. These results indicate that in contrast to songbirds and most other birds studied to date, the vocalizations of hummingbirds in their breeding season seem insensitive to testosterone.

METHODS

Animals

This study was carried out in the park of the Museum of Biology Prof. Mello Leitão in Santa Teresa, Espírito Santo, Brazil in the middle of the breeding season that lasts from September until March (Ruschi 1964). Free-living black jacobins (*Florisuga fusca*) were captured between 6:00–8:00 and 17:00–18:00 during their regular visit to feeder bottles filled with sugary water (solution of water with 20% sugar), hanging inside a trap called "Ruschi net trap" developed and optimized to capture hummingbirds (Ruschi 2009).

Black jacobin's plumage is not sexually dimorphic (Ruschi 1973), the birds captured for the testosterone experiment (n = 32) were individually marked with plastic-colored tags attached to their back (Kapoor 2012) and kept randomly in outdoor aviaries until molecular sexing. Upon sexing results, we kept 14 males and 10 females that were distributed in four adjacent outdoor aviaries (2.35 m long × 2.70 m high × 3.20 m deep; A1 to A4) under natural conditions of daylight, rain, temperature, and humidity. We placed six birds per aviary. Three males and three females in aviaries A1 and A4 and four males and two females in aviaries A2 and A3. The unequal number of females and males was due to two mistakes in the molecular sexing results that were only noticed at the end of the experiment when we checked the gonads. Additionally, we caught and released 206 wild birds for blood sampling (50 females and 153 males, 3 died) and captured and sacrificed further 14 birds (seven females and seven males) for future tissue analyses.

The aviaries contained vegetation to offer shadow, branches of different thicknesses to be used as perches, two hanging pots with flowers and thin perches, three feeder bottles with watery sugar, a wooden box containing fermented fruits to attract fruit flies (part of the diet of the black jacobins), and an irrigation sprinkler activated only between observations when the temperature was above 35 °C to spread water in half of the aviary to be used for bathing. The feeder bottles

were refilled once a day before the morning observations. At the end of the aviary experiment, the birds were killed by decapitation, as for the 14 extra caught birds, organs were immediately frozen in dry ice and stored at -80 °C until use.

All procedures of this study were conducted in conformity with the instruction no. 03/2014 of the Chico Mendes Institute for Biodiversity Conservation (ICMBio) and with the permission of the Brazilian Institute of Environment and Renewable Natural (IBAMA) under the Biodiversity Information and Authorization System (SISBio) licenses numbers 30319–1, 41794–2 and 49097–1. The bird handling and housing procedures were conducted in accordance with Law no. 11.794/2008, as well as with the rules issued by the National Council for Control of Animal Experimentation (CONCEA) and was approved by the Ethics Committee on Animal Use of the Federal University of Para (CEUA/UFPA) under the protocol number 5937130718 (ID 000953).

Experimental procedure and testosterone implants

The first 6 days of captivity were used as a time for the housed birds (n = 24) to acclimate to the aviaries (no recorded observations), and then we started monitoring observations for 1 week (days – 6 to – 1) before the testosterone (T) or empty implant treatment for baseline activity ("before treatment"). On the 7th day (day 0), a total of seven females (aviaries A1, A3 and A4 with two each; A2 with one) and five males (aviaries A1, A3 and A4 with one each; A2 with two) were implanted with testosterone ("T-treated group") and the others with placebo empty implants ("control group") and monitored for the next 2 weeks (days 1 to 12, "after treatment", Fig. S1 in Supplemental Data). Each bird was observed for 20 min twice a day, in the morning (between 5:30, after sunrise, and 12:00) and the afternoon (between 12:00 and 18:30, before sunset; except days 8 and 12, in which birds were monitored only in the morning due to logistic problems). All the birds within an aviary were observed consecutively in a randomized order. Each of the two observation sessions per bird was conducted by a different observer (A. Monte or R. da Silva Matos) to minimize the observer bias. In total, we sampled 96 hr of observations before and 176 hr after T-treatment.

The implants were self-made with a 3 mm silastic tube (Dow Corning, USA; 1.47 mm inner diameter, and 1.96 mm outer diameter) filled with ca 0.9 mg of testosterone (Sigma T1500, Sigma-Aldrich GmbH, Germany) (T implant) or left empty (placebo implant) and the endings sealed with liquid silicone sealant (ASC 40064, USA). The implant size was estimated in proportion to the body size as it was reported in other species studied (Quispe et al. 2015; Prior et al. 2016). The implants were subcutaneously inserted at the lower back of the birds after local anesthesia with lidocaine hydrochloride (Lidogel 2%, Neoquimica).

Sound recording and analyses of vocalizations

In each session we monitored the vocal behavior, feeding behavior and aggressiveness in the four aviaries following a focal-bird sampling technique (Altmann 1974; Martin & Bateson 2007).

For sound recording, we used a digital recorder Marantz PMD 671 (USA) mounted with a shotgun directional microphone (Sennheiser MKH 70 P48, Germany; Rode NTG2, Australia). The recordings were obtained in the mono channel, with frequency sample of 48 kHz and 32 bits. The audio recordings were screened manually in the software Audacity (version 2.0.3, Audacity Team 2013), and the descriptions were transcribed into audio labels that were exported as text files. The labels were quantified by a customized algorithm written on R version 3.0.3 (R Core Team 2014).

We identified three vocal types based on spectral parameters as previously described for the species (Olson et al. 2018; Monte et al. 2020): high-pitched (most common, 68.1% of emission in the entire monitoring), low-pitched (0.6%) and chirps (31.3%) (Fig. S2 in Supplemental Data).

The high-pitched vocalization has harmonics up to 80 kHz with a fundamental frequency between 10 and 14 kHz. The fundamental frequency was fast-modulated and had periodic oscillation called vibrato (Monte et al. 2020). It is the most spectrally complex of black jacobin's vocalizations and is suggested as the song of the species (Olson et al. 2018). The song is composed of one or several units (or syllable) emitted in sequence with each unit composed of three (triplet), two (double) or one (single) subunit (or notes) (Fig. S3 in Supplemental Data). Chirps can be emitted alone or followed by a few repetitions with variable silent interval (single chirp or s-chirp) or followed by many repetitions with progressively longer silence intervals (multiple chirps or m-chirp) (Fig. S2 in Supplemental Data) as previously described for rufous-breasted hermit (*Glaucis hirsutus*) (Ferreira et al. 2006). Given that m-chirp was rare, we quantified the number of chirps in the m- and s-chirps and presented them together in the results. The low pitch was also a very rare event and was not analyzed.

We quantified the number of songs and chirps emitted per bird in each 20 min observation session (songs or chirps/20 min). We subsampled the longest song bouts with a good signalto-noise ratio and selected ~ 200 songs per bird (range: 5–1000 song bouts per bird, per session). We labeled the triplets, doubles and singles manually in the software Audacity (version 2.0.3, Audacity Team 2013) and saved the labels as text files. We quantified their repeatability (R) which represents how much of the total variance in the number of triplets, doubles and singles is attributed among birds and was calculated with the function "rpt" implemented by the package "rptR" (Stoffel et al. 2017) and using a customized algorithm written in R version 3.0.3 (R Core Team 2014). For the analysis of the spectral and temporal acoustic parameters (in total 26, Table S1 in Supplemental Data), we used the function "specam" and package "warbleR" (Araya-Salas & Smith-Vidaurre 2017). We analyzed in total 3660 songs. We calculated the averages of each parameter per bird before, 1 and 2 weeks after T-treatment followed by a Principal Component Analysis (PCA) to reduce the number of parameters and maintain those with higher variance (see Statistical analyses).

Quantification of other associate behavioral observations

We quantified the number of attacks per focal bird per session (a proxy for aggressiveness), that is when the focal bird chased another bird away or pecked the bird with the bill (attacks/20 min). We also quantified the feeding events per session as the number of times the focal bird drank sugary water from the feeder or caught a fruit fly (a proxy for metabolism). These feeding counts were also a proxy for the well-being of the birds as lethargy and anorexia are signs of sickness (Hart 1988). Those two behaviors have been previously documented to be influenced by testosterone in other birds, especially in males (Wingfield et al. 2001; Soma 2006).

Blood sampling

For sex determination, a droplet of blood was collected from each bird with a heparinized capillary tube after the section of the hallux's nail as described by Ruschi (1950) diluted in Queens Lysis Buffer (0.01 M EDTA; 0.01 M Tris; 0.01 M NaCl; 1% n-Lauroylsarcosine and pH 8.0) and stored in the fridge (~ 5 °C). For the measurement of the testosterone plasma levels, blood (mean μ L, 30–80 μ L) was collected from the jugular vein as described by Hoysak and Weatherhead (1991) otherwise from the trunk after decapitation. A droplet of blood was diluted in Queens Buffer for later sexing and for the rest of the blood, the plasma was separated by centrifugation (10 min at 6000 rpm) and stored in dry ice (~ – 80 °C).

Sexing protocol

The blood diluted in Queens Lysis Buffer was used for genomic DNA extraction with the NucleoSpin Blood QuickPure DNA Extraction Kit (Macherey-Nagel 740569.250, Germany). We designed for the black jacobins: floFus3-gold-fw specifically primers pair (5'-TGCTCATGGCTAGAGGGACT-3') and floFus3-gold-rv (5'-TAATCCCCCTCTCCTCCTA-3') that allowed successful sex determination with 92% of efficiency (calculated as the percentage of correct sexing result for those birds which gonads could be inspected, n = 24). The primers were designed based on the sequence information of a female Florisuga fusca genome assembly available at the Department for Behavioral Neurobiology of the Max Planck Institute for Biological Intelligence (former Max Planck Institute for Ornithology) in Seewiesen, Germany (manuscript in preparation). For the PCR reaction, we used 2 uL primer mix (10 pmol/µL each primer), 2 µL 10× Buffer B1 (Hot FirePol, Solis BioDyne, 01-02-00500, Estonia), 1.6 µL MgCl² 25 mM (Solis BioDyne, 01-02-00500, Estonia), 0.4 µL dNTPs 10 mM each nucleotide (Solis BioDyne, 02-31-00020, Estonia), 0.5 µL Taq Polymerase 5 u/µL (Hot FirePol, Solis BioDyne, 01-02-00500, Estonia) and 1 µL DNA template. All were diluted in 12.5 µL nuclease-free distilled water for a total volume of 20 µL. The PCR protocol for all samples was run in a T 3000 Thermocycler 48 (050-723, Biometra, Germany) and consisted of a first 15 min at 95 °C, followed by 35 cycles of 94 °C for 30 sec, 55 °C for 45 sec and 72 °C for 50 sec with the last extension step at 72 °C for 2 min. The PCR products were separated by electrophoresis at 100 V between 1.5 and 2 hr in a 2% agarose gel stained with ethidium bromide.

Testosterone level measurements

In total, we measured the plasma testosterone levels of 241 black jacobins. The samples for this profile were obtained within 10 consecutive days in December, during the middle of the breeding season (Ruschi 1964) for 57 females (52 adults and five juveniles) and 160 males (145 adults and 15 juveniles). First-year juveniles could be identified by differential plumage (Ruschi 1973). Since there was no significant difference between 1st-year juveniles and adults (Table S2 in Supplemental Data), they were pooled together.

The testosterone plasma levels were measured by radioimmunoassay as described by Goymann et al. (2006). In total, three assays were realized. The samples from the testosterone-treated birds were assayed 3 times, and the final testosterone value was obtained by the simple mean. These triplicates were conducted in different batches with consistent outcomes; thus, it is unlikely that the values obtained for testosterone-treated birds are an artifact. The lower detection limits were between 0.33 and 0.4 pg/mL with all samples above the detection limit. The extraction recovery of testosterone per assay was respectively 89, 90 and 87%, and the intra-assay coefficients of variation 7, 5 and 12.2%. The inter-assay coefficient of variation was 3.2%.

Statistical analyses

The statistical analyses were performed using R version 3.0.3 (R Core Team 2014). All data and code are available in the online repository and accessible in this link (https://osf.io/9fs5w/).

The testosterone plasma levels (T-levels) were log_{10} transformed. For wild black jacobins (57 females and 160 males), to explore the effect of sex, body weight, age and day on T-levels, and effect of sex, T-levels, age and day on body weight, we used linear models. First, we fitted models including age (1st-year juveniles × adults) which had no effect both on T-levels (estimate = 0.22 ± 0.20 , t = 1.13, P = 0.262, Table S2 in Supplemental Data) and body weight (estimate = 0.18 ± 0.11 , t = 1.60, P = 0.112, Table S2 in Supplemental Data). Then we fitted models without age, and we plotted 1st-year juveniles and adults together. For captive black jacobins (10 females and 14 males), to compare T-levels among sex and experimental groups (control and T-treated), we used

Wilcoxon rank sum exact test (non-parametric). To compare control to wild birds, we randomly subsampled 10 T-levels values of each sex from the wild birds.

To compare gonadal and brain weight, we used Kruskal–Wallis rank sum test (nonparametric) to compare wild, control and T-treated. We used non-parametric statistics in all cases in which at least one of the groups (T-treated females) had only three data points. In these cases, we reported the median interquartile range (IQR) [25%, 75% quartiles]. Following a significant Kruskal–Wallis test, we performed Dunn's Kruskal–Wallis multiple comparisons as post hoc analysis with the function "dunnTest" implemented by the package "FSA" (Ogle et al. 2020). To compare body weight, we weighed the aviaries birds every time they were handled: when they were housed (before T), on the day of the implantation (T) and at the end of the experiment (after T). Then, we used repeated measures one-way ANOVA (parametric because all the assumptions were met). In the results, we reported the mean (\pm SD). Following a significant ANOVA, we performed Tukey multiple comparisons of means as post hoc analysis. In both post hoc analyses, we adjusted the *P*-values with the Bonferroni method. Given that the body weight of males had a wide variance, we further performed the F test to compare two variances (control and T-treated) with the "var.test" function. The significance level for all tests was $\alpha = 0.01$.

To test whether the testosterone treatment (T-treatment) affected the number of songs and chirps emitted by the black jacobins, their feeding behavior and aggressiveness in the aviaries, we used generalized linear mixed models (GLMMs). In all models, to account for the non-independence of the samples, we included "bird id" as a random effect. To determine the best fit model for each response variable (song, chirp, feeds or attack counts), we fitted models with all possible combinations of the predictors that were biologically meaningful for the respective response variable. Then, we compared the models using the differential Akaike's information criterion (dAIC) obtained by the function "AICtab" implemented by the "bbmle" package (Bolker & R Development Core Team 2020) and selected the most parsimonious models based on the lowest AIC (Burnham & Anderson 2016). We accessed the statistical significance of the best-fitting models' predictors via asymptotic Wald's ztests (P < 0.01). In the results, we reported the estimated mean 95% CI [lower, upper confidence interval] for song and chirp counts models and the means of the simulated values from the posterior distributions and the predicted 95% credible intervals (CrI) [lower, upper credible interval] for feeding and attack counts models. Details about the fitting of the GLMMs the assessment of their assumptions and post-hoc analysis are provided in the Supplemental Data.

We performed a Principal Component Analysis to reduce song parameters using the function "prcomp" implemented by the package "car" (Fox & Weisberg 2018). We plotted the first two Principal Components (PC1 and PC2) using a customized version of the function "ggbiplot" implemented by the package "ggbiplot" (Vu 2011). We inspected visually the PC1 and PC2 plot to identify whether the birds were grouped by treatment and/or sex at the different time points (before, 1 and 2 weeks after T-treatment). We further investigated one of the variables that were heavily loaded within the PC1 vector (mean dominant frequency of the song) and one within the PC2 vector (song duration). We compared the averages of the dominant frequency and song duration for each of these four groups: control females, T-treated females, control males and T-treated males at the time points: before, 1 and 2 weeks after T-treatment using the Friedman Rank Sum Test which is an ideal statistic to use for a repeated measures type of experiment to determine if a particular factor has an effect (Scheff 2016). We also calculated the repeatability (R) using the function "rpt" implemented by the package "rptR" (Stoffel et al. 2017).

RESULTS

Testosterone plasma levels and body weight differ between sexes in free-living birds during the breeding season as well as in captivity

Adult males had higher testosterone levels [estimated mean 95% CrI (lower, upper credible interval); n = 160 birds, 102.19 pg/mL (90.24, 117.18)] than adult females [n = 57, 54.39 pg/mL (44.12; 6838)] (estimate = 0.52 ± 0.14 , $t_{213} = 3.82$, P < 0.001; Fig. 1A, left

panel) and had a higher body weight [7.85 g (7.74, 7.96)] (estimate = 0.26 ± 0.08 , $t_{213} = 3.33$, P = 0.001; Fig. 1A, right panel) than adult females [7.47 g (7.33, 7.60)] (Table 1). The model for T-levels indicated a strong effect of body weight (estimate = 0.34 ± 0.12 , $t_{213} = 2.90$, P = 0.004; Table 1). Thus, to verify whether the sex difference found in T-levels is not a side effect of the differences in body weight, we selected males (n = 115), which fall into the weight range of the females (female weight mean \pm SD) and compared T-values again. The difference remained and females still had lower T-levels than males (t = -3.40, df = 142.27, P = 0.001). The model for T-levels also indicated a strong effect of sampling time (estimate = -0.29 ± 0.02 , $t_{213} = -13.79$, P < 0.001; Table 1). This temporal correlation may reflect a decline in the baseline testosterone in the second half of their breeding season. Furthermore, nearly 7% of the males (n = 11) showed T-levels above 1000 pg/mL and 30% of the females (n = 17) showed T-levels above 100 pg/mL which is expected for birds in breeding condition in the tropics (e.g. Goymann et al. 2004; Goymann & Wingfield 2014).

T-levels of captive (aviaries) control birds were inside the range of the free-living birds in both females (W = 26, P = 0.077) and males (W = 44, P = 0.968); therefore, captivity did not affect T-levels. T-levels of T-treated birds were higher than controls in both females (W = 0, P < 0.017) and males (W = 0, P = 0.001): 2.5k-fold above wild average for females and 300-fold for males (Table 2, Fig. 1B).

Captivity, but not testosterone treatment decreased body weight only in females

Captivity decreased the weight of females, but not that of males. The body weight of females changed with time [F (2,18) = 6.47, P = 0.008], but not between treatment groups (W = 16, P = 0.267). Before T application, females' weight did not differ between the control (mean ± SD, 7.1 g ± 0.3) and T-treated (7.2 g ± 0.3) groups. At the T-treatment day, weight of all females increased slightly, but not significantly compared to before (P = 0.723) (control, 7.3 g ± 0.1; T-treated, 7.3 g ± 0.4). Two weeks after the testosterone treatment (after T) weight decreased significantly compared to baseline (P = 0.041) and to T day (P = 0.008) (control, 7 g ± 0.4; T-treated 6.8 g ± 0.4) (Fig. 1C, upper panel). This effect was not observed in males, as their weight did not change in time [F (2,26) = 1.36, P = 0.276] and not between groups [F (8,4) = 0.21, P = 0.058]: Before T: control group 7.7 ± 0.4 g and T-treated group 7.6 ± 0.4 g. On the T-treatment day: control group 7.9 ± 0.7 ± 1 g (Fig. 1C, lower panel).

Testosterone treatment increased oviduct weight but did not affect testes weight

The oviduct weight differed between groups (H = 6.56, df = 2, P = 0.038): wild (n = 6), captivity control (n = 3), and captivity T-treated (n = 7) (see Table 3 for medians). Ovary weight was lower in control captive birds than in the wild (P = 0.021) and T-treated females (P = 0.017), but this was not significant after Bonferroni correction (P adj. = 0.063 and 0.051, respectively) (Fig. 2A, left panel). However, the oviduct weight differed between groups (H = 11.21, df = 2, P = 0.004) with heavier oviducts in T-treated (by five and six-fold, respectively) compared to the wild (P adj. = 0.011) and to control (P adj. = 0.025) (Fig. 2A, right panel; Table 3). The testis weight was similar between groups [F (2,18) = 2.14, P = 0.147] (Fig. 2C, Table 3).



Fig. 1. — Circulating levels of plasma testosterone (T plasma levels) and body weight of wild and captive black jacobins. All T plasma levels are represented on a logarithmic scale (Log10). (A) Wild black jacobin is sexually dimorphic in the T plasma levels (left panel) and body weight (right panel). The outlines of the violin plot represent the proportion of the data located in each value given by kernel probability density. The data points represent individual measurements of females (n = 57, lighter points) and males (n = 160, darker points). The error bars in gray represent the fitted mean and the 95% credible interval given by the linear models. (B) Captive black jacobins under T implantation had T plasma levels increased 2000-fold for females and 300-fold for males in relation to those of the same sex that received placebo implants (controls). The error bars on the left indicate the median and interquartile range (25 to 75%) of the wild black jacobins as a reference to the physiological range. The box plots indicate the median and interquartile range (25 to 75%) of the captive black jacobins. The data points represent individual measurements of females (control, n = 3 and T-treated, n = 7; lighter points) and of males (control, n = 9 and T-treated, n = 5; darker points). (C) Females lost weight in captivity independently of T-treatment. The body weight of the captive black jacobins was obtained at three time points: on the day there were placed in the aviaries (before T), on the day of the T implantation (T), and at the end of the experiment (after T). Although T-treated black jacobins presented T levels above the physiological range, neither females nor males had their body weight affected by the treatment, instead, females were affected by the captive condition.

Table 1.

Results of linear models explaining variation in the circulating testosterone plasma levels (T plasma levels) and body weight of wild black jacobins. In the wild, T plasma levels were affected by sex, body weight, and time, whereas body weight was affected by sex and T plasma levels. In bold are the significant predictors (P < 0.01).

	Estimate	SE	t value	P-value
T plasma levels				
Intercept	5.793	0.925	6.260	< 0.001
Sex (ref. female)	0.518	0.136	3.823	< 0.001
Body weight	0.344	0.119	2.898	0.004
Time (days)	- 0.289	0.021	- 13.790	< 0.001
Body weight				
Intercept	6.404	0.365	17.537	< 0.001
Sex (ref. female)	0.258	0.077	3.330	0.001
Log T plasma	0.110	0.038	2.898	0.004
Time (day)	- 0.290	0.016	2.258	0.025

Table 2.

Median and quartiles of the testosterone plasma levels for wild and captive black jacobins grouped by sex and treatment: birds treated with placebo (control) and birds treated with testosterone implants (T-treated).

	Sev		n	els (pg/mL)		
	Sex		11	Median	First quartile (25%)	Third quartile (75%)
Wild	F	Adult	52	67.08	33.22	110.67
		Juvenile	5	37.40	37.33	146.41
Control			3	20.51	16.84	22.51
T-treated			7	51845.30	45697.95	70807.90
Wild	М	Adult	145	89.29	51.58	264.05
		Juvenile	15	73.02	41.17	165.64
Control			9	83.09	76.73	154.33
T-treated			5	28302.50	18927.90	62721.50

No difference in brain weight was found between groups in either females and males [females, median (25, 75) quartiles: wild 0.235 g (0.224, 0.242), control 0.229 g (0.219, 0.232) and T-treated 0.214 g (0.212, 0.223), (H = 1.79, df = 2, P = 0.409); males, wild 0.241 g (0.229, 0.245), control 0.221 g (0.213, 0.238) and T-treated 0.230 g (0.227, 0.237); F (2,18) = 2.98, P = 0.076; Fig. 2B].

Table 3.

Me	dian	and	quar	tiles o	of testes	, ova	ries,	and	oviduc	ct y	weights	for	wild	and
cap	tive	blac	k jaco	obins	grouped	d by	trea	tmen	it: bird	s 1	treated	with	ı plao	cebo
	(con	trol)	and	birds	treated	with	1 test	tostei	rone in	np	lants (T	-trea	ated)	

Treatment	n	Median	2.5%	97.5%
Ovaries weight	(mg)			
Wild	6	24	14.75	35.5
Control	3	4	2.5	7.5
T-treated	7	27	15	35.5
Oviduct weight	t (mg)			
Wild	6	46	28.75	70.75
Control	3	38	27.5	54
T-treated	7	215	197.5	226
Testes weight ((mg)			
Wild	7	24	23	26.5
Control	9	21	21	24
T-treated	5	21	19	22

Testosterone treatment did not affect song or chirp emissions of males and females

Males tended to sing more than females (% of male plus female songs emitted in a time window) before T-treatment (males: 79%, females: 21%), 1 week after T-treatment (males: 76%, females: 24%) and 2 weeks after T-treatment (males: 57%, females: 43%); however, this difference was not significant (fixed effects estimate = 0.46 ± 0.54 , z = 0.84, P = 0.398, Table 4). The likelihood ratio test showed that T-treatment did not affect the emission of song in males and females ($\chi^2 = 6.12$, df = 4, P = 0.191). Disregarding T-treatment or sex, black jacobins sang less in the afternoon than in the morning in the aviaries (linear: fixed effects estimate = -20.46 ± 2.81 , z = -7.29, P < 0.001 and quadratic term: fixed effects estimate = -8.13 ± 1.73 , z = -4.71, P < 0.001, Table 4, Fig. S4 in Supplemental Data). This singing pattern is similar to the daily variation in singing usually found in birds in the wild (McNamara et al. 1987; A. Monte personal observation). Disregarding T-treatment, 2 weeks after T-treatment, males sang less than before (fixed effects estimate = -0.91 ± 0.27 , z = -3.39, P = 0.001, Table 4). Males emitted fewer songs [predicted means 95% CI (lower, upper confidence interval)] the longer they were in the aviaries [before T-treatment: control 26.2 songs/20 min (14.8, 46.7) and T-treated 14.8 (6.3, 35), 1 week after T-treatment: control 17.5 songs/20 min (9.2, 33.4) and T-treated 10 (4.5, 22) and 2 weeks after T-treatment: control 15.8 songs/ 20 min (8.2, 30.2) and T-treated 6.1 (2.6, 14)] and females, in special those from the control group, sang more [before T-treatment: control 16.6 (6.5, 42.5) and T-treated 12.8 (6.4, 25.4), 1 week after T: control 18.7 (7.1, 49.5) and T-treated 14.5 (7.4, 28.5) and 2 weeks after T: control 24.8 songs/20 min (9.9, 62) and T-treated 13 (6.8, 24.9), Fig. 3B, Table S4 in Supplemental Data]. Dispersion of the data tended to be greater in males in



Fig. 2. — Although both sexes of black jacobin have androgen receptors in their gonads, the testosterone treatment (T-treatment) affected only the gonads of the females. (A) The ovary weight (left panel) of wild and T-treated females does not differ, although the ovary of control females is slighter lighter. The oviduct weight (right panel) of T-treated females is significantly heavier than wild and control females. The data points represent individual measurements of females (wild, n = 6; control, n = 3 and T-treated, n = 7). (B) The brain weight of both sexes wild, control and T-treated black jacobins did not differ. The data points represent individual measurements of females (wild, n = 7; control, n = 3 and T-treated, n = 7; lighter dots) and males (wild, n = 7; control, n = 9 and T-treated, n = 5; darker dots). (C) The testes weight of wild, control and T-treated males also did not differ (wild, n = 7; control, n = 9and T-treated, n = 5). All box plots indicate the median and interquartile range (25 to 75%).

comparison to female (dispersion effects, estimate = 0.54 ± 0.22 , z = 2.48, P = 0.013, Table 4).

Males and females emitted similar number of chirps (Fig. 3C) (% of total male plus female chirps per time window; before T-treatment: males: 56% and females 44%; 1 week after T: males 58%, females 42%; 2 weeks after T: males 49%; females 51%, fixed effects estimate = 0.57 ± 0.67, z = 0.85, P = 0.395, Table 4). The likelihood ratio test indicated that T-treatment also did not affect the emission of chirps in both sexes ($\chi^2 = 12.75$, df = 8, P = 0.121). Disregarding T-treatment or sex, black jacobins

Table 4.

Results of the generalized linear mixed model explaining variation in the number of songs emitted per observation session (20 min) of captive black jacobins. For a better fit, the hour of the day was transformed into linear, quadric and cubic terms. The birds tend to emit fewer songs throughout the day and males sing less than females 2 weeks after the testosterone treatment. In bold are the significant predictors (P < 0.01).

	Estimate	SE	z-value	P-value
Conditional fixed effects				
(Intercept)	4.801	1.844	2.604	0.009
T-treatment (ref. control)	- 0.265	0.564	- 0.471	0.638
Time after 1 week (ref. before T-treatment)	0.120	0.285	0.419	0.675
Time after 2 weeks (ref. before T-treatment)	0.402	0.242	1.661	0.097
Sex male (ref. female)	0.457	0.541	0.844	0.398
Temperature	- 0.005	0.041	- 0.125	0.900
Humidity	- 0.022	0.016	- 1.341	0.180
Hour 1 (linear term)	- 20.456	2.807	- 7.287	< 0.001
Hour 2 (quadratic term)	- 8.133	1.725	- 4.714	< 0.001
Hour 3 (cubic term)	- 3.005	1.683	- 1.785	0.074
T-treatment: sex male	- 0.306	0.709	- 0.432	0.666
Time after 1 week: sex male	- 0.523	0.289	- 1.807	0.071
Time after 2 weeks: sex male	- 0.910	0.268	- 3.391	0.001
T-treatment: time after 1 week	0.011	0.276	0.038	0.969
T-treatment: time after 2 weeks	- 0.384	0.265	- 1.448	0.148
Conditional zero-inflation effects				
(Intercept)	- 0.661	0.955	- 0.692	0.489
T-treatment	0.049	0.758	0.065	0.949
Time after 1 week	1.002	0.446	2.246	0.025
Time after 2 weeks	- 0.191	0.428	- 0.447	0.655
Sex male	- 0.431	0.843	- 0.511	0.610
Hour	- 0.007	0.076	- 0.090	0.929
T-treatment: sex male	- 0.977	1.727	- 0.565	0.572
Time after 1 week: sex male	- 1.423	0.792	- 1.797	0.072
Time after 2 weeks: sex male	- 2.230	4.001	- 0.557	0.577
Conditional dispersion effects				
(Intercept)	3.279	0.247	13.269	0.000
Sex male (ref. female)	0.541	0.218	2.484	0.013
Aviary A2 (ref. aviary A1)	0.202	0.281	0.721	0.471

(Continued)

	ruole ii						
(Continued)							
	Estimate	SE	z-value	P-value			
Aviary A3 (ref. aviary A1)	0.402	0.251	1.601	0.109			
Aviary A4 (ref. aviary A1)	- 0.541	0.306	- 1.768	0.077			
Random effect	Variance	SD					
Conditional random effects							
Bird id (intercept)	0.509	0.714					
Zero-inflation random effects							
Bird id (intercept)	0.650	0.806					

Toble 4

emitted fewer chirps one (fixed effects, estimate = -1.30 ± 0.38 , z = -3.39, P < 0.01) and 2 weeks after T-treatment (fixed effects, estimate = -0.96 ± 0.35 , z = -2.77, P < 0.01) (Table 5, Fig. 3D). When the birds were not emitting chirps, they were feeding in the feeders (zero-inflated effects, estimate = -1.14 ± 0.34 , z = -3.34, P < 0.01). T-treatment and sex jointly had an effect closer to a significance for T-treated males in relation to controls and females (fixed effects interaction between T-treatment and sex, estimate = -2.12 ± 0.87 , z = -2.44, P = 0.015). The means estimated from the best-fitting model for chirp counts show that T-treated females produced 15.67 chirps (7.26, 33.81) [estimated mean (lower, upper 95% CI)] before, 7.19 chirps (3.25, 15.9) 1 week after T and 12.73 chirps (6.02, 26.93) 2 weeks after T (Fig. 3D, Table S5 in Supplemental Data). The dispersion of the data explained by the model was greater in aviary A1 in relation to aviary A2 (dispersion effects, estimate = -1.48 ± 0.25 , z = -5.84, P < 0.01), A3 (dispersion effects, estimate = $-0.68 \pm$ 0.25, z = -2.69, P < 0.01) and A4 (dispersion effects, estimate = -1.29 ± 0.25 , z = -5.13, P < 0.01).

Testosterone treatment did not affect the acoustic parameters of the song of males and females

Black jacobin song can be composed of one (single), two (double) or three (triplets) subunits (Fig. S3A in Supplemental Data). The proportion of singles, doubles and triplets was stable before, 1 week and 2 weeks after T-treatment, because these proportions showed high repeatability within birds ($R = 0.46 \pm 0.11$, P < 0.01). Singles were rare, most of the birds emitted triplets and three males emitted mostly only doubles (Fig. S3B in Supplemental Data).

Concerning the acoustic parameters of the song, a Principal Components Analysis (PCA) reduction revealed the first three eigenvalues to contain ~ 75% of the overall variation. PC1 (~ 36% of the variation) described mainly spectral parameters (such as frequency mean, frequency standard deviation, median, lower (25%) and upper (75%) frequency quantiles, spectral entropy, spectral flatness, dominant frequency, minimum dominant frequency, dominant frequency range, start dominant frequency, as well as peak frequency mean); PC2 (~ 23% of the variation) described



Fig. 3. — Testosterone treatment (T-treatment) did not affect the number of songs and chirps emitted by both sexes in black jacobin. (A) Spectrogram (frequency with time) and oscillogram (relative amplitude with time) of the black jacobin's song and (C) chirp. The song is composed of a single high-pitched syllable (vocal unit) that can be repeated multiple times in a song bout. The chirp is characterized by a wide frequency bandwidth in a fast duration that can also be repeated consecutively in a chirp bout. (B) The number of songs produced by both sexes in control and T-treated groups did not differ before, 1 or 2 weeks after T-treatment. (D) Although T-treated females tended to consistently produce more chirps, the number of chirps produced by both sexes in control and T-treated groups also did not differ significantly before, 1 or 2 weeks after T-treatment. The data points represent song or chirp counts obtained per bird in 20 min of observation. The error bars represent the fitted mean and the 95% confidence interval given by the generalized linear mixed models.

temporal parameters [duration, median time, upper (75%) quantile and time interquartile range as well as time entropy] and PC3 (~ 16% of the variation) described skewness and kurtosis (Tables S6-S7 in Supplemental Data). PC1 and PC2 did not separate control from T-treated birds neither in females nor in males, although showing a slight separation between sexes (Fig. 4A).

We further investigated the parameters with the highest eigenvalue in PC1, the mean dominant frequency of the song, and in PC2, the song duration. The mean dominant frequency of the male and female songs was similar in control and T-treated groups across time ($F_r = 9$, df = 3, P = 0.029). The mean dominant frequencies

Table 5.

Results of the generalized linear mixed model explaining variation in the number of chirps emitted per observation session (20 min) of captive black jacobins. The birds tend to emit fewer chirps across time. In bold are the significant predictors (P < 0.01).

	Estimate	SE	z-value	P-value
Conditional fixed effects				
(Intercept)	1.359	0.606	2.243	0.025
T-treatment (ref. control)	1.223	0.694	1.763	0.078
Time after 1 week (ref. before T-treatment)	- 1.300	0.384	- 3.388	0.001
Time after 2 weeks (ref. before T-treatment)	- 0.960	0.347	- 2.766	0.006
Sex (ref. female)	0.569	0.669	0.850	0.395
Feeding	0.085	0.048	1.754	0.079
T-treatment: sex male	- 2.125	0.869	- 2.444	0.015
Time after 1 week: sex male	0.789	0.379	2.085	0.037
Time after 2 weeks: sex male	0.856	0.359	2.383	0.017
T-treatment: time after 1 week	0.521	0.352	1.482	0.138
T-treatment: time after 2 weeks	0.752	0.342	2.195	0.028
Conditional zero-inflation effects				
(Intercept)	- 0.262	1.255	- 0.209	0.835
T-treatment	0.265	1.412	0.187	0.851
Time after 1 week	- 0.052	0.691	- 0.075	0.940
Time after 2 weeks	- 3.322	5.508	- 0.603	0.546
Sex male	0.521	1.208	0.431	0.666
Feeding	- 1.143	0.342	- 3.342	0.001
T-treatment: sex male	- 0.812	1.595	- 0.509	0.610
Time after 1 week: sex male	- 0.279	0.950	- 0.293	0.769
Time after 2 weeks: sex male	2.775	5.586	0.497	0.619
Conditional dispersion effects				
(Intercept)	0.227	0.241	0.940	0.348
Aviary A2 (ref. aviary A1)	- 1.475	0.253	- 5.836	< 0.001
Aviary A3 (ref. aviary A1)	- 0.675	0.251	- 2.687	0.007
Aviary A4 (ref. aviary A1)	- 1.291	0.252	- 5.130	< 0.001
Random effect	Variance	SD		
Conditional random effects				
Bird id (intercept)	0.797	0.893		
Session (intercept)	0.194	0.440		
Zero-inflation random effects				
Bird id (intercept)	0.000	0.000		

[data are: median and (25, 75) quartiles] of control females were 10.9 kHz (10.5, 11.3) before T (n = 178 songs), 10.8 kHz (10.3, 11.1) (n = 107 songs) 1 week after T and 10.9 kHz (10.6, 11.1) (n = 146) 2 weeks after T-treatment. For the T-treated females, the mean dominant frequencies were 11 kHz (10.5, 11.3) before T (n = 342 songs), 10.9 kHz (10.5, 11.2) 1 week after T (n = 201 songs) and 11 kHz (10.7, 11.2) 2 weeks after T (n = 370 songs). For control males, mean dominant frequencies were 11.1 kHz (10.8, 11.4) 1 week after T (n = 545 songs) and again 11.1 kHz (10.8, 11.4) 2 weeks after T (n = 466 songs). For T-treated males, the mean dominant frequencies were 11.3 kHz (11, 11.5) before T (n = 268 songs), 11.2 kHz (10.9, 11.4) 1 week after T (n = 228 songs) and 11.1 kHz ± (10.8, 11.3) 2 weeks after T treatment (n = 185 songs) (Fig. 4B, left panel).

The same consistency was observed in the medians of the song duration. Control females had nearly the same median before, 1 and 2 weeks after T-treatment [0.32 sec median interquartile range (0.30, 0.33)]. T-treated females had little variation in their medians before [0.30 sec (0.28, 0.31)], 1 [0.30 sec (0.29, 0.32)] and 2 weeks after T-treatment [0.30 sec (0.29, 0.31)]. Control males had also nearly the same median before, 1 and 2 weeks after T-treatment [0.29 sec (0.25, 0.31), except for the median 1 week after T-treatment which was 0.30 sec]. T-treated males tended to sing slighter shorter songs before [0.29 sec (0.24, 0.31)] in relation to 1 [0.30 sec (0.28, 0.32)] and 2 weeks after T-treatment [0.31 sec (0.27, 0.32)]. Although male's songs were around 10 msec shorter than those of the females, the averages of the control females, control males, T-treated females and T-treated males were similar before, 1 and 2 weeks after the T-treatment (F_r = 7, df = 3, *P* = 0.072) (Fig. 4B, right panel). Both the dominant frequency and duration of the song were highly repeatable within birds (dominant frequency: *R* = 0.40 ± 0.07, *P* < 0.001; duration: *R* = 0.37 ± 0.07, *P* < 0.001).

Testosterone treatment maintained high aggressiveness in males in comparison with a decrease in placebo birds

We counted the number of attacks (chasing other birds or beak pecking on another bird) as a proxy for aggressiveness. In all observations and regardless of sexes, the observed birds attacked another bird twice or more in 55% of the observations, once in 37% and did not attack in 8%, which indicates the intrinsic high aggressiveness of the black jacobins. The number of attacks was weakly associated with song counts (r = 0.16, P < 0.001).

The number of attacks before T compared to 2 weeks after T was influenced by time (estimate = -0.67 ± 0.19 , z = -3.58, P < 0.001), by temperature (estimate = -0.20 ± 0.05 , z = -3.76, P < 0.001) and by the feeding counts to the feeders (estimate = 0.25 ± 0.03 , z = 7.21, P < 0.001) (Table 6). A post-hoc analysis of interactions indicated that the control birds of both sexes attacked less as longer they spent in captivity (females $\chi^2 = 12.79$, df = 2, P = 0.007 and males $\chi^2 = 23.37$, df = 2, P < 0.001), whereas T-treated birds of both sexes kept the number of attacks similar to baseline values (females $\chi^2 = 3.56$, df = 2, P = 0.674 and males $\chi^2 = 3.68$, df = 2, P = 0.635). The number of attacks of the T-treated females was relatively low before T-treatment by chance [1.84 attacks 95% CrI (1.36, 2.46)], but these values remained similar 1 [1.59 attacks (1.18, 2.13)] and 2 weeks after the T-treatment [1.37 attacks (1.03, 1.89)]. The number of attacks of the T-treated males attacked was similar before [2.65 attacks (1.93, 3.70)], 1 week [2.68 attacks (1.97, 3.76)] and 2 weeks after the T-treatment [2.03 attacks (1.46, 2.87)] (Fig. 5).



Fig. 4. - Testosterone treatment (T-treatment) did not affect the acoustic parameters of the song in both sexes of black jacobin. (A) Biplot including the first two components (PC1 versus PC2) of a Principal Components Analysis including 26 acoustic parameters of black jacobin's song (see Table S1 in Supplemental Data for a list of the parameters). The first component PC1 explained 36% of the overall variation and described mainly spectral parameters such as dominant frequency. The second component PC2 explained 23% of the variation and described temporal parameters such as duration. Each data point represents the mean of the PCA loads per bird in three time points: before, 1, and 2 weeks after T-treatment. If T-treatment had affected and differentiated the acoustic parameters of the song, we expected to see a clear separation of the PCA points of T-treated birds (dashed circle) after the T-treatment in comparison to the controls (solid circle). Instead, the biplot shows a complete overlap between T-treated and controls in both sexes indicating that there are no clear sex or treatment differences in the acoustic parameters of the song before, 1 or 2 weeks after the T-treatment. Nevertheless, a small separation between sexes can be observed, because some males had consistently more positive loadings along PC1 axis and some females more negative reflecting a trend of male's song toward higher pitch independent of treatment or time. (B) The dominant frequency (left panel) and the duration (right panel) of black jacobin's song in both sexes of control and T-treated groups did not differ before, 1 or 2 weeks after T-treatment. Males consistently tended to sing higher-pitched songs than females, whereas females consistently tended to sing longer songs than males, but the differences were not significant. All box plots indicate the median and interquartile range (25 to 75%). Each data point indicates an individual song measurement (see Table 3 for details on sample size). FC, female control; FT, female T-treated; MC male control and MT, male T-treated.

Table 6.

Results of the generalized linear mixed model explaining variation in the number of attacks per observation session (20 min) of captive black jacobins. For a better fit, all continuous predictors were mean-centered (z-scored). The number of attacks was affected by time 2 weeks in relation to before treatment, temperature and number of feeds on the feeder. In bold are the significant predictors (P < 0.01).

	Estimate	SE	z-value	P-value
(Intercept)	1.079	0.195	5.540	< 0.001
T-treatment (ref. control)	- 0.456	0.210	- 2.174	0.030
Time after 1 week	- 0.318	0.178	- 1.789	0.074
Time after 2 weeks	- 0.668	0.187	- 3.575	< 0.001
Sex (ref. female)	- 0.043	0.204	- 0.212	0.832
Hour (z-scored)	0.054	0.046	1.170	0.242
Temperature (z-scored)	- 0.202	0.054	- 3.765	< 0.001
Feeding (z-scored)	0.251	0.035	7.210	< 0.001
T-treatment: time after 1 week	0.171	0.163	1.047	0.295
T-treatment: time after 2 weeks	0.372	0.177	2.094	0.036
T-treatment: sex male	0.407	0.246	1.656	0.098
Time after 1 week: sex male	0.157	0.168	0.934	0.350
Time after 2 weeks: sex male	0.031	0.182	0.173	0.862

The number of times the birds feed on the feeders in the aviary was not affected by T-treatment (estimate = -0.06 ± 0.20 , z = -0.30, P = 0.761), nor by the time they spent in captivity 1 (estimate = -0.27 ± 0.14 , z = -1.93, P = 0.054) or 2 weeks after T-treatment (estimate = 0.14 ± 0.14 , z = 1.06, P = 0.290) in relation to the baseline before T (Fig. S5, Table S3 in Supplemental Data). However, T-treated males and females tended to catch more fruit flies 2 weeks after T-treatment. The best-fitting model for fruit-fly captures indicated that the number of captures was affected by the interaction of T-treatment and the time they spent in captivity after 2 weeks (estimate = 1.57 ± 0.43 , z = 3.68, P < 0.001) and also by the number of feeding from the feeders (estimate = 0.27 ± 0.05 , z = 5.39, P < 0.001, Table S3 in Supplemental Data). A post hoc analysis of interactions indicated that the control birds of both sexes captured the same number of fruit flies across time (females $\chi^2 = 7.34$, df = 2, *P* = 0.102 and males χ^2 = 4.86, df = 2, P = 0.353), whereas T-treated birds tended to capture more fruit-flies as longer they spent in captivity, but this difference was non-significative (females χ^2 = 9.86, df = 2, P = 0.029 and males $\chi^2 = 9.71$, df = 2, P = 0.031) (Fig. S5 in Supplemental Data).

DISCUSSION

This study presents the first profile of testosterone plasma levels (T-levels) and the effects of testosterone treatment (T-treatment) on the vocal behavior in females and males of a hummingbird species, the black jacobin. Although T-levels of black


Fig. 5. — Testosterone treatment (T-treatment) maintained aggressiveness of T-treated birds towards initial values (post hoc analysis of the mixed-effect model; female $\chi^2_2 = 3.56$, P = 0.67; male, $\chi^2_2 = 3.68$, P = 0.63), whereas controls become less aggressive with time (female, $\chi^2_2 = 12.79$, P = 0.007; male, $\chi^2_2 = 23.37$, P < 0.001). The data points represent attack counts obtained per bird in 20 min of observation as a proxy for aggressiveness. The error bars represent the estimated mean and the 95% credible interval given by the generalized linear mixed model.

jacobins in the wild were higher in males, vocal behaviors of control and testosterone treated males and females did not differ. Therefore, the vocal behavior of these hummingbirds seems insensitive to testosterone in contrast to species of other avian families in which testosterone either affects vocal output or vocal pattern or both (Gahr 2014, 2020). Note that T-levels tended to get lower in both sexes towards the end of the breeding season (March compared to December), indicating that they can change during the breeding season or/and throughout the year. In relation, 7% of the males had T-levels comparable to reproductively active males of other species in the tropics (Goymann et al. 2004), which, too, indicates that T-levels vary during the breeding season. The large individual differences of plasma T-levels are likely due to the long breeding period of tropical species, which leads to de-synchronized reproductive activities within populations.

The T-levels of wild populations of hummingbirds were so far documented in only a few species given the methodological constraints to obtaining blood samples of such small birds. Previously, T-levels of hummingbirds were estimated from measurements of testosterone concentrations in the cloacal fluid of three species, all of the clade Bees, during the breeding season. In the black-chinned hummingbird (*Archilochus alexandri*), males had higher T-levels than females, whereas in Anna's hummingbird (Calvpte anna) and the rufous hummingbird (Selasphorus rufus) males and females had similar T-levels (González-Gómez et al. 2014). Surprisingly, although these species weigh about half of black jacobin's body weight, their average T-levels were about 90-fold higher than that of black jacobins, their T-levels ranged between ~ 8 and ~ 23 ng/mL (González-Gómez et al. 2014), whereas the T-levels of wild black jacobins ranged (25 to 75% quantiles) from ~ 0.03 to 0.1 in females and ~ 0.05 to 0.2 ng/mL in males (Table 2). However, a fraction of males and females had testosterone levels typical of reproductively active male and female birds of the temperate zones with T-levels above 1 ng/mL plasma for males and 100 pg/mL plasma for females. This difference may reflect (i) the distant relationship of black jacobins (clade Topazes) and the Bees in the hummingbird family; (ii) a sampling methodology difference as T-levels quantified from the cloacal fluid can be distorted due to individual differences caused by the metabolism of hormones by gut bacteria and by matrix effects (Goymann 2012) or, more likely, (iii) methodological problems in measuring testosterone levels from cloacal fluid; such high T-levels are only found in birds after testosterone treatment (Goymann & Wingfield 2014; this study).

The T-levels of the wild black jacobin were collected in the middle of their 7 months long breeding season (Ruschi 1964), although there was no information about the exact life stage such as incubating or having off-springs of the sampled birds, the high T-levels of 7% of wild males indicate their reproductive status. Interestingly, if we calculate the median of the plasma T-levels by considering only wild males with values above 1 ng/mL (n = 11), the outcome is 1.8 ng/mL (1.4, 3.3) which is rather low when compared to average plasma T-levels of northern temperate birds in the wild during the breeding season (2.8 ± 0.4 ng/mL), but on the range of tropical birds (1.3 ± 0.2 ng/mL) (Goymann et al. 2004). For tropical birds, it is suggested that their maxima T-levels is mainly determined by the length of the breeding season and the altitude they occur: species with longer breeding seasons (above 4 months) tends to show relatively lower T-levels and species inhabiting higher altitudes, higher values (Goymann et al. 2004). Therefore, the black jacobin as a species with long breeding season that occupy relatively lower altitudes is expected to have the observed T maxima.

The T-values of the T-treated black jacobins at the end of the experiment was about 300 times higher than control in males but 33 times higher than wild males with highest T-levels (> 1 ng/mL, n = 11) and 2,500 times higher than control in females but 350 times higher than wild females with highest T-levels (> 0.1 ng/mL, n = 17). In relation, T-values of intact breeding males of zebra finches after T implantation that are ~ 4 times higher than controls has been shown to induce singing and reduce time spent in close proximity to their partner (Prior et al. 2016). In castrated males of canaries, T-values 2 days after implantation can be ~ 10 times higher than controls and induce higher singing rates (Shevchouk et al. 2019). In intact and photostimulated males of house sparrow (Passer domestics), a dose-dependent effect was observed: after low doses, T-values were up to 2 times higher than control and induced testes atrophy, whereas after high doses, T-values ranged from 2 to 10 times higher while spermatogenic activity was maintained (Turek et al. 1976). Despite the much higher circulating T-levels in both sexes of T-treated black jacobins, neither gonadal, body and brain weights nor vocal behavior were affected; testosterone only affected oviduct growth in females and the maintenance of high aggressiveness in both sexes.

It is important to keep in mind that, in some species, T-treatment induce singing in castrated or intact birds in non-breeding condition but has no effect when administered in intact birds in breeding condition because T-levels reached a certain physiological threshold (reviewed in Fusani 2008; Goymann & Wingfield 2014). In ring doves (Streptopelia risoria), for example, castrated males vocalize more after T-treatment (Cohen & Cheng 1982); however, in intact males in breeding conditions both low and high dosage T-implants did not affect any element of their courtship activity including the sexually relevant vocalizations (Fusani & Hutchison 2003). Although T-treatment was conducted in intact and potentially breeding birds, this is unlikely the case for the black jacobin because T-treatment modulated aggressiveness and induced oviduct atrophy indicating that there was not a generalized lack of effect due to the supraphysiological T-levels in treated birds. Furthermore, a sex difference was observed in the T-levels of wild birds but not on vocal rates which reinforce the hypothesis that none of these vocalizations are a T-sensitive trait. T-implantation in castrated black jacobins would require developing surgical procedures and is, therefore, difficult to perform. Nevertheless, implants with anti-androgens in birds whose life-stages are known may help to further confirm our findings. The quantification of testosterone metabolites DHT (binds to androgen receptors) and estradiol (binds to estrogen receptors) also remains to be seen. In chickens, testosterone and estrogen act synergically on the preparation of the magnum - part of the oviduct - for normal secretion of albumen into the egg; when administered alone, testosterone increased magnum weight, but did not induce the formation of albumin secreting cells (Yu & Marquardt 1973). In black jacobin females, the presence of androgen receptors in the part of the oviduct, that is histologically similar to the magnum, may explain the testosterone-induced oviduct growth (A. Monte unpublished data). Testosterone treatment did not affect the weight of the testis of male black jacobins. This result is in line with some other species in which high T-levels did not decrease testis weight (Turek et al. 1976; Desjardins & Turek 1977) while in other species elevated T-levels regressed the testis (Chu 1940).

Hummingbirds are aggressive year-round, especially while foraging (Greenewalt 1990; Schuchmann 1999). Aggressiveness levels (number of attacks) of T-treated black jacobins were maintained during the whole experiment compared to a reduction in control birds over time in captivity. In seasonal species, aggressiveness is correlated with T-levels (Wingfield et al. 1987; reviewed in Soma 2006). To cope with the costs of high T-levels, these birds raise T-levels, particularly in periods of social instability during territorial challenges. Conversely, when their status or territory boundaries are maintained (social stability), T-levels are kept low (Wingfield et al. 1990). In the aviaries, the reduction in the number of attacks of control black jacobins across time may be explained by social stability; there was one feeder for every two birds, thus some birds might have alternated instead of disputed the same feeder. A similar use of the feeders was also observed in wild black jacobins, they awaited a free feeder instead of competing for feeders (A. Leitão personal observation).

We observed no effects of the T-treatment on the vocal rates and the acoustic parameters of the song, in contrast with other bird species investigated to date (reviewed in Gahr 2014, 2020). In the brain, testosterone can act on the medial preoptic nucleus (POM) or directly in the vocal control system (reviewed in Gahr 2014; Shevchouk et al. 2019). For example, direct testosterone implantation in POM of castrated male canaries induced high vocal rates but increased either vocal rate and song stereotypy when administered concomitantly in POM and HVC, an important nucleus of the vocal control system (reviewed in Alward et al. 2017). In the POM and song control regions of songbirds, there are androgen receptors (AR) and estrogen

receptors that mediate the activity of testosterone and its androgenic and estrogenic metabolites on the cellular level (reviewed in Ball & Balthazart 2007). Similar, AR is expressed in the putative song control region of two hummingbird species, Anna's hummingbird (Calypte anna) and amazilia hummingbird (Amazilia amazilia) (Gahr 2000). AR and estrogen receptors in the POM are a general feature of all birds (reviewed in Gahr 2020). Although the reason for life-stage dependent effects of testosterone is unknown, we can speculate that the number of AR (Fusani et al. 2000; Quispe et al. 2016) or of testosterone metabolizing enzymes such as 5ßreductase varies seasonally; birds reduce testosterone to 5ß-dhihydrotestosterone that cannot activate the AR (Floch et al. 1985). Likewise, we could assume that AR is expressed at low levels or 5ß-reductase is expressed at high levels in the putative song control brain regions of the black jacobin so that testosterone cannot affect song rate and pattern. Further, although we quantified AR in the syrinx of the black jacobin, these AR were not in muscles but in skeletal parts of the syrinx (A. Monte unpublished data), which makes an activating effect of testosterone on the syrinx and song unlikely. The only finding that indicates hormonal regulation of the song of the black jacobin is a previous report suggesting a seasonal change in the entropy of the song (Olson et al. 2018). However, these birds were not ringed and were recorded in the wild at the beginning (September) and end of the breeding season (March) (Olson et al. 2018). Thus, this seasonal change could be due to the fact that more juvenile birds were recorded at the end of the breeding season rather than an effect of testosterone. Entropy measurements of the song of our birds were not affected by testosterone $(F_r = 5, df = 3, P = 0.172, Fig. S6 in Supplemental Data).$

The insensitivity of vocalization rates and song features to testosterone in both sexes combined with our observations of the behavior of the birds indicates that none of these vocalizations are used exclusively in a sexual context. Chirps were mainly produced in flight shortly before feeding, whereas song was mainly produced when perched or sometimes in flight when chasing another bird (Fig. S7 in Supplemental Data). Black jacobins were observed to use their songs outside of the breeding season for defending food resources (Olson et al. 2018; A. Monte personal observation). Hence, it could be conceivably hypothesized that year-round song types that are also used in non-sexual contexts are not sensitive to testosterone. Thus, the American crow (Corvus brachvrhynchos), for example, which uses its song all year long in multiple contexts to facilitate affiliative behaviors among group members (Brown 1985) is not expected to show a correlation between T-levels in contrast with species that use their song as a secondary sexual trait during breeding season in which song is modulated by testosterone as in the common chaffinch (Fringilla coelebs) (Thorpe 1958) or canaries (Fusani et al. 2000). Further studies on the seasonality of black jacobin song and the behavioral context of their emission are, nevertheless, needed to support this hypothesis.

Hummingbirds have the highest metabolic rates amongst homeotherm vertebrates (Suarez 1992), which may constrain their daily activities towards finding and defending nectar-rich food sources. Thus, we speculate that, in black jacobin, the song is used by both sexes primarily to defend food sources. Although it remains to be seen whether the testosterone-insensitivity of black jacobin's vocalizations is life-stage dependent, it is possible that the non-reproductive use of song implied the loss of the activation effect of testosterone in their vocal control system. The courtship display of the black jacobin is a joint flight of both sexes in which males chase the female around 100 m upward in a stepwise fashion followed by a synchronously straight dive (Ruschi 1949). Thus, we speculate that, in black jacobin, mate choice is primarily

A. Monte et al.

based on visual displays and visual sensory processing. Thus, it needs to be seen if the non-reproductive use of song implied the loss of the activation effect of testosterone in their vocal control system, and in turn, the evolution of testosterone-sensitive visual displays and visual processing.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank all the staff of the Professor Mello Leitão Biology Museum (Museu de Biologia Professor Mello Leitão) and the National Institute of the Atlantic Forest for their support with the challenging field logistics, the former director Hélio de Queiroz Boudet Fernandes and the actual director Sergio Lucena Mendes for the administrative support. We thank Antje Bakker and Marcella Bader-Blukott for molecular sexing of the animals, Renan Betzel for helping with behavioral data collection of captive birds, Dr Wolfgang Goymann for valuable advice in the initial phase of the project, Dr Mariana Diales Rocha for assisting the elaboration of the testosterone implants, Dr Lucía Mentesana and Dr Nicolás Adreani for helpful advice on the statistical analysis, Dr Michaela Hau for insightful comments on the manuscript and Dr Silene Maria Araujo de Lima for assisting the project execution and application to the ethics committee.

DISCLOSURE STATEMENT

No potential conflict of interest was reported by the authors.

FUNDING

The study was realized with the support of the Max Planck Institute for Ornithology and the International Max Planck Research School for Organismal Biology.

SUPPLEMENTAL DATA

Supplemental data for this article can be accessed at https://doi.org/10.1080/03949370. 2023.2181873

ORCID

Amanda Monte (b) http://orcid.org/0000-0001-7871-3404 Maria L. da Silva (b) http://orcid.org/0000-0002-8949-5622 Manfred Gahr (b) http://orcid.org/0000-0002-6602-2291

REFERENCES

Altmann J. 1974. Observational study of behavior: sampling methods. Behaviour. 49(3):227–267. doi:10.1163/156853974X00534

- Alward BA, Rouse ML, Balthazart J, Ball GF. 2017. Testosterone regulates birdsong in an anatomically specific manner. Anim Behav. 124:291–298. doi:10.1016/j.anbehav.2016.09. 013
- Andrew RJ. 1963. Effects of testosterone on the behavior of the domestic chick. J Prof Nurs. 56 (5):933–940. doi:10.1037/h0045105
- Araya-Salas M, Smith-Vidaurre G. 2017. WarbleR: an r package to streamline analysis of animal acoustic signals. Methods Ecol Evol. 8(2):184–191. doi:10.1111/2041-210X.12624
- Arnold AP. 1975. The effects of castration and androgen replacement on song, courtship, and aggression in zebra finches (*Poephila guttata*). J Exp Zool. 191(3):309–325. doi:10.1002/jez. 1401910302
- Audacity Team. 2013. Audacity (2.0.3) [Computer software]. Available from: http://www.audaci tyteam.org/home/ [Accessed 25 May 2018].
- Ball GF, Balthazart J. 2007. The neuroendocrinology and neurochemistry of birdsong. In: Lajtha A Blaustein J, editors. Handbook of neurochemistry and molecular neurobiology: behavioral neurochemistry, neuroendocrinology and molecular neurobiology. Boston (MA): Springer US; p. 419–457. doi:10.1007/978-0-387-30405-2_10
- Balthazart J, Schumacher M, Ottinger MA. 1983. Sexual differences in the Japanese quail: behavior, morphology, and intracellular metabolism of testosterone. Gen Comp Endocrinol. 51(2):191–207. doi:10.1016/0016-6480(83)90072-2
- Baptista LF, Schuchmann K-L. 1990. Song learning in the Anna hummingbird (*Calypte anna*). Ethology. 84(1):15–26. doi:10.1111/j.1439-0310.1990.tb00781.x
- Beani L, Briganti F, Campanella G, Lupo C, Dessì-Fulgheri F. 2000. Effect of androgens on structure and rate of crowing in the Japanese quail (*Coturnix japonica*). Behaviour. 137 (4):417–435. doi:10.1163/156853900502150
- Bolker B, R Development Core Team. 2020. Bbmle: tools for general maximum likelihood estimation (1.0.23.1). [R package]. Available from: https://CRAN.R-project.org/package= bbmle [Accessed 17 Aug 2020].
- Brockway BF. 1968. Influences of sex hormones on the loud and soft warbles of male budgerigars. Anim Behav. 16(1):5–12. doi:10.1016/0003-3472(68)90099-7
- Brown ED. 1985. the role of song and vocal imitation among common crows (*Corvus brachyrhynchos*). Z Tierpsychol. 68(2):115–136. doi:10.1111/j.1439-0310.1985.tb00119.x
- Burnham KP, Anderson DR. 2016. Multimodel inference: understanding AIC and BIC in model selection. Sociol Methods Res. doi:10.1177/0049124104268644
- Catchpole CK, Slater PJB. 1995. Bird song: biological themes and variations. 2nd ed. Cambridge (UK): Cambridge University Press.
- Chiver I, Schlinger BA. 2019. Sex-specific effects of testosterone on vocal output in a tropical suboscine bird. Anim Behav. 148:105–112. doi:10.1016/j.anbehav.2018.12.011
- Chu JP. 1940. The effects of oestrone and testosterone and of pituitary extracts on the gonads of hypophysectomized pigeons. J Endocrinol. 2(2):21–37. doi:10.1677/joe.0.0020021
- Cohen J, Cheng M-F. 1982. Effects of testosterone metabolites and estrogen in the midbrain control of courtship behavior in the male Ring dove (*Streptopelia risoria*). Neuroendocrinology. 34(1):64–74. doi:10.1159/000123279
- da Silva ML, Vielliard J. 2006. Entropy calculations for measuring bird song diversity: the case of the White-vented violet-ear (*Colibri serrirostris*) (Aves, Trochilidae). Razprave IV. Razreda SAZU. 47:37–49.
- Desjardins C, Turek FW. 1977. Effects of testosterone on spermatogenesis and luteinizing hormone release in Japanese quail. Gen Comp Endocrinol. 33(2):293–303. doi:10.1016/ 0016-6480(77)90253-2
- Ferreira ARJ, Smulders TV, Sameshima K, Mello CV, Jarvis ED. 2006. Vocalizations and associated behaviors of the Sombre hummingbird (*Aphantochroa cirrhochloris*) and the Rufous-breasted hermit (*Glaucis hirsutus*). Auk. 123(4):1129–1148. doi:10.2307/25150225
- Ficken MS, Rusch KM, Taylor SJ, Powers DR. 2000. Blue-throated hummingbird song: a pinnacle of nonoscine vocalizations. Auk. 117(1):120–128. doi:10.1093/auk/117.1.120

- Floch JY, Morfin R, Picart D, Daniel JY, Floch HH. 1985. Testosterone metabolism in the uropygial gland of the quail. Steroids. 45(5):391-401. doi:10.1016/0039-128X(85)90004-2
- Fox J, Weisberg S. 2018. An R companion to applied regression. Newbury Park (CA): SAGE Publications.
- Fusani L. 2008. Endocrinology in field studies: problems and solutions for the experimental design. Gen Comp Endocrinol. 157(3):249-253. doi:10.1016/j.ygcen.2008.04.016
- Fusani L, Beani L, Dessì-Fulgheri F. 1994. Testosterone affects the acoustic structure of the male call in the Grey partridge (Perdix perdix). Behaviour. 128(3/4):301-310. doi:10.1163/ 156853994X00307
- Fusani L, Hof TV, Hutchison JB, Gahr M. 2000. Seasonal expression of androgen receptors, estrogen receptors, and aromatase in the canary brain in relation to circulating androgens and estrogens. J Neurobiol. 43(3):254-268. doi:10.1002/ SICI_1097-4695_20000605_ 43:3<254:AID-NEU4>3.0.CO;2-W
- Fusani L, Hutchison JB. 2003. Lack of changes in the courtship behaviour of male ring doves after testosterone treatment. Ethol Ecol Evol. 15(2):143-157. doi:10.1080/08927014.2003. 9522679
- Gahr M. 2000. Neural song control system of hummingbirds: comparison to swifts, vocal learning (songbirds) and nonlearning (suboscines) passerines, and vocal learning (budgerigars) and nonlearning (dove, owl, gull, quail, chicken) nonpasserines. J Comp Neurol. 426 (2):182-196. doi:10.1002/1096-9861(20001016)426:2<182:AID-CNE2>3.0.CO;2-M
- Gahr M. 2014. How hormone-sensitive are bird songs and what are the underlying mechanisms? Acta Acust United Acust. 100(4):705-718. doi:10.3813/AAA.918749
- Gahr M. 2020. Seasonal and life-history stage dependent vocal communication of birds. In: Fritzsch B, editor. The senses: a comprehensive reference, 2nd ed. Amsterdam (Netherlands): Elsevier; p. 163-186. doi:10.1016/B978-0-12-809324-5.24266-1
- González-Gómez PL, Blakeslee WS, Razeto-Barry P, Borthwell RM, Hiebert SM, Wingfield JC. 2014. Aggression, body condition, and seasonal changes in sex-steroids in four hummingbird species. J Ornithol. 155(4):1017-1025. doi:10.1007/s10336-014-1088-y
- Goymann W. 2012. On the use of non-invasive hormone research in uncontrolled, natural environments: the problem with sex, diet, metabolic rate and the individual. Methods Ecol Evol. 3(4):757-765. doi:10.1111/j.2041-210X.2012.00203.x
- Goymann W, Moore IT, Scheuerlein A, Hirschenhauser K, Grafen A, Wingfield JC. 2004. Testosterone in tropical birds: effects of environmental and social factors. Am Nat. 164 (3):327-334. doi:10.1086/422856
- Goymann W, Trappschuh M, Jensen W, Schwabl I. 2006. Low ambient temperature increases food intake and dropping production, leading to incorrect estimates of hormone metabolite concentrations in European stonechats. Horm Behav. 49(5):644-653. doi:10.1016/j. yhbeh.2005.12.006
- Goymann W, Wingfield JC. 2014. Male-to-female testosterone ratios, dimorphism, and life history-what does it really tell us? Behav Ecol. 25(4):685-699. doi:10.1093/beheco/aru019 Greenewalt CH. 1990. Hummingbirds. New York (NY): Dover Publications.
- Hamilton JB. 1938. Precocious masculine behavior following administration of synthetic male hormone substance. Endocrinology. 23(1):53-57. doi:10.1210/endo-23-1-53
- Hart BL. 1988. Biological basis of the behavior of sick animals. Neurosci Biobehav Rev. 12 (2):123-137. doi:10.1016/S0149-7634(88)80004-6
- Heid P, Güttinger HR, Pröve E. 1985. The influence of castration and testosterone replacement on the song architecture of canaries (Serinus canaria). Z Tierpsychol. 69(3):224-236. doi:10.1111/j.1439-0310.1985.tb00148.x
- Hoysak DJ, Weatherhead PJ. 1991. Sampling blood from birds: a technique and an assessment of its effect. Condor. 93(3):746-752. doi:10.2307/1368207
- Jarvis ED, Ribeiro S, da Silva ML, Ventura D, Vielliard J, Mello CV. 2000. Behaviourally driven gene expression reveals song nuclei in hummingbird brain. Nature. 406 (6796):628-632. doi:10.1038/35020570

- Kapoor JA. 2012. Improved methods for color-marking hummingbirds. J Field Ornithol. 83 (2):186–191. doi:10.1111/j.1557-9263.2012.00368.x
- Kern MD, King JR. 1972. Testosterone-induced singing in female white-crowned sparrows. Condor. 74(2):204–209. doi:10.2307/1366289
- Kroodsma DE. 1984. Songs of the Alder flycatcher (*Empidonax alnorum*) and Willow flycatcher (*Empidonax traillii*) are innate. Auk. 101(1):13–24. doi:10.1093/auk/101.1.13
- Lahaye SEP, Eens M, Darras VM, Pinxten R. 2012. Testosterone stimulates the expression of male-typical socio-sexual and song behaviors in female budgerigars (*Melopsittacus undulatus*): an experimental study. Gen Comp Endocrinol. 178(1):82–88. doi:10.1016/j.ygcen. 2012.04.021
- Marler P, Kreith M, Willis E. 1962. An analysis of testosterone-induced crowing in young domestic cockerels. Anim Behav. 10(1–2):48–54. doi:10.1016/0003-3472(62)90130-6
- Martin P, Bateson P. 2007. Measuring behaviour: An introductory guide, 3rd ed. Cambridge (UK): Cambridge University Press. doi:10.1017/CB09780511810893
- McGuire JA, Witt CC, Remsen JV Jr, Corl A, Rabosky DL, Altshuler DL, Dudley R. 2014. Molecular phylogenetics and the diversification of hummingbirds. Curr Biol. 24(8):1–7. doi:10.1016/j.cub.2014.03.016
- McGuire JA, Witt CC, Remsen JV Jr, Dudley R, Altshuler DL. 2009. A higher-level taxonomy for hummingbirds. J Ornithol. 150(1):155–165. doi:10.1007/s10336-008-0330-x
- McNamara JM, Mace RH, Houston AI. 1987. Optimal daily routines of singing and foraging in a bird singing to attract a mate. Behav Ecol Sociobiol. 20(6):399–405. doi:10.1007/ BF00302982
- Monte A, Cerwenka AF, Ruthensteiner B, Gahr M, Düring DN. 2020. The hummingbird syrinx morphome: a detailed three-dimensional description of the black jacobin's vocal organ. BMC Zool. 5(1):7. doi:10.1186/s40850-020-00057-3
- Nespor AA, Lukazewicz MJ, Dooling RJ, Ball GF. 1996. Testosterone induction of male-like vocalizations in female budgerigars (*Melopsittacus undulatus*). Horm Behav. 30 (2):162–169. doi:10.1006/hbeh.1996.0020
- Nottebohm F. 1980. Testosterone triggers growth of brain vocal control nuclei in adult female canaries. Brain Res. 189(2):429–436. doi:10.1016/0006-8993(80)90102-X
- Ogle D, Wheeler P, Dinno A 2020. FSA: fisheries stock analysis (0.8.30) [R package]. Available from: https://github.com/droglenc/FSA [Accessed 5 Dec 2020].
- Olson CR, Fernández-Vargas M, Portfors CV, Mello CV. 2018. Black Jacobin hummingbirds vocalize above the known hearing range of birds. Curr Biol. 28(5):R204–205. doi:10.1016/j. cub.2018.01.041
- Prior NH, Yap KN, Liu TQD, Vignal C, Soma KK. 2016. Context-dependent effects of testosterone treatment to males on pair maintenance behaviour in zebra finches. Anim Behav. 114:155–164. doi:10.1016/j.anbehav.2016.01.023
- Pröve E. 1974. Der Einfluß von Kastration und Testosteronsubstitution auf das Sexualverhalten männlicher Zebrafinken (*Taeniopygia guttata castanotis* Gould). [The influence of castration and testosterone substitution on the sexual behavior of male zebra finches (*Taeniopygia guttata castanotis* Gould)]. J Ornithol. 115(3):338–347. German. doi:10.1007/BF01644328
- Quispe R, Sèbe F, da Silva ML, Gahr M. 2016. Dawn-song onset coincides with increased HVC androgen receptor expression but is decoupled from high circulating testosterone in an equatorial songbird. Physiol Behav. 156:1–7. doi:10.1016/j.physbeh.2015.12.027
- Quispe R, Trappschuh M, Gahr M, Goymann W. 2015. Towards more physiological manipulations of hormones in field studies: comparing the release dynamics of three kinds of testosterone implants, silastic tubing, time-release pellets and beeswax. Gen Comp Endocrinol. 212:100–105. doi:10.1016/j.ygcen.2015.01.007
- R Core Team. 2014. R: A language and environment for statistical computing. Vienna (Austria): R Foundation for Statistical Computing. Available from: http://www.R-project.org/ [Accessed 20 Nov 2018].

- Ruschi A. 1949. Observações sobre os Trochilideos. [Observations on the Trochilids]. Bol Mus Biol Prof. Mello Leitão. 7. Portuguese. Available from: http://boletim.sambio.org.br/pdf/bi_ 07.pdf
- Ruschi A. 1950. A técnica para obtenção de sangue dos troquilídeos em laboratório, sem sacrificá-los e alguns dados biológicos. [The technique for obtaining blood from trochilids in the laboratory, without sacrificing them, and some biological data]. Bol Mus Biol Prof Mello Leitão. 9:1–4. Portuguese.
- Ruschi A. 1964. A estação ou o período de reprodução nos beija-flores. [The breading season of hummingbirds]. Bol Mus Biol Prof. Mello Leitão. 42. Portuguese.
- Ruschi A. 1973. Algumas observações sobre *Melanotrochilus fuscus* (Vieillot, 1817). [Some Observations on *Melanotrochilus fuscus* (Vieillot, 1817)]. Bol Mus Biol Prof. Mello Leitão. 51. Portuguese. Available from: http://www.boletimmbml.net/pdf/zo_051.pdf
- Ruschi PA. 2009. A new hummingbird trap. Bol Mus Biol Prof Mello Leitão. 25:67-75.
- Scheff SW. 2016. Chapter 8 Nonparametric statistics. In: Scheff S, editor. Fundamental statistical principles for the neurobiologist. Cambridge (MA): Academic Press; p. 157–182. doi:10.1016/B978-0-12-804753-8.00008-7
- Schuchmann KL. 1999. Family *Trochilidae* (Hummingbirds). In: del Hoyo J, et al., editors. Handbook of the birds of the world. Vol. 5. Barn, barnowls to hummingbirds. Barcelona (Spain): Lynx Edicions; p. 34–75.
- Schuchmann KL, Bonnan A. 2019. Family *Trochilidae* (Hummingbirds). Handbook of the birds of the world alive. Ithaca (NY): Cornell Lab of Ornithology. Available from: https://www. hbw.com/node/52268 [Accessed 7 Jul 2019].
- Shevchouk OT, Ball GF, Cornil CA, Balthazart J. 2019. Rapid testosterone-induced growth of the medial preoptic nucleus in male canaries. Physiol Behav. 204:20–26. doi:10.1016/j. physbeh.2019.02.007
- Sick H. 1997. Ornitologia Brasileira [Brazilian ornithology]. Rio de Janeiro (Brazil): Editora Nova Fronteira. Portuguese.
- Soma KK. 2006. Testosterone and aggression: berthold, birds and beyond. J Neuroendocrinol. 18 (7):543–551. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2826.2006.01440.x
- Stoffel MA, Nakagawa S, Schielzeth H. 2017. rptR: repeatability estimation and variance decomposition by generalized linear mixed-effects models. Methods Ecol Evol. 8 (11):1639–1644. doi:10.1111/2041-210X.12797
- Suarez RK. 1992. Hummingbird flight: sustaining the highest mass-specific metabolic rates among vertebrates. Experientia. 48(6):565–570. doi:10.1007/BF01920240
- Thorpe WH. 1958. The learning of song patterns by birds, with especial reference to the song of the Chaffinch *Fringilla coelebs*. Ibis. 100(4):535–570. doi:10.1111/j.1474-919X.1958. tb07960.x
- Turek FW, Desjardins C, Menaker M. 1976. Antigonadal and progonadal effects of testosterone in male House sparrows. Gen Comp Endocrinol. 28(4):395–402. doi:10.1016/0016-6480(76) 90147-7
- Vellema M, Diales Rocha M, Bascones S, Zsebők S, Dreier J, Leitner S, Van der Linden A, Brewer J, Gahr M. 2019. Accelerated redevelopment of vocal skills is preceded by lasting reorganization of the song motor circuitry. eLife. 8:e43194. doi:10.7554/eLife.43194
- Voigt C, Leitner S. 2013. Testosterone-dependency of male solo song in a duetting songbird evidence from females. Horm Behav. 63(1):122–127. doi:10.1016/j.yhbeh.2012.10.006
- Vu VQ. 2011. Ggbiplot: a ggplot2 based biplot (0.55) [R package]. Available from: http://github. com/vqv/ggbiplot [Accessed 21 Sep 2020].
- Wingfield JC, Ball GF, Dufty AM, Hegner RE, Ramenofsky M. 1987. Testosterone and aggression in birds. Am Sci. 75(6):602–608.
- Wingfield JC, Farner DS. 1978. The annual cycle of plasma irLH and steroid hormones in feral populations of the White-crowned sparrow, *Zonotrichia leucophrys gambelii*. Biol Reprod. 19(5):1046–1056. doi:10.1095/biolreprod19.5.1046

- Wingfield JC, Hegner RE, Dufty AM, Ball GF. 1990. The "Challenge hypothesis": theoretical implications for patterns of testosterone secretion, mating systems, and breeding strategies. Am Nat. 136(6):829–846. doi:10.1086/285134
- Wingfield JC, Lynn SE, Soma KK. 2001. Avoiding the "costs" of testosterone: ecological bases of hormone-behavior interactions. Brain Behav Evol. 57(5):239–251. doi:10.1159/ 000047243
- Yu JY-L, Marquardt RR. 1973. Synergism of testosterone and estradiol in the development and function of the magnum from the immature chicken (*Gallus domesticus*) oviduct. Endocrinology. 92(2):563–572. doi:10.1210/endo-92-2-563

SUPPLEMENTAL DATA

Supplemental statistical analyses

Generalized Linear Mixed Models (GLMMs) were fitted to test whether the testosterone treatment (T-treatment) affected the number of songs and chirps emitted by the black jacobins, their feeding behavior and aggressiveness in the aviaries.

For the song and chirp counts, we fitted the GLMMs using the 'glmmTMB' package which model has three formulas: a conditional, a zero-inflation and a dispersion model formula (Brooks et al. 2017). The 'glmmTBM' offers an adequate approach to analyze the black jacobin's songs and chirps count data which are zero-inflated and overdispersed. The best-fitting model for song count as a response variable was fitted with the distribution negative binomial 1 (variance increases linearly with the mean) and for chirp count with the distribution negative binomial 2 (variance increases quadratically with the mean). The predictors for the conditional, zero-inflated and dispersion formulas of the best-fitting models are specified in the main text Table 4 (song) and Table 5 (chirp). We validated the best-fitting models for song and chirp counts using the DHARMa package (Hartig 2020). Given the methodological constraints to combine the information of GLMM's conditional, zero-inflated and overdispersion formula, we tested whether the testosterone treatment affected the song and chirp counts by using the Likelihood Ratio (LR) test (Bolker et al. 2009; Winter 2013). The LR test is used to compare the likelihood of two models: the model without (null model) and with the variable of interest (full model), if the difference between the likelihood of these two models is significant, then the variable of interest is significant (Winter 2013). We excluded the testosterone treatment as a predictor of all formulas of the best-fitting models to create the null models, then we performed the LR test using the 'anova' function. We estimated marginal means and the predicted 95% confidence interval for song and chirp counts given by the best-fitting models with the random effects set to zero using the 'ggpredict' function implemented by the package

'ggeffects' (Lüdecke 2018). In the results, we reported the estimated mean 95% CI [lower, upper confidence interval].

For the feeding (feeds from the feeders and fruit-flies capture) and attack counts, we fitted the GLMMs using the 'lmer' function implemented by the 'lme4' package (Bates et al. 2015). The best-fitting models for each of the feeding counts (feeders and fruit flies) and attack count as response variables were fitted with the Poisson distribution. The predictors for the best-fitting models are specified in Table S3 (feeding) and Table 6 (attack). We validated the best-fitting models for feeding and attack counts by inspecting whether the models' assumptions were met: normality of the residuals, homoscedasticity, and lack of remaining patterns. Then, for each best-fitting model, we simulated 1,000 values from the joint posterior distributions of the model parameters using the function 'sim' implemented by the package 'arm' (Gelman & Su 2016) with an uninformed prior distribution. We estimated the means of the simulated values from the posterior distributions and the predicted 95% credible intervals (CrI). In the results, we reported the estimated mean 95% CrI [lower, upper credible interval]. Following a significant effect in a predictor or interactions' implemented by the package 'phia' (Rosario-Martinez et al. 2015) and adjusted the *P*-values with the Bonferroni method.

Supplemental figures and tables



Fig. S1. — Timeline of the experiment conducted with captive black jacobins (females n = 10 and males n = 14). The birds were housed and kept in aviaries for 4 weeks. The first blood sampling for sexing was obtained from hallux's nail 2 weeks before the testosterone implantation (day – 12). They were monitored for their adaptation to the captive conditions, for example, it was observed whether they feed and bathe regularly as it is expected for the species for 1 week (from day – 12 to – 6). The behavioral observations were conducted for the following 3 weeks (dashed line, from day – 6 to 12). For the analysis, the behavioral observations were divided into 3 time-points: before (before T, day – 6 to – 1), 1 (T1, day 1 to 6) and 2 weeks after the testosterone treatment (T2, day 7 to 12). The birds were implanted with testosterone or placebo on day 0. Body weight was obtained on day – 12, 0 and 12.



Fig. S2. — Black jacobins emit vocalizations that can be grouped into three spectrally distinct types: high-pitch, chirp and low-pitch. The high-pitch, which is likely the black jacobin's song, is a fast modulated unit that is usually composed by three subunit (triplet). The chirp is a short-duration unit (~ 25 msec) in a wide frequency range (from ~ 6 to 13 kHz). Chirps can be classified as a single chirp (s-chirp) and multiple chirp (m-chirp), the former is composed by one chirp emitted alone or a few with variable silent interval between them and the latter by many sequential chirps with progressively longer silence interval between them. Given that m-chirp is rare, s- and m-chirps were analyzed jointly. Finally, the low-pitch is composed by the repetition of many units with from 3 to 6 frequency bands with more energy between 2 to 5 kHz. Spectrogram (frequency) and oscillogram (relative amplitude) examples of each vocalization is depicted. The red bar indicates the unit that is zoomed on the right panel.



Fig. S3. — Black jacobin song can be composed by one (single), two (double) or three (triplet) subunits which is highly repetitive within birds. (A) Spectrogram (frequency) and oscillogram (relative amplitude) examples of song bouts of a male (bird id A1_3) which song is composed

mainly by triplets (indicated by a dark blue bar) and a male (bird id A3_4) which song is composed mainly by doubles (indicated by a red bar) before, 1 and 2 weeks after testosterone treatment. (B) Proportion of singles, doubles and triplets emitted per bird before, 1 week and 2 weeks after testosterone. The bird ids are color-coded by sex (females in orange and males in light blue) and grouped by treatment.



Fig. S4. — Black jacobins tended to sing less throughout the day. The data points represent song counts obtained per bird in 20 min of observation. Data from testosterone-treated (squares) and control birds (circles) were plotted together because they show no difference. The curves represent the estimated values given by the generalized linear mixed model and the shaded areas the respective 95% credible intervals for females (lighter) and males (darker).



Fig. S5. — Black jacobin's feeding counts grouped by sex and testosterone-treatment across time. Whereas in (A) black jacobins show no differences in the number of times they feed from the feeders with sugary water, in (B) Testosterone-treated black jacobins tended to capture more fruit-flies as longer they spent in captivity. The data points represent feeding counts obtained

per bird in 20 min of observation. The error bars represent the fitted mean and the 95% credible interval given by the generalized linear mixed model. The asterisk (*) represents P < 0.05, but > 0.01.



Fig. S6. — The entropy of black jacobin's song in both sexes of control and T-treated groups did not differ before, 1 or 2 weeks after T treatment. Entropy ranges from 0 when the song is closer to a pure tone to 1 when is noisy. All box plots indicate the median and interquartile range (25% to 75%). Each data point indicates an individual song measurement: FC, female control (3 females, 178 songs before, 107, 1, and 146, 2 weeks after T); FT, female T-treated (7 females, 342 songs before, 201, 1, and 370, 2 weeks after T); MC male control (5 males, 624

songs before, 545, 1, and 466, 2 weeks after T) and MT, male T-treated (9 males, 268 songs before, 228, 1, and 185, 2 weeks after T).



Fig. S7. — Each of the black jacobin's vocalization was consistently uttered in a specific behavioral context. Summary of all emissions in the aviaries during 1 week before testosterone treatment jointly for both sexes. The behaviors of the birds during vocalization were flying (orange), perched (brown), feeding (purple), chasing (light green) or being chased (dark green) by a conspecific. The behaviors were quantified during observation sessions of 20 min each (see Methods). The song (high-pitch) was mainly produced when the bird was perched or in flight sometimes when chasing another bird away. The low-pitch was produced in agonistic contexts when the bird was flying either chasing or being chased by a conspecific. The s-chirp was produced mainly during flight sometimes shortly before feeding, whereas m-chirp was produced when the bird was perched alone. Low-pitch and m-chirp were rare.

Table S1.

List of the 26 acoustic parameters measured for the song of the black jacobin with the function

"specan" implemented by the package "warbleR" (Araya-Salas & Smith-Vidaurre 2017).

Parameter	Description
duration	length of signal
meanfreq	mean frequency (in kHz)
SD	standard deviation of frequency
freq.median	median frequency (in kHz)
freq.Q25	first quantile (in kHz)
freq.Q75	third quantile (in kHz)
freq.IQR	interquantile range (in kHz)
time.median	time in which the median of the frequency was
	obtained (in sec)
time.Q25	time in which the first quantile of the frequency was
	obtained (in sec)
time.Q75	time in which the third quantile of the frequency was
	obtained (in sec)
time.IQR	difference between time.Q75 and time.Q25 (in sec)
skew	skewness, a measure of asymmetry. skew < 0
	indicated that the spectrum is skewed to left; skew $= 0$
	when the spectrum is symmetric and skew > 0 when
	the spectrum is skewed to right
kurt	kurtosis, a measure of peakedness. $kurt < 3$ indicates
	that spectrum is platikurtic, i.e. it has fewer items at
	the center than the normal curve; $kurt = 3$ when the
	spectrum shows a normal shape and kurt > 3 when the
	spectrum is leptokurtic, i.e. it has more items near the
	center.
sp.ent	spectral entropy. Energy distribution of the frequency
	spectrum. Pure tone ~ 0; noisy ~ 1
time.ent	time entropy. Energy distribution on the time
	envelope. Pure tone ~ 0 ; noisy ~ 1
entropy	spectrographic entropy. Product of time and spectral
	entropy
sfm	spectral flatness. Pure tone ~ 0 ; noisy ~ 1
meandom	average of dominant frequency
mindom	minimum of dominant frequency
maxdom	maximum of dominant frequency
dfrange	range of dominant frequency

modindx	modulation index (accumulated absolute difference
	between adjacent measurements of fundamental
	frequencies divided by the frequency range)
startdom	dominant frequency measurement at the start of the
	signal
enddom	dominant frequency measurement at the end of the
	signal
dfslope	slope of the change in dominant frequency through
	time calculated as enddom - startdom/duration
meanpeakf	mean peak frequency. Frequency with highest energy
	from the mean frequency spectrum

Table S2.

Results of linear models explaining variation in the circulating testosterone plasma levels (T plasma levels) and body weight of wild black jacobins including age (1st year-juveniles \times adults) as a predictor. As age have no effect on T plasma levels neither on body weight, first-year juveniles and adults were analyzed together. In bold are the significant predictors (P < 0.01).

	Estimate	SE		t value	<i>P</i> -value
T plasma levels					
Intercept	5.729		0.927	6.260	< 0.001
Sex (ref. female)	0.525		0.136	3.823	< 0.001
Age (ref. 1st	0.224		0.199	1.125	0.262
year)					
Body weight	0.327		0.119	2.736	0.007
Day	- 0.290		0.021	- 13.836	< 0.001
Body weight					
Intercept	6.304		0.369	17.074	< 0.001
Sex (ref. female)	0.263		0.077	3.403	0.001
Age (ref. 1st	0.179		0.112	1.596	0.112
year)					
Log T	0.104		0.038	2.736	0.007
Day	0.034		0.016	2.090	0.038

Table S3.

Results of the generalized linear mixed model explaining variation in the feeding counts (feeds from the feeders and fruit-fly captures) per observation session (20 min) of captive black jacobins. The number of feeds from the feeders was affected by the number of fruit-flies captured, whereas the number of fruit-flies captured was affected by the number of feeds from the feeder and the interaction between testosterone-treatment and time. In bold are the significant predictors (P < 0.01).

	Estimate	Std. Error	z value	p value
Number of feeds from the feeders				
Intercept	0.655	0.170	3.850	< 0.001
T treatment (ref. control)	- 0.060	0.196	- 0.305	0.761
Time after 1 week	-0.270	0.140	- 1.929	0.054
(ref. before T-treatment)				
Time after 2 weeks	0.144	0.136	1.059	0.290
(ref. before T-treatment)				
Sex male (ref. female)	0.173	0.190	0.909	0.363
Fruit flies	0.033	0.007	4.873	< 0.001
T treatment : Time after 1 week	0.026	0.137	0.188	0.851
T treatment : Time after 2 weeks	- 0.064	0.136	- 0.471	0.638
T treatment : Sex male	- 0.238	0.232	- 1.024	0.306
Time after 1 week : Sex male	0.089	0.140	0.637	0.524
Time after 2 weeks : Sex male	- 0.133	0.138	- 0.961	0.336
Number of fruit flies				
Intercept	- 3.08	0.85	- 3.62	< 0.001
T treatment (ref. control)	0.50	0.96	0.52	0.604
Time after 1 week	0.56	0.44	1.29	0.198
(ref. before T-treatment)				
Time after 2 weeks	- 0.68	0.48	- 1.40	0.162
(ref. before T-treatment)				
Sex male (ref. female)	1.39	0.94	1.48	0.138
Hour	- 0.15	0.08	- 2.00	0.046
Feeds	0.27	0.05	5.39	< 0.001
T treatment : Time after 1 week	0.45	0.39	1.15	0.250
T treatment : Time after 2 weeks	1.57	0.43	3.68	< 0.001
T treatment : Sex male	- 0.59	1.17	- 0.51	0.614
Time after 1 week : Sex male	-0.42	0.42	- 0.99	0.321
Time after 2 weeks : Sex male	0.20	0.45	0.44	0.661

Table S4.

Sex	Treatment	n	Time	Mean	Lower	Upper
Female	Control	3	Before T	16.62	6.49	42.53
			After 1 week	18.73	7.09	49.47
			After 2 weeks	24.83	9.94	62.03
	T-treated	7	Before T	12.75	6.40	25.39
			After 1 week	14.52	7.41	28.46
			After 2 weeks	12.98	6.78	24.85
Male	Control	9	Before T	26.23	14.75	46.66
			After 1 week	17.52	9.19	33.42
			After 2 weeks	15.78	8.24	30.22
	T-treated	5	Before T	14.81	6.28	34.95
			After 1 week	10.00	4.54	22.00
			After 2 weeks	6.07	2.64	13.97

Predicted means, lower and upper values from the 95% credible interval given by the generalized linear mixed models for the song counts per sex, treatment across time.

Table S5.

Predicted means, lower and upper values from the 95% credible interval given by the generalized linear mixed models for the chirp counts per sex, treatment across time.

Sex	Treatment	n	Time	Mean	Lower	Upper
Female	Control	3	Before T	4.61	1.45	14.68
			After 1 week	1.26	0.35	4.45
			After 2 weeks	1.77	0.53	5.84
	T-treated	7	Before T	15.67	7.26	33.81
			After 1 week	7.19	3.25	15.90
			After 2 weeks	12.73	6.02	26.93
Male	Control	9	Before T	8.14	4.02	16.47
			After 1 week	4.89	2.46	9.71
			After 2 weeks	7.34	3.71	14.55
	T-treated	5	Before T	3.31	1.27	8.58
			After 1 week	3.34	1.25	8.95
			After 2 weeks	6.32	2.38	16.81

Table S6.

	PC1	PC2	PC3	PC4	PC5	PC6	PC7	PC8
SD	3.074	2.427	2.069	1.502	1.221	0.868	0.771	0.683
Proportion of	0.364	0.227	0.165	0.087	0.057	0.029	0.023	0.018
Variance								
Cumulative	0.36	0.59	0.75	0.84	0.90	0.93	0.95	0.97
Proportion								

Eigenvalues obtained from a PCA of the acoustic parameters of the black jacobin's song.

Table S7.

Eigenvectors obtained from a PCA of the acoustic parameters of the black jacobin's song. PC1 described mainly spectral parameters, whereas PC2 described temporal parameters. In bold the heavily loading characters within each vector. The abbreviation of the parameters are described in Table A.1. where is Table A1?

Parameters	PC1	PC2	PC3
duration	- 0.125	- 0.343	0.112
meanfreq	0.263	- 0.161	- 0.140
SD	- 0.282	0.021	- 0.140
freq.median	0.262	- 0.184	- 0.101
freq.Q25	0.281	- 0.153	- 0.032
freq.Q75	0.229	- 0.182	- 0.209
freq.IQR	- 0.160	- 0.040	- 0.386
time.median	- 0.133	- 0.313	0.164
time.Q25	-0.076	- 0.185	0.183
time.Q75	- 0.134	- 0.350	0.106
time.IQR	- 0.128	- 0.337	0.074
skew	0.006	0.055	0.435
kurt	- 0.006	0.050	0.424
sp.ent	- 0.230	- 0.117	- 0.298
time.ent	0.112	0.345	- 0.105
entropy	- 0.207	- 0.014	- 0.346
sfm	- 0.263	- 0.041	- 0.162
meandom	0.276	- 0.141	-0.088
mindom	0.275	0.066	- 0.041
maxdom	- 0.112	- 0.105	-0.042
dfrange	-0.252	- 0.097	0.010
modindx	0.058	- 0.258	- 0.110

startdom	0.214	- 0.049	- 0.136
enddom	0.194	-0.227	- 0.032
dfslope	- 0.021	- 0.241	0.095
meanpeakf	0.245	- 0.182	- 0.010

Supplemental references

- Araya-Salas M, Smith-Vidaurre G. 2017. warbleR: An r package to streamline analysis of animal acoustic signals.
- Bates D, Mächler M, Bolker B, Walker S. 2015. Fitting Linear Mixed-Effects Models using lme4. J Stat Softw. 67. doi:https://doi.org/10.18637/jss.v067.i01
- Bolker BM, Brooks ME, Clark CJ, Geange SW, Poulsen JR, Stevens MHH, White J-SS. 2009. Generalized linear mixed models: a practical guide for ecology and evolution. Trends Ecol Evol. 24:127–135. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tree.2008.10.008
- Brooks ME, Kristensen K, van Benthem KJ, Magnusson A, Berg CW, Nielsen A, Skaug HJ, Mächler M, Bolker BM. 2017. glmmTMB balances speed and flexibility among packages for zero-inflated Generalized Linear Mixed Modeling. R J. 9:378–400.
- Gelman A, Su Y-S. 2016. arm: Data analysis using regression and multilevel/hierarchical models.
- Hartig F. 2020. DHARMa: Residual diagnostics for hierarchical (multi-level/mixed) regression models.
- Lüdecke D. 2018. ggeffects: Tidy data frames of marginal effects from regression models. J Open Source Softw. 3:772. doi:https://doi.org/10.21105/joss.00772
- Rosario-Martinez HD, Fox J, R Core Team. 2015. phia: Post-hoc interaction analysis.
- Winter B. 2013. Linear models and linear mixed effects models in R with linguistic applications. arXiv:1308.5499.

Chapter 4

Absence of androgen receptors in the putative vocal control system of hummingbirds

Abstract

Hummingbirds evolved brain specializations analogous to songbirds and parrots that allow them to learn their songs. In songbirds, most brain areas of their song control system express androgen receptors (AR). In non-songbirds, ARs are expressed in midbrain and/or brainstem vocal areas. In songbirds, testosterone and its metabolites play an important role in the ontogeny of vocal learning and the production of learned songs in adulthood. In most studied species, including songbirds and non-songbirds, testosterone increases the singing rate. However, in a previous study we showed that the song of an early-branched hummingbird, the black jacobin (Florisuga fusca) is testosterone insensitive. In order to verify whether this insensitivity is related to a lack of ARs in their vocal control system, we performed RNA scope in-situ hybridization for AR mRNA on histological sections of female and male black jacobin. We compared these AR mRNA distributions to further eight hummingbird species with different degrees of phylogenetic distance. Male and female black jacobins shows weak expression or lacked AR mRNA in their putative vocal control system but have strong expression in other areas of the thalamus and midbrain, in particular visual areas such as the nucleus pretectalis (Pt). Surprisingly, a similar paucity of AR expression in putative vocal areas was found in four further species while AR mRNA was expressed in the putative vocal area VAN (analogous to songbird LMAN) of males sombre hummingbird (Aphantochroa cirrochloris), versicolored emerald (Amazilia versicolor) and blue-chinned sapphire (Chlorestes notatus). These species belong to the hummingbird clade Emeralds, which, among the studied species, is the most distantly related to black jacobins', the clade Topazes. The lack of neural expression of androgen receptors in vocal control areas suggests that singing in some hummingbird species are likely testosterone sensitive while testosterone insensitive in other species. Thus, hormonal control and sexual function of singing might be more heterogenous in hummingbirds as compared to songbirds.

Prepared as: Monte, A., Frankl-Vilches, C., Backer, A., da Silva, M. L, & Manfred Gahr, M. Absence of androgen receptors in the putative vocal control system of hummingbirds.

Introduction

The need to undergo a learning process early in life to communicate using sounds is not a human exclusivity. Three groups of birds, songbirds (Suborder *Passeri*) (Nottebohm et al., 1976), parrots (Order *Psittaciformes*) (Jarvis & Mello, 2000) and some hummingbirds (Family Trochilidae) (Araya-Salas & Wright, 2013; Baptista & Schuchmann, 1990; Gahr, 2000; Jarvis et al., 2000; K. E. Johnson & Clark, 2020) learn how to produce their songs early in life by a process which holds striking similarities to the process of speech acquisition, the vocal-production learning (Doupe & Kuhl, 1999; Jarvis, 2004; Marler, 1970). Interestingly, these vocal learners independently evolved of a set of discrete but interconnected nuclei in the forebrain related to the acquisition, perception and production of their learned songs, the vocal control system (reviewed in Nottebohm, 2005). The vocal control system shows similar pattern of androgen receptor (AR) expression amongst bird vocal learners which suggests that androgens play an important role in vocal learning (Frankl-Vilches & Gahr, 2018; Gahr, 2000; Gahr & Metzdorf, 1997; Matsunaga & Okanoya, 2008).

Androgen receptors (AR) are binding site for testosterone and to dihydrotestosterone (DHT), a more biologically active metabolite. Testosterone (T) can be converted by the enzyme 5α -reductase to DHT or by aromatase to estradiol which in turns binds to estrogen receptors (ER) (reviewed in Davey, and Grossmann, 2016). In nearly all vertebrate classes, including fishes, amphibians, reptiles, birds and mammals, the distribution of AR and ER are highly conservated in certain brain areas such as the septal-preoptic, hypothalamus and midbrain (Pfaff, 1980). The binding of androgens and estrogens in these areas are related to the activation of a wide range of reproductive behaviors such as copulation, pre- and postcopulatory displays, aggression, territorial defense and singing (reviewed in Balthazart, 1989).

In avian vocal learners, the AR and ER in their vocal control system enable the action of androgen and estrogens on the brain development either through organization or activation (reviewed in Filová et al., 2013). An organization effect influences early development promoting irreversible changes, for example, the zebra finch (*Taeniopygia guttata*) undergoes a highly level of sex differentiation in their vocal control system resulting in atrophied nuclei in adult females which are unable to sing unless females are treated with estradiol when juvenile and DHT or T when adults (Gurney & Konishi, 1980). An activation effect influences behavior by transient action in the brain, for example, male canaries (*Serinus canaria*) enlarge their vocal control system and revise their songs every breeding season under higher circulating levels of T (F. Johnson & Bottjer, 1992). Canaries and probably most songbird species studied so far present a lower degree of sex difference in their vocal control systems compared to the zebra finch and singing females can be occasionally observed or induced by T treatment (Gahr, 2014; Gahr & Metzdorf, 1997). Interestingly, male zebra finches under continuous T treatment from hatching until 40 days old develops abnormal song (Korsia & Bottjer, 1991) which reinforce the idea that the role of T and its metabolites differ across learning stages.

The distribution of AR mRNA delineates the main vocal control areas (HVC, proper name; RA, robust nucleus of the archipallium and LMAN, lateral magnocellular nucleus of the anterior nidopallium) in both sexes of all songbird species investigate to date (e.g.: Gahr, and Metzdorf, 1997; Balthazart et al., 1992). In parrots, such delimitation was found in the analogous nuclei in both sexes of budgerigars (*Melopsittacus undulatus*) (NLC, central nucleus of the lateral nidopallium; AAC, anterior arcopallium and NAO, oval nucleus of the anterior nidopallium) (Matsunaga & Okanoya, 2008). In hummingbird, such delimitation was found strongly in the analogous of the songbird LMAN (VAN, vocal nucleus of the lateral nidopallium), weakly in the analogous of HVC (VLN, vocal nucleus of the lateral nidopallium) and not detected in the analogous of RA (VA, vocal nucleus of the arcopallium) in a male Anna's and Amazilia hummingbirds (Gahr, 2000). In Gahr's study (2000), the expression of AR mRNA was localized by in situ hybridization with cRNA probes of the zebra finch AR which also did not detect any AR expression in Budgerigars. Thus, the AR expression in the vocal control

system in hummingbirds remains unclear. Furthermore, in a previous study we found that the song of an early-branched hummingbird, the black jacobin (*Florisuga fusca*), during the breeding season seems insensitive to testosterone (Monte et al., 2023). Therefore, we investigated the AR distribution in the brain of both sexes of black jacobin and then compared to further eight species with different degrees of phylogenetic distance.

The most recent hummingbird phylogeny placed the black jacobin in the clade Topazes (tribe Topazini) (McGuire et al., 2009, 2014) which is a sister taxon of all other hummingbirds (McGuire et al., 2014) and can give insights into the ancestral condition in the family. The black jacobin occur in the Atlantic forest on the extent of the Brazilian coast until Uruguay and Argentina (Schuchmann & Bonnan, 2019; Sick, 1997). The black jacobin produce a highpitched song with a high fundamental frequency (Monte et al., 2020; Olson et al., 2018), as commonly found in hummingbirds (Duque et al., 2018), and harmonics above the human hearing range, the ultrasonic elements (Olson et al., 2018). This high-pitched song is composed of extremely fast frequency oscillations and is suggested to be learned (Monte et al., 2020; Olson et al., 2018). In a previous study, testosterone implantation in both sexes during the breeding season indicated that their song is most likely testosterone-insensitive (Monte et al., 2023). Therefore, we investigated the presence of androgen receptors in the putative neural substrate of singing in vocal learners, the vocal control system. We found that AR mRNA was not differentially expressed in the putative vocal control system of the black jacobin, and this pattern is rather widespread in the hummingbird family with exception of the VAN in males of two phylogenetic distant species. AR were highly expressed in some thalamic regions as is also found in other bird species which are non-vocal learners (Gahr & Wild, 1997).

Materials and Methods

Animals and tissue sampling

We sampled hummingbirds of five from nine of major clades (Topazes, one species; Hermits, one species; Mangoes, one species; Coquettes, one species and Emeralds, five species) described in the most comprehensive hummingbird phylogeny to date (McGuire et al., 2009, 2014). We conducted the capture of free-living hummingbirds in two locations: Amazon Rainforest in the Gunma Ecological Park, Santa Barbara, Para, Brazil (01° 13' 00.86" S, 048° 17' 41.16" W) and Atlantic Rainforest in the park of the Museum of Biology Prof. Mello Leitão in Santa Teresa, Espírito Santo, Brazil (19° 56' 08.30" S, 040° 35' 59.10" W). The sampling happened on June and July in the Amazon Rainforest and November and December in the Atlantic Rainforest during their respective dry seasons to optimize the capture of birds in breeding condition (A. Ruschi, 1964; Sick, 1997); females with brood patch were released.

We placed feeder bottles filled with sugary water (solution of water with 20 % sugar), then we captured the birds during visit to the feeder with a trap called "Ruschi net trap" developed and optimized to capture hummingbirds (P. A. Ruschi, 2009). The birds were killed by decapitation, the brain was dissected, flash frozen in dry ice and stored at -80 °C until use. The procedure from decapitation to freezing lasted less than five minutes.

We sampled five species in the Amazon Rainforest: one female and one male reddish hermit (*Phaethornis ruber*), two females and three males black-throated mango (*Anthracothorax nigricollis*), one female and one male grey-breasted sabrewing (*Campylopterus largipennis*), one female and one male fork-tailed woodnymph (*Thalurania furcata*), one female and two males blue-chinned sapphire (*Chlorestes notata*) and four species in the Atlantic Rainforest: three females and three male black jacobin (*Florisuga fusca*), two males frilled coquette (*Lophornis magnificus*), one female and two males sombre hummingbird (*Aphantochroa cirrochloris*) and one male versicoloured emerald (*Amazilia versicolor*). We sampled a minimum number of birds to minimize the impact on the natural populations which is in conformity with the exploratory scope of this study.

The procedures of this study were conducted in conformity with the instruction n° 03/2014 of the Chico Mendes Institute for Biodiversity Conservation (ICMBio) and with the permission of the Brazilian Institute of Environment and Renewable Natural (IBAMA) under the Biodiversity Information and Authorization System (SISBio) licenses numbers 30319-1, 41794-2 and 49097-1.

Histology

The brains of both sexes were sectioned with the same procedure. Before sectioning, the brain was thawed under -20 °C for 10 minutes; then, it was sectioned on a Leica Jung CM3000 cryostat (Leica, Germany) into 20 µm sections and mounted onto Fisher Superfrost Plus slides (Fisher Scientific, Germany). The brain was sectioned transversally (black jacobin) or sagittal (other species). The brain sections were mounted onto 15 series of slides, so that adjacent sections could be analyzed by different methods. One series of sections was Nissl-stained. The other series of sections were stored at -80 °C until use. For the staining procedure, the brain slides were air-dried for two hours, rehydrated, stained with 0.1% Thionin (Sigma-Aldrich, USA) for six seconds, dehydrated, immersed in xylene and cover-slipped with Roti histokitt II mounting medium (Carl Roth, Germany).

In the Nissl-stained brain sections from both sexes of black jacobin, we identified, by visualization of cytoarchitectonic features, three distinct structures analogous to the main vocal control system (VCS) nuclei previously described for males of rufous-breasted hermit (*Glaucis hirsuta*), sombre hummingbird (*Aphantochroa cirrhochloris*) (Jarvis et al., 2000), Anna's hummingbirds (*Calypte anna*) and Amazilia hummingbirds (*Amazilia amazilia*) (Gahr, 2000). These nuclei were the vocal nucleus of the lateral neostriatum (VLN or HVC-like when comparing to songbirds), the vocal nucleus of the archistriatum (VA or RA-like) and the vocal

nucleus of the anterior neostriatum (VAN or LMAN-like). The boundaries of VA and VAN are easily distinguishable on Nissl-stained sections due to their oval disposition, darkly staining, and higher cell density than the surrounding. The VA is located at the central portion of the arcopallium and limited on the upper part by the lamina pallio-subpallialis (LPS), whereas the VAN is located at the anterior portion of the nidopallium, limited on the upper part by the lamina frontalis superior (LFS) and the lower part for the dorsal part of the striatum lateralis (StL). The delimitation of the VLN is not as clear as the VA and VAN; it is limited on the upper part by the overlying ventricle (V), but the lower boundary is unclear on the Nissl-stained slides. Thus, we further confirmed the boundaries of the VLN using the synaptosomal-associated protein 25 kDa (SNAP-25) as a marker (Supplementary Material Fig. S1). SNAP-25 has shown to be differently expressed throughout the vocal control system of the zebra-finches including the HVC (Voigt et al., 2004).

Brain sections of a male canary exposed to a short-day photoperiod (9/15 h light/dark cycle), which is typical of the nonbreeding season, and a male zebra-finch were prepared with the same procedure of the black jacobin's and included in the analysis to control for methodological artifacts.

In situ hybridization and image analysis

Sections of the brain were used for in situ hybridization to localize the androgen receptor (AR) mRNA expression in cells.

The in situ hybridization was performed using the kit RNAscope 2.5 HD Assay-brown (Advanced Cell Diagnostics, USA) following the manufacturer's protocol (Wang et al., 2012). Chromogenic detection was carried out using chromogen diaminobenzidine (DAB) for 10 min at room temperature. Counterstaining was performed using 50% Hematoxylin. Given that the AR fragment of the black jacobin has a 97% homology with the AR of the zebra finch, one series of slides were hybridized using the probe RNAscopeTM Probe- Tgu-AR (Cat. No. 469741,

Advanced Cell Diagnostics, USA) and another series using a species-specific probe designed from isolated cDNA fragment of black jacobin AR. Although the species-specific probe for black jacobin had greater signaling than the zebra finch probe, the expression pattern obtained by the hybridization with both probes was consistent.

For the black jacobin, we quantified the AR mRNA expression in brain sections hybridized with the species-specific black jacobin probe. First, we imaged slides at 20x magnification using a Leica CTR 6000 microscope equipped with a DM6000 B camera (Leica Camera AG, Germany). Then, we quantified AR mRNA expression of two females and two males in four brain nuclei: (i) vocal nucleus of the lateral neostriatum, VLN (HVC-like); (ii) vocal nucleus of the archistriatum, VA (RA-like); (iii) vocal nucleus of the anterior neostriatum, VAN (LMAN-like) and (iv) nucleus pretectalis (Pt). VLN, VA and VAN were selected due to their analogy with vocal control system of songbirds and represent the main nuclei of the putative vocal control system of hummingbirds. To compare to the vocal control system, we visually inspected all slides, identified and quantified a non-vocal area that showed greater expression which was the Pt. As counting area, we used the entire area within the boundaries of the nuclei for VLN and Pt and an area of 74 x 74 µm placed in the center VA and VAN. Given that AR mRNA was labeled by chromogenic particles, a positive cell had at least one dot or a dot cluster of chromogenic grains. Using the "multi-point" tool of the ImageJ2 software (Rueden et al., 2017), we counted the number of positive cells and the total number of cells within a counting area. The level of AR mRNA expression was given by the ratio between the number of positive cells and the total number of cells. We quantified up to four serial sections for each nucleus per bird of two females (bird ids: FFU10 and FFU23) and two males black jacobin (bird ids: FFU12 and FFUA4 6) and averaged the result per nuclei and bird. Results were represented as ratio average (± standard deviation, bird id, number of quantified slices per bird).

For the other species, we realized a semiquantitative assessment of RNAscope staining by visual inspection of the AR mRNA hybridized slides in a bright field of a light microscope (DM6000 B, Leica, Germany). We categorize the AR mRNA expression in each brain nucleus based on the number of positive cells within its boundaries. A positive cell had at least one dot or a dot cluster of chromogenic grains visible at 20-40 x magnification. We classified the AR mRNA expression according to the following scoring guidelines: low expression (representing by +) when less than 25 % of the cells within the nucleus boundaries were positive; medium expression (++) when between 25 and 75 % of the cells were positive and high expression (+++) when above 75 % of the cells within the nuclei boundaries were positive.

The complete list of samples analyzed, and all images generated in the present study are available in the public repository in the following link: <u>https://osf.io/eaz6j/</u>

Results

Lack of androgen receptors in the putative vocal control system of male and females black jacobin

In both sexes of black jacobins, the main nuclei of the putative vocal control system, the vocal nucleus of the lateral neostriatum (VLN or HVC-like), vocal nucleus of the archistriatum (VA or RA-like) and vocal nucleus of the anterior neostriatum (VAN or LMAN-like) were not delineated by AR mRNA expression but the nucleus pretectalis (Pt) was (Fig. 1A). When we quantified AR mRNA expression in these nuclei as the ratio between AR positive cells and the total of cells, in both sexes, Pt showed the highest levels ranging from 0.59 (bird id: FFU10, n slices = 1) to 0.83 (FFU23, n = 1); VAN showed intermediate levels ranging from 0.35 (FFU10, n = 1) to 0.43 (\pm 0.08, FFU12, n = 4); VLN and VA low expression ranging from non-detected (FFUA4_6, n = 1) to 0.21 (\pm 0.06, FFU10, n = 3) (Fig. 1B). The HVC (proper name) of a male
zebra finch and a male canary, which slices were hybridized together with the black jacobins was delineated by AR mRNA expression (Fig. 1C).

Two areas of the black jacobin forebrain in both sexes strongly expressed AR mRNA: the septum (Fig. 2A) and the in the caudomedial neostriatum (NCM) along the lateral ventricle (Fig. 2B). The AR mRNA expression in further areas of the black jacobin's forebrain and midbrain for both zebra finch and black jacobin probes and the high expression observed in HVC of zebra finch and canary (Fig. 1C) indicates that non-detected levels of AR mRNA in the putative vocal control system is unlikely to be a methodological artifact.

In both sexes of black jacobin, the thalamus showed areas with low to non-detected AR mRNA expression, for example, the nucleus rotundus (Rt) and areas with high AR mRNA expression, for example, the Geniculate nucleus (GLv) (Fig. 3A). The midbrain had a few areas with high expression, for example, the nucleus intercollicularis (ICo) (Fig. 3B) and the nucleus preopticus medialis (POM) (Fig. 3C).

Lack of androgen receptors in the putative vocal control system of species from other clades, except for Emeralds

A pattern of AR mRNA expression similar to the black jacobins (clade Topazes) was found in the main nuclei of the putative vocal control system (VLN, VA and VAN) in both sexes of further eight hummingbird species (clades Hermits, Mangoes, Coquettes and Emeralds) with a few exceptions in the clade Emeralds (Fig. 4, Table 1). The nucleus VLN showed nondetectable AR expression in male reddish hermit (*Phaethornis ruber*), male and female blackthroated mango (*Anthracothorax nigricollis*), male and female fork-tailed woodnymph (*Thalurania furcata*) and females grey-breasted sabrewing (*Campylopterus largipennis*) and blue-chinned sapphire (*Chlorestes notata*). The male grey-breasted sabrewing had a few positive AR mRNA cells clearly in the boundaries of VLN but the male blue-chinned sapphire had a agglomeration of positive cells in the ventral boundary of VLN which is unclear whether they all belong to the nucleus (Fig. 4A). The nucleus VA also showed consistent non-detected levels of AR expression in both sexes of all species analysed in this study (Fig. 4B) except for females black-throated mango and blue-chinned sapphire in which VA was not found. The nucleus VAN showed differences among species: both sexes of reddish hermit, black-throated mango and grey-breasted sabrewing had non-detectable levels of AR expression, whereas female sombre hummingbird showed some positive AR mRNA expressing cells and males sombre hummingbird, versicoloured emerald and blue-chinned sapphire had the nuclei completely delimitated by AR expression such in songbirds (Fig. 4C).

Similar to black jacobin, a pattern of high AR mRNA expression was observed in both sexes of all species in which NCM was found (Fig. 5A). This consistency was not the case for the nucleus Pt which showed high expression as in black jacobins only in the female reddish hermit, whereas both sexes of black-throated mango, sombre hummingbird and blue-chinned sapphire showed only a few positive cells and male reddish hermit, male frilled coquette (*Lophornis magnificus*), both sexes grey-breasted sabrewing and male fork-tailed woodnymph showed non-detected level of AR mRNA expression (Fig. 5B). In the midbrain the nucleus intercollicularis (ICo) showed high expression consistently in both sexes of all species samples in this study (Fig. 5C). A summary of the AR mRNA expression on eight hummingbird species is provided in Table 1 and Figure 6.

Discussion

Androgen receptor (AR) mRNA expression is a robust marker used to outline the boundaries of the vocal control system in all avian vocal learners investigated to date independently of sex or breeding condition (Frankl-Vilches & Gahr, 2018; Gahr, 2014; Gahr & Metzdorf, 1997; Matsunaga & Okanoya, 2008). Surprisingly, this differential expression does not seem to be the case in hummingbirds because, consistently in both sexes of all investigated hummingbirds, AR mRNA did not delimitate the putative vocal control system but was expressed in midbrain areas

that are well-known to have AR in other birds and mammals. Furthermore, males of different species of the clade Emerald showed AR mRNA only in one nucleus of their putative vocal control system, the VAN. It is important to keep in mind that only a few birds per species were inspected and further investigations are necessary to confirm the results of this study, nevertheless, the findings presented in here suggests a paucity of AR in the putative vocal control system which is maybe widespread in hummingbirds.

In songbirds, a differential expression similar to AR mRNA is obtained in the vocal control system by other methods that target the AR molecule. For example, HVC, RA and LMAN of zebra finch and canary were labeled by immunocytochemistry performed with a rabbit antibody (AR32) which binds to the N-terminus of the androgen receptor (Balthazart et al., 1992). In agreement with this data are the labels obtained by autoradiography with tritiated dihydrotestosterone [³H] which binds to available AR as well as estrogen receptors (ER) after aromatization of testosterone and also the labels with a nonaromatizable androgen dihydrotestosterone [³H]DHT (reviewed in Ball, 1994). Although it is unlikely that methods that target the AR molecule would differ from the labeling obtained by AR mRNA, it is still possible that in hummingbirds the amount of AR mRNA underrepresents the available AR in the cells. Immunocytochemistry is necessary to elucidate this possibility.

The putative vocal control system of hummingbirds was previously labeled by other markers such as the glutamate receptor subunits NR2A and mGluR2 in sombre hummingbird (Wada et al., 2004) and the immediate early gene EGR1 in sombre hummingbird and rufousbreasted hermit (*Glaucis hirsutus*) (Jarvis et al., 2000). Except for the analogous of songbird Area X, we could clearly identify the VLN, VA and VAN by the cytoarchitectural analysis of histologically stained sessions in most of the species investigated in this study similar to those described in previous studies. The VLN of a male black jacobin was labeled by SNAP-25 (Fig. S1) which indicates that the areas we identified are most likely the putative vocal control system of the hummingbirds. Nevertheless, confirmation of the putative vocal control system in both sexes using further markers remains to be seen.

The paucity of AR mRNA in hummingbirds excludes the possibility of an activation effect of testosterone and its metabolites in singing of adults via vocal control system. All hummingbirds investigated in this study show AR mRNA in the medial intercollicular nucleus (ICo), a midbrain area known to play an important role in the activation of vocal behavior in vocal learners but also in non-vocal learners such as chicken (Lanerolle & Andrew, 1974) and doves (Cohen & Cheng, 1982). However, an activation effect via midbrain is also unlikely because, in black jacobins of both sexes, high plasma levels of testosterone after implantation did not affect singing whatsoever (Monte et al., 2023). An effect of estrogens is also unlikely because, in treated black jacobins, testosterone could have been aromatized in the brain and rather bonded to estrogens receptors (ER) and affected their song which did not happen (Monte et al., 2023). It is possible to speculate that if hummingbirds have a mechanism to activate singing, it is independent of androgens and estrogens. To further support this possibility, it is necessary first to map the presence of ER and the enzyme aromatize (ARO) in their brains.

Interestingly, the AR gene was found in black jacobin with high similarity to that of zebra finch (Frankl-Vilches, unpublished data) so that black jacobin-specific cRNA probes label zebra finch's HVC (Fig. 1C). Hummingbirds have an AR gene which seems functional, but adults probably have a mechanism to avoid AR gene expression or transcriptional alterations that produce inactive AR splice variants. Nevertheless, the lack of AR in adult hummingbirds does not exclude the possibility that AR is transiently expressed in juveniles. If so, then androgens may have organization effects during song ontogeny such as the sex differentiation of their vocal control system.

Songbirds and parrots do not show qualitative differences of AR distribution in their vocal control system regardless of sex or singing phenotypes (Gahr, 2007; Matsunaga &

Okanoya, 2008). Such lack of sex differences was found in black jacobins and all other close related clades (Hermits and Mangoes), however, the most distant clade Emeralds showed AR in the VAN of males only. Black jacobins and the Emeralds species differ in sex-specificity of their songs; whereas in black jacobins both sexes sing a spectrally similar song at similar rates (Monte et al., 2023), in Emeralds, except for the blue-chinned sapphire in which females sing (Carvalho, 1958), most of other species it is unknown whether females sing (Fig. 6). This sex difference in AR of Emeralds is probably regardless of singing phenotypes. The presence of AR in Emeralds indicates that in this clade perhaps the song of males is sensitive to androgens. In relation, this song-sensitivity may be also the case in species of the clade Bees because AR was found in the vocal control system of Anna's hummingbird (Gahr, 2000).

We know from songbirds that the LMAN, nuclei analog to the VAN of hummingbirds, plays an important role in the development of song in juveniles most likely by forming a sort of auditory-motor transcription of the song (Bottjer et al., 1984). In adults, lesion of LMAN in intact birds do not affect their learned song but prevent the impairment of song in deafened birds (Brainard & Doupe, 2000). In Emeralds, VAN but not the other nuclei of the vocal control system have AR probably because testosterone and its metabolits may play a role in the seasonal update of their song. This idea is further supported by the evidence that hummingbirds are able to revise their learned song when adults, thus, they seem to be open-learners (Araya-Salas & Wright, 2013). However, this evidence was found in long-billed hermits (*Phaethornis longirostris*) and the reddish hermit that we investigated in the present study do not show AR in their vocal control system. A mapping of AR distribution in the brain of long-billed hermits can shed light to this question. In addition, for mGluR2, the posterior part of the hummingbird VAN nucleus (VAN-P) had lower expression, whereas the anterior part (VAN-A) had higher expression relative to the surrounding nidopallium, and this dual pattern was unique to hummingbirds (Wada et al., 2004). A similar pattern was found in the VAN of male sombre hummingbird and blue-chinned sapphire, but the implication of this apparent segmentation remains to be seen.

The expression of AR in caudomedial neostriatum (NCM) was found in songbirds but not in parrots (Matsunaga & Okanoya, 2008; Metzdorf et al., 1999). In zebra finch, breeding are associated with an increase in estrogen and the amplitude of the female's neural auditory responses in NCM (Adreani et al., 2020), this question has not yet been tackled in parrots. In both sexes of all hummingbird species investigated in this study was found high levels of AR mRNA in NCM which suggests auditory plasticity as well but, in both sexes, and rather modulated by androgens.

When identified, visual areas such as the retinoreceptors nucleus geniculatus lateralis pars ventralis (GLv) and the nucleus lentiformis mesencephali (LM) show AR mRNA in most of the species studies here. GLv are LM are related to optokinetic reflex and visuomotor responses and LM is hypertrophied in hummingbirds to meet the increased optic flow processing demanded by the hovering flight (Vega-Zuniga et al., 2018; Wylie et al., 2015). In long-billed hermits (*Phaethornis longirostris*), geographical variation in their visual displays that cannot be explained by genetic differences support the idea that not only their song but visual displays are learned (Araya-Salas et al., 2019). The neural substrate for visual learning remains unknown, but the presence of AR in visual areas, particularly in Hermit species, can give hints of areas potentially related to organization and activation effects mediated by androgens in visual learning.

Conclusion

Androgen receptors (AR) delimitated the vocal control system of all songbirds and parrots investigated to date (reviewed in Frankl-Vilches, and Gahr, 2018; Gahr, 2014) but not the putative vocal control system of hummingbirds. Except for one nucleus, this paucity was consistent in nearly all species investigated in here with different degrees of phylogenetic

distance. If confirmed, these results suggest that AR is not an intrinsic feature of the vocal control system, and that the convergent evolution of a vocal control system did not necessarily imply convergence of androgen sensitivity. Hovering flight and nectarivory evolved in the hummingbird radiation shortly after the split between hummingbirds and swifts which seem related to an early the loss of a gluconeogenic muscle enzyme (McGuire et al., 2014; Osipova et al., 2023; Prum et al., 2015). It may be the case that the challenges that androgens, particularly testosterone (Wingfield et al., 1990), pose to the metabolism constrained the evolution of their androgen sensitivity. The past two-decade of comparative studies among avian vocal learners showed mainly convergences in their vocal control system despite the independent evolution of vocal production learning. Nevertheless, as more hummingbirds are investigated from a phylogenetic perspective, the more differences are found in their putative vocal control system that can unveil a distinct, yet interesting, pathway that the evolution of vocal production learning might have taken.

Acknowledgement

We thank the team of the Laboratory of Ornithology and Bioacoustics of the Federal University of Pará, in special, Viviany Amaral Costa, Danielson Aleixo and Felipe Matheus dos Reis Castro, for the support in the field in Santa Barbara do Pará, Brazil; the staff of the National Institute of the Atlantic Forest (former Professor Mello Leitão Biology Museum) for their support in the field in Santa Teresa, Brazil, the former director Hélio de Queiroz Boudet Fernandes and the actual director Sergio Lucena Mendes for the administrative support. We thank Nina Sohnius-Wilhelmi and Cristina Reusch for their support on the first attempts to perform in situs hybridization in hummingbirds; Cornelia Voigt for performing the SNAP-25 in situs hybridization; Rodrigo da Silva Matos, Felipe Matheus dos Reis Castro and Jayrson for the permission to use their hummingbird photos.

Statement of Ethics

All procedures of this study were conducted following the national regulations in Brazil. The samples for this study were collected with the permission of the Brazilian Institute of Environment and Renewable Natural (IBAMA) that regulates the collection of biological material for scientific and didactic purposes in the context of higher education under the Biodiversity Information and Authorization System (SISBio) licenses numbers 30319-1, 41794-2 and 49097-1. All sampling procedures were performed in conformity with the normative instruction n° 03/2014 of the Chico Mendes Institute for Biodiversity Conservation (ICMBio) and the Brazilian Institute of Environment and Renewable Natural (IBAMA). The bird handling and housing procedures were conducted in accordance with the Law n° 11.794 / 2008, Decree 6899 of July 15, 2009 as well as with the rules issued by the National Council for Control of Animal Experimentation (CONCEA), and was approved by the Ethics Committee on Animal Use of the Federal University of Para (CEUA/UFPA) under the protocol number CEUA 5937130718 (ID 000953). The genetic data of the black jacobin presented in this study

were accessed in compliance with the Law nº 13.123/2015 of the Ministry of the Environment and Genetic Heritage Management Council, the activities were registered in the National System for the Management of Genetic Heritage and Associated Traditional Knowledge (SisGen) under the registration number AF0CC37.

Conflict of Interest Statement

The authors have no conflicts of interest to declare.

Funding Sources

This project was supported by the International Max Planck Research School (IMPRS) of Organismal Biology and the Max Planck Institute for Ornithology (current Max Planck Institute for Biological Intelligence). The funders had no impact on the study design, conduction, or interpretation of data.

Author Contributions

AM, MG and CF conceived the idea of the paper; AM collected the samples and analyzed the data; AB and CF performed the laboratory analysis of the samples; MLS and MG supervised the research; AM, MLS, and MG wrote and/or substantially edited the manuscript; and MG secured funding for this work.

Data Availability Statement

The complete list of samples analyzed, and all images generated in the present study are available in the public repository in the following link: <u>https://osf.io/eaz6j/</u>

References

- Adreani, N. M., D'Amelio, P. B., Gahr, M., & ter Maat, A. (2020). Life-Stage Dependent Plasticity in the Auditory System of a Songbird Is Signal and Emitter-Specific. *Frontiers in Neuroscience*, 14. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnins.2020.588672
- Araya-Salas, M., Smith-Vidaurre, G., Mennill, D. J., González-Gómez, P. L., Cahill, J., & Wright, T. F. (2019). Social group signatures in hummingbird displays provide evidence of co-occurrence of vocal and visual learning. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 286(1903), 20190666. https://doi.org/10.1098/rspb.2019.0666
- Araya-Salas, M., & Wright, T. (2013). Open-ended song learning in a hummingbird. *Biology Letters*, 9(5), 20130625. https://doi.org/10.1098/rsbl.2013.0625
- Ball, G. F. (1994). Neurochemical Specializations Associated with Vocal Learning and Production in Songbirds and Budgerigars. *Brain, Behavior and Evolution*, 44(4–5), 234–246. https://doi.org/10.1159/000113579
- Balthazart, J. (1989). Steroid Metabolism and the Activation of Social Behavior. In J. Balthazart (Ed.), *Molecular and Cellular Basis of Social Behavior in Vertebrates* (pp. 105–159).
 Springer. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-642-73827-2_3
- Balthazart, J., Foidart, A., Wilson, E. M., & Ball, G. F. (1992). Immunocytochemical localization of androgen receptors in the male songbird and quail brain. *The Journal of Comparative Neurology*, 317(4), 407–420. https://doi.org/10.1002/cne.903170407
- Baptista, L. F., & Schuchmann, K.-L. (1990). Song Learning in the Anna Hummingbird (Calypte anna). *Ethology*, 84(1), 15–26. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1439-0310.1990.tb00781.x
- Bottjer, S. W., Miesner, E. A., & Arnold, A. P. (1984). Forebrain lesions disrupt development but not maintenance of song in passerine birds. *Science*, 224(4651), 901–903. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.6719123

- Brainard, M. S., & Doupe, A. J. (2000). Interruption of a basal ganglia–forebrain circuit prevents plasticity of learned vocalizations. *Nature*, 404(6779), 762–766. https://doi.org/10.1038/35008083
- Carvalho, C. T. de. (1958). Notas biológicas sôbre Chlorestes notatus (Reich.) (Aves, Trochilidae). *Boletim do Museu Paraense Emilio Goeldi*, *18*(Museu Paraense Emilio Goeldi), 1–17.
- Castro, F. M. dos R. (2017). Estudo do repertório vocal de contexto comportamental do beijaflor-de-veste-preta Anthracothorax nigricollis (aves: Trochilidae) [Bachelor thesis, Federal University of Para]. https://biologia.ufpa.br/arquivos/tccspublicados/2017/Licenciatura/Felipe%20Matheus %20dos%20Reis%20Castro.pdf
- Cohen, J., & Cheng, M.-F. (1982). Effects of Testosterone Metabolites and Estrogen in the Midbrain Control of Courtship Behavior in the Male Ring Dove (Streptopelia risoria). *Neuroendocrinology*, 34(1), 64–74. https://doi.org/10.1159/000123279
- Davey, R. A., & Grossmann, M. (2016). Androgen Receptor Structure, Function and Biology: From Bench to Bedside. *The Clinical Biochemist Reviews*, *37*(1), 3–15.
- Doupe, A. J., & Kuhl, P. K. (1999). Birdsong and human speech: Common themes and mechanisms. Annual Review of Neuroscience, 22, 567–631. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.neuro.22.1.567
- Duque, F. G., Rodríguez-Saltos, C. A., & Wilczynski, W. (2018). High-frequency vocalizations in Andean hummingbirds. *Current Biology: CB*, 28(17), R927–R928. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2018.07.058
- Ferreira, A. R. J., Smulders, T. V., Sameshima, K., Mello, C. V., & Jarvis, E. D. (2006). Vocalizations and associated behaviors of the Sombre Hummingbird (Aphantochroa cirrhochloris) and the Rufous-Breasted Hermit (Glaucis hirsutus). *The Auk*, 123(4), 1129–1148.

- Filová, B., Ostatníková, D., Celec, P., & Hodosy, J. (2013). The Effect of Testosterone on the Formation of Brain Structures. *Cells Tissues Organs*, 197(3), 169–177. https://doi.org/10.1159/000345567
- Frankl-Vilches, C., & Gahr, M. (2018). Androgen and estrogen sensitivity of bird song: A comparative view on gene regulatory levels. *Journal of Comparative Physiology A*, 204(1), 113–126. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00359-017-1236-y
- Gahr, M. (2000). Neural song control system of hummingbirds: Comparison to swifts, vocal learning (Songbirds) and nonlearning (Suboscines) passerines, and vocal learning (Budgerigars) and nonlearning (Dove, owl, gull, quail, chicken) nonpasserines. *The Journal of Comparative Neurology*, 426(2), 182–196.
- Gahr, M. (2007). Sexual Differentiation of the Vocal Control System of Birds. Advances in Genetics, 59, 68–105.
- Gahr, M. (2014). How Hormone-Sensitive Are Bird Songs And What Are The Underlying Mechanisms? Acta Acustica United with Acustica, 100(4), 705–718. https://doi.org/10.3813/AAA.918749
- Gahr, M., & Metzdorf, R. (1997). Distribution and Dynamics in the Expression of Androgen and Estrogen Receptors in Vocal Control Systems of Songbirds. *Brain Research Bulletin*, 44(4), 509–517. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0361-9230(97)00233-5
- Gahr, M., & Wild, J. M. (1997). Localization of androgen receptor mRNA-containing cells in avian respiratory-vocal nuclei: An in situ hybridization study. *Journal of Neurobiology*, 33(7), 865–876.
- Gurney, M. E., & Konishi, M. (1980). Hormone-induced sexual differentiation of brain and behavior in zebra finches. *Science (New York, N.Y.)*, 208(4450), 1380–1383. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.208.4450.1380

- Jarvis, E. D. (2004). Learned Birdsong and the Neurobiology of Human Language. Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences, 1016, 749–777. https://doi.org/10.1196/annals.1298.038
- Jarvis, E. D., & Mello, C. V. (2000). Molecular mapping of brain areas involved in parrot vocal communication. *The Journal of Comparative Neurology*, *419*(1), 1–31.
- Jarvis, E. D., Ribeiro, S., da Silva, M. L., Ventura, D., Vielliard, J., & Mello, C. V. (2000). Behaviourally driven gene expression reveals song nuclei in hummingbird brain. *Nature*, 406(6796), 628–632. https://doi.org/10.1038/35020570
- Johnson, F., & Bottjer, S. W. (1992). Growth and regression of thalamic efferents in the songcontrol system of male zebra finches. *Journal of Comparative Neurology*, 326(3), 442– 450. https://doi.org/10.1002/cne.903260309
- Johnson, K. E., & Clark, C. J. (2020). Ontogeny of vocal learning in a hummingbird. *Animal Behaviour*, *167*, 139–150. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.anbehav.2020.07.010
- Korsia, S., & Bottjer, S. W. (1991). Chronic testosterone treatment impairs vocal learning in male zebra finches during a restricted period of development. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, 11(8), 2362–2371.
- Lanerolle, N. de, & Andrew, R. J. (1974). Midbrain Structures Controlling Vocalization in the Domestic Chick. *Brain, Behavior and Evolution*, 10(4–5), 354–376. https://doi.org/10.1159/000124324
- Marler, P. (1970). Birdsong and Speech Development: Could There Be Parallels? There may be basic rules governing vocal learning to which many species conform, including man. *American Scientist*, 58(6), 669–673.
- Matsunaga, E., & Okanoya, K. (2008). Vocal area-related expression of the androgen receptor in the budgerigar (Melopsittacus undulatus) brain. *Brain Research*, 1208, 87–94. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brainres.2008.02.076

- McGuire, J. A., Witt, C. C., Jr, J. V. R., Dudley, R., & Altshuler, D. L. (2009). A higher-level taxonomy for hummingbirds. *Journal of Ornithology*, *150*(1), 155–165. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10336-008-0330-x
- McGuire, J. A., Witt, C. C., Remsen Jr., J. V., Corl, A., Rabosky, D. L., Altshuler, D. L., & Dudley, R. (2014). Molecular Phylogenetics and the Diversification of Hummingbirds. *Current Biology*, 24(8), 1–7. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2014.03.016
- Metzdorf, R., Gahr, M., & Fusani, L. (1999). Distribution of aromatase, estrogen receptor, and androgen receptor mRNA in the forebrain of songbirds and nonsongbirds. *Journal of Comparative Neurology*, 407(1), 115–129. https://doi.org/10.1002/(SICI)1096-9861(19990428)407:1<115::AID-CNE9>3.0.CO;2-W
- Monte, A., Cerwenka, A. F., Ruthensteiner, B., Gahr, M., & Düring, D. N. (2020). The hummingbird syrinx morphome: A detailed three-dimensional description of the black jacobin's vocal organ. *BMC Zoology*, 5(1), 7. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40850-020-00057-3
- Monte, A., Leitão, A., Frankl-Vilches, C., Matos, R. da S., Trappschuh, M., da Silva, M. L., & Gahr, M. (2023). Testosterone treatment unveils testosterone-insensitive song in an early-branched hummingbird. *Ethology Ecology & Evolution*, 1–29. https://doi.org/10.1080/03949370.2023.2181873
- Nicholson, E. M. (1931). Communal Display in Humming-birds. *Ibis*, 73(1), 74–83. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1474-919X.1931.tb01506.x
- Nottebohm, F. (2005). The Neural Basis of Birdsong. *PLoS Biology*, 3(5). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pbio.0030164
- Nottebohm, F., Stokes, T. M., & Leonard, C. M. (1976). Central control of song in the canary, Serinus canarius. *The Journal of Comparative Neurology*, *165*(4), 457–486. https://doi.org/10.1002/cne.901650405

- Olson, C. R., Fernández-Vargas, M., Portfors, C. V., & Mello, C. V. (2018). Black Jacobin hummingbirds vocalize above the known hearing range of birds. *Current Biology*, 28(5), R204–R205. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2018.01.041
- Osipova, E., Barsacchi, R., Brown, T., Sadanandan, K., Gaede, A. H., Monte, A., Jarrells, J., Moebius, C., Pippel, M., Altshuler, D. L., Winkler, S., Bickle, M., Baldwin, M. W., & Hiller, M. (2023). Loss of a gluconeogenic muscle enzyme contributed to adaptive metabolic traits in hummingbirds. *Science*, 379(6628), 185–190. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.abn7050
- Pfaff, D. W. (1980). Steroid Sex Hormone Binding by Cells in the Vertebrate Brain. In D. W.
 Pfaff (Ed.), *Estrogens and Brain Function: Neural Analysis of a Hormone-Controlled Mammalian Reproductive Behavior* (pp. 77–105). Springer.
 https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4613-8084-9_6
- Prum, R. O., Berv, J. S., Dornburg, A., Field, D. J., Townsend, J. P., Lemmon, E. M., & Lemmon, A. R. (2015). A comprehensive phylogeny of birds (Aves) using targeted next-generation DNA sequencing. *Nature*, 526, 569.
- Rueden, C. T., Schindelin, J., Hiner, M. C., DeZonia, B. E., Walter, A. E., Arena, E. T., & Eliceiri, K. W. (2017). ImageJ2: ImageJ for the next generation of scientific image data. *BMC Bioinformatics*, 18(1), 529. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12859-017-1934-z
- Ruschi, A. (1964). A estação ou o período de reprodução nos beija-flores. *Boletim Do Museu de Biologia "Mello Leitão"*, 42.
- Ruschi, A. (1973). Algumas observações sobre Calliphlox amethystina amethystina (Boddaert, 1783). *Boletim Do Museu de Biologia Prof. Mello Leitão*, 71. http://boletim.sambio.org.br/pdf/zo_071.pdf
- Ruschi, P. A. (2009). A new hummingbird trap. *Boletim Do Museu de Biologia Mello Leitao*, 25, 67–75.

Schuchmann, K. L., & Bonnan, A. (2019). Family Trochilidae (Hummingbirds). Handbook of the Birds of the World Alive. https://www.hbw.com/node/52268

Sick, H. (1997). Ornitologia Brasileira. Editora Nova Fronteira.

- Snow, B. K. (1973). The Behavior and Ecology of Hermit Hummingbirds in the Kanaku Mountains, Guyana. *The Wilson Bulletin*, 85(2), 163–177. https://doi.org/10.2307/4160317
- Vega-Zuniga, T., Trost, D., Schicker, K., Bogner, E. M., & Luksch, H. (2018). The Medial Ventrothalamic Circuitry: Cells Implicated in a Bimodal Network. *Frontiers in Neural Circuits*, 12. https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fncir.2018.00009
- Vielliard, J. (1983). Catálogo sonográfico dos cantos e piados dos beija-flores do Brasil. Boletim Do Museu de Biologia "Mello Leitão", I(58), 1–20.
- Voigt, C., Metzdorf, R., & Gahr, M. (2004). Differential expression pattern and steroid hormone sensitivity of SNAP-25 and synaptoporin mRNA in the telencephalic song control nucleus HVC of the zebra finch. *Journal of Comparative Neurology*, 475(1), 83–94. https://doi.org/10.1002/cne.20151
- Wada, K., Sakaguchi, H., Jarvis, E., & Hagiwara, M. (2004). Differential Expression of Glutamate Receptors in Avian Neural Pathways for Learned Vocalization. *The Journal* of Comparative Neurology, 476(1), 44–64. https://doi.org/10.1002/cne.20201
- Wang, F., Flanagan, J., Su, N., Wang, L.-C., Bui, S., Nielson, A., Wu, X., Vo, H.-T., Ma, X.-J., & Luo, Y. (2012). RNAscope: A Novel in Situ RNA Analysis Platform for Formalin-Fixed, Paraffin-Embedded Tissues. *The Journal of Molecular Diagnostics*, *14*(1), 22–29. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jmoldx.2011.08.002
- Wingfield, J. C., Hegner, R. E., Dufty, A. M., & Ball, G. F. (1990). The "Challenge Hypothesis": Theoretical Implications for Patterns of Testosterone Secretion, Mating Systems, and Breeding Strategies. *The American Naturalist*, 136(6), 829–846.

Wylie, D., Gutiérrez-Ibáñez, C., & Iwaniuk, A. (2015). Integrating brain, behavior, and phylogeny to understand the evolution of sensory systems in birds. *Frontiers in Neuroscience*, 9. https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fnins.2015.00281

Figure Legends

Fig. 1. Black jacobin of both sexes did not have the main nucleus of their vocal control system delimited by androgen receptor (AR) mRNA expression. A) Transversal brain sections showing the VLN, VA, VAN and Pt in wild male and female black jacobin labeled by species-specific AR cRNA (right panel). Schematic drawing indicating nuclei location (left panel). Black arrows indicate the delimitation of the nuclei and red arrows examples of mRNA-expressing cells. B) Low AR mRNA expression in the main nuclei of their putative vocal control system (VLN, VA and VAN) in comparison to a nucleus nonrelated to vocal production (Pt). Ratio between the number of AR mRNA positive cells and the total of cells within the nucleus (VLN and Pt) or a counting frame placed in the middle of the nucleus (70 x 70 mm, VA and VAN). Each data point represents the measurements obtained of one bird. C) The HVC of a male zebra finch and a male canary was delimited by AR mRNA expression although labeled with black jacobin specific probe. A, arcopallium; H, hyperpallium; HVC, formal name, located in nidopallium; LFS, lamina frontalis superior; LPS, lamina pallio-subpallialis; M mesopallium; MD, mesopallium dorsal; MSt, medial striatum; MV, mesopallium ventral; Pt, nucleus pretectalis; StL, striatum laterale; V, ventricle; VA, vocal nucleus of the archistriatum; VAN, vocal nucleus of the anterior neostriatum; VLN, vocal nucleus of the lateral neostriatum.

Fig. 2. Black jacobin of both sexes had similarly high androgen receptor (AR) mRNA expression in further areas of the forebrain other than the vocal control system: A) in the septum and B) in the area corresponding to the caudal neostriatum (NCM). Transversal brain sections showing the septum and the NCM in wild male and female black jacobin labeled by species-specific AR cRNA (right panel). Schematic drawing indicating the location of the section (left panel). Red arrows indicate examples of mRNA-expressing cells. A, arcopallium; H, hyperpallium; N, nidopallium; NCM, caudomedial neostriatum; St, striatum.

Fig. 3. Black jacobin of both sexes had similar androgen receptor (AR) mRNA expression in thalamic and midbrain areas. A) In the nucleus rotundus (Rt), a low expression and in the nucleus geniculate (GLv), a medium expression was observed. B) In the nucleus intercollicularis (ICo), a high expression was observed. C) In the medial preoptic nucleus (POM), a high expression was observed. Transversal sections of the wild male and female showing the AR mRNA expression (right panel). Schematic drawing indicating nuclei location (left panel). Red arrows indicate examples of mRNA-expressing cells.

Fig. 4. Hummingbirds of the clades Hermits, Mangoes, Coquettes did not have the main nucleus of their vocal control system delimited by androgen receptor (AR) mRNA expression similarly in both sexes, whereas males of the clade Emeralds had one nucleus (VAN) delimited by AR mRNA expression. Sagittal brain sections showing the A) VLN, B) VA and C) VAN labeled by species-specific AR cRNA (right panel). Schematic drawing indicating nuclei location (left panel). Black arrows indicate the delimitation of the nuclei and red arrows examples of mRNA-expressing cells. Red arrows indicate examples of mRNA-expressing cells. The clades are represented by the color of the squares: Hermits, red; Coquettes, purple; Mangoes, blue and Emeralds, green. A, arcopallium; DLM, nucleus dorsolateralis anterior thalami, pars medialis; E, entopallium; GP, globus pallidus; H, hyperpallium; HA, hyperpallium apicale; HD, hyperpallium densocellular; ICo, nucleus intercollicularis; M, mesopallium; N, nidopallium; St, striatum; TrO, tractus opticus; VA, vocal nucleus of the archistriatum; VAN, vocal nucleus of the lateral neostriatum.

Fig. 5. Hummingbirds of the clades Hermits, Mangoes, Coquettes and Emeralds show high expression of androgen receptor (AR) mRNA expression in the area corresponding to the caudal neostriatum (NCM) consistently among species and in both sexes; low to medium AR expression in the nucleus pretectalis (Pt) and high AR expression in the nucleus intercollicularis (ICo) also consistently among species and in both sexes. Sagittal brain sections showing the A) NCM, B) Pt and C) ICo labeled by species-specific AR cRNA (right panel). Schematic drawing indicating nuclei location (left panel). Red arrows indicate examples of mRNA-expressing cells. The clades are represented by the color of the squares: Hermits, red; Coquettes, purple; Mangoes, blue and Emeralds, green. DM, nucleus dorsomedialis of the midbrain; GP, globus pallidus; HA, hyperpallium apicale; HD, hyperpallium densocellular; ICo, nucleus intercollicularis; M, mesopallium; MLd, nucleus mesencephalicus lateralis, pars dorsalis; N, nidopallium; NCM, caudomedial neostriatum; Pt, nucleus pretectalis; St, striatum; TrO, tractus opticus.

Fig. 6. Summary of the androgen receptor (AR) mRNA expression in the brain of hummingbirds of the clades Topazes, Hermits, Mangoes, Coquettes and Emeralds investigated in this study. Close related clades show similar paucity in the delimitation of the main nuclei of the putative vocal control system nuclei, except for males of the clade Emeralds. All clades show consistently high AR expression in the NCM in both sexes. The prevalence of AR mRNA expression in the clades seems independent of singing. Schematic representation of the hummingbird phylogeny (McGuire et al., 2014) (right panel). Prevalence of AR mRNA expression in females and males for the species investigated in this study per clade (middle panel). A green tick mark represents presence in most of the species, a red x represents absence in all species and a question mark, unknown data. References for the song prevalence: black jacobin (Monte et al., 2023), reddish hermit (Nicholson, 1931; Snow, 1973; Vielliard, 1983),

black-throated mango (Castro, 2017), frilled coquette (A. Ruschi, 1973) and sombre hummingbird (Ferreira et al., 2006). Hummingbird pictures were reproduced with permission of the rights owners: black jacobin and sombre hummingbird (Amanda Monte); reddish hermit (Jayrson Araújo); black-throated mango (Felipe Castro) and frilled coquette (Rodrigo Matos).

Figures

Figure 1







Figure 3







Figure 5



	VLN	VA	VAN	NCM	Song	
	(HVC-like)	(RA-like)	(LMAN-like)			
	ď₽	ď₽	o¶ ♀	o¶ ♀	♂ ° ♀	
Topazes	ХХ	ХХ	ХХ	\checkmark	$\checkmark\checkmark$	Astanda Mone
Hermits	X ?	ХХ	ХХ	√?	$\checkmark\checkmark$	6 Jayrson Atauljo
Mangoes	XX	<mark>X</mark> ?	ХХ	\checkmark	$\checkmark\checkmark$	
Coquette	X ?	X ?	X ?	√?	✓ X	6 Rodrigo Matos
Moi C	amtain Sems					
sralds	? X	ХХ	✓X	$\checkmark\checkmark$	✓?	D Arstnas Monte

Supplementary Material



Fig. S1. Black jacobin had the boundaries of the vocal nucleus of the lateral neostriatum (VLN or HVC-like) delimitated by synaptosomal-associated protein 25 kDa (SNAP-25) mRNA. On the left, the darkfield photomicrographs of the in-situ hybridizations for SNAP-25 mRNA and on the right, the brightfield photomicrographs of the adjacent Nissl-stained section. Transversal sections. Red arrows indicate the ventral delimitation of the nuclei. Images produced by Cornelia Voigt.

Tables

Table 1 – Androgen receptor (AR) mRNA expression in the brain of females (F) and males (M) in seven hummingbird species. The AR expression of male canary (songbird) and ring dove (a nonsongbird) according to Metzdorf et al. (1999) is also shown. A semiquantitative assessment of the AR expression within the boundaries of each area is represented by + for low expression (less than 25% positive cells); ++ for medium expression (between 25 and 75 % positive cells) and +++ for high expression (above 75 % positive cells). Paucity is indicated by – (absence or only background expression), unclear result by a question mark and inexistent brain area by a blank field. The highest expression found among the accessed brain sections is depicted. For black jacobin, the brain of three birds per sex was inspected; for reddish hermit, grey-breasted

sabrewing and fork-tailed woodnymph: one bird per sex; black-throated mango: two females and three males; frilled coquette: three males; sombre hummingbird: one female and two males, versicoloured emerald: one male and blue-chinned sapphire: one female and three males.

	bla jaco	ack obin	red her	dish rmit	bla thro ma	ck- ated ngo	frilled coquette	gre brea sabre	ey- sted wing	fork wood	-tailed nymph	son humm	nbre ingbird	versicoloured emerald	l blu chir sapr	ue- nned ohire	canary	ring dove
	М	F	Μ	F	М	F	М	М	F	Μ	F	М	F	Μ	M	F	М	М
Forebrain																		
VLN (HVC-like)	-	-	-	?	-	-	?	+	-	-	-	?	?	-	+	?	++	
VA (RA-like)	-	+	-	-	-	?	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	?	+	
VAN (LMAN- like)	+	+	-	-	-	-	?	-	-	?	?	+	++	+++	+++	-	++	
NCM	+++	+++	++	?	++	++	++	++	++	++	++	?	?	+++	+++	++	+	
Tn	?	++	?	?	?	?	++	?	?	?	?	?	?	?	?	?		
Нр	?	?	?	?	+	?	?	?	?	?	?	?	?	?	?	?	+	+
S	+++	+++	?	?	++	?	+	?	?	?	?	?	?	?	?	++		
Thalamus																		
Rt	-	-	++	++	+	++	++	?	?	?	?	?	?	?	++	?	?	?
GLv	+++	+++	?	+++	++	+++	?	+++	?	?	?	?	?	++	++	?	?	?
DLM	?	?	+++	- ?	?	?	?	?		?	?	?	?	?	?	?		
Midbrain																		
Pt	+++	+++	-	+++	++	++	-	-	-	-	-	+	+	?	+	+	?	?
SpL	-	-			?			?						?		?	?	?
SpM	+	++	?	?	+	?	?	?	?	?	?	?	?	++	+	?	?	?
LM	?	++	?	?	?	++	++	?	?	++	?	?	?	?	++	?	?	?
ICo	+++	+++	+++	+++	+++	+++	+++	+++	+++	+++	+++	+++	+++	+++	+++	+++	++	++
MLd	?	?	++	+	+		++	+	++	+	+	?	+	?	+	?	?	?
DM	?	+++	?	?		?		++	?	+	++	?		?		?	?	?
POM	+++	+++	?	?	+++	?	+++	?	?	?	?	+++	?	?	+++	?	++	++
PMH	?	?	?	?	++	?	?	?	?	?	?	+++	?	?	?	?	+	
Hindbrain																		
nXIIts	?	?	?		?	?	?	?	?	?	?	?	?	?	++	?	+++	+
Cerebellum																		
Purkinje cells	+++	?	?	?	?	?	?	?	?	?	?	?	?	?	?	?	+++	+
CbI	+++	?	?	?	+	?	?	?	?	?	?	?	?	?	?	?		

Nucleus interfascialis (Nif), caudalmedial neostriatum (NCM), Nucleus taeniae (Tn), Hippocampus (Hp), Septum (S), Ovoidalis (Ov), Nucleus rotundus (Rt), Medial portion of the dorsolateral nucleus of the thalamus (DLM), N. pretectalis (Pt),

N. spiriformis lateralis (SpL), N. spiriformis medialis (SpM), Pretectal nucleus lentiformis mesencephali (LM), Geniculate nucleus (GLv), N. intercollicularis (ICo), Dorsal lateral nucleus of the mesencephalon (MLd), N. dorsomedialis of the midbrain (DM), N. preopticus medialis (POM), N. posterioris hypothalamic medialis (PMH), N. posterioris hypothalamic lateralis (PLH), tracheosyringeal portion of the hypoglossal motor nucleus (nXIIts), N. cerebellaris internus (CbI).

Map of an immediate-early gene expression in the brain of the long-tailed hermit when singing spontaneously in the lek

Abstract

At least 14% of all hummingbird species join a male aggregation to sing, the so-called lek. In the lek, males perform learned songs and learned visual displays to repel competitors and attract females. Although the ecological relevance of lek for hummingbirds, the brain processes underlying singing in lek remains unknown. Mapping the expression of the immediate early gene EGR-1 has been shown as a powerful tool to investigate the brain areas active during behaviors unreproducible in captivity. We mapped the EGR-1 expression of long-tailed hermit (Phaethornis superciliosus) males when singing spontaneously in lek in comparison with males kept in silence. Singing in the lek induced up to 4-fold EGR-1 expression in some of the telencephalic nuclei of the vocal control system (VLN, VA, and VAN) and an auditory area (NCM), however, when compared to the immediate surroundings, this expression was unspecific. EGR-1 expression was locally proportional to different aspects of the song: syllable rate in VLN and mean syllable duration in VAN. A unique pattern of expression was observed in the thalamus which is potentially related to visual displays. The pattern of EGR-1 expression found in the long-tailed hermits highly differs from non-lekking hummingbirds and suggests that, as songbirds, hummingbirds show context-dependent EGR-1 expression. Furthermore, these differences in EGR-1 expression give insights into alternative brain pathways that may be associated with complex multi-modal signaling in a natural context such as in lek.

Prepared as: Monte, A., Frankl-Vilches, C., Costa, V., Aleixo, D., Sohnius-Wilhelmi, N., de Lima, S. M. A., da Silva, M. L. & Gahr, M. Map of an immediate-early gene expression in the brain of the long-tailed hermit when singing spontaneously in the lek.

Introduction

A remarkable behavior of an important group of birds that is unexplored from the neural processing perspective is the formation of leks in hummingbirds. Broadly defined, a lek is an aggregation of males with distancing for the purpose of finding a mate (e.g.: Stiles and Wolf, 1979). From each small individual territory, a male may vocalize and perform characteristic visual displays such as rhythmic head and tail movements to attract females (Nicholson, 1931; Wiley, 1971), thus resulting in complex audible-visual displays that contain information for their prospective mates. Lek formation is widespread within hummingbirds (Bleiweiss, 1998; Stiles & Wolf, 1979). Leks are reported in 49 species, 14% of all hummingbird species, including almost all major clades (Martínez-García et al., 2013; McGuire et al., 2014; Schuchmann, 1999), but leks are especially frequent in two of them: hermits and emeralds (Bleiweiss, 1998; Martínez-García et al., 2013; McGuire et al., 2014).

Interestingly, hummingbirds are also able to learn vocalizations, a trait that is rare in birds in mammals, but which allows for the cultural transmission of information across generations (e.g. in hummingbirds: Araya-Salas and Wright, 2013; Engeln, 2013; González and Ornelas, 2014; Feo et al., 2015). Among birds, this ability to learn vocalizations – referred here as vocal learning – and its related brain specialization evolved independently in songbirds, parrots and hummingbirds, the vocal learners (Gahr, 2000; Jarvis et al., 2000; Jarvis & Mello, 2000; Nottebohm et al., 1976). Only in vocal learners, the basic mechanism to control vocal production, which consists of distinct brainstem nuclei that control muscles of the syrinx, muscles of respiration and secondary structures, receives motor commands from a set of anatomically discrete but interconnected nuclei of the forebrain, the vocal control system (Gahr, 2000; Nottebohm, 1991; Schmidt & Ashmore, 2008).

In songbirds, the vocal control system includes two nuclei of the motor pathway (HVC, proper name and the RA, robust nucleus of the arcopallium) which makes a direct projection

from the arcopallium onto the vocal motor-neurons in the brainstem and four nuclei in an anterior forebrain pathway loop which interconnects the nidopallium (HVC and the IMAN, lateral magnocellular nucleus of the anterior nidopallium) with the striatum (Area X) and thalamus (DLM, nucleus of the dorsolateral thalamus) which projects back to the nidopallium (reviewed in Brainard and Doupe, 2002). Whereas the motor pathway is necessary for normal song production throughout life, the anterior forebrain pathway is important for song learning early in life and song plasticity in adult birds (reviewed in Farries and Perkel, 2008). The vocal control system found in birds holds many parallels to the neural basis of spoken language in humans (reviewed in Petkov and Jarvis, 2012).

In fact, much of the behavioral evidence for vocal learning in hummingbirds were obtained from studies of lekking species (Araya-Salas & Wright, 2013; Kroodsma & Baylis, 1982). Recently, it was demonstrated in a lekking hummingbird that not only songs, but also their visual displays, show more similarity within leks than between leks and that this similarity was explained by social learning rather than genetic similarities (Araya-Salas et al., 2019). Furthermore, in the lek, males can modify the silent intervals between their songs to allow songs to alternate the songs of immediate neighbors, rather than overlap (Araya-Salas et al., 2017). The number of males per lek varies widely from 2 - 23 (D. S. Brito, 2012; Stiles & Wolf, 1979) with around 50% of them annually replaced (Stiles & Wolf, 1979). Hummingbird leks can be active year-round and throughout the day in the tropics, where individual males sing up to 50% of daylight hours, continuously for periods of up to 30 minutes (D. S. Brito, 2012; Stiles & Wolf, 1979; Vielliard, 1983) – a behavior which may demand a mechanism to deal with acoustic habituation. Thus, males face many challenges when singing in the lek, including (i) the production of learned visual displays concurrently with learned songs, (ii) the constant attentiveness to the songs of the neighbors to avoid overlap of songs and (iii) long-lasting song production and the need to learn and relearn song across seasons. However, how the neuronal vocal control system facilitates singing in the context of being in a lek remains unknown.

The expression of the gene EGR-1, an immediate-early gene, is a powerful tool to investigate the connection between brain and behavior (C. V. Mello et al., 1992); especially those behaviors that animals do not produce under laboratory conditions (Jarvis et al., 1997). EGR-1 is a highly sensitive marker for neuronal activation because this gene is expressed rapidly and transiently in response to neuronal depolarization (reviewed in Mello, 2002a). The expression of EGR-1 increases within minutes after stimulus onset and peaks at around 30 min before it decreases back to basal levels by 1 h due to habituation (C. Mello et al., 1995; C. V. Mello & Clayton, 1994). Since the 1990s, EGR-1 has been largely used to map neuronal activation triggered by vocal behavior in birds (C. V. Mello, 2002b). Comparative analysis of the EGR-1 expression in unrelated species of birds has revealed striking similarities in the organization of brain systems for production and perception of learned vocalizations (Jarvis et al., 1998, 2000; Jarvis and Mello, 2000; but see Mischler et al., 2020).

During the production of learned vocalizations, i.e., songs or learned calls, the vocal control system shows a differential pattern of EGR-1 expression which is strikingly similar among vocal learners (Jarvis et al., 2000; Jarvis & Mello, 2000; Jarvis & Nottebohm, 1997). Nevertheless, studies on songbirds indicated that the patterns of EGR-1 expression can be dramatically different depending on whether the male sings to a female, to another male, or by themselves (Jarvis et al., 1998). The investigation of the context-dependent expression of EGR-1 comparatively in species of vocal learners with different biologically relevant behaviors can shed light on the functionality and plasticity of the vocal control system in adult birds.

To investigate the neural activity of the vocal control system in lekking hummingbirds, we mapped the EGR-1 expression in the brains of male long-tailed hermits (*Phaethornis superciliosus*) when singing spontaneously in the lek in comparison with silent controls. The EGR-1 expression in the brains of male rufous-breasted hermits (*Glaucis hirsuta*), a nonlekking species (Ornelas et al., 2002), was previously investigated. When the non-lekking hermit was presented with playbacks of conspecific song, EGR-1 was expressed in some telencephalic areas possibly related to auditory perception, including the caudal medial nidopallium (NCM). Whereas, when the non-lekking hermit sang in response to the playback, EGR-1 was expressed in different brain areas including the putative telencephalic vocal control system of hummingbirds, such as the vocal nucleus of the lateral nidopallium (VLN or HVC-like), the vocal nucleus of the arcopallium (VA or RA-like) and vocal nucleus of the anterior nidopallium (VAN or IMAN-like) (Jarvis et al., 2000). EGR-1 expression in these nuclei was proportional to the amount of song produced during the singing period (Jarvis et al., 2000). The comparison of the EGR-1 expression between lekking and non-lekking hermits may indicate whether there is context-dependent EGR-1 expression in the vocal control system of hummingbirds, such as found in songbirds.

Thus, we verified whether there is: (*i*) song-induced EGR-1 expression in the vocal control system of spontaneously singing hermits, compared to silent controls; (*ii*) a differential EGR-1 expression in the vocal control system in relation to the surrounding area and (*iii*) a correlation of the EGR-1 expression and the number of songs produced by the hermits. We found that in a lekking hummingbird there is more generalized forebrain expression and many other forebrain areas are also involved in song production, thus establishing a lek-specific context-dependent EGR-1 expression in the vocal control system of hummingbirds. This pattern occurred differently from songbirds in which the expression was observed in fewer areas during singing to a female. This comparison of EGR-1 expression in lekking hermits to what is known for singing and hearing-only patterns in non-lekking hummingbirds, thus illuminates our understanding of brain areas involved in multimodal communication, including the integration of vocal and visual signaling.
Methods

Animals and field procedures

Ten wild long-tailed hermit males were used; six for the singing group and four for the silent control group. The birds were captured in the Gunma Ecological Park, an Amazon Rainforest fragment with around 400 hectares of primary forest in Brazil (1°13'S, 48°41'W), and its surroundings. The samples were collected in July 2014 and July/August 2015 during the dry season when the highest singing activity of the long-tailed hermits was registered (D. da S. Brito & da Silva, 2013). All procedures were approved by the Brazilian authorities (Ministry of Environment and Chico Mendes Institute for Biodiversity Conservation) via Biodiversity Authorization and Information System (Sistema de Autorização e Informação em Biodiversidade – SISBIO) permit number 41794-1.

The males of the singing group were localized by their singing activity in a male aggregation (lek) where they can continuously sing for about 30 min (Stiles & Wolf, 1979). An individual focal male was visually localized on its display perch with binoculars in a larger group of other males that were perched and performing characteristic head and tail movements and producing song. After visual localization of the focal male on its perch, its song was recorded for 30 - 90 seconds, and the focal male was shot with an air pressure gun during singing. Within the 6 - 8 minutes, the head was located, the brain was dissected and flash-frozen in dry ice. In most of the cases, the activity of the non-focal birds in the lek was not disrupted, or if disrupted, the immediate neighbor males resumed singing within the dissection period. The singing males were sampled from four leks with at most two males per lek, not exceeding 35% of the lek's composition. In the lek, the highest singing rate was observed between 8:00 and 10:30 a.m. (D. S. Brito, 2012). The birds were captured at least one hour after, between 9 and 10:30 a.m., so that the singing males in the lek would have reached the peak of the EGR-1 mRNA levels, which occurs from 30 min to 1 hour after the exposure to a stimulus (C. V. Mello

& Ribeiro, 1998). The males of the control group were captured outside the lek with the Ruschi net trap, a trap with sugar water (20%) developed for hummingbird capture (Ruschi, 2009) or a mist-net. Males captured out of the lek were kept in quiet conditions without species-specific auditory stimuli for at least a half-hour. No song production was observed in the silent control group.

Histology and EGR-1 in situ hybridization

Brains were sectioned sagittally starting at the lateral surface at 20 µm thickness. One hemisphere was processed per bird: right hemispheres of three singing group and two silent control group birds and left hemispheres of the other three singing and two control birds. No gross differences were observed between hemispheres (see supplementary material, Fig. S1). Sections were thaw mounted onto Superfrost® Plus slides (Thermo Fisher Scientific, United States). One set of tissue from each bird was Nissl stained at 60 µm intervals to allow for the identification of anatomy.

The second set of tissue was processed for the visualization of the mRNA expression of the immediate early gene EGR-1 by *in situ* hybridization (ISH; referred to hereafter as EGR-1 expression). The ISH was performed on 13 to 22 sections per bird, spaced at ~160 µm using the RNAscope® 2.5 High Definition (HD) Brown Assay (Advanced Cell Diagnostics, United States) according to the manufacturer's instructions. Briefly, the sections were fixed (4% PFA in 1X PBS for 15 minutes at 4°C), dehydrated (EtOH at 50%; 70% and 2 x 100% for 5 minutes each at room temperature) and then air-dried dried at room temperature. The targeted sections were isolated by a hydrophobic barrier manually traced with an ImmedgeTM pen (Advanced Cell Diagnostics, United States). Then, the sections were pretreated, hybridized to the target probe RNAscope® 2.5 Probe Tgu-EGR1 (Advanced Cell Diagnostics, United States) and submitted to multiple steps of amplification. The signal detection was given by diaminobenzene

(DAB)-HRP that labeled each mRNA transcript as a distinct dot of chromogen precipitate visible in a bright field microscope. The sections were counterstained with 50% Hematoxylin.

Image analysis

The stained tissue sections were imaged using a Leica CTR 6000 microscope equipped with a DM6000 B camera (Leica Camera AG, Germany). For quantitative analysis, five brain regions of interest were imaged at 20x magnification, including the (i) vocal nucleus of the lateral nidopallium, VLN (HVC-like); (ii) vocal nucleus of the arcopallium, VA (RA-like); (iii) vocal nucleus of the anterior nidopallium, VAN (LMAN-like); (iv) caudo medial nidopallium, NCM and (v) the entopallium, E. The regions of interest were selected due to their suggested analogy with songbird nuclei of the posterior pathway involved in the motor control of vocal production (VLN and VA), nuclei of the anterior pathway involved in the vocal learning processes (VLN and VAN), area involved in the auditory processing (NCM) and entopallium, a telencephalic visual area that should show no EGR-1 induction specifically from the auditory stimuli to correct for variation in the background. Counts of EGR-1 expression were made in an area of 95 x 95 µm for VLN, 126.5 x 126.5 µm for VA, VAN and NCM, and 95 x 126.5 µm for entopallium. The counting frame was delimited by boxes placed in the center (field in) of each region (Fig. 3a) on up to three serial sections per bird and the results were averaged. For VLN, VA and VAN, an additional counting frame of the same size was obtained in the same region but outside (field out) the boundaries of the nuclei on its immediate surrounding (Fig. 3a) to verify the specificity of the EGR-1 expression.

For each counting frame, the area covered by cells and the area covered by mRNA EGR-1 molecules labeled by chromogen precipitate were quantified. Using ImageJ2 software (Rueden et al., 2017) available by Fiji distribution (Schindelin et al., 2012), cells and EGR-1 chromogen dots were separated from the background with the plugin Trainable Weka Segmentation version 3.2.34 (Arganda-Carreras et al., 2017), a machine learning tool, using the default classifier "FastRandomForest". The output of the segmentation for cells and EGR-1 chromogen dots were each transformed into binary images. The area covered by cells was then estimated automatically by the analyze particles tool which was set to detect particles above 1 μ m² with circularity 0.08 – 1 [defined as 4π (area/perimeter²)] and the area covered by EGR-1 chromogen dots by the same tool but set to detect particles above 0.02 μ m² with circularity 0.10 – 1. When the cells were not visible on the same slide of the EGR-1 chromogen dots due to tissue damage occurring during the hybridization, they were quantified on the adjacent Nissl stained slice. To estimate the intensity of EGR-1 mRNA molecules expressed in the counting area, the ratio between the area covered by cells divided by the area covered by EGR-1 chromogen dots was calculated.

Statistics

The EGR-1 expression in the long-tailed hermits – calculated as the ratio between the area covered by EGR-1 chromogen dots and the area covered by cells – was compared between singing and silent controls for each of the brain areas of interest (VLN, VA, VAN, NCM and E) using beta regressions. Beta regressions are a suitable approach for data within the standard unit interval (0, 1) such as the EGR-1 expression in the long-tailed hermits. The beta regressions were fit using the function "betareg" implemented by the package "betareg" (Cribari-Neto & Zeileis, 2010) in the R software version 4.0.2 (R Core Team, 2020). The regressions had the EGR-1 expression as the response variable, the experimental group (singing or silent control) and the field (inside or outside) as predictors, logit link and maximum likelihood estimator. Additional regressions with the number of syllables produced before capture (syllable rate) as a predictor were run for all areas of interest except for the entopallium. For each regression, the diagnostic plots were used to assess the regression assumptions, however, none showed any functional dependency in the residuals. Pseudo R² was obtained to estimate the goodness of fit. In the results, we reported the marginal means and standard errors obtained from the regressions

with the function "emmeans" implemented by the R package "emmeans" (Lenth et al., 2021). Significance was set to $\alpha < 0.05$.

Results

Long-tailed hermits singing spontaneously in the lek have a high overall EGR-1 expression level in several brain regions (Fig. 1a, b) when compared with silent controls (Fig. 1c). In singing hermits, EGR-1 expression intensified in the nido- and mesopallium towards the medial part of the brain, reached its highest level in the thalamic nucleus, dorsolateralis anterior thalami, pars medialis (DLM) and nucleus dorsomedialis anterior (DMA) but was absent in the entopallium (E), globus pallidus (GP) and field L2 (Fig. 1a, b). In silent hermits, EGR-1 expression was low but present in the frontal mesopallium towards the lateral part of the brain and the nucleus basorostralis pallii (Bas) (Fig. 1c). Although more intense in singing hermits, both singing and silent hermits have EGR-1 expression in the nucleus mesencephalicus lateralis, pars dorsalis (MLd) and in the nucleus intercollicularis (ICo) (Fig. 1b, c).

Singing in the lek induced a 3- to 4-fold EGR-1 expression in the telencephalic nuclei of the putative vocal control system VLN (HVC-like nucleus), VA (RA-like), VAN (MAN-like) and in the caudal medial nidopallium (NCM) when compared to the silent condition (Fig. 2). According to the beta regressions with the EGR-1 expression ratio as the response variable, this difference in the EGR-1 expression was significant for VLN (p = 0.03), VA, VAN and NCM (p < 0.001), but not for the entopallium (E), as expected (Table 1, Fig. 2).

Although higher when compared to silent controls, EGR-1 expression in singing hermits was not specific in the telencephalic nuclei of the putative vocal control system (Fig. 3). According to the beta regressions, there were no differences between the EGR-1 expression inside the boundaries of the nuclei and outside in the immediate surrounding of the nuclei for VLN (p = 0.47), VA (p = 0.68) and VAN (p = 0.78) (Table 1, Figs. 3b, c and 4). VAN showed an interesting pattern of EGR-1 expression which was consistent among singing males: the

posterior part of the hummingbird VAN nucleus (VAN-P) had a lower expression, whereas the anterior part (VAN-A) had a higher expression relative to the surrounding nidopallium (see Fig. 3b).

The songs emitted by the singing hermits were composed of two syllables repeated multiple times in a song bout (Fig. 5a). The number of syllables sang per second (syllable rate) and the average duration of the syllables were obtained as a proxy for the singing activity of the males before the capture. The syllable rate ranged from 0.83 (bird id = PSU11) to 2.04 (bird id = PSU1) and the average duration of the syllables ranged from 0.14 seconds (\pm 0.01, n = 129 syllables, bird id = PSU1) to 0.29 seconds (\pm 0.06, n = 27 syllables, bird id = PSU10). According to the beta regressions, there were significant correlations between EGR-1 expression and the average of the syllable duration only in VAN (p = 0.014, Fig. 5c). There was no correlation between EGR-1 expression and syllable rate or syllable duration in the NCM and VA (Table 2).

Discussion

The map of EGR-1 expression in the long-tailed hermit (*Phaethornis superciliosus*) obtained in this study provides further support for the functionality of the vocal control system during spontaneous singing, in the species' natural setting and without playback stimulation. Singing spontaneously in the lek is a behavior of ecological relevance that evolved multiple times in hummingbirds, but is not possible to measure in captivity. EGR-1 expression was up to 4-fold higher in the main nuclei of the putative vocal control system (VLN or HVC-like, VA or RAlike and VAN, or LMAN-like) in singing males relative to silent controls. However, the expression was not restricted to the boundaries of the nuclei. High EGR-1 expression was also observed in some areas in the thalamus (nucleus dorsolateralis anterior thalami, pars medialis, DLM; and nucleus dorsomedialis anterior, DMA) and in the midbrain (nucleus mesencephalicus lateralis, pars dorsalis, MLd; and nucleus intercollicularis, ICo).

The map of the EGR-1 expression of a non-lekking hermit, the rufous-breasted hermit (Glaucis hirsuta), showed that the hearing-induced areas were caudal medial nidopallium (NCM); a couple of areas adjacent to NCM (caudal medial mesopallium, CMM and caudal striatum, CSt); one adjacent to VLN (dorso caudal nidopallium, Ndc); one to VA (intermediate arcopallium, Ai); one thalamic (dorsointermediate nucleus of the posterior thalamus, DIP) and MLd, whereas the singing-induced areas were another couple of areas adjacent to NCM (vocal nucleus of the medial hyperpallium ventrale, VMN and vocal nucleus of the medial nidopallium, VMH); the putative vocal control nuclei (VLN, VA, VAN and VAP or Area Xlike) and dorsomedial nucleus (DM) in the mesencephalon (Jarvis et al., 2000). When singing in response to playback, rufous-breasted hermit showed EGR-1 expression in both hearing- and singing-induced areas (Jarvis et al., 2000). When spontaneously singing, long-tailed hermit showed EGR-1 expression in the same areas as the singing rufous-breasted hermit and many additional areas including the medial part of the nidopallium; areas of the visual Wulst such as hyperpallium apicale (HA) and hyperpallium dorsale (HD); a couple of areas in the thalamus (DLM and DMA) and ICo. This difference in song-induced expression of EGR-1 between a non-lekking and a lekking hermit indicated that, as in songbirds, hummingbirds differ in EGR-1 expression depending on the social context in which song is emitted.

Context-dependent expression of EGR-1 in the anterior forebrain pathway

In songbirds, the context-dependent expression of EGR-1 varied from low when males sang in the presence of females (direct song) to high when they sang by themselves (undirect song) mainly in Area X (lateral part), IMAN and RA (core), part of the anterior forebrain pathway (Jarvis et al., 1998). The anterior forebrain pathway was, therefore, suggested to be divided into lateral and medial sections, where the lateral seems to introduce versatility to the undirected song which can function as a rehearsal, and the medial induces stereotypy to the directed song which is subjected to sexual selection (Jarvis et al., 1998; C. V. Mello & Jarvis, 2008). Although the striatothalamic projection (Area X to DLM), found only in birds (Farries & Perkel, 2008),

is part of the anterior forebrain pathway, EGR-1 was not expressed in the DLM during song production in any of the contexts investigated so far (Jarvis et al., 1998). Thus, it was suggested that in DLM, such as in the receptors of thalamic sensory projections field L2 and entopallium, neuronal activation and EGR-1 induction are intrinsically uncoupled (C. V. Mello, 2002b; C. V. Mello & Jarvis, 2008). In hummingbirds, while a non-lekking hermit singing in response to the playback of a conspecific song showed EGR-1 expression similar to songbirds in the same context, lekking hermits when spontaneously singing in the lek showed a thalamic EGR-1 expression, including in the DLM, which is unexpected given what was previously reported in non-lekking hummingbirds. It can thus be suggested that the thalamus and further unique patterns of expression found in lekking males are related to the challenges that males meet when singing in lek.

EGR-1 expression and the challenges of singing in lek

On top of learned songs, lekking hummingbirds produce learned visual displays (Araya-Salas et al., 2019). When singing perched in the lek, long-tailed hermits concomitantly produce rhythmic movements in the horizontal with the head and in the vertical with the tail (head-tail perched display) that is modulated according to the song rhythm and intensify in the presence of an intruder (D. S. Brito, 2012; Stiles & Wolf, 1979). In long-billed hermit (*Phaethornis longirostris*), fine-scale parameters such as duration of specific displays and repetition rate of specific movements within displays were demonstrated to be more similar between individuals of the same lek than individuals from different leks; a greater similarity that was not explained by genetics (Araya-Salas et al., 2019). Given the phylogenetic proximity and apparent plasticity in the head-tail perched display of the long-tailed hermits, it is possible to speculate that this visual display is also learned.

Head-tail perched display is usually produced at the same time as when singing and was observed in all long-tailed hermits before capture. It is likely that in addition to hearing- and singing-induced areas, EGR-1 is also expressed in brain areas involved in the production of this learned visual display. The thalamus is potentially involved as the DMA projects directly to many telencephalic areas including parts of the visual Wulst (Montagnese et al., 2003). It is possible that EGR-1 expression in DMA and visual Wulst observed in the long-tailed hermits are induced by the head-tail visual display. Future experiments with one-eye-covered males in the field can indicate whether DMA and visual Wust expression is induced by visual input. Based on the pattern of connectivity of DMA, it was suggested that DMA plays an important role in the regulation of, among other functions, attention and memory formation (Montagnese et al., 2003). We can speculate that if related to visual display, these areas can be also involved in the learning of visual displays. Another non-excluding possibility is that the adjacent areas of the vocal control system are involved in the production, and possibly motor learning, of the head-tail visual display which explains the lack of differential expression of EGR-1 found in long-tailed hermits. During limb and body movements, vocal learners express EGR-1 in discrete brain areas that are adjacent to their telencephalic nuclei of the vocal control system (Feenders et al., 2008). Based on this pattern of expression, it was hypothesized that the vocal control system in each bird order evolved independently, but from a common ancestor motor pathway as substrate (Feenders et al., 2008). Given that in a non-lekking hermit the expression is restricted to the boundaries of the vocal control system and in the long-tailed hermit, a lekking hermit, is not, it is conceivable to speculate that, if the adjacent areas are related to visual learning, the evolution of visual displays and the motor learning of these displays anteceded vocal learning in hummingbirds.

On top of visual displays, lekking hummingbirds can also discriminate the song of close neighbors to avoid overlapping vocalizations (Araya-Salas et al., 2017). The high EGR-1 expression in all areas known to be hearing-induced without any playback stimuli indicates that long-tailed hermits are likely to be constantly processing auditory information during singing in the lek. Long-tailed hermits can aggregate in a lek with up to 20 males singing at the same time (Ramjohn et al., 2003), nevertheless, they avoid overlapping songs of only their closest neighbors (Araya-Salas et al., 2017). Thalamus and striatum are among the subcortical structures that are highly conserved across vertebrate evolution and that are involved in an ancestral form of selective attention in those animals that lack a neocortex, including birds (Krauzlis et al., 2018). Given that the hearing-induced thalamus and striatum are active in the long-tailed hermit, the auditory discrimination might come about in two complementary ways. First, auditory areas may hold a mechanism to discriminate acoustic signals of different intensities, whereas, secondly, the thalamus and striatum provide the focus on the most relevant ones. Behavioral paradigms with playback of neighbor songs in different intensities can be used to test this hypothesis.

On top of acoustic discrimination, lekking hummingbirds can be found singing for many hours at a time, throughout the day, and throughout the year (Stiles & Wolf, 1979). When repeatedly exposed to the same song in a laboratory setting, songbirds show signs of habituation given by the rapid and persistent decline in EGR-1 expression that they demonstrate (C. Mello et al., 1995). In the long-tailed hermit, singing was always linked to a generalized telencephalic expression of EGR-1 although they were persistently hearing the song of the same neighbors. It may be the case that lekking hummingbirds are resistant to habituation, possibly by a mechanism of EGR-1 induction, including receptors, that differ from songbirds and nonlekking hummingbirds. A difference in the receptors can cause variation in the properties and time of response in EGR-1 induction and may prevent habituation. Interestingly, the pattern of EGR-1 expression found in the VAN - the posterior part had a lower expression than the anterior - of the long-tailed hermit was not observed in non-lekking hummingbirds and was identical to the pattern of mGluR2 expression in the VAN found to be unique to hummingbirds (Wada et al., 2004). Except for the low level of mGluR2 in the VA, the telencephalic pattern of mGluR2 expression almost overlapped with the EGR-1 expression of the long-tailed hermits, including the lack of differentiation of VASt (Wada et al., 2004). This coincidental pattern of EGR-1 and

mGlu2 expression may indicate that, at least in the VAN, the receptor inducing EGR-1 expression in lekking hummingbirds may be mGluR2. mGluR2 is a metabotropic receptor of the group II subtype and has a potent inhibitory action on both Ca²⁺ and K⁺ channels (reviewed in Anwyl, 1999). The administration of mGlu2 receptor antagonist induces widespread c-Fos expression, another immediate-early gene, in the brains of mice (Linden et al., 2005). In songbirds, a similar effect is obtained in EGR-1 induction by metrazole, a potent g-aminobutyric acid (GABA)- antagonist that leads to overall brain depolarization (C. V. Mello & Clayton, 1995). It is unknown whether metrazole causes such induction in hummingbirds. Thus, maps of EGR-1 expression after the administration of metrazole and mGlu2 receptor antagonists comparatively in lekking and non-lekking hummingbirds may indicate whether a difference in receptors can explain resistance to habituation during sustained bouts of behavior.

Alternatively to differences in the mechanism of EGR-1 induction, lekking hummingbirds may avoid habituation simply by regularly absenting from the lek. In songbirds, EGR-1 induction significantly declines after 30 minutes of song exposure (C. Mello et al., 1995). Interestingly, long-tailed hermits were reported to sing for a continuous period of up to 30 minutes (Stiles & Wolf, 1979). It is possible that long-tailed hermits fly away from aural contact with other singing males in the lek every 30 minutes. Nevertheless, in the lek, males are constantly challenged by intruders (Stiles & Wolf, 1979), therefore, a long period of absence may be at the cost of their territory. Thus, tracking studies of lekking males should elucidate this question.

Local correlation of EGR-1 expression and song activity

In the lekking hermit, EGR-1 expression was locally proportional to different aspects of singing. VLN EGR-1 expression was positively correlated to the number of syllables sang per minute, VAN EGR-1 expression to syllable duration, whereas VA and NCM did not show any correlation. In non-lekking hummingbirds, VLN EGR-1 expression was also proportional to the amount of song (Jarvis et al., 2000). Similarly, in songbirds, HVC EGR-1 expression was proportional to the amount of song disregarding whether the song was directed or undirected (Jarvis et al., 1998). It seems, therefore, that activity in VLC, as in HVC, is universally positively correlated to song activity. The lack of EGR-1 expression in hearing-induced areas such as NCM was also observed in non-lekking hummingbirds (Jarvis et al., 2000).

In songbirds, RA and LMAN EGR-1 activity were proportional to the amount of song during undirect song, however, during direct song RA was not correlated and LMAN, although significant, was only weakly correlated (Jarvis et al., 1998). Differently from HVC, not only the pattern of EGR-1 expression but also the correlation between expression and amount of song was context-dependent in RA and LMAN. This dependency may be similar in hummingbirds, which would help to explain the correlation to song activity observed in VA and VAN of non-lekking hummingbirds (Jarvis et al., 2000), but not in the long-tailed hermit. Interestingly in long-tailed hermits, VAN EGR-1 expression correlated to the average syllable duration. The syllable duration showed low standard deviation within each male, ranging from 0.01 to 0.06 seconds, which corroborates with previous data of long-tailed hermits obtained in the same study site that showed low variation within males and a significant difference between males (D. S. Brito, 2012). Thus, syllable duration is potentially a song parameter that encodes individual signatures within the lek. Keeping the low effect and sample size in mind, this idea requires further investigation, nevertheless, it is possible that VAN activity and further nuclei of the anterior forebrain pathway are associated with individual signatures.

Future directions

It is important to keep in mind that much of the generalized EGR-1 expression in the telencephalon of the long-tailed hermit can be attributed to the awake state of the birds. Moreover, there were differences in the time of the day when lekking and non-lekking hermits were sampled and a daytime effect should be considered. Nevertheless, the results are highly

consistent among individuals. Thus, when interpreted with care, some of these remarkable patterns can give insights into the neural activity underlying the multi-modality of natural behaviors such as singing in lek. Future experimental approaches targeting specific aspects of singing in a lek may include (i) neural tracing to unveil the connectivity of thalamic regions and potential subdivisions of VAN; (ii) lesion studies targeting areas of high EGR-1 expression such as DLM, DMA and the visual Wust and their effect into behavior to address their potential relation to visual learning; and (iii) electrophysiological recordings in different subdivisions of VAN to identify whether the lack of EGR-1 expression in the anterior part of the VAN represents lack of activity. These future studies have the potential to shed light on the function of the anterior pathway and the relevance of the striatothalamic projection in adult vocal learners.

Conclusion

The comparison of the maps of EGR-1 expression in hummingbirds indicates that singing in an aggregation of males, the so-called lek, implicates a pattern of brain activity that differs from singing in a laboratory setting, or even in response to the playback of a conspecific song in the field. This pattern suggests that many telencephalic nuclei, such as some nuclei of the anterior forebrain pathway and visual Wust, and thalamic areas seem to be involved in the multi-modal, auditory and visual, signaling in lek. Leks evolved many times within hummingbirds and may be related to the evolution of vocal learning in the family. The EGR-1 expression patterns presented in this study give valuable insights into the brain pathways associated with complex learned behaviors such as singing and the visual displays performed in lek that is of evolutionary relevance but unreproducible outside of a natural context.

Tables

Table 1. Beta regressions outputs for the effects of singing on the EGR-1 expression in the longtailed hermits. The EGR-1 expression was obtained as the ratio between the area covered by EGR-1 chromogenic particles and the area covered by cells in each counting frame per brain area of interest (VLN, VA, VAN, NCM and E). For VLN, VA and VAN regressions, the predictors were treatment (singing x silent) and field (in x out), whereas, for NCM and E regressions, the only predictor was treatment. In bold are predictors which p < 0.05. In all quantified nuclei of the putative vocal control system, singing hermits had higher expression of EGR-1 mRNA than controls, however, this expression was not different related to the surrounded forebrain

Nuclei		Estimate	Std. Error	z value	p value
VLN	Intercept	-1.376	0.600	-2.292	0.022
	Treat. song (ref. silence)	1.594	0.721	2.212	0.027
	Field out (ref. in)	-0.403	0.553	-0.728	0.466
VA	Intercept	-2.242	0.436	-5.137	< 0.001
	Treat. song (ref. silence)	1.722	0.489	3.521	< 0.001
	Field out (ref. in)	0.128	0.305	0.419	0.675
VAN	Intercept	-1.553	0.281	-5.527	< 0.001
	Treat. song (ref. silence)	1.839	0.344	5.341	< 0.001
	Field out (ref. in)	-0.080	0.279	-0.286	0.775
NCM	Intercept	-1.878	0.344	-5.463	< 0.001
	Treat. song (ref. silence)	1.664	0.397	4.196	< 0.001
Е	Intercept	-2.328	0.229	-10.157	< 0.001
	Treat. song (ref. silence)	-0.110	0.296	-0.371	0.711

Table 2. Beta regressions outputs for the effects of song activity on the EGR-1 expression in the long-tailed hermits. The EGR-1 expression was obtained as the ratio between the area covered by EGR-1 chromogenic particles and the area covered by cells in each counting frame per brain area of interest (VLN, VA, VAN and NCM). The predictors were syllable rate measured as the number of syllables per second and the average duration of the syllables emitted per bird just before capture. In bold are predictors which p < 0.05

Nuclei		Estimate	Std. Error	z value	p value
VLN	Intercept	-1.864	0.403	-4.629	< 0.001
	Syllable rate	0.955	0.392	2.435	0.015
	Average syllable duration	4.174	2.891	1.444	0.149
VA	Intercept	-2.140	0.449	-4.763	< 0.001
	Syllable rate	0.676	0.402	1.680	0.093
	Average syllable duration	3.310	3.107	1.065	0.287
VAN	Intercept	-1.528	0.292	5.241	< 0.001
	Syllable rate	0.396	0.340	1.165	0.244
	Average syllable duration	6.308	2.564	2.460	0.014
NCM	Intercept	-1.853	0.336	-5.524	< 0.001
	Syllable rate	0.639	0.359	1.778	0.075
	Average syllable duration	3.751	2.656	1.413	0.158

Figure captions

Figure 1. EGR-1 expression map in the brain of males long-tailed hermit. (a) Anatomical map representing the regions shown in the sagittal brain sections on the right. Dashed lines indicate nuclei with identifiable boundaries. Highlighted in pink are the regions that consensually show EGR-1 expression in all males (n = 6) when singing spontaneously in the lek; the intensity of the marker represents the relative intensity of the EGR-1 expression. Diagrams on the left and respective numbers indicate the distance of the sections from the midline. Microphotographs of sagittal brain sections (1.25x magnification) hybridized for EGR-1 mRNA expression in (b) a male singing spontaneously in lek and (c) a male kept in silence. mRNA EGR-1 molecules were labeled by chromogen precipitation (dark brown dots) and counterstained with Hematoxylin. Notice increased EGR-1 expression in the nido-, meso- and hyperpallium, and thalamus of the male singing in lek compared with the silent control. Rostral orientation is on the right and dorsal is on the top. A, arcopallium; APH, area parahippocampalis; Bas, nucleus basorostralis pallii; DLM, medial nucleus of the dorsolateral thalamus; DMA, nucleus dorsomedialis anterior; E, entopallium; GP, globus pallidus; H, hyperpallium; HA, hyperpallium apicale; HB, habenula; HD, hyperpallium dorsale; ICo, nucleus intercollicularis; L2, subfield of auditory field; LSt, lateral striatum, M, mesopallium; MLd, nucleus mesencephalicus lateralis, pars

dorsalis; MSt, medial striatum; N, nidopallium; NCM, caudal medial nidopallium; Pt, nucleus pretectalis; Rt, nucleus rotundus; TrO, tractus opticus; VA, vocal nucleus of the arcopallium; VAN, vocal nucleus of the anterior nidopallium; VLN, vocal nucleus of the lateral nidopallium.

Figure 2. Quantification of EGR-1 expression in five brain areas of males long-tailed hermit when singing in lek in comparison with silent controls. EGR-1 expression was quantified as the ratio between the area covered by EGR-1 chromogen precipitation (dark brown dots) and the area covered by cells. Significant differences were found in the telencephalic nuclei of the putative vocal control system (VLN, p = 0.027 indicated by *; VA and VAN, p < 0.001 indicated by **) and in the auditory area (NCM, p < 0.001). As expected, no difference was found in the entopallium (p = 0.711). The bars represent the marginal means and standard error given by the beta regressions (see Methods). Each data point indicate the expression value per male (song, n = 6; silence, n = 4). E, entopallium; NCM, caudal medial nidopallium; VA, vocal nucleus of the arcopallium; VAN, vocal nucleus of the anterior nidopallium; VLN, vocal nucleus of the lateral nidopallium.

Figure 3. EGR-1 expression in the telencephalic nuclei of the putative vocal control system in comparison (field in) with the immediate surrounding (field out) of males long-tailed hermit when singing in lek. (a) Anatomical map representing the regions shown in the sagittal brain sections on the right. Dashed rectangles represent the counting frames in which EGR-1 expression was quantified. Diagrams on the left and respective numbers indicate the distance of the sections from the midline. Microphotographs of sagittal brain sections (20x magnification) hybridized for EGR-1 mRNA expression of a male singing spontaneously in lek (a) inside the boundaries of the nuclei (field in) and outside the boundaries of the nuclei but on the immediate surrounding (field out) in comparison with (c) a male in silence. mRNA EGR-1

molecules were labeled by chromogen precipitation (dark brown dots) and counterstained with Hematoxylin. Notice similar EGR-1 expressions inside and outside of VLN, VA and VAN. Rostral orientation is on the right and dorsal is on the top. A, arcopallium; Bas, nucleus basorostralis pallii; DLM, medial nucleus of the dorsolateral thalamus; DM nucleus dorsomedialis of the midbrain; E, entopallium; H, hyperpallium; HA, hyperpallium apicale; HD, hyperpallium dorsale; ICo, nucleus intercollicularis; L2, subfield of auditory field; LSt, lateral striatum, M, mesopallium; MLd, nucleus mesencephalicus lateralis, pars dorsalis; MSt, medial striatum; N, nidopallium; NCM, caudal medial nidopallium; Pt, nucleus pretectalis; St, striatum; TrO, tractus opticus; VA, vocal nucleus of the arcopallium; VAN, vocal nucleus of the anterior nidopallium; VAN-A, anterior part of the VAN; VAN-P, posterior part of the VAN; VLN, vocal nucleus of the lateral nidopallium.

Figure 4. Quantification of EGR-1 expression in the telencephalic nuclei of the putative vocal control system in comparison (field in) with the immediate surrounding (field out) of males long-tailed hermit when singing in lek. EGR-1 expression was quantified as the ratio between the area covered by EGR-1 chromogen precipitation (dark brown dots) and the area covered by cells. No significant differences were found between the expression inside and outside the boundaries of any nuclei (VLN, p = 0.466; VA, p = 0.675; VAN, p = 0.775). The bars represent the marginal means and standard error given by the beta regressions (see Methods). Each data point indicate the expression value per male (song, n = 6; silence, n = 4). VA, vocal nucleus of the arcopallium; VAN, vocal nucleus of the anterior nidopallium; VLN, vocal nucleus of the lateral nidopallium.

Figure 5. Examples of the long-tailed hermit song and correlation with EGR-1 expression. (a) Song spectrogram (frequency) and oscillogram (relative amplitude) of three males long-tailed hermit. The long-tailed hermit song is composed of two syllables (A and B) repeated multiple times in a song bout. The sonograms exemplify variation among males in the number of syllables emitted per second (syllable rate) and in the duration of the syllables. (b) EGR-1 expression positively correlated to syllable rate only for VLN (p = 0.015 indicated by *) and (c) to the mean syllable duration only for VAN (p = 0.014). The curves were given by the beta regressions (see Methods). The data points indicate expression values per singing male for each brain area (VLN, VA, VAN and NCM). NCM, caudal medial nidopallium; VA, vocal nucleus of the arcopallium; VAN, vocal nucleus of the anterior nidopallium; VLN, vocal nucleus of the lateral nidopallium.

References

- Anwyl, R. (1999). Metabotropic glutamate receptors: Electrophysiological properties and role in plasticity. *Brain Research Reviews*, 29(1), 83–120. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0165-0173(98)00050-2
- Araya-Salas, M., Smith-Vidaurre, G., Mennill, D. J., González-Gómez, P. L., Cahill, J., & Wright, T. F. (2019). Social group signatures in hummingbird displays provide evidence of co-occurrence of vocal and visual learning. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 286(1903), 20190666. https://doi.org/10.1098/rspb.2019.0666
- Araya-Salas, M., Wojczulanis-Jakubas, K., Phillips, E. M., Mennill, D. J., & Wright, T. F. (2017). To overlap or not to overlap: Context-dependent coordinated singing in lekking long-billed hermits. *Animal Behaviour*, 124, 57–64. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.anbehav.2016.12.003
- Araya-Salas, M., & Wright, T. (2013). Open-ended song learning in a hummingbird. *Biology Letters*, 9(5), 20130625. https://doi.org/10.1098/rsbl.2013.0625

- Arganda-Carreras, I., Kaynig, V., Rueden, C., Eliceiri, K. W., Schindelin, J., Cardona, A., & Sebastian Seung, H. (2017). Trainable Weka Segmentation: A machine learning tool for microscopy pixel classification. *Bioinformatics (Oxford, England)*, 33(15), 2424–2426. https://doi.org/10.1093/bioinformatics/btx180
- Bleiweiss, R. (1998). Phylogeny, Body Mass, and Genetic Cponsequences of Lek-Mating Behavior in Hummingbirds. *Molecular Biology and Evolution*, *15*(5), 492–498.
- Brainard, M. S., & Doupe, A. J. (2002). What songbirds teach us about learning. *Nature*, *417*(6886), 351–358. https://doi.org/10.1038/417351a
- Brito, D. da S., & da Silva, M. L. (2013). A frequência de emissão de canto diária e anual de rabo-branco-de-bigodes Phaethornis superciliosus situados em uma arena nas proximidades do Parque Ecológico de Gunma (PEG), Santa Bábara do Pará, Pará. *Atualidades Ornitológicas*, 171. http://www.ao.com.br/ao171.htm
- Brito, D. S. (2012). Estudo comportamental de Besourão-de-rabo-branco Phaethornis superciliosus (Aves, Trochilidae) no Parque Ecológico de Gunma [Master's degree monography]. http://www.repositorio.ufpa.br/jspui/handle/2011/5737
- Cribari-Neto, F., & Zeileis, A. (2010). Beta Regression in R. *Journal of Statistical Software*, 34(1), Article 1. https://doi.org/10.18637/jss.v034.i02
- Engeln, M. W. (2013). Relationship between local vocal behavior and gene flow in the Anna's Hummingbird (Calypte anna) [M.S., California State University, Fullerton]. https://search.proquest.com/docview/1406227699/abstract/F700535200944E63PQ/1
- Farries, M. A., & Perkel, D. J. (2008). The songbird brain in comparative perspective. In H. P.Zeigler & P. Marler (Eds.), *Neuroscience of Birdsong* (pp. 63–71). Cambridge University Press.
- Feenders, G., Liedvogel, M., Rivas, M., Zapka, M., Horita, H., Hara, E., Wada, K., Mouritsen,H., & Jarvis, E. D. (2008). Molecular Mapping of Movement-Associated Areas in the

Avian Brain: A Motor Theory for Vocal Learning Origin. *PLOS ONE*, *3*(3), e1768. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0001768

- Feo, T. J., Musser, J. M., Berv, J., & Clark, C. J. (2015). Divergence in morphology, calls, song, mechanical sounds, and genetics supports species status for the Inaguan hummingbird (Trochilidae: Calliphlox "evelynae" lyrura). *The Auk: Ornithological Advances*, *132*(1), 248–264. https://doi.org/10.1642/AUK-14-108.1
- Gahr, M. (2000). Neural song control system of hummingbirds: Comparison to swifts, vocal learning (Songbirds) and nonlearning (Suboscines) passerines, and vocal learning (Budgerigars) and nonlearning (Dove, owl, gull, quail, chicken) nonpasserines. *The Journal of Comparative Neurology*, 426(2), 182–196.
- González, C., & Ornelas, J. F. (2014). Acoustic Divergence with Gene Flow in a Lekking Hummingbird with Complex Songs. *PLOS ONE*, 9(10), e109241. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0109241
- Jarvis, E. D., & Mello, C. V. (2000). Molecular mapping of brain areas involved in parrot vocal communication. *The Journal of Comparative Neurology*, *419*(1), 1–31.
- Jarvis, E. D., & Nottebohm, F. (1997). Motor-driven gene expression. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 94(8), 4097–4102. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.94.8.4097
- Jarvis, E. D., Ribeiro, S., da Silva, M. L., Ventura, D., Vielliard, J., & Mello, C. V. (2000). Behaviourally driven gene expression reveals song nuclei in hummingbird brain. *Nature*, 406(6796), 628–632. https://doi.org/10.1038/35020570
- Jarvis, E. D., Scharff, C., Grossman, M. R., Ramos, J. A., & Nottebohm, F. (1998). For whom the bird sings: Context-dependent gene expression. *Neuron*, 21(4), 775–788. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0896-6273(00)80594-2
- Jarvis, E. D., Schwabl, H., Ribeiro, S., & Mello, C. V. (1997). Brain gene regulation by territorial singing behavior in freely ranging songbirds. *Neuroreport*, 8(8), 2073–2077.

- Krauzlis, R. J., Bogadhi, A. R., Herman, J. P., & Bollimunta, A. (2018). Selective attention without a neocortex. *Cortex*, *102*, 161–175. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cortex.2017.08.026
- Kroodsma, D. E., & Baylis, J. R. (1982). Appendix: A World Survey of Evidence for Vocal Learning in Birds. In Acoustic Communication in Birds: Song Learning & Its Consequences (Vol. 2). Academic Press.
- Lenth, R. V., Buerkner, P., Herve, M., Love, J., Riebl, H., & Singmann, H. (2021). *emmeans: Estimated Marginal Means, aka Least-Squares Means* (1.5.4). https://CRAN.R-project.org/package=emmeans
- Linden, A.-M., Bergeron, M., & Schoepp, D. D. (2005). Comparison of c-Fos induction in the brain by the mGlu2/3 receptor antagonist LY341495 and agonist LY354740: Evidence for widespread endogenous tone at brain mGlu2/3 receptors in vivo. *Neuropharmacology*, 49, 120–134. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuropharm.2005.05.006
- Martínez-García, V., Lara, C., & Ornelas, J. F. (2013). Lek characteristics and the static male song of the green violet-ear (Colibri thalassinus) during a 3-year study in a temperate forest of Central Mexico. *Ornitologia Neotropical*, *24*(2), 183–200.
- McGuire, J. A., Witt, C. C., Remsen Jr., J. V., Corl, A., Rabosky, D. L., Altshuler, D. L., & Dudley, R. (2014). Molecular Phylogenetics and the Diversification of Hummingbirds. *Current Biology*, 24(8), 1–7. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2014.03.016
- Mello, C., Nottebohm, F., & Clayton, D. (1995). Repeated exposure to one song leads to a rapid and persistent decline in an immediate early gene's response to that song in zebra finch telencephalon. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 15(10), 6919–6925. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.15-10-06919.1995
- Mello, C. V. (2002a). Chapter IV Immediate-early gene (IEG) expression mapping of vocal communication areas in the avian brain. In L. Kaczmarek & H. A. Robertson (Eds.),

Handbook of Chemical Neuroanatomy (Vol. 19, pp. 59–101). Elsevier. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0924-8196(02)80015-X

- Mello, C. V. (2002b). Mapping vocal communication pathways in birds with inducible gene expression. Journal of Comparative Physiology. A, Neuroethology, Sensory, Neural, and Behavioral Physiology, 188(11–12), 943–959. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00359-002-0347-1
- Mello, C. V., & Clayton, D. F. (1994). Song-induced ZENK gene expression in auditory pathways of songbird brain and its relation to the song control system. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, *14*(11), 6652–6666.
- Mello, C. V., & Clayton, D. F. (1995). Differential induction of the ZENK gene in the avian forebrain and song control circuit after metrazole-induced depolarization. *Journal of Neurobiology*, 26(1), 145–161. https://doi.org/10.1002/neu.480260112
- Mello, C. V., & Jarvis, E. D. (2008). Behavior-dependent expression of inducible genes in vocal learning birds. In H. P. Zeigler & P. Marler (Eds.), *Neuroscience of Birdsong* (pp. 381–397). Cambridge University Press.
- Mello, C. V., & Ribeiro, S. (1998). ZENK protein regulation by song in the brain of songbirds. *The Journal of Comparative Neurology*, *393*(4), 426–438.
- Mello, C. V., Vicario, D. S., & Clayton, D. F. (1992). Song presentation induces gene expression in the songbird forebrain. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* of the United States of America, 89(15), 6818–6822.
- Mischler, S. K., Karlin, E. J., & MacDougall-Shackleton, S. A. (2020). Call production induces motor-driven ZENK response in the song control system of black-capped chickadees. *Animal Behaviour*, 163, 145–153. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.anbehav.2020.03.006
- Montagnese, C. M., Mezey, S. E., & Csillag, A. (2003). Efferent connections of the dorsomedial thalamic nuclei of the domestic chick (Gallus domesticus). *Journal of Comparative Neurology*, 459(3), 301–326. https://doi.org/10.1002/cne.10612

- Nicholson, E. M. (1931). Communal Display in Humming-birds. *Ibis*, 73(1), 74–83. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1474-919X.1931.tb01506.x
- Nottebohm, F. (1991). Reassessing the mechanisms and origins of vocal learning in birds. *Trends in Neurosciences*, 14(5), 206–211. https://doi.org/10.1016/0166-2236(91)90107-6
- Nottebohm, F., Stokes, T. M., & Leonard, C. M. (1976). Central control of song in the canary, Serinus canarius. *The Journal of Comparative Neurology*, *165*(4), 457–486. https://doi.org/10.1002/cne.901650405
- Ornelas, J. F., González, C., Uribe, J., & Sealy, S. G. (2002). Complex Vocalizations and Aerial Displays of the Amethyst-throated Hummingbird (Lampornis amethystinus). *The Auk*, *119*(4), 1141–1149. https://doi.org/10.1642/0004-8038(2002)119[1141:CVAADO]2.0.CO;2
- Petkov, C. I., & Jarvis, E. (2012). Birds, primates, and spoken language origins: Behavioral phenotypes and neurobiological substrates. *Frontiers in Evolutionary Neuroscience*, 4. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnevo.2012.00012
- R Core Team. (2020). *R: A Language and Environment for Statistical Computing* (4.0.2). R Foundation for Statistical Computing. https://www.R-project.org/
- Ramjohn, C. L., Lucas, F. B., Hayes, F. E., Ballah, S. T., Johnson, N. C., & Garcia, K. M. (2003). Lek Mating Behavior of the Sooty-Capped Hermit (Phaethornis augusti) in the Paria Peninsula of Venezuela (Sistema de apariamiento de leks en Phaethornis augusti, en la Península de Paria, Venezuela). *Journal of Field Ornithology*, 74(3), 205–209.
- Rueden, C. T., Schindelin, J., Hiner, M. C., DeZonia, B. E., Walter, A. E., Arena, E. T., & Eliceiri, K. W. (2017). ImageJ2: ImageJ for the next generation of scientific image data. *BMC Bioinformatics*, 18(1), 529. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12859-017-1934-z
- Ruschi, P. A. (2009). A new hummingbird trap. Boletim Do Museu de Biologia Prof. Mello Leitão, 25, 67–75.

- Schindelin, J., Arganda-Carreras, I., Frise, E., Kaynig, V., Longair, M., Pietzsch, T., Preibisch,
 S., Rueden, C., Saalfeld, S., Schmid, B., Tinevez, J.-Y., White, D. J., Hartenstein, V.,
 Eliceiri, K., Tomancak, P., & Cardona, A. (2012). Fiji: An open-source platform for
 biological-image analysis. *Nature Methods*, 9(7), 676–682.
 https://doi.org/10.1038/nmeth.2019
- Schmidt, M. F., & Ashmore, R. (2008). Integrating breathing and singing: Forebrain and brainstem mechanisms. In H. P. Zeigler & P. Marler (Eds.), *Neuroscience of Birdsong* (pp. 115–135). Cambridge University Press.
- Schuchmann, K. L. (1999). Family Trochilidae (Hummingbirds). In J. del Hoyo, A. Elliott, &
 J. Sargatal (Eds.), *Handbook of the Biords of the World. Vol. 5. Barn-owls to Hummingbirds*. (pp. 34–75). Lynx Edicions.
- Stiles, F. G., & Wolf, L. L. (1979). Ecology and Evolution of Lek Mating Behavior in the Long-Tailed Hermit Hummingbird. Ornithological Monographs, 27, iii–78. https://doi.org/10.2307/40166760
- Vielliard, J. (1983). Catálogo sonográfico dos cantos e piados dos beija-flores do Brasil. Boletim Do Museu de Biologia "Mello Leitão", I(58), 1–20.
- Wada, K., Sakaguchi, H., Jarvis, E., & Hagiwara, M. (2004). Differential Expression of Glutamate Receptors in Avian Neural Pathways for Learned Vocalization. *The Journal* of Comparative Neurology, 476(1), 44–64. https://doi.org/10.1002/cne.20201
- Wiley, R. H. (1971). Song Groups in a Singing Assembly of Little Hermits. *The Condor*, 73(1), 28–35. https://doi.org/10.2307/1366121

Figure 1

















Figure 5

General discussion

In this thesis, I investigated the basis of vocal communication in hummingbirds, an unconventional model system in the bioacoustics field, focusing on its anatomical, behavioral and endocrinological aspects. The vast majority of the animals that rely on vocalizations to communicate, including human's closest relatives, can successfully transmit information using exclusively innate sounds. The vocal communication of hummingbirds, nevertheless, includes learned vocalizations that depend on a rare ability to learn which they evolved independently of other vocal learners (Gahr, 2000; Jarvis et al., 2000). Interestingly, hummingbirds live within the limit of energy expenditure, higher than any vertebrate (Suarez, 1992), yet they had to deal with all the costs that came along with their ability to learn how to produce learned vocalizations besides their innate repertoire. One of the main questions that arise is which were the prerequisites and underlying pressures for this independent but convergent evolution? In order to answer this question, a comparative approach to the principles regulating vocal communication among vocal learners would be the best starting point. To this purpose, Chapter 1 of this thesis presented a systematic study on the vocal communication of hummingbirds at a family level from a phylogenetical perspective. Additionally, in Chapter 2, I presented an investigation of the anatomy of the vocal organ in an early-branched hummingbird. This study provided hints on the synapomorphies and suggested prerequisites for the evolution of vocal learning in the family. In Chapter 3, I discussed the endocrinological aspects of hummingbirds' vocal communication and uncovered the lack of testosterone sensitivity in their vocalizations. Supporting this finding, Chapter 4 shows the lack of testosterone sensitivity to be extended to the hummingbird's vocal control system. And lastly, Chapter 5 reveals a lack of specificity in the activity of the vocal control system during the production of learned vocalizations in a natural setting.

Ideally, the starting point of this thesis would be a comparative study of the vocal behavior and neuroanatomy in both sexes of singing species of hummingbirds with facultative male song, singing with obligatory male song and non-singing in the lowland of South America. However, in contrast to established model systems with long tradition of captivity (e.g. zebra finches, canaries and budgerigars), in hummingbirds, it was still unclear whether female and male sing because the definition of song in the literature could be ambiguous and observations in the wild is difficult to obtain. For example, a putative non-singing species (amethyst woodstar, Calliphlox amethystina) was difficult to observe in the wild due to its sparse distribution whereas putative singing species were abundant but they either lack sexual dimorphism in plumage (e.g.: black jacobin) or male juveniles are similar to adult females (e.g.: black-throated mango). Therefore, in this thesis, I focused on investigating the basis of the vocal communication in hummingbirds from an evolutionary perspective and suggest its implications to the evolution of vocal-production learning. Together, the findings of this thesis, suggest that although hummingbirds evolved neuroanatomical specializations analogous to the other avian vocal learners, the anatomy of their vocal organs, endocrinological control and activation of these specializations followed a distinct evolutionary pathway. These results expand our knowledge about how vocal learning can take place in different organisms.

Functional aspects of vocal communication in hummingbirds

Repertoire of calls

The hummingbird repertoire of calls is relatively understudied compared to that of songbirds, however, hummingbird species seem to have a relatively poor repertoire considering the number of calls and the variety of behavioral contexts they possess. The sombre hummingbird (*Eupetomena cirrochloris*), for example, is the species with the highest number of calls described so far. Their repertoire is made of six calls mostly related to agonistic contexts including chirp, guttural (expel intruders), vibrato (during direct confrontation or courtship),

whistle (mostly when perched sometimes followed by an attack or courtship), crack (only by males) and high-pitch (at the end of a fight) (Ferreira et al., 2006). In contrast, a rich repertoire of calls is commonly observed in gregarious species across all avian phylogenies from earlybranched Neoaves to most recent radiations of Passeriformes because these calls can be used to fine-tune complex social interactions independently of the species' ability to learn novel sounds (Leroy, 1979; Morton, 1977; Smith, 1972). For example, the red junglefowl (Gallus gallus) as well as the domesticated chicken, produce up to 24 different calls including female clucking, two types of food calls such as purring, alarm cackling to ground predator, alarm scream to flying predator, a loud defensive threat to flying predator, hiss by the female on nest, threat calls of low intensity by both sexes and crowing by the male to illustrate a few (Collias, 1987). The Guira cuckoo (Guira guira), a Cuculiform which is also a basal landbird like the Caprimulgiformes, has a repertoire of 15 calls including alarms directed to a conspecific or to inform the presence of an eagle, begging, flight, landing and feeding calls (Fandiño-Mariño, 1989). The orange-winged amazon (Amazona amazonica), a Psittaciform which is also Australoaves like the Passeriformes, has nine calls in reproductive context including flight or perched contact calls, three different types of alarm and two types of distress calls (Moura et al., 2011). Most of the species with rich repertoires seem to have mainly calls of affiliative nature. Hummingbirds, in contrast, have repertoires of a few calls mostly dedicated to agonistic contexts (Chapter 1)

Hummingbirds live within the upper limit of energy expenditure of any warm-blooded animal (Suarez, 1992), therefore, they live nearly on the edge of starvation, needing to feed more than their body weight each day (Ruschi, 1973). Their diet is based on nectar and insects (Hoyo et al., 1999; Ruschi, 1973; Sick, 1997) which are often sparsely distributed in their habitat. Thus, the intense search for food probably shapes their interactions and, consequently, their repertoire of calls. This may be also the case in strictly insectivorous species such as the mustached wren (*Pheugopedius genibarbis*), an oscine in which both sexes jointly defend relatively large territories all year round using a duet song, has only further two calls emitted by adults in their repertoire: an alarm and a contact call (A. de A. Monte, 2012).

It is hypothesized that the dependence on energy-rich nectar sources fomented the evolution of aggressive survival strategies (Wolf, 1978) and may explain hummingbird's solitary and aggressive behavior (Schuchmann, 1999). For example, dominant males of the long-billed hermits (*Phaethornis longirostris*) have morphologically specialized bills that serve as weapons (Rico-Guevara & Araya-Salas, 2015). However, due to their lack of pointed bills, the gilded hummingbirds (*Hylocharis chrysura*) and black-throated mangoes (*Anthracothorax nigricollis*) rely on vocalizations rather than on physical attacks to defend certain agglomerations of flowers. It is, therefore, possible that for some hummingbird species, agonistic calls are a way of "resource winning without paying the cost of an escalated fight" (Bradbury & Vehrencamp, 2011).

The resolution of conflicts is facilitated by aggressive calls in many other bird groups (Marler, 2004). For example, four calls of the red junglefowl repertoire of 24 calls are used in aggressive encounters (Collias, 1987). On the other hand, in social birds, such as parrots, calls are used to coordinate group activities; the Carnaby's black-cockatoo (*Calyptorhynchus latirostris*) produces 15 calls, none of which directly arises from an agonistic context (Saunders, 1983). In songbirds (*Passeriformes*), such as the chaffinch (*Fringilla coelebs*) and the great tit (*Parus major*), calls are used in aggressive contexts, including territorial defense (Marler 1956, 2004b, Gompert 1961). In addition to calls, songbirds also use songs, for example, to signal distinct levels of aggressiveness (reviewed in Searcy and Beecher 2009). Some species can lower the amplitude of their songs or match a singing conspecific in frequency to emphasize their aggressiveness (Searcy & Beecher, 2009). Others have different song types and match these to the same type of a conspecific to signal diminished aggression, or they switch song types to signal either escalation or de-escalation, and some use their song performance to signal

aggressive escalation (Searcy & Beecher, 2009). Hummingbirds seem to mainly use their calls to resolve agonistic encounters.

In addition to agonistic calls, many hummingbird species have a call spectrally similar in their repertoire which is commonly named "chirp" or "chip" and described in almost all clades except for those that are not well studied (Topazes, Brilliant, Patagona and Coquettes). The chirps show strikingly similar temporal and spectral parameters in all species. They all have a relatively short duration combined with a wide frequency bandwidth. For example, a unit of the rufous-breasted hermit (Glaucis hirsutus) chirp call is composed of ascending frequency modulation of 6 to 7 kHz during 60 to 90 ms (Ferreira et al., 2006). The function of the chirps is unclear. Rufous-breasted hermits (Ferreira et al., 2006) and blue-throated hummingbirds (Ficken et al., 2002) emit chirps in two different contexts: the bird is perched alone emitting a series of chirps with progressively longer silence intervals, and the bird is only flying or foraging and producing single chirps. Ficken et al. (2002) suggested that the bluethroated hummingbirds' serial chirps served as "long distance territorial advertisement" to complement the function of their short-distance whisper song. Given their spectral and temporal properties, the chirps produced during the flight may be used for spatial orientation and/or the localization of insects during foraging flights. Swiftlets of the genus Aerodramus (order *Caprimulgiformes*) produce clicks, with spectral parameters similar to those of the chirps, to navigate in the dark (Thomassen & Povel, 2006). Oilbirds (Steatornis caripensis, order Caprimulgiformes) also produce clicks to navigate in dark caves (Konishi & Knudsen, 1979). Both oilbirds and swiftlets are related to hummingbirds in the order Caprimulgiformes (Jarvis et al., 2014; Prum et al., 2015). Behavioral paradigms are necessary to identify whether hummingbirds can also use sounds, most likely the "chirps", to navigate such as oilbirds and swiftlets or they might have lost this function.

Song

The song of hummingbirds is mainly produced by perched males in the reproductive context (**Chapter 1**). The importance of being perched during emission in the hummingbird song classification appears to be associated with the fact that most Hermits and Emeralds species are reported to sing in assemblies, so-called leks (Bleiweiss, 1998; B. K. Snow, 1973; D. W. Snow, 1968; Stiles & Wolf, 1979). In the lek, each male holds a certain position or small individual singing territory (which is different from large breeding or food territories) and performs vocally and with complementary visual displays such as rhythmic head and tail movements (Nicholson, 1931; Wiley, 1971). The relative position of each male, its detectability and singing endurance within the lek might be important for female choice.

Some hummingbird species, nevertheless, can produce lower intensity or soft songs with closed beaks that have been reported as audible only within ~ five meters (Feo et al., 2014). These low-intensity songs are so-called whisper songs and are described as usual among hummingbirds (Skutch, 1964a). Whisper song is produced by, for example, Inaguan hummingbird (Calliphlox evelynae lyrura), a Bee (Feo et al., 2014), scaly-breasted hummingbird (Phaeochroa cuvierii) and the sombre hummingbird (Aphantochroa cirrochloris), both Emeralds (Ferreira et al., 2006; Skutch, 1964b). The Allen's hummingbird is recurrently mentioned as a nonsinging species, but they have been reported to emit "mouselike squeaks" (Basset, 1921) that could potentially be a whisper song. For songbirds, it was hypothesized that in dense populations whisper song is used to address a specific target directly while reducing the risk of conspecific eavesdropping, in other words, it is "used in situations with a need for privacy" (Dabelsteen et al., 1998). For example, a whisper song is used by male common blackbirds (Turdus merula) while establishing a territory to address only specific males. This behavior, in turn, prevents broader conflicts and can conceal courtship to avoid interruption by further potential competitors (Snow, 1958). Given the fact that hummingbirds are mainly solitary (Hoyo et al., 1999), this "privacy" hypothesis could be applied only to those
species that sing in dense feeding areas, for example, the sombre hummingbird (pers. obs.). Alternatively, a whisper song might signal aggressiveness, as demonstrated in swamp sparrows (*Melospiza georgiana*) (Searcy & Beecher, 2009). This possibility is more likely since many hummingbird species are territorial (Wolf, 1978). Thus, it is also possible that the lower amplitude of the whisper songs is a byproduct of singing with the beak closed. In sombre hummingbirds, singing with a closed beak was suggested to reduce the song's pitch range and tonal quality when compared with long-tailed hermits that sing with open beaks (Ferreira et al., 2006). The starting point to investigate the function of the whisper song in hummingbirds is to verify whether the species that sing whisper song (*i*) emit their song in dense feeding territories, (*ii*) sing with closed beaks and (*iii*) are more likely to attack after singing.

Interestingly, many hummingbirds emit relatively high-pitched songs with a fundamental frequency range of 9-13 kHz (Duque et al., 2018) above the outer extent of the hearing in birds which range is 2-5 kHz with hearing sensitivity falling rapidly after this range and not reaching 10 kHz (Dooling, 2004). Hummingbirds, nevertheless, can perceive and respond to these high-pitched songs but the mechanisms underlying this capacity remains unknown (Duque et al., 2020). Furthermore, two species can even emit ultrasonic sounds (> 30 kHz): the blue-throated hummingbird (Lampornis clemenciae), a mountain gem (Pytte et al., 2004) and the black Jacobin (Florisuga fusca), a topaz (Olson et al., 2018). Only the bluethroated hummingbird was investigated concerning its hearing range. While its song contains harmonics up to 30 kHz, surprisingly, its upper hearing threshold is around 7 kHz, and the peak sensitivity is 2 kHz in auditory brainstem responses (ABR) (Pytte et al., 2004). The mismatch between sound production and hearing capacity in the blue-throated hummingbird still requires confirmation since the ABR recording was conducted on birds anesthetized with an intramuscular injection of xylazine/ketamine combination (Pytte et al., 2004) and it was demonstrated that some anesthesia conditions could impair auditory sensitivity in relation to the awake condition with high species-specific variation in the sensitivity to different anesthetics (Thiele & Köppl, 2018). Thus, ABR recordings in awake birds and behavioral tests are needed to verify the extent of this mismatch. If both species are genuinely unable to perceive their song fully, an even more intriguing question arises: why do they produce sounds they cannot hear? It is hypothesized that ultrasonic sounds serve non-communicative purposes (Olson et al., 2018; Pytte et al., 2004); these sounds may disturb insect flight making them easier to be captured (Pytte et al., 2004). Alternatively, ultrasounds are perhaps just a byproduct of their long vocal tracts (Roverud, 1983; Zusi 2013) that lead to the generation of multiple harmonics (Hoese et al., 2000) which range into the ultrasonic range. However, the blue-throated hummingbird song comprises syllables with frequency bandwidth exclusively in the ultrasonic range (Pytte et al., 2004), not only harmonics as the black jacobin's (Olson et al., 2018). Behavioral paradigms using the playback of only the ultrasonic part of the song may reveal whether they are perceived and, therefore, used in conspecific communication.

Evolution of singing in hummingbirds and implications for vocal production learning

In contrast to the most studied group, the songbirds, singing is heterogeneous in hummingbirds (**Chapter 1**). It is important to mention that in songbirds and parrots, most studies were conducted on a few temperate species. Nevertheless, all studied songbirds so far were reported to sing and have a learned song, therefore the ability of vocal learning is usually extrapolated to the complete suborder *Passeri* or *Oscine*. A similar extrapolation needs caution for the whole *Trochilidae* family because the evolutionary losses of singing are probably associated with losses of vocal-production learning ability (**Chapter 1**).

Hypothesis on the evolution of vocal-production learning

The sexual selection hypothesis was suggested to explain the evolution of learned songs in hummingbirds (Jarvis, 2006). This hypothesis predicts that the proximate effect of vocal-production learning is the expansion of song repertoires (Nowicki & Searcy, 2014). Female

preference for diverse vocal repertoires and male vocal-production learning would allow songs to become more varied in terms of syllable types or complex syllables to signal male quality (Nowicki & Searcy, 2014). However, the song of the lek-mating hermits tends to be simple, repetitive, loud and long-lasting (Araya-Salas & Wright, 2013; Macdougall-Shackleton & Harbison, 1998; Skutch, 1964a) driven by endurance and detectability rather than the size of the song repertoire. Therefore, sexual selection is unlikely to be the major driver of vocal production-learning at least in early-branched lekking hummingbirds such as hermits. Alternatively, the advantages of group signatures might have driven vocal-production learning in these hummingbirds.

Most of the lek-mating species have vocal dialects (e.g. Snow 1968, Wiley 1971, Mirsky 1976, Baptista and Schuchmann 1990). Lekking, which is widespread among hummingbirds (Martínez-García et al., 2013; Pizo, 2012), is restricted to early mornings in some species [e.g. in topazes: the crimson topaz (*Topaza pella*) (Davis, 1958); in emeralds: the swallow-tailed hummingbird (*Eupetomena macroura*) (Pizo & Silva, 2001)] when visibility is low. It is possible that males of a lek can acoustically distinguish neighbors, which are most likely to hold singing territories with stable boundaries within the leks, from newcomers, which are probably seeking a singing territory. Thus, territorial males can use this information to modulate their aggression during territorial responses, according to the risk of the threat. The reduced aggression from territorial animals towards familiar individuals, generally neighbors, with whom relationships have already been established, is called the "dear enemy effect" and has been shown in songbirds (Briefer et al., 2008).

In hummingbirds, males often do not build nests or defend breeding territories, and parental care is performed exclusively by the female (Hoyo et al., 1999; Ruschi, 1973), so it is important to bear in mind that singing territories within the lek context differ from the feeding/breeding territories in which the "dear enemy effect" was demonstrated in songbirds. Although this effect is awaiting experimental confirmation in hummingbirds, in **Chapter 1**, I hypothesize that vocal-production learning evolved in early-branched hummingbirds to facilitate group signatures that enabled the identification of neighbors and the modulation of aggression in territorial responses. This hypothesis predicts two selective benefits: males can (*i*) increase their detectability and consequently their mating success and (*ii*) decrease the costs of a fight, thus increasing their survival odds.

Although previous studies suggest that it is unlikely that group signatures drove the evolution of vocal learning because the former could not have evolved before the latter (Nowicki & Searcy, 2014), it is possible that, in a highly belligerent bird as the hummingbirds, the evolution of lekking behavior was correlated to the development of group signatures as a strategy to mitigate aggression and increase survival. Probably this pressure for encoding group and individual signatures in the song was also the main driver in other non-songbirds that show evidence for vocal-production learning such as some lekking cotingas (D. Kroodsma et al., 2013) and, most recently, the Australian musk ducks (*Biziura lobata*), also known to display in leks (ten Cate & Fullagar, 2021). However, given that lekking manakins are relatively well studied but up to date they lack sound evidence for vocal-production learning (ten Cate, 2021), this hypothesis may be limited to hummingbirds. Comparisons of the vocal-production learning between lekking and non-lekking hummingbird species have the potential to elucidate this hypothesis.

Lekking, therefore, seems to be related to the evolution of vocal-production learning in at least the six most-studied clades (except Coquettes, Brilliants and Patagona, which are rarely studied). However, extraordinary cases of song complexity were reported for some hummingbird species, particularly among the mangoes, mountain gems and emeralds, all of which perform lek-singing. Thus, it is possible that vocal-production learning evolved in lekking hummingbird species to form group signatures. Once present, vocal-production learning allowed the coding of other information in various clades and species. Alternatively, vocal-production learning evolved under different pressures in different hummingbird clades.

Furthermore, it remains unknown whether the songs of topazes species are learned. Since it is known that swifts are non-vocal learners (Gahr, 2000) and topazes is a sister clade of all hummingbirds (McGuire et al., 2014), investigations of vocal-production learning in topazes can shed light on the ancestral condition of the hummingbird family.

Evolutionary loss of singing and probably vocal-production learning

Evolutionary losses of singing were previously reported to have happened across the clade bees (tribe *Mellisugini*) (Clark et al., 2018). Interestingly, these losses seem to correlate with the degenerated development of the putative vocal control system (Gahr, 2000). In males of ruby-throated hummingbird (*Archilochus colubris*) and Allen's hummingbird (*Selasphorus sasin*), the putative vocal-control system has a phenotype similar to that of rudimentary song control areas of female songbirds (Gahr, 2000), such as females zebra finch that are unable to produce learned songs (Nottebohm & Arnold, 1976).

In Bees, dive display is an ancestral trait within the clade (Clark et al., 2018; Clark & Feo, 2010) whereas dive or homologous behaviors seem rare outside the bees (Clark et al., 2018). It was demonstrated for bees that the evolution of singing is negatively correlated to the production of sounds with the wing (wing trills) as they seem functionally equivalent (Clark et al., 2018). Neither song nor wing trill seemed costlier, thus, this replacement was suggested to have happened neutrally (Clark et al., 2018). However, given that most of the species in the two genera of bees (*Selasphorus* and *Archilochus*) that lost the song occupy open habitats, it is, therefore, possible that some bees avoided perched song because it made them more conspicuous to predators. Allen's hummingbird (*Selasphorus sasin*), for example, is a riparian breeder that often perches conspicuously on exposed leafless branches (Clark & Mitchell, 2020). Although ruby-throated hummingbird (*Archilochus colubris*) can be predated by hawks

during their migratory stopover (Zenzal et al., 2013), the predation of adults has been seldom observed and predation does not seem a significant risk to hummingbirds (Miller & Gass, 1985). This low predation pressure might have been achieved, in parts, by the difficulty to intercept males in which courtship is composed mainly of dynamic displays.

Predation was already suggested as the main pressure against the evolution of learned songs because predators habituate easily to the constancy of innate calls than to the variation of learned songs; thus, a relaxed predatory pressure seems to precede the evolution of vocal-production learning (Jarvis, 2006). In the clade coquettes, relatively close-related to bees, many species of tropical Central America that occupy dense forest interior and second-growth habitats tend to have static displays on a perch; whereas species that occupy open habitats such as clearings, meadows, and forest edge tend to perform visual displays that resemble a rudimentary dive (Stiles, 1982). Furthermore, the relatively small body sizes of bees may lower the energetic requirements for dive displays and their short wings may facilitate the sophistication of the dive's aerodynamics by increasing agility and maneuverability (Payne, 1984). Overall, the expansion of bees to North America and consequent occupation of open habitats on relatively low altitudes combined with their small body sizes might have favored the enhancement of visual displays and the diversification of dive displays and associated mechanical sounds.

Interestingly, both species of the genus *Atthis* are non-diving and evolved singing (Clark et al., 2018). The evolutionary regain of singing in *Atthis* may be related to the habitat they occupy: both bumblebee hummingbird (*Atthis heloisa*) and wine-throated hummingbird (*Atthis ellioti*) inhabit forests, pine-oak woodlands, and neighboring shrubby areas (Arizmendi et al., 2020; Thurber et al., 2020). Predatory risks must be investigated comparatively between singing and non-singing bees to elucidate this possibility.

Comparisons of vocal-production learning in hummingbirds, songbirds and parrots

The family Apodidae, including swifts and swiftlets, is the sister family of hummingbirds (Prum et al., 2015; Thomassen et al., 2005). Swiftlets and swifts produce species-specific vocalizations (Thomassen & Povel, 2006) but are not known to learn their emitted songs (Gahr, 2000; Jarvis, 2006). Furthermore, none of the species of the other families of the Caprimulgiformes (Strisores) are known to show vocal-production learning. Thus, it is likely that vocal-production learning is the apomorphic state and singing is the plesiomorphic state of hummingbirds. However, with the current knowledge of vocal-production learning among hummingbirds, it was not possible to resolve if this phenotype had emerged in the lineage leading to the extant hummingbird clades, was lost and regained at least twice in bees, or emerged independently several times during the evolution of the major hummingbird clades and, in some cases, within clades, such as the bees (Chapter 1). The evolution of vocal-production learning might have followed independent evolutionary pathways within the family, as some species incorporated group signatures in their simple songs (e.g. lekking hermits), other species imitate their mechanically produced flight sounds (e.g. diving bees), and others develop rich song repertoires composed of many different syllables, which are difficult to achieve by innate mechanisms (e.g. lekking mountain gem and emeralds).

The best-studied group of vocal-production learners is the songbirds (for a species list see, Kroodsma and Baylis 1982). Nevertheless, the selection pressures underlying the evolution of vocal-production learning in songbirds are far from understood. Different aspects of the songs among and even within songbird families cannot be explained by a single hypothesis, for example, the selection of smaller repertoires in some species and larger repertoires in others (Beecher & Brenowitz, 2005). Given that there are roughly 100 songbird families encompassing about 4,500 species (Hoyo et al., 2016), vocal-production learning likely has various functions among songbirds that have evolved in response to various selection pressures.

Likewise, despite their relatively close relatedness (Prum et al., 2015), songbirds and parrots have accumulated many differences in the functional aspects of their learned vocalizations, which suggests that their vocal-learning abilities evolved independently. For example, in wild parrots, vocal-production learning appears related to the maintenance of social bonds and the defense of nest sites rather than sexual selection and mate competition, as it is for many songbirds (Bradbury & Balsby, 2016). Beecher and Brenowitz (2005) suggested that "...many questions about the evolution of song learning will yield to an integrated approach in which comparative data on song-learning strategies are analyzed in a full phylogenetic context." Future comparative studies on vocal-production learning in parrots and songbirds in the light of their phylogenies will most likely reveal that their singing strategies and, maybe, vocallearning abilities are as diverse as those suggested for hummingbirds. In contrast to hummingbirds, none of the songbird and parrot species investigated to date showed evidence of an evolutionary loss of vocal-learning ability. However, as the studies on vocal-production learning in songbirds and parrots are focused on a few temperate species, the investigation of poorly studied groups in a comparative framework including hummingbirds may reveal whether further vocal learners have lost the ability of vocal-production learning and, most exciting, the probable evolutionary constraints against the development of such high cognitive skill as vocal-production learning. To begin with, do hummingbirds have anatomical specializations that may facilitate the evolution of vocal-production learning?

Anatomy of the vocal organ and its implication to vocal production learning

Although the syrinx of the hummingbirds is as complex as that of songbirds (Riede & Olson, 2020), hummingbirds have unique features which make sound production possible despite their morphological adaptations for hovering flight (Monte et al., 2020). Hummingbirds are the only group reported to have their syrinx outside of the thoracic cavity (Monte et al., 2020; Riede & Olson, 2020; Zusi, 2013). I proposed that the displacement of the syrinx in hummingbirds may

have been driven by the physical constraints generated by the presence of large heart and chest muscles (**Chapter 2**). In the neck, the syrinx does not need lateral stabilization which may explain the loss of sterno-tracheal muscles which are present in almost all other birds. Another consequence of an extrathoracic syrinx may be the orientation of its intrinsic musculature which is horizontal in contrast to that of most bird species (**Chapter 2**).

Independent of its specializations, the syrinx of vocal learners has in common the presence of intrinsic musculature (Gaunt, 1983). In previous studies, the lack of correlation found between the number of intrinsic muscles and the sound complexity rejected the hypothesis of the participation of specific anatomical characteristics of the vocal organ in the evolution of vocal production learning (Jarvis, 2019). For example, most parrots have two pairs of intrinsic muscles, in contrast to up to five in songbirds (Ames, 1971; Gaunt, 1983), yet, as songbirds, parrots produce more complex sounds. Instead of rejecting this hypothesis, in **Chapter 2**, I proposed an update by speculating that a complex vocal system that allows the fine control of the sound source can constitute a prerequisite for vocal-production learning. As a prerequisite, I mean that not all species that have a complex vocal system went to the next evolutionary step and evolved the ability of vocal production learning, but all learners must have a complex vocal system. An analogy in the same logic would be that not everyone that has a good guitar will be able to play the solo of "Sweet Child O'Mine" but Slash would not be able to perform this iconic solo without having a good guitar.

A complex vocal system constitutes a series of anatomic structures that, commanded by the forebrain, can independently control a series of distinct sound parameters. Such anatomic structures can be the intrinsic musculature, the tongue and even the tympanic ossicles of hummingbirds, an ossified structure embedded in the vibratory membrane which is probably under muscular control (**Chapter 2**). In the case of parrots, for example, although they possess two pairs of intrinsic muscles, their lingual articulation has the ability to modify the amplitude of the frequency formants, which in part explains their extraordinary ability to mimic human voice (Beckers et al., 2004).

The complexity of the system may give many degrees of freedom for the trial-and-error attempts inherent to the learning process (**Chapter 2**). Songbirds have many intrinsic muscles and fine control over the vibratory membrane (Düring et al., 2013). Parrots have only two pairs of intrinsic muscles but they articulate their tongue (Beckers et al., 2004). Lastly, hummingbirds possess muscles that are organized in a specific manner which enables them to control their vibratory membranes in at least three different ways (A. Monte et al., 2020). The similarities found between the syrinx of the black jacobin and that of their distantly related species Anna's hummingbird (Riede & Olson, 2020) indicate that the prerequisite for the evolution of vocal production learning may constitute an ancestral and conserved trait within hummingbirds. The neuronal control of this vocal organ and endocrinal control of their vocalizations were the subject of **Chapter 3**, **4** and **5**.

Neuroanatomy of the vocal control system and implications for vocal production learning

In avian vocal learners, the vocal organ can be controlled by a set of nuclei in their forebrain, the vocal control system (reviewed in Nottebohm 2005). Although all avian vocal learners investigated to date have a vocal control system in their forebrains which can be delimited by androgen receptors (AR) expressing cells (Frankl-Vilches & Gahr, 2018; Gahr & Metzdorf, 1997; Matsunaga & Okanoya, 2008) and differentially active when singing (Jarvis et al., 2000; Mello, 2002), this is not the case for the putative vocal control system in most of hummingbird species investigated in this thesis (**Chapter 4** and **5**).

Previous studies have shown a vocal control system analogous to songbirds in males of a hermit [rufous-breasted hermit (*Glaucis hirsuta*) (Jarvis et al., 2000)]; a bee [Anna's hummingbird (*Calypte anna*) (Gahr, 2000)]; and two Emeralds [sombre hummingbird (*Aphantochroa cirrhochloris*) (Jarvis et al., 2000), and Amazilia hummingbirds (*Amazilia amazilia*) (Gahr, 2000)]. In nearly all the species studied in this thesis and in most cases in both sexes, I successfully identified the vocal control system by its location and cytoarchitecture using Nissl-stained brain slices. However, I could not delimitate these nuclei by the two classical techniques used to delimit the nuclei of the vocal control system in songbirds and parrots: in situ hybridization for the expression of AR mRNA (**Chapter 4**) and the expression of immediate early gene EGR-1 (**Chapter 5**).

After many attempts adapting the protocol of in situ hybridization performed with ³⁵S-CTP-labeled probes, including the design of a hummingbird-specific that successfully delimited the HVC of a zebra finch but not hummingbirds (Chapter 4), finally, the in situ hybridization performed using a highly sensitive and specific kit with chromogenic-labeled probes (RNAscope®, Advanced Cell Diagnostics, United States) (Wang et al., 2012) cloned from zebra finch or hummingbirds consistently revealed that mRNA AR was rather expressed elsewhere in the forebrain and in some areas in the midbrain known to express AR in other non-learning birds as well (Metzdorf et al., 1999). These findings indicated that the absence of AR in the putative vocal control system of hummingbirds is unlikely to be an artifact in histological preparations. Furthermore, the lack of differential EGR-1 mRNA expression in the vocal control system of a hermit hummingbird (Chapter 5) was consistent for two different in situ techniques of labeling (³⁵S or chromogenic labels) and for birds sampled in different years. It is important to keep in mind that the putative vocal control system of hummingbirds, especially of the Topazes, still needs confirmation with further molecular markers such as those listed in the project ZEBrA database (Oregon Health & Science University, Portland, United States http://www.zebrafinchatlas.org). However, the findings of this thesis indicate that most likely the vocal control system of both sexes in most of the hummingbird species has some remarkable, yet overlooked, molecular differences from the other avian vocal learners.

The ARs are binding sites to androgenic hormones that can structurally affect the brain by inducing changes in the expression of genes related, for example, to the incorporation of new neurons such as BDNF (Dittrich et al., 2014). Thus, the presence of AR and the transcription activation mediated by the ARs can be linked to the plasticity of the vocal control system which is heterogeneous among vocal learners (Frankl-Vilches & Gahr, 2018). This heterogeneity may partially explain how a conservative network of nuclei in terms of cytoarchitecture and connectivity such as the vocal control system can lead to different phenotypes considering sex differences and adult plasticity for learning. Testosterone and its metabolites bind to ARs of the vocal control system causing important organizational effects during the ontogeny of vocal production learning; thus, it is unknown how vocal production learning can take place in the absence of ARs. Some hummingbird species may possess the ability to transiently express AR during the early stages of development and lose it during their adult life; a steppingstone to investigate this would be to map the AR in the brain of juveniles. Alternatively, these hummingbird species undergo the ontogeny of vocal production learning solely under the influence of estrogens; to investigate this, it is necessary to map the expression of estrogen receptors (ER) in the brain of adults. Furthermore, the capacity of estrogens to induce the expression of genes related to neuronal growth remains to be uncovered.

Another dissimilarity in the anatomy of the putative vocal control system of all hummingbird species investigated in this thesis is the possible absence of a nucleus in the striatum analogous to Area X of songbirds, the VASt, known to be important for the ontogeny of song learning (e.g.: Brainard and Doupe 2000). The VASt was identified in males of rufous-breasted hermit and sombre hummingbird by the differential expression of the immediate early gene EGR-1 (Jarvis et al., 2000). Nevertheless, none of the two studies using further markers that show differential expression in other nuclei of the vocal control system of hummingbirds delimited VASt. The first study investigated the AR expression in males Amazilia hummingbird (*Amazilia amazilia*) and Anna's hummingbird (Gahr, 2000) and the second, the expression of

two subunits of glutamate receptors, NR2A and mGluR2 in male sombre hummingbird (Wada et al., 2004). Considering the need to verify the presence of VASt using further markers, I can speculate that if VASt is absent in most hummingbird species, the connectivity of the anterior pathway differs from what is known for vocal learners, therefore, memorization of learned vocalizations is probability independent of the striatal-thalamic or recursive loop in the anterior pathway.

In songbirds, the recursive loop is made of Area X sending projections to the thalamic nucleus DLM that send projections to LMAN in the forebrain which, in turn, sends projections back to Area X (reviewed in Zeigler and Marler 2012). In juvenile zebra finches, lesions of Area X resulted in atypical songs consisting of rambling series of unusually long and variable notes (Scharff & Nottebohm, 1991). In adult zebra finches, neurotoxic lesions of Area X caused a long-term increase in song tempo and changes in syllable sequencing, particularly profound repetition that resembles human stuttering (Kubikova et al., 2014). Thus, the recursive loop seems important not only for the ontogeny of vocal production learning but also for the maintenance of temporal aspects of the learned song even in adults that are close-ended learners.

Interestingly, the VAN (LMAN-like) of the long-tailed hermit (*Phaethornis superciliosus*) showed lower EGR-1 expression relative to the surrounding nidopallium in the posterior part (dorsocaudal) and higher EGR-1 expression in the anterior part. The expression of EGR-1 in Anna's hummingbird (Chakraborty et al., 2015), NR2A and mGluR2 in sombre hummingbird showed also a similar dual pattern in VAN that was unique to hummingbirds (Wada et al., 2004). These findings suggest that the posterior and anterior parts of VAN are different in their receptor's distribution and maybe in their function; one may have afferent and the other efferent connections. Given the importance of the recursive loop to vocal-production learning, hummingbirds that lack VASt may have an alternative to this loop. In these

hummingbirds, the recursive loop is perhaps made of VAN sending a direct projection to the thalamus which, in turn, sends projections to another area of the VAN. The reduction of the recursive loop from three to two nuclei was maybe a solution to make this loop more compact and yet maintain its functionality. Connectivity studies are key to confirming the presence of a recursive loop in hummingbirds.

Previous studies have shown that some hummingbird species such as Anna's hummingbird possess a putative vocal control system that is more similar to that of songbirds than to that of other hummingbird species studied in this thesis (Gahr, 2000). This could indicate that not only singing but also the vocal control system is heterogeneous in hummingbirds (Chapter 1). This heterogeneity may vary in at least three stages: (*i*) a rudimentary system in hummingbird species that lost singing similar to the system of non-singing females in some songbirds, for example, zebra finch; (ii) a system with fewer nuclei and with differences in their cytochemistry in hummingbird species in which song may be only partially learned; and (*iii*) a complete system similar to some songbirds in species with complex songs. This variability is in line with the vocal learning continuum hypothesis which suggests that vocal production learning evolved in a stepwise rather than a dichotomic manner (Arriaga & Jarvis, 2013; Petkov & Jarvis, 2012). According to the continuum hypothesis, there are limited vocal learners, for example, monkeys that can learn to contract their diaphragm to mimic human coughing (Perlman & Clark, 2015), and moderate vocal learners, for example, mice that can learn some elements of their ultrasonic vocalizations (Arriaga & Jarvis, 2013; Jarvis, 2019). This process has supposedly happened in several orders, and I propose that a similar process may have happened within the hummingbird family that includes taxa up to 20 million years apart (McGuire et al., 2014). The development of a vocal motor pathway in hummingbirds may have had intermediate stages in which the motor vocal pathway was initially composed of fewer nuclei and lacking androgen receptors.

Furthermore, the ontogeny of vocal production learning also seems to differ from that of songbirds. In most songbirds, the sensory period declines after around 100 days post-hatch, and the sensory exposure required for song memorization can be relatively short (reviewed in Brainard and Doupe 2002). For example, nightingales (Luscinia megarhynchos) can learn up to 60 songs that they have heard only once a day for 20 days whereas zebra finches can learn well if exposed to a tutor song less than a minute per day (reviewed in Brainard and Doupe 2002). Recent studies of the vocal leaning ontogeny in Costa's hummingbird (*Calvpte costae*) demonstrated that males have a relatively long sensitive phase that begins before day 35 days post-hatch and continues until after 115 days depending on relatively long sensory exposure (more than \sim 4,000 songs over 20 hours of tutoring); learning happens if the bird is exposed to both the playback of the song and the presence of a conspecific (Johnson & Clark, 2020, 2022). This long exposure is needed to learn a whistled song which was believed to be innate because of its relative simplicity compared to the spectrally variable song of the sister species Anna's hummingbird (Calypte anna) (Williams & Houtman, 2008). Investigations of the cytochemistry and connectivity of the vocal control system comparing Costa's hummingbirds to Anna's hummingbird and other distantly related species such as the black jacobin have the potential to disentangle phylogenetic constraints and functional adaptations of the vocal control system in hummingbirds.

Despite its independent evolution, the vocal control system showed many convergences in the distant avian groups of vocal learners which were suggested to be driven by more than 50 common genes involved in the enrichment of the motor control and neural connectivity functions (Pfenning et al., 2014). These convergent specializations for a long period reinforced the hypothesis that there is a limited way in which learning can be coordinated in the forebrain. However, the study of this system in several hummingbird species provides hints that this hypothesis may originate from comparative studies done on the same few model species. For example, studies including hummingbirds often use Anna's hummingbird as model species and in this thesis, Anna's hummingbird was proven to possess many differences from phylogenetic distant species such as the black jacobin. In this regard, it would be illuminating to extend comparative studies on the neuroanatomy of the vocal control system to phylogenetic distant species that better represent the large diversity of life history characteristics of hummingbirds; this approach has the potential to unveil alternative ways to achieve variability of learning.

Testosterone insensitivity and implications for vocal production learning

Although the presence of the androgen receptor (AR) in the vocal control system is ubiquitous in both sexes of all other avian vocal learners investigated to date with different degrees of sex differentiation in their vocal behavior (Frankl-Vilches & Gahr, 2018; Gahr, 2020b), in hummingbirds, it seems that ARs in the forebrain is rather an exception (**Chapter 4**). Hummingbirds also show a relatively low AR expression in the testis and synrix (**Chapter 4**). This absence offers further support to the outcome of the testosterone manipulation; high levels of testosterone kept implanted birds aggressive but did not affect their vocal behavior (**Chapter 3**). It is important to bear in mind that the results of **Chapter 3** may be restricted to a specific life stage and those of **Chapter 4** to a few individuals therefore the interpretations are given in a speculative tone.

There is substantial evidence that shows the detrimental effects of prolonged high levels of circulating testosterone on lifetime fitness such as exposure to predators, increased risk of injury and loss of mass and fat reserves, therefore, many species evolved mechanisms to avoid these costs of circulating testosterone in the nonbreeding season (reviewed in Wingfield et al. 2001). In comparison to other birds, hummingbirds are intrinsically on the upper limit of aggressiveness and metabolism, thus, a minor energy loss can be crucial for their survival (Ruschi, 1973; Suarez, 1992). It is possible that to avoid the detrimental effects of testosterone, most hummingbird species might have evolved an even more restrictive mechanism than tilts according to the life stage; they may have become almost insensitive by having little or almost

no androgen receptors in most of their tissues, in particular, in their forebrains. The evaluation of mass loss driven by testosterone implants comparatively in testosterone sensitive (e.g.: Anna's hummingbird) and less sensitive species (e.g.: black jacobin) could shed light on this possibility.

In most of the songbirds species investigated to date, testosterone affects song rate but its effect on other parameters such as song duration, frequency and stereotypy varies among species (reviewed in Gahr 2020b). There are a few exceptions such as male blue tit (Parus *caeruleus*) that shows a mismatch between the peaks of song rate and testosterone plasma level; their song rate peaks during nest building whereas testosterone peaks a few weeks later, during female egg-laying and mate guarding (Caro et al., 2005). Although a weak correlation between testosterone and the duration of the dawn chorus was observed (Foerster et al., 2002), as expected, in blue tits, experimentally elevated testosterone did not influence singing (Kunc et al., 2006), but, interestingly, nor aggression or territorial defense (Foerster & Kempenaers, 2005). Hence, it is possible to speculate that when song is not subjected to mate choice, none of its parameters is affected by testosterone; this may be the case for blue tits and most hummingbirds. Eventually, song may serve other functions that affect undirectedly sexual selection such as territorial defense; thus, it is the quality of territory rather than that of song that counts. Playbacks of song to conspecifics of the opposite sex followed by the evaluation of the behavioral response whether affiliative or agonistic can give hints on the role of song in mate choice in these species which song is testosterone insensitive.

Hummingbirds seem to be the very first group of avian vocal learners that lacks AR in their putative vocal control system which makes them, in consequence, potentially testosterone insensitive. Testosterone has important organizational and activational effects on the brain during the process of vocal production learning, however, the implications of its insensitivity in hummingbirds remain unknown. Thus, I speculate that this condition can be explained by one of the following scenarios: hummingbird species that lack AR in their vocal control system are (*i*) non-vocal learners, their song is innate and their putative vocal control system is involved in functions other than the vocal production learning; (*ii*) they are closed-ended vocal learners, there is a transient up-regulation of AR only during the ontogeny of the vocal control system when vocal production learning takes place or (*iii*) they are open-ended vocal learners, vocal production learning happens via a mechanism independent of androgen regulation. To clarify which is the possible scenario, a further study with more focus on the ontogeny of vocal production learning in the black jacobin is suggested.

Conclusion

In this thesis, I shed light on the principles of vocal communication that contextualize the evolutionary pressure of vocal-production learning in a unique group of birds such as hummingbirds. Additionally, this thesis provides insights into how hummingbirds' unique adaptations for hovering flight and extreme metabolism, might have shaped further adaptations related to their vocal communication, expanding from their vocal organ to their brain, not only in their morphology but also in their endocrinological regulation. Having in mind that the considerations about vocal-production learning in hummingbirds are restricted to speculations because this thesis lack an experimental paradigm that directly approaches ontogeny such as the classic investigation of song development on acoustic isolation or neurobiology such as the lesion of a certain nuclei of the vocal control system, I do believe that in the future such studies can, nevertheless, benefit from the knowledge on the vocal communication of understudied model systems provided in this thesis. About two decades ago, studies showed that hummingbirds have a vocal control system, the neuroanatomical specialization to learn songs, analogous to other avian vocal learners (songbirds and parrots) and since then, most of the following studies searched for similarities among these groups. However, investigations in this regard are limited to a few model systems that do not reflect the diversity of life history within each group. This diversity could implicate differences in their communication and perhaps in their learning process. The findings of this thesis indicate that not only their vocal communication seems diverse and heterogeneous but also their learning process may have evolved under distinct pressures and followed different evolutionary pathways within the hummingbird family. A similar scenario could be revealed by investigating some understudied groups of songbirds and parrots. I hope that this thesis will encourage the investigation of further understudied model systems that have the potential to unveil alternative mechanisms in which the learning process occurs. Hummingbirds will remain to be a reminder that although guided by the principles of parsimony evolution can also lead to innovation.

References

- Adamo, S. A., & Hanlon, R. T. (1996). Do cuttlefish (Cephalopoda) signal their intentions to conspecifics during agonistic encounters? *Animal Behaviour*, 52(1), 73–81. https://doi.org/10.1006/anbe.1996.0153
- Adkins-Regan, E. (1981). Effect of sex steroids on the reproductive behavior of castrated male ring doves (Streptopelia sp.). *Physiology & Behavior*, 26(4), 561–565. https://doi.org/10.1016/0031-9384(81)90125-6
- Adreani, N. M., D'Amelio, P. B., Gahr, M., & ter Maat, A. (2020). Life-Stage Dependent Plasticity in the Auditory System of a Songbird Is Signal and Emitter-Specific. *Frontiers in Neuroscience*, 14. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnins.2020.588672
- Alonso, R. G., Trevisan, M. A., Amador, A., Goller, F., & Mindlin, G. B. (2015). A circular model for song motor control in Serinus canaria. *Frontiers in Computational Neuroscience*, 9. https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fncom.2015.00041
- Ames, P. L. (1971a). The Morphology of the Syrinx in Passerine Birds (Peabody Museum of Natural History, Yale University).
- Ames, P. L. (1971b). The Morphology of the Syrinx in Passerine Birds. Peabody Museum of Natural History, Yale University.
- Andrew, R. J. (1963). Effects of testosterone on the behavior of the domestic chick. *Journal of Comparative and Physiological Psychology*, 56(5), 933–940. https://doi.org/10.1037/h0045105
- Araya-Salas, M., & Wright, T. (2013). Open-ended song learning in a hummingbird. *Biology Letters*, 9(5), 20130625. https://doi.org/10.1098/rsbl.2013.0625
- Arizmendi, M. del C., Rodríguez-Flores, C. I., Soberanes-González, C. A., & Schulenberg, T.
 S. (2020). Bumblebee Hummingbird (*Atthis heloisa*). *Birds of the World*. https://birdsoftheworld.org/bow/species/bumhum/cur/introduction

- Arnold, A. P. (1975). The effects of castration and androgen replacement on song, courtship, and aggression in zebra finches (*Poephila guttata*). The Journal of Experimental Zoology, 191(3). https://doi.org/10.1002/jez.1401910302
- Arriaga, G., & Jarvis, E. D. (2013). Mouse vocal communication system: Are ultrasounds learned or innate? *Brain and Language*, 124(1), 96–116. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bandl.2012.10.002
- Atema, J., & Steinbach, M. A. (2007). Chemical Communication and Social Behavior of the Lobster Homarus americanus and Other Decapod Crustacea. In *Evolutionary Ecology* of Social and Sexual Systems. Oxford University Press. https://doi.org/10.1093/acprof:oso/9780195179927.003.0006
- Babikova, Z., Gilbert, L., Bruce, T. J. A., Birkett, M., Caulfield, J. C., Woodcock, C., Pickett,
 J. A., & Johnson, D. (2013). Underground signals carried through common mycelial networks warn neighbouring plants of aphid attack. *Ecology Letters*, *16*(7), 835–843. https://doi.org/10.1111/ele.12115
- Baker, M. C. (1982). Vocal Dialect Recognition and Population Genetic Consequences. *American Zoologist*, 22(3), 561–569. https://doi.org/10.1093/icb/22.3.561
- Baker, M. C., & Cunningham, M. A. (1985). The Biology of Bird-Song Dialects. *Behavioral and Brain Sciences*, 8(1), 85–100. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0140525X00019750
- Baker, M. E. (2003). Evolution of adrenal and sex steroid action in vertebrates: A ligand-based mechanism for complexity. *BioEssays*, 25(4), 396–400. https://doi.org/10.1002/bies.10252
- Baptista, L. F., & Schuchmann, K.-L. (1990). Song Learning in the Anna Hummingbird (Calypte anna). *Ethology*, 84(1), 15–26. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1439-0310.1990.tb00781.x

- Barker, A. J., Veviurko, G., Bennett, N. C., Hart, D. W., Mograby, L., & Lewin, G. R. (2021). Cultural transmission of vocal dialect in the naked mole-rat. *Science*, 371(6528), 503– 507. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.abc6588
- Barth, F. G. (1982). Spiders and Vibratory Signals: Sensory Reception and Behavioral Significance. In W. J. Tietjen & J. S. Rovner (Eds.), *Spider Communication* (pp. 67–122). Princeton University Press. http://www.degruyter.com/document/doi/10.1515/9781400857517.67/html
- Bass, A. H. (1989). Evolution of Vertebrate Motor Systems for Acoustic and Electric Communication: Peripheral and Central Elements. *Brain, Behavior and Evolution*, 33(4), 237–247. https://doi.org/10.1159/000115931
- Bass, A. H., & McKibben, J. R. (2003). Neural mechanisms and behaviors for acoustic communication in teleost fish. *Progress in Neurobiology*, 69(1), 1–26. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0301-0082(03)00004-2

Basset, F. N. (1921). The Nuptial Flight of the Allen Hummingbird. Condor, 23, 37.

- Beani, L., Briganti, F., Campanella, G., Lupo, C., & Dessì-Fulgheri, F. (2000). Effect of Androgens on Structure and Rate of Crowing in the Japanese Quail (*Coturnix japonica*). *Behaviour*, 137(4), 417–435.
- Bear, M. F., Connors, B. W., & Paradiso, M. A. (2007). *Neuroscience: Exploring the brain* (3rd ed., pp. xxxviii, 857). Lippincott Williams & Wilkins Publishers.
- Beckers, G. J. L., Nelson, B. S., & Suthers, R. A. (2004). Vocal-tract filtering by lingual articulation in a parrot. *Current Biology: CB*, 14(17), 1592–1597. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2004.08.057
- Beecher, M. D., & Brenowitz, E. A. (2005). Functional aspects of song learning in songbirds.
 Trends in Ecology & Evolution, 20(3), 143–149.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tree.2005.01.004

- Bleiweiss, R. (1998). Phylogeny, Body Mass, and Genetic Cponsequences of Lek-Mating Behavior in Hummingbirds. *Molecular Biology and Evolution*, 15(5), 492–498.
- Bone, L. W. (1982). Reproductive chemical communication of helminths. I. Platyhelminthes. *International Journal of Invertebrate Reproduction*, 5(5), 261–268. https://doi.org/10.1080/01651269.1982.10553477
- Bonnevie, B. T., & Craig, A. J. F. K. (2018). A song for the South also: Defining birdsong in global terms. *Ibis*, *160*(4), 926–928. https://doi.org/10.1111/ibi.12627
- Bottjer, S. W., & Arnold, A. P. (1986). The Ontogeny of Vocal Learning in Songbirds. In E.
 M. Blass (Ed.), *Developmental Psychobiology and Developmental Neurobiology* (pp. 129–161). Springer US. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4613-2113-2_4
- Bottjer, S. W., Glaessner, S. L., & Arnold, A. P. (1985). Ontogeny of brain nuclei controlling song learning and behavior in zebra finches. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, 5(6), 1556– 1562.
- Bradbury, J. W., & Balsby, T. J. S. (2016). The functions of vocal learning in parrots. *Behavioral Ecology and Sociobiology*, 70(3), 293–312. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00265-016-2068-4
- Bradbury, J. W., & Vehrencamp, S. L. (2011a). *Principles of Animal Communication* (2 edition). Sinauer Associates is an imprint of Oxford University Press.
- Bradbury, J. W., & Vehrencamp, S. L. (2011b). *Principles of Animal Communication, Second Edition* (2nd ed.). Sinauer Associates. http://sites.sinauer.com/animalcommunication2e/
- Brainard, M. S., & Doupe, A. J. (2000). Interruption of a basal ganglia–forebrain circuit prevents plasticity of learned vocalizations. *Nature*, 404(6779), 762–766. https://doi.org/10.1038/35008083
- Brainard, M. S., & Doupe, A. J. (2002). What songbirds teach us about learning. *Nature*, 417(6886), 351–358. https://doi.org/10.1038/417351a

- Bratton, B. O., & Ayers, J. L. (1987). Observations on the electric organ discharge of two skate species (Chondrichthyes: Rajidae) and its relationship to behaviour. *Environmental Biology of Fishes*, 20(4), 241–254. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00005295
- Brejcha, J., & Kleisner, K. (2016). Turtles Are Not Just Walking Stones: Conspicuous Coloration and Sexual Selection in Freshwater Turtles. *Biosemiotics*, 9(2), 247–266. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12304-015-9249-9
- Brenowitz, E. A., & Kroodsma, D. E. (1996). The Neuroethology of Birdsong. In D. E.
 Kroodsma & E. H. Miller (Eds.), *Ecology and Evolution of Acoustic Communication in Birds* (pp. 285–304). Cornell University Press.
 http://www.degruyter.com/document/doi/10.7591/9781501736957-024/html
- Briefer, E., Aubin, T., Lehongre, K., & Rybak, F. (2008). How to identify dear enemies: The group signature in the complex song of the skylark Alauda arvensis. *Journal of Experimental Biology*, 211(3), 317–326. https://doi.org/10.1242/jeb.013359
- Briganti, F., Beani, L., & Panzica, G. C. (1996). Connections of the dorsomedial part of the nucleus intercollicularis in a male non-songbird, the Grey partridge: A tract-tracing study. *Neuroscience Letters*, 221(1), 61–65. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0304-3940(96)13261-4
- Brockway, B. F. (1968). Influences of sex hormones on the loud and soft warbles of male budgerigars. *Animal Behaviour*, 16(1), 5–12. https://doi.org/10.1016/0003-3472(68)90099-7
- Bruno, J. H., Jarvis, E. D., Liberman, M., & Tchernichovski, O. (2020). Birdsong Learning and Culture: Analogies with Human Spoken Language. Annual Review of Linguistics. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-linguistics-090420-121034
- Butcher, G. S., & Rohwer, S. (1989). The Evolution of Conspicuous and Distinctive Coloration for Communication in Birds. In D. M. Power (Ed.), *Current Ornithology* (pp. 51–108). Springer US. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4757-9918-7_2

- Butler, J. M., & Maruska, K. P. (2016). Mechanosensory signaling as a potential mode of communication during social interactions in fishes. *Journal of Experimental Biology*, 219(18), 2781–2789. https://doi.org/10.1242/jeb.133801
- Cai, J.-J., Wen, J., Jiang, W., Lin, J., Hong, Y., & Zhu, Y.-S. (2016). Androgen actions on endothelium functions and cardiovascular diseases. *Journal of Geriatric Cardiology : JGC*, 13, 183–196. https://doi.org/10.11909/j.issn.1671-5411.2016.02.003
- Caro, S. P., & Balthazart, J. (2010). Pheromones in birds: Myth or reality? Journal of Comparative Physiology. A, Neuroethology, Sensory, Neural, and Behavioral Physiology, 196(10), 751–766. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00359-010-0534-4
- Caro, S. P., Balthazart, J., Thomas, D. W., Lacroix, A., Chastel, O., & Lambrechts, M. M. (2005). Endocrine correlates of the breeding asynchrony between two corsican populations of blue tits (*Parus caeruleus*). *General and Comparative Endocrinology*, *140*(1), 52–60. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ygcen.2004.09.016
- Carpenter, C. C. (1977). Communication and Displays of Snakes. *American Zoologist*, *17*(1), 217–223. https://doi.org/10.1093/icb/17.1.217
- Catchpole, C. K. (1982). The Evolution of Bird Sounds in Relation to Mating and Spacing Behavior. In D. E. Kroodsma & E. H. Miller (Eds.), *Acoustic Communication in Birds* (pp. 297–319). Academic Press. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-08-092416-8.50018-8
- Catchpole, C. K., & Slater, P. J. B. (1995). *Bird Song: Biological Themes and Variations* (2nd ed.). Cambridge University Press.
- Chakraborty, M., Walløe, S., Nedergaard, S., Fridel, E. E., Dabelsteen, T., Pakkenberg, B., Bertelsen, M. F., Dorrestein, G. M., Brauth, S. E., Durand, S. E., & Jarvis, E. D. (2015).
 Core and Shell Song Systems Unique to the Parrot Brain. *PLOS ONE*, *10*(6), e0118496. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0118496
- Chen, Z., & Wiens, J. J. (2020). The origins of acoustic communication in vertebrates. *Nature Communications*, *11*(1), Article 1. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-020-14356-3

- Chiver, I., & Schlinger, B. A. (2019). Sex-specific effects of testosterone on vocal output in a tropical suboscine bird. *Animal Behaviour*, 148, 105–112. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.anbehav.2018.12.011
- Clark, C. J., & Feo, T. J. (2008). The Anna's hummingbird chirps with its tail: A new mechanism of sonation in birds. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 275(1637), 955–962. https://doi.org/10.1098/rspb.2007.1619
- Clark, C. J., & Feo, T. J. (2010). Why do Calypte hummingbirds "sing" with both their tail and their syrinx? An apparent example of sexual sensory bias. *The American Naturalist*, 175(1), 27–37. https://doi.org/10.1086/648560
- Clark, C. J., McGuire, J. A., Bonaccorso, E., Berv, J. S., & Prum, R. O. (2018). Complex coevolution of wing, tail, and vocal sounds of courting male bee hummingbirds. *Evolution; International Journal of Organic Evolution*, 72(3), 630–646. https://doi.org/10.1111/evo.13432
- Clark, C. J., & Mitchell, D. E. (2020). Allen's Hummingbird (*Selasphorus sasin*). *Birds of the World*. https://birdsoftheworld.org/bow/species/allhum/cur/introduction
- Clark, D. L., Roberts, J. A., Rector, M., & Uetz, G. W. (2011). Spectral reflectance and communication in the wolf spider, *Schizocosa ocreata* (Hentz): Simultaneous crypsis and background contrast in visual signals. *Behavioral Ecology and Sociobiology*, 65(6), 1237–1247. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00265-011-1137-y
- Clarke, J. A., Chatterjee, S., Li, Z., Riede, T., Agnolin, F., Goller, F., Isasi, M. P., Martinioni,D. R., Mussel, F. J., & Novas, F. E. (2016). Fossil evidence of the avian vocal organ from the Mesozoic. *Nature*, *538*, 502.
- Colafrancesco, K. C., & Gridi-Papp, M. (2016). Vocal Sound Production and Acoustic Communication in Amphibians and Reptiles. In R. A. Suthers, W. T. Fitch, R. R. Fay, & A. N. Popper (Eds.), *Vertebrate Sound Production and Acoustic Communication* (pp.

- 51–82). Springer International Publishing. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-27721-9_3
- Collias, N. E. (1987). The Vocal Repertoire of the Red Junglefowl: A Spectrographic Classification and the Code of Communication. *The Condor*, 89(3), 510. https://doi.org/10.2307/1368641
- Connell, J. M. C., Fraser, R., & Davies, E. (2001). Disorders of mineralocorticoid synthesis. Best Practice & Research Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism, 15(1), 43–60. https://doi.org/10.1053/beem.2000.0118
- Cooke, P. S., & Walker, W. H. (2022). Nonclassical androgen and estrogen signaling is essential for normal spermatogenesis. *Seminars in Cell & Developmental Biology*, *121*, 71–81. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.semcdb.2021.05.032
- Cornil, C. A., Ball, G. F., & Balthazart, J. (2006). Functional significance of the rapid regulation of brain estrogens: Where do the estrogens come from? *Brain Research*, *1126*(1), 2–26. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brainres.2006.07.098
- Cottier, F., & Mühlschlegel, F. A. (2011). Communication in Fungi. *International Journal of Microbiology*, 2012, e351832. https://doi.org/10.1155/2012/351832
- Cracraft, J. (1981). Toward a Phylogenetic Classification of the Recent Birds of the World (Class Aves). *The Auk*, 98(4), 681–714.
- Cummings, M. E., Rosenthal, G. G., & Ryan, M. J. (2003). A private ultraviolet channel in visual communication. *Proceedings of the Royal Society of London. Series B: Biological Sciences*, 270(1518), 897–904. https://doi.org/10.1098/rspb.2003.2334
- Dabelsteen, T., McGregor, P. K., Lampe, H. M., Langmore, N. E., & Holland, J. (1998). Quiet Song in Song Birds: An Overlooked Phenomenon. *Bioacoustics*, 9(2), 89–105. https://doi.org/10.1080/09524622.1998.9753385
- Davis, T. a. W. (1958). The displays and nests of three forest hummingbirds of british guiana. *Ibis*, *100*(1), 31–39. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1474-919X.1958.tb00363.x

- Dethier, V. G. (1957). Communication by Insects: Physiology of Dancing. *Science*, *125*(3243), 331–336.
- Dittrich, F., Ramenda, C., Grillitsch, D., Frankl-Vilches, C., Ko, M.-C., Hertel, M., Goymann, W., ter Maat, A., & Gahr, M. (2014). Regulatory mechanisms of testosterone-stimulated song in the sensorimotor nucleus HVC of female songbirds. *Bmc Neuroscience*, *15*, 128. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12868-014-0128-0
- Dodenhoff, D. J., Stark, R. D., & Johnson, E. V. (2001). Do Woodpecker Drums Encode Information for Species Recognition? *The Condor*, *103*(1), 143–150. https://doi.org/10.1093/condor/103.1.143
- Dooling, R. (2004). Chapter 7 Audition: Can birds hear everything they sing? In P. Marler &
 H. Slabbekoorn (Eds.), *Nature's Music* (pp. 206–225). Academic Press. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-012473070-0/50010-4
- Doupe, A. J., & Kuhl, P. K. (1999). Birdsong and human speech: Common themes and mechanisms. Annual Review of Neuroscience, 22, 567–631. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.neuro.22.1.567
- Duque, F. G., Rodriguez-Saltos, C. A., Uma, S., Nasir, I., Monteros, M. F., Wilczynski, W., & Carruth, L. L. (2020). High-frequency hearing in a hummingbird. *Science Advances*, 6(29), eabb9393. https://doi.org/10.1126/sciadv.abb9393
- Duque, F. G., Rodríguez-Saltos, C. A., & Wilczynski, W. (2018). High-frequency vocalizations in Andean hummingbirds. *Current Biology: CB*, 28(17), R927–R928. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2018.07.058
- Düring, D. N., Ziegler, A., Thompson, C. K., Ziegler, A., Faber, C., Müller, J., Scharff, C., & Elemans, C. P. H. (2013). The songbird syrinx morphome: A three-dimensional, high-resolution, interactive morphological map of the zebra finch vocal organ. *BMC Biol.*, *11*, 1.

- Endler, J. A. (1992). Signals, Signal Conditions, and the Direction of Evolution. *The American Naturalist*, *139*, S125–S153.
- Endler, J. A., Butlin, R. K., Guilford, T., & Krebs, J. R. (1993). Some general comments on the evolution and design of animal communication systems. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London. Series B: Biological Sciences*, 340(1292), 215–225. https://doi.org/10.1098/rstb.1993.0060
- Fandiño-Mariño, H. (1989). A Comunicação Sonora do Anu-branco, Avaliações Eco-Etológicas e Evolutivas (Vol. 1). Editora da UNICAMP.
- Farries, M. A., & Perkel, D. J. (2008). The songbird brain in comparative perspective. In H. P.Zeigler & P. Marler (Eds.), *Neuroscience of Birdsong* (pp. 63–71). Cambridge University Press.
- Feenders, G., Liedvogel, M., Rivas, M., Zapka, M., Horita, H., Hara, E., Wada, K., Mouritsen, H., & Jarvis, E. D. (2008). Molecular Mapping of Movement-Associated Areas in the Avian Brain: A Motor Theory for Vocal Learning Origin. *PLOS ONE*, *3*(3), e1768. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0001768
- Feo, T. J., Musser, J. M., Berv, J., & Clark, C. J. (2014). Divergence in morphology, calls, song, mechanical sounds, and genetics supports species status for the Inaguan hummingbird (Trochilidae: *Calliphlox "evelynae" lyrura*). *The Auk*, *132*(1), 248–264. https://doi.org/10.1642/AUK-14-108.1
- Ferreira, A. R. J., Smulders, T. V., Sameshima, K., Mello, C. V., & Jarvis, E. D. (2006). Vocalizations and associated behaviors of the Sombre Hummingbird (*Aphantochroa cirrhochloris*) and the Rufous-Breasted Hermit (*Glaucis hirsutus*). *The Auk*, 123(4), 1129–1148.
- Ficken, M. S., Rusch, K. M., Taylor, S. J., & Powers, D. R. (2000). Blue-Throated Hummingbird song: A pinacle of nonoscine vocalizations. *The Auk*, 117(1), 120–128. https://doi.org/10.1642/0004-8038(2000)117[0120:BTHSAP]2.0.CO;2

- Ficken, M. S., Rusch, K. M., Taylor, S. J., & Powers, D. R. (2002). Reproductive behavior and communication in blue-throated hummingbirds. *The Wilson Bulletin*, 114(2), 197–209. https://doi.org/10.1676/0043-5643(2002)114[0197:RBACIB]2.0.CO;2
- Foerster, K., & Kempenaers, B. (2005). Effects of Testosterone on Male-Male Competition and Male-Female Interactions in Blue Tits. *Behavioral Ecology and Sociobiology*, 57(3), 215–223.
- Foerster, K., Poesel, A., Kunc, H., & Kempenaers, B. (2002). The Natural Plasma Testosterone Profile of Male Blue Tits during the Breeding Season and Its Relation to Song Output. *Journal of Avian Biology*, 33(3), 269–275.
- Francescoli, G., & Altuna, C. A. (1998). Vibrational Communication in Subterranean Rodents: The Possible Origin of Different Strategies. *Evolution of Communication*, 2(2), 217– 231. https://doi.org/10.1075/eoc.2.2.04fra
- Frankl-Vilches, C., & Gahr, M. (2018). Androgen and estrogen sensitivity of bird song: A comparative view on gene regulatory levels. *Journal of Comparative Physiology A*, 204(1), 113–126. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00359-017-1236-y
- Fusani, L., Beani, L., & Dessì-Fulgheri, F. (1994). Testosterone Affects the Acoustic Structure of the Male Call in the Grey Partridge (*Perdix perdix*). *Behaviour*, 128(3/4), 301–310. JSTOR.
- Gahr, M. (1990). Delineation of a brain nucleus: Comparisons of cytochemical, hodological, and cytoarchitectural views of the song control nucleus HVC of the adult canary. *Journal of Comparative Neurology*, 294(1), 30–36. https://doi.org/10.1002/cne.902940104
- Gahr, M. (1997). How should brain nuclei be delineated? Consequences for developmental mechanisms and for correlations ofarea size, neuron numbers and functions of brain nuclei. *Trends in Neurosciences*, 20(2), 58–62. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0166-2236(96)10076-X

- Gahr, M. (2000). Neural song control system of hummingbirds: Comparison to swifts, vocal learning (Songbirds) and nonlearning (Suboscines) passerines, and vocal learning (Budgerigars) and nonlearning (Dove, owl, gull, quail, chicken) nonpasserines. *The Journal of Comparative Neurology*, 426(2), 182–196.
- Gahr, M. (2007). Sexual Differentiation of the Vocal Control System of Birds. Advances in Genetics, 59, 68–105.
- Gahr, M. (2020). Seasonal and Life-History Stage Dependent Vocal Communication of Birds.
 In B. Fritzsch (Ed.), *The Senses: A Comprehensive Reference (Second Edition)* (pp. 163–186). Elsevier. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-809324-5.24266-1
- Gahr, M., & Metzdorf, R. (1997). Distribution and Dynamics in the Expression of Androgen and Estrogen Receptors in Vocal Control Systems of Songbirds. *Brain Research Bulletin*, 44(4), 509–517. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0361-9230(97)00233-5
- Gardner, T., Cecchi, G., Magnasco, M., Laje, R., & Mindlin, G. B. (2001). Simple Motor Gestures for Birdsongs. *Physical Review Letters*, 87(20), 208101. https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevLett.87.208101
- Gaunt, A. S. (1983). An Hypothesis concerning the Relationship of Syringeal Structure to Vocal Abilities. *The Auk*, *100*(4), 853–862.
- Gaunt, A. S., & Gaunt, S. L. L. (1985). Syringeal Structure and Avian Phonation. In *Current Ornithology* (pp. 213–245). Plenum Press. https://link.springer.com/chapter/10.1007/978-1-4613-2385-3_7
- Gaunt, A. S., & Nowicki, S. (2012). Sound Production in Birds: Acoustics and Physiology Revisited. In S. L. Hopp, M. J. Owren, & C. S. Evans (Eds.), *Animal Acoustic Communication: Sound Analysis and Research Methods*. Springer Science & Business Media.
- Goller, F., & Larsen, O. N. (1997). In situ biomechanics of the syrinx and sound generation in pigeons. *Journal of Experimental Biology*, 200(16), 2165–2176.

Goller, F., & Suthers, R. A. (1996). Role of syringeal muscles in controlling the phonology of bird song. *Journal of Neurophysiology*, 76(1), 287–300. https://doi.org/10.1152/jn.1996.76.1.287

Gompert, T. (1961). The vocabulary of the Great Tit. British Birds, 54(10), 369–364.

- González, C., & Ornelas, J. F. (2005). Song structure and microgeographic song variation in wedge-tailed sabrewings (*Campylopterus curvipennis*) in veracruz, mexico. *The Auk*, *122*(2), 593–607. https://doi.org/10.1642/0004-8038(2005)122[0593:SSAMSV]2.0.CO;2
- González, C., & Ornelas, J. F. (2014). Acoustic Divergence with Gene Flow in a Lekking Hummingbird with Complex Songs. *PLOS ONE*, 9(10), e109241. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0109241
- Greenfield, M. D. (2016). Evolution of Acoustic Communication in Insects. In G. S. Pollack,
 A. C. Mason, A. N. Popper, & R. R. Fay (Eds.), *Insect Hearing* (pp. 17–47). Springer
 International Publishing. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-28890-1_2
- Guilford, T., & Dawkins, M. S. (1991). Receiver psychology and the evolution of animal signals. *Animal Behaviour*, 42(1), 1–14. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0003-3472(05)80600-1
- Gurney, M. E., & Konishi, M. (1980). Hormone-induced sexual differentiation of brain and behavior in zebra finches. *Science (New York, N.Y.)*, 208(4450), 1380–1383. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.208.4450.1380
- Häggström, M., & Richfield, D. (2014). Diagram of the pathways of human steroidogenesis. *Wikiversity Journal of Medicine*, *1*. https://doi.org/10.15347/wjm/2014.005
- Haldane, J. B. S. (1955). Animal Communication and The Origin of Human Language. *Science Progress*, *43*(171), 385–401.

- Harding, C. F. (2008). Hormonal modulation of singing behavior: Methodology and principles of hormone action. In H. P. Zeigler & P. Marler (Eds.), *Neuroscience of Birdsong* (pp. 305–319). Cambridge University Press.
- Hart, N., Lisney, T., & Collin, S. (2006). Visual communication in elasmobranchs. In F. Ladich,S. P. Collin, P. Moller, & B. G. Kapoor (Eds.), *Communication in Fishes* (pp. 338–392).Science Publishers Inc.
- Hartshorne, C. (1973). Born to Sing: An Interpretation and World Survey of Bird Song. Indiana University Press.
- Hau, M., Stoddard, S. T., & Soma, K. K. (2004). Territorial aggression and hormones during the non-breeding season in a tropical bird. *Hormones and Behavior*, 45(1), 40–49. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.yhbeh.2003.08.002
- Hodl, W., & Amézquita, A. (2001). Visual signaling in anuran amphibians. In M. Ryan (Ed.), *Anuran Communication* (pp. 121–141). Smithsonian Inst. Press.
- Hoese, W. J., Podos, J., Boetticher, N. C., & Nowicki, S. (2000). Vocal tract function in birdsong production: Experimental manipulation of beak movements. *Journal of Experimental Biology*, 203(12), 1845–1855.
- Hoyo, J. del, Elliott, A., & Sargatal, J. (1999). *Handbook of the Birds of the World: Barn-owls to hummingbirds*. Lynx Edicions.
- Hoyo, J., Collar, N., Christie, D., Elliott, A., Fishpool, L., Boesman, P., & Kirwan, G. (2016). *HBW and BirdLife International Illustrated Checklist of the Birds of the World. Volume*2.
- Janik, V. M. (2014). Cetacean vocal learning and communication. *Current Opinion in Neurobiology*, 28, 60–65. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.conb.2014.06.010
- Janik, V. M., & Slater, P. J. B. (2000). The different roles of social learning in vocal communication. Animal Behaviour, 60(1), 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1006/anbe.2000.1410

Janik, VincentM., & Slater, PeterJ. B. (1997). Vocal Learning in Mammals. In J. S. R. Peter
 J.B. Slater (Ed.), Advances in the Study of Behavior: Vol. Volume 26 (pp. 59–99).
 Academic Press.
 http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0065345408603770

Jarvis, E. D. (2006). Selection for and against vocal learning in birds and mammals. *Ornithological Science*, 5(1), 5–15. https://doi.org/10.2326/osj.5.5

- Jarvis, E. D. (2007). Neural systems for vocal learning in birds and humans: A synopsis. *Journal of Ornithology*, *148*(1), 35–44. PubMed. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10336-007-0243-0
- Jarvis, E. D. (2019). Evolution of vocal learning and spoken language. *Science*, *366*(6461), 50–54. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.aax0287
- Jarvis, E. D., & Mello, C. V. (2000). Molecular mapping of brain areas involved in parrot vocal communication. *The Journal of Comparative Neurology*, *419*(1), 1–31.
- Jarvis, E. D., Mirarab, S., Aberer, A. J., Li, B., Houde, P., Li, C., Ho, S. Y. W., Faircloth, B. C., Nabholz, B., Howard, J. T., Suh, A., Weber, C. C., da Fonseca, R. R., Li, J., Zhang, F., Li, H., Zhou, L., Narula, N., Liu, L., ... Zhang, G. (2014). Whole-genome analyses resolve early branches in the tree of life of modern birds. *Science*, *346*(6215), 1320. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1253451
- Jarvis, E. D., Ribeiro, S., da Silva, M. L., Ventura, D., Vielliard, J., & Mello, C. V. (2000). Behaviourally driven gene expression reveals song nuclei in hummingbird brain. *Nature*, 406(6796), 628–632. https://doi.org/10.1038/35020570
- Johnson, K. E., & Clark, C. J. (2020). Ontogeny of vocal learning in a hummingbird. *Animal Behaviour*, *167*, 139–150. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.anbehav.2020.07.010
- Johnson, K. E., & Clark, C. J. (2022). Costa's hummingbird has an extended sensitive phase of vocal learning. *Animal Behaviour*, *188*, 75–84. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.anbehav.2022.04.001

- Johnston, R. E. (2003). Chemical Communication in Rodents: From Pheromones to Individual Recognition. *Journal of Mammalogy*, 84(4), 1141–1162. https://doi.org/10.1644/BLe-010
- Karban, R., Yang, L. H., & Edwards, K. F. (2014). Volatile communication between plants that affects herbivory: A meta-analysis. *Ecology Letters*, 17(1), 44–52. https://doi.org/10.1111/ele.12205
- Karplus, I. (1979). The Tactile Communication between *Cryptocentrus steinitzi* (Pisces, Gobiidae) and *Alpheus purpurilenticularis* (Crustacea, Alpheidae). *Zeitschrift Für Tierpsychologie*, 49(2), 173–196. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1439-0310.1979.tb00286.x
- Keller, L., & Surette, M. G. (2006). Communication in bacteria: An ecological and evolutionary perspective. *Nature Reviews Microbiology*, 4(4), 249–258. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrmicro1383
- King, A. S. (1989). Functional anatomy of the syrinx. In *Form and Function in Birds* (Vol. 4). Academic Press.
- Knörnschild, M. (2014). Vocal production learning in bats. *Current Opinion in Neurobiology*, 28, 80–85. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.conb.2014.06.014
- Ko, M.-C., Frankl-Vilches, C., Bakker, A., Sohnius-Wilhelmi, N., & Gahr, M. (2022). *Extensive, transient, and long-lasting gene regulation in a song-controlling brain area during testosterone-induced song development in adult female canaries* (p. 2022.06.13.495861). bioRxiv. https://doi.org/10.1101/2022.06.13.495861
- Ko, M.-C., Van Meir, V., Vellema, M., & Gahr, M. (2020). Characteristics of song, brainanatomy and blood androgen levels in spontaneously singing female canaries. *Hormones and Behavior*, 117, 104614. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.yhbeh.2019.104614
- Konishi, M., & Knudsen, E. I. (1979). The oilbird: Hearing and echolocation. *Science*, 204(4391), 425–427. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.441731
- Kost, C., & Heil, M. (2006). Herbivore-induced plant volatiles induce an indirect defence in neighbouring plants. *Journal of Ecology*, 94(3), 619–628. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2745.2006.01120.x
- Kramer, B. (1990). *Electrocommunication in Teleost Fishes: Behavior and Experiments*. Springer-Verlag. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-642-84026-5
- Kramer, B. (1996). *Electroreception and communication in fishes* (Vol. 42). Gustav Fischer. https://epub.uni-regensburg.de/2108/
- Kroodsma, D. E. (1984). Songs of the Alder Flycatcher (*Empidonax alnorum*) and Willow Flycatcher (*Empidonax traillii*) are Innate. *The Auk*, *101*(1), 13–24. https://doi.org/10.1093/auk/101.1.13
- Kroodsma, D. E. (1996). Ecology of song development. In D. E. Kroodsma & E. H. Miller (Eds.), *Ecology and Evolution of Acoustic Communication in Birds* (pp. 3–19). Comstock Pub.
- Kroodsma, D. E., & Baylis, J. R. (1982). Appendix: A World Survey of Evidence for Vocal Learning in Birds. In Acoustic Communication in Birds: Song Learning & Its Consequences (Vol. 2). Academic Press.
- Kroodsma, D., Hamilton, D., Sánchez, J. E., Byers, B. E., Fandiño-Mariño, H., Stemple, D. W., Trainer, J. M., & Powell, G. V. N. (2013). Behavioral Evidence for Song Learning in the Suboscine Bellbirds (*Procnias spp.*; Cotingidae). *The Wilson Journal of Ornithology*, 125(1), 1–14. https://doi.org/10.1676/12-033.1
- Kubikova, L., Bosikova, E., Cvikova, M., Lukacova, K., Scharff, C., & Jarvis, E. D. (2014).
 Basal ganglia function, stuttering, sequencing, and repair in adult songbirds. *Scientific Reports*, *4*. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep06590
- Kuhl, H., Frankl-Vilches, C., Bakker, A., Mayr, G., Nikolaus, G., Boerno, S. T., Klages, S., Timmermann, B., & Gahr, M. (2020). An Unbiased Molecular Approach Using 3'-

UTRs Resolves the Avian Family-Level Tree of Life. *Molecular Biology and Evolution*, *msaa191*. https://doi.org/10.1093/molbev/msaa191

- Kunc, H. P., Foerster, K., Vermeirssen, E. L. M., & Kempenaers, B. (2006). Experimentally Elevated Plasma Testosterone Levels Do Not Influence Singing Behaviour of Male Blue Tits (*Parus caeruleus*) During the Early Breeding Season. *Ethology*, *112*(10), 984–992. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1439-0310.2006.01254.x
- Lara, C., Martínez-García, V., & Ornelas, J. F. (2015). Microgeographical Variation in Song Repertoire and Structure between the Leks of Green Violetears Colibri thalassinus in Central Mexico. *Acta Ornithologica*, 50(1), 23–32. https://doi.org/10.3161/00016454AO2015.50.1.004
- Larsen, O. N., & Goller, F. (1999). Role of syringeal vibrations in bird vocalizations. *Proceedings of the Royal Society of London. Series B: Biological Sciences.* https://doi.org/10.1098/rspb.1999.0822
- Larsen, O. N., & Goller, F. (2002). Direct observation of syringeal muscle function in songbirds and a parrot. *Journal of Experimental Biology*, 205(1), 25–35. https://doi.org/10.1242/jeb.205.1.25
- Lass, S., & Spaak, P. (2003). Chemically induced anti-predator defences in plankton: A review. *Hydrobiologia*, 491(1), 221–239. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1024487804497
- Leitner, S., & Catchpole, C. K. (2007). Song and brain development in canaries raised under different conditions of acoustic and social isolation over two years. *Developmental Neurobiology*, 67(11), 1478–1487. https://doi.org/10.1002/dneu.20521
- Leonhardt, S. D., Menzel, F., Nehring, V., & Schmitt, T. (2016). Ecology and Evolution of Communication in Social Insects. *Cell*, 164(6), 1277–1287. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2016.01.035
- Leroy, Y. (1979). *L'univers sonore animal: Roles et evolution de la communication acoustique* (*Ecologie fondamentale et appliquee*). distributed in the U.S.A. by S.M.P.F.

- Liley, N. R. (1982). Chemical Communication in Fish. *Canadian Journal of Fisheries and* Aquatic Sciences, 39(1), 22–35. https://doi.org/10.1139/f82-005
- Lloyd, J. E. (1983). Bioluminescence and Communication in Insects. *Annual Review of Entomology*, 28(1), 131–160. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.en.28.010183.001023
- Lobato, M., Vellema, M., Gahr, C., Leitão, A., de Lima, S. M. A., Geberzahn, N., & Gahr, M. (2015). Mismatch in sexual dimorphism of developing song and song control system in blue-capped cordon-bleus, a songbird species with singing females and males. *Behavioral and Evolutionary Ecology*, 117. https://doi.org/10.3389/fevo.2015.00117
- Love, J., Hoepfner, A., & Goller, F. (2019). Song Feature Specific Analysis of Isolate Song Reveals Interspecific Variation in Learned Components. *Developmental Neurobiology*, 79(4), 350–369. https://doi.org/10.1002/dneu.22682
- Macdougall-Shackleton, E., & Harbison, H. (1998). Singing Behavior of Lekking Green Hermits. *Condor*, 100(1), 149–152.
- Madison, D. M. (1977). Chemical Communication in Amphibians and Reptiles. In D. Müller-Schwarze & M. M. Mozell (Eds.), *Chemical Signals in Vertebrates* (pp. 135–168).
 Springer US. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4684-2364-8_9
- Manser, M. B., Seyfarth, R. M., & Cheney, D. L. (2002). Suricate alarm calls signal predator class and urgency. *Trends in Cognitive Sciences*, 6(2), 55–57. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1364-6613(00)01840-4
- Marcellini, D. (1977). Acoustic and Visual Display Behavior of Gekkonid Lizards. *American Zoologist*, 17(1), 251–260. https://doi.org/10.1093/icb/17.1.251
- Marler, P. (1956). The Voice of the Chaffinch and Its Function as a Language. *Ibis*, 98(2), 231–261. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1474-919X.1956.tb03042.x
- Marler, P. (1970). Birdsong and Speech Development: Could There Be Parallels? There may be basic rules governing vocal learning to which many species conform, including man.*American Scientist*, 58(6), 669–673.

- Marler, P. (2004a). Bird Calls: Their Potential for Behavioral Neurobiology. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences*, *1016*(1), 31–44. https://doi.org/10.1196/annals.1298.034
- Marler, P. (2004b). Innateness and the instinct to learn. *Anais Da Academia Brasileira de Ciências*, 76(2), 189–200. https://doi.org/10.1590/S0001-37652004000200002
- Marler, P., & Peters, S. (1982). Structural Changes in Song Ontogeny in the Swamp Sparrow Melospiza georgiana. *The Auk*, 99(3), 446–458. https://doi.org/10.1093/auk/99.3.446
- Martínez-García, V., Lara, C., & Ornelas, J. F. (2013). Lek characteristics and the static male song of the green violet-ear (Colibri thalassinus) during a 3-year study in a temperate forest of Central Mexico. *Ornitologia Neotropical*, 24(2), 183–200.
- Mathevon, N., Aubin, T., Vielliard, J., Silva, M.-L. da, Sebe, F., & Boscolo, D. (2008). Singing in the Rain Forest: How a Tropical Bird Song Transfers Information. *PLOS ONE*, *3*(2), e1580. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0001580
- Matsunaga, E., & Okanoya, K. (2008). Vocal area-related expression of the androgen receptor in the budgerigar (*Melopsittacus undulatus*) brain. *Brain Research*, 1208, 87–94. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brainres.2008.02.076
- Mayr, G. (2002). Osteological evidence for paraphyly of the avian order Caprimulgiformes (nightjars and allies). *Journal Für Ornithologie*, *143*(1), 82–97. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1439-0361.2002.01030.x
- Mayr, G. (2004). Old World fossil record of modern-type hummingbirds. *Science (New York, N.Y.)*, *304*(5672), 861–864. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1096856
- McGuire, J. A., Witt, C. C., Jr, J. V. R., Dudley, R., & Altshuler, D. L. (2009). A higher-level taxonomy for hummingbirds. *Journal of Ornithology*, *150*(1), 155–165. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10336-008-0330-x
- McGuire, J. A., Witt, C. C., Remsen Jr., J. V., Corl, A., Rabosky, D. L., Altshuler, D. L., & Dudley, R. (2014). Molecular Phylogenetics and the Diversification of Hummingbirds. *Current Biology*, 24(8), 1–7. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2014.03.016

- Mello, C. V. (2002). Mapping vocal communication pathways in birds with inducible gene expression. Journal of Comparative Physiology. A, Neuroethology, Sensory, Neural, and Behavioral Physiology, 188(11–12), 943–959. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00359-002-0347-1
- Metzdorf, R., Gahr, M., & Fusani, L. (1999). Distribution of aromatase, estrogen receptor, and androgen receptor mRNA in the forebrain of songbirds and nonsongbirds. *Journal of Comparative Neurology*, 407(1), 115–129. https://doi.org/10.1002/(SICI)1096-9861(19990428)407:1<115::AID-CNE9>3.0.CO;2-W
- Miller, R. S., & Gass, C. L. (1985). Survivorship in Hummingbirds: Is Predation Important? *The Auk, 102*(1), 175–178. https://doi.org/10.2307/4086840
- Mirsky, E. N. (1976). Song Divergence in Hummingbird and Junco Populations on Guadalupe Island. *The Condor*, 78(2), 230–235.
- Monte, A., Cerwenka, A. F., Ruthensteiner, B., Gahr, M., & Düring, D. N. (2020). The hummingbird syrinx morphome: A detailed three-dimensional description of the black jacobin's vocal organ. *BMC Zoology*, 5(1), 7. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40850-020-00057-3
- Monte, A. de A. (2012). *Duetos na Amazônia: Análise da sintaxe do canto em dueto do gênero Thryothorus* (Aves, Troglodytidae). http://repositorio.ufpa.br:8080/ispui/handle/2011/5583
- Morton, E. S. (1977). On the Occurrence and Significance of Motivation-Structural Rules in Some Bird and Mammal Sounds. *The American Naturalist*, *111*(981), 855–869.
- Moura, L. N. de, da Silva, M. L., & Vielliard, J. (2011). Vocal Repertoire of Wild Breeding
 Orange-Winged Parrots Amazona Amazonica in Amazonia. *Bioacoustics*, 20(3), 331–
 339. https://doi.org/10.1080/09524622.2011.9753655
- Müller, J. P. (1878). On certain variations in the vocal organs of the Passeres that have hitherto escaped notice. Oxford, Clarendon Press. http://archive.org/details/cu31924000122428

- Narins, P. M. (1990). Seismic Communication in Anuran Amphibians. *BioScience*, 40(4), 268–274. https://doi.org/10.2307/1311263
- Nelson, D., & Cox, M. (2008). Lehninger Principles of Biochemistry. In *Wh Freeman* (5th ed.).W. H. Freeman and company. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-662-08289-8
- Nicholson, E. M. (1931). Communal Display in Hummingbirds. *Ibis*, 73(1), 74–83. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1474-919X.1931.tb01506.x
- Nottebohm, F. (1970). Ontogeny of Bird Song. Science, 167(3920), 950–956. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.167.3920.950
- Nottebohm, F. (1976). Phonation in the Orange-winged Amazon parrot, *Amazona amazonica*. *Journal of Comparative Physiology*, *108*(2), 157–170. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF02169046
- Nottebohm, F. (1980). Testosterone triggers growth of brain vocal control nuclei in adult female canaries. *Brain Research*, *189*(2), 429–436. https://doi.org/10.1016/0006-8993(80)90102-X
- Nottebohm, F. (1981). A Brain for All Seasons: Cyclical Anatomical Changes in Song Control Nuclei of the Canary Brain. *Science*, 214(4527), 1368–1370. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.7313697
- Nottebohm, F. (1991). Reassessing the mechanisms and origins of vocal learning in birds. *Trends in Neurosciences*, 14(5), 206–211. https://doi.org/10.1016/0166-2236(91)90107-6
- Nottebohm, F. (1992). The Search for Neural Mechanisms That Define the Sensitive Period for Song Learning in Birds. *Netherlands Journal of Zoology*, *43*(1–2), 193–234. https://doi.org/10.1163/156854293X00296
- Nottebohm, F. (2005). The Neural Basis of Birdsong. *PLoS Biology*, 3(5). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pbio.0030164

- Nottebohm, F., & Arnold, A. P. (1976). Sexual dimorphism in vocal control areas of the songbird brain. *Science*, *194*(4261), 211–213. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.959852
- Nottebohm, F., & Nottebohm, M. E. (1978). Relationship between Song Repertoire and Age in the Canary, Serinus canarius. *Zeitschrift Für Tierpsychologie*, 46(3), 298–305. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1439-0310.1978.tb01451.x
- Nottebohm, F., Stokes, T. M., & Leonard, C. M. (1976). Central control of song in the canary, Serinus canarius. *The Journal of Comparative Neurology*, *165*(4), 457–486. https://doi.org/10.1002/cne.901650405
- Nowicki, S., & Searcy, W. A. (2014). The evolution of vocal learning. *Current Opinion in Neurobiology*, 28, 48–53. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.conb.2014.06.007
- Okanoya, K., & Screven, L. A. (2018). Rodent Vocalizations: Adaptations to Physical, Social, and Sexual Factors. In M. L. Dent, R. R. Fay, & A. N. Popper (Eds.), *Rodent Bioacoustics* (pp. 13–41). Springer International Publishing. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-92495-3_2
- Olefsky, J. M., & Kimmerling, G. (1976). Effects of glucocorticoids on carbohydrate metabolism. *The American Journal of the Medical Sciences*, 271(2), 202–210. https://doi.org/10.1097/00000441-197603000-00009
- Olson, C. R., Fernández-Vargas, M., Portfors, C. V., & Mello, C. V. (2018). Black Jacobin hummingbirds vocalize above the known hearing range of birds. *Current Biology*, 28(5), R204–R205. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2018.01.041
- Payne, R. B. (1984). Sexual Selection, Lek and Arena Behavior, and Sexual Size Dimorphism in Birds. *Ornithological Monographs*, *33*, 1–52.
- Pelosi, P., Iovinella, I., Felicioli, A., & Dani, F. R. (2014). Soluble proteins of chemical communication: An overview across arthropods. *Frontiers in Physiology*, 5, 320. https://doi.org/10.3389/fphys.2014.00320

- Perlman, M., & Clark, N. (2015). Learned vocal and breathing behavior in an enculturated gorilla. Animal Cognition, 18(5), 1165–1179. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10071-015-0889-6
- Peters, M., & Ploog, D. (1973). Communication Among Primates. Annual Review of Physiology, 35(1), 221–242. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.ph.35.030173.001253
- Petkov, C. I., & Jarvis, E. (2012). Birds, primates, and spoken language origins: Behavioral phenotypes and neurobiological substrates. *Frontiers in Evolutionary Neuroscience*, 4. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnevo.2012.00012
- Pfenning, A. R., Hara, E., Whitney, O., Rivas, M. V., Wang, R., Roulhac, P. L., Howard, J. T., Wirthlin, M., Lovell, P. V., Ganapathy, G., Mouncastle, J., Moseley, M. A., Thompson, J. W., Soderblom, E. J., Iriki, A., Kato, M., Gilbert, M. T. P., Zhang, G., Bakken, T., ... Jarvis, E. D. (2014). Convergent transcriptional specializations in the brains of humans and song-learning birds. *Science (New York, N.Y.)*, *346*(6215), 1256846. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1256846
- Phoenix, C. H., Goy, R. W., Gerall, A. A., & Young, W. C. (1959). Organizing action of prenatally administered testosterone propionate on the tissues mediating mating behavior in the female Guinea Pig. *Endocrinology*, 65(3), 369–382. https://doi.org/10.1210/endo-65-3-369
- Pizo, M. A. (2012). Lek behavior of the plovercrest (Stephanoxis lalandi, Trochilidae). The Wilson Journal of Ornithology, 124(1), 106–112.
- Pizo, M. A., & Silva, W. R. (2001). The Dawn Lek of the Swallow-Tailed Hummingbird. *The Wilson Bulletin*, 113(4), 388–397.
- Podos, J. (1997). A Performance Constraint on the Evolution of Trilled Vocalizations in a Songbird Family (passeriformes: Emberizidae). *Evolution*, 51(2), 537–551. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1558-5646.1997.tb02441.x

- Poole, J. H., Tyack, P. L., Stoeger-Horwath, A. S., & Watwood, S. (2005). Elephants are capable of vocal learning. *Nature*, 434(7032), 455–456. https://doi.org/10.1038/434455a
- Pough, F. H., Janis, C. M., & Heiser, J. B. (2004). *Vertebrate Life* (7th edition). Benjamin-Cummings Pub Co.
- Projecto-Garcia, J., Natarajan, C., Moriyama, H., Weber, R. E., Fago, A., Cheviron, Z. A., Dudley, R., McGuire, J. A., Witt, C. C., & Storz, J. F. (2013). Repeated elevational transitions in hemoglobin function during the evolution of Andean hummingbirds. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 110(51), 20669–20674. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1315456110
- Prum, R. O., Berv, J. S., Dornburg, A., Field, D. J., Townsend, J. P., Lemmon, E. M., & Lemmon, A. R. (2015). A comprehensive phylogeny of birds (Aves) using targeted next-generation DNA sequencing. *Nature*, 526, 569.
- Pytte, C. L., Ficken, M. S., & Moiseff, A. (2004). Ultrasonic singing by the blue-throated hummingbird: A comparison between production and perception. *Journal of Comparative Physiology A*, 190(8), 665–673. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00359-004-0525-4
- Quispe, R., Sèbe, F., da Silva, M. L., & Gahr, M. (2016). Dawn-song onset coincides with increased HVC androgen receptor expression but is decoupled from high circulating testosterone in an equatorial songbird. *Physiology & Behavior*, 156, 1–7. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.physbeh.2015.12.027
- Reichmuth, C., & Casey, C. (2014). Vocal learning in seals, sea lions, and walruses. *Current Opinion in Neurobiology*, 28, 66–71. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.conb.2014.06.011
- Rico-Guevara, A., & Araya-Salas, M. (2015). Bills as daggers? A test for sexually dimorphic weapons in a lekking hummingbird. *Behavioral Ecology*, 26(1), 21–29. https://doi.org/10.1093/beheco/aru182

- Riede, T., & Olson, C. R. (2020). The vocal organ of hummingbirds shows convergence with songbirds. *Scientific Reports*, 10(1), Article 1. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-020-58843-5
- Riede, T., Thomson, S. L., Titze, I. R., & Goller, F. (2019). The evolution of the syrinx: An acoustic theory. *PLOS Biology*, *17*(2), e2006507. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pbio.2006507
- Rovner, J. S., & Barth, F. G. (1981). Vibratory Communication Through Living Plants by a
 Tropical Wandering Spider. *Science*, 214(4519), 464–466.
 https://doi.org/10.1126/science.214.4519.464
- Rüppell, W. (1933). Physiologie und Akustik der Vogelstimme. *Journal für Ornithologie*, 81(3), 433–542. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF01905461
- Ruppert, E. E., Fox, R. S., & Barnes, R. D. (2004). *Invertebrate Zoology: A Functional Evolutionary Approach*. Thomson-Brooks/Cole.
- Ruschi, A. (1964). A estação ou o período de reprodução nos beija-flores. *Boletim Do Museu de Biologia Prof. Mello Leitão*, 42.
- Ruschi, A. (1973). Beijas-Flores do Brasil—Introdução, Considerações gerais, Chave artificial para classificação dos ninhos de beija-flores, Chave analítica para determinar os gêneros representados no Brasil. *Boletim Do Museu de Biologia Prof. Mello Leitão*, 75.
- Russell, E. M. (1984). Social behaviour and social organization of marsupials. *Mammal Review*, *14*(3), 101–154. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2907.1984.tb00343.x
- Saunders, D. A. (1983). Vocal Repertoire and Individual Vocal Recognition in the Short-Billed White-Tailed Black Cokcatoo, Calyptorhynchus funereus latirostris CArnaby. *Wildlife Research*, 10(3), 527–536. https://doi.org/10.1071/wr9830527
- Scharff, C., & Nottebohm, F. (1991). A comparative study of the behavioral deficits following lesions of various parts of the zebra finch song system: Implications for vocal learning.

The Journal of Neuroscience: The Official Journal of the Society for Neuroscience, 11(9), 2896–2913.

- Schlinger, B. A., & Arnold, A. P. (1991). Brain is the major site of estrogen synthesis in a male songbird. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 88(10), 4191–4194. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.88.10.4191
- Schlinger, B. A., & Arnold, A. P. (1992). Circulating estrogens in a male songbird originate in the brain. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 89(16), 7650–7653.
- Schmidt, M. F., & Ashmore, R. (2008). Integrating breathing and singing: Forebrain and brainstem mechanisms. In H. P. Zeigler & P. Marler (Eds.), *Neuroscience of Birdsong* (pp. 115–135). Cambridge University Press.
- Schmitz, B. (2002). Sound Production in Crustacea with Special Reference to the Alpheidae. In K. Wiese (Ed.), *The Crustacean Nervous System* (pp. 536–547). Springer.
- Schuchmann, K. L. (1999). Family Trochilidae (Hummingbirds). In J. del Hoyo, A. Elliott, &
 J. Sargatal (Eds.), *Handbook of the Biords of the World. Vol. 5. Barn-owls to Hummingbirds*. (pp. 34–75). Lynx Edicions.
- Searcy, W. A., & Beecher, M. D. (2009). Song as an aggressive signal in songbirds. *Animal Behaviour*, 78(6), 1281–1292. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.anbehav.2009.08.011
- Shashar, N., Vaughan, K., Loew, E., Boal, J., Hanlon, R., & Grable, M. (2004). Behavioral evidence for intraspecific signaling with achromatic and polarized light by cuttlefish (Mollusca: Cephalopoda). *Behaviour*, 141(7), 837–861. https://doi.org/10.1163/1568539042265662
- Sick, H. (1997). Ornitologia Brasileira. Editora Nova Fronteira.
- Silva, M. L., & Vielliard, J. (2006). Entropy calculations for measuring bird song diversity: The case of the White-vented Violet-ear (*Colibri serrirostris*) (Aves, Trochilidae). *Razprave IV. Razreda SAZU*, 47, 37–49.

- Skutch, A. F. (1964). Life Histories of Hermit Hummingbirds. *The Auk*, 81(1), 5–25. https://doi.org/10.2307/4082606
- Smith, S. T. (1972). *Communication and other social behavior in Parus carolinensis* (pp. 1–144). The Club. https://www.biodiversitylibrary.org/item/260129
- Smolker, R. E. (1947). *The Avian syrinx, its use in classification*. [Master, Boston University]. https://hdl.handle.net/2144/17264
- Snell, T. W., Rico-Martinez, R., Kelly, L. N., & Battle, T. E. (1995). Identification of a sex pheromone from a rotifer. *Marine Biology*, 123(2), 347–353. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00353626
- Snow, B. K. (1973). The Behavior and Ecology of Hermit Hummingbirds in the Kanaku Mountains, Guyana. *The Wilson Bulletin*, 85(2), 163–177. https://doi.org/10.2307/4160317
- Snow, D. W. (1958). A study of blackbirds. G. Allen and Unwin.
- Snow, D. W. (1968). The singing assemblies of Little Hermits. The Living Birds, 7, 47-55.
- Sombke, A., Harzsch, S., & Hansson, B. S. (2011). Organization of Deutocerebral Neuropils and Olfactory Behavior in the Centipede Scutigera coleoptrata (Linnaeus, 1758) (Myriapoda: Chilopoda). *Chemical Senses*, 36(1), 43–61. https://doi.org/10.1093/chemse/bjq096
- Spector, D. A. (1994). Definition in Biology: The Case of "Bird Song." *Journal of Theoretical Biology*, *168*(4), 373–381. https://doi.org/10.1006/jtbi.1994.1117
- Stacey, N., & Sorensen, P. (1991). Function and evolution of fish hormonal pheromones. In P.
 W. Hochachka & T. P. Mommsen (Eds.), *Biochemistry and Molecular Biology of Fishes*(Vol. 1, pp. 109–135). Elsevier. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-444-89124-2.50009-9
- Stiles, F. G. (1982). Aggressive and Courtship Displays of the Male Anna's Hummingbird. *The Condor*, 84(2), 208–225.

- Stiles, F. G., & Wolf, L. L. (1979). Ecology and Evolution of Lek Mating Behavior in the Long-Tailed Hermit Hummingbird. Ornithological Monographs, 27, iii–78. https://doi.org/10.2307/40166760
- Striedter, G. F. (1994). The vocal control pathways in budgerigars differ from those in songbirds. *Journal of Comparative Neurology*, 343(1), 35–56. https://doi.org/10.1002/cne.903430104
- Suarez, R. K. (1992). Hummingbird flight: Sustaining the highest mass-specific metabolic rates among vertebrates. *Experientia*, 48(6), 565–570. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF01920240
- Suthers, R. A., & Zollinger, S. A. (2008). From brain to song: The vocal organ and vocal tract. In H. P. Zeigler & P. Marler (Eds.), *Neuroscience of Birdsong* (pp. 78–98). Cambridge University Press.
- ten Cate, C. (2021). Re-evaluating vocal production learning in non-oscine birds. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B*. https://doi.org/10.1098/rstb.2020.0249
- ten Cate, C., & Fullagar, P. J. (2021). Vocal imitations and production learning by Australian musk ducks (*Biziura lobata*). *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 376(1836), 20200243. https://doi.org/10.1098/rstb.2020.0243
- Ter Maat, A., Trost, L., Sagunsky, H., Seltmann, S., & Gahr, M. (2014). Zebra Finch Mates Use Their Forebrain Song System in Unlearned Call Communication. *PLoS ONE*, 9(10), e109334. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0109334
- Theunissen, F., Amin, N., Shaevitz, S., Woolley, S. M. N., Fremouw, T., & Hauber, M. E. (2008). Song selectivity and the songbird brain. In H. P. Zeigler & P. Marler (Eds.), *Neuroscience of Birdsong* (pp. 157–173). Cambridge University Press.
- Thiele, N., & Köppl, C. (2018). Gas Anesthesia Impairs Peripheral Auditory Sensitivity in Barn Owls (Tyto alba). *ENeuro*, 5(5). https://doi.org/10.1523/ENEURO.0140-18.2018
- Thomassen, H. A., den Tex, R.-J., de Bakker, M. A. G., & Povel, G. D. E. (2005). Phylogenetic relationships amongst swifts and swiftlets: A multi locus approach. *Molecular*

 Phylogenetics
 and
 Evolution,
 37(1),
 264–277.

 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ympev.2005.05.010
 37(1),
 264–277.

- Thomassen, H. A., & Povel, G. D. E. (2006). Comparative and phylogenetic analysis of the echo clicks and social vocalizations of swiftlets (Aves: Apodidae). *Biological Journal* of the Linnean Society, 88(4), 631–643. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1095-8312.2006.00648.x
- Thurber, W. A., Schulenberg, T. S., & Sedgwick, C. W. (2020). Wine-throated Hummingbird(Atthisellioti).BirdsoftheWorld.https://birdsoftheworld.org/bow/species/withum1/cur/introduction
- Tietjen, W. J., & Rovner, J. S. (1982). Chemical Communication in Lycosids and Other Spiders.
 In W. J. Tietjen & J. S. Rovner (Eds.), *Spider Communication* (pp. 249–280). Princeton
 University

http://www.degruyter.com/document/doi/10.1515/9781400857517.249/html

- Timmermeyer, N., & Stelzer, C.-P. (2006). Chemical induction of mixis in the rotifer Synchaeta tremula. *Journal of Plankton Research*, 28(12), 1233–1239. https://doi.org/10.1093/plankt/fbl052
- Tomasello, M. (2010). Origins of Human Communication. MIT Press.
- Tramontin, A. D., Wingfield, J. C., & Brenowitz, E. A. (2003). Androgens and estrogens induce seasonal-like growth of song nuclei in the adult songbird brain. *Journal of Neurobiology*, 57(2), 130–140. https://doi.org/10.1002/neu.10263
- Uetz, G. W., Clark, D. L., Roberts, J. A., & Rector, M. (2011). Effect of visual background complexity and light level on the detection of visual signals of male Schizocosa ocreata wolf spiders by female conspecifics. *Behavioral Ecology and Sociobiology*, 65(4), 753– 761. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00265-010-1079-9
- Uetz, G. W., & Stratton, G. E. (1982). Acoustic Communication and Reproductive Isolation in Spiders. In W. J. Tietjen & J. S. Rovner (Eds.), *Spider Communication* (pp. 123–160).

Princeton University http://www.degruyter.com/document/doi/10.1515/9781400857517.123/html

- Vallet, E., Kreutzer, M., & Gahr, M. (1996). Testosterone Induces Sexual Release Quality in the Song of Female Canaries. *Ethology*, 102(4), 617–628. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1439-0310.1996.tb01153.x
- Vellema, M., Diales Rocha, M., Bascones, S., Zsebők, S., Dreier, J., Leitner, S., Van der Linden, A., Brewer, J., & Gahr, M. (2019). Accelerated redevelopment of vocal skills is preceded by lasting reorganization of the song motor circuitry. *ELife*, 8, e43194. https://doi.org/10.7554/eLife.43194
- Vielliard, J. (1983). Catálogo sonográfico dos cantos e piados dos beija-flores do Brasil. Boletim Do Museu de Biologia "Mello Leitão", I(58), 1–20.
- Vielliard, J. (1987). O uso da bioacústica na observação de aves. 98-121.
- Vielliard, J., & Silva, M. L. da. (2010). Bioacústica: Bases teóricas e regras práticas de uso em ornitologia. In S. V. Matter, V. de Q. Piacentini, F. C. Straube, J. F. C. Jr, & I. A. Accordi (Eds.), Ornitologia e Conservação: Ciência Aplicada, Técnicas de Pesquisa e Levantamento. Technical Books Editora.
- Virant-Doberlet, M., & Cokl, A. (2004). Vibrational communication in insects. *Neotropical Entomology*, 33, 121–134. https://doi.org/10.1590/S1519-566X2004000200001
- Vockel, A., Pröve, E., & Balthazart, J. (1990). Effects of castration and testosterone treatment on the activity of testosterone-metabolizing enzymes in the brain of male and female zebra finches. *Journal of Neurobiology*, 21(5), 808–825. https://doi.org/10.1002/neu.480210514
- Wada, K., Sakaguchi, H., Jarvis, E., & Hagiwara, M. (2004). Differential Expression of Glutamate Receptors in Avian Neural Pathways for Learned Vocalization. *The Journal* of Comparative Neurology, 476(1), 44–64. https://doi.org/10.1002/cne.20201

- Wang, F., Flanagan, J., Su, N., Wang, L.-C., Bui, S., Nielson, A., Wu, X., Vo, H.-T., Ma, X.-J., & Luo, Y. (2012). RNAscope: A Novel in Situ RNA Analysis Platform for Formalin-Fixed, Paraffin-Embedded Tissues. *The Journal of Molecular Diagnostics*, *14*(1), 22–29. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jmoldx.2011.08.002
- Wang, R., Chen, C.-C., Hara, E., Rivas, M. V., Roulhac, P. L., Howard, J. T., Chakraborty, M., Audet, J.-N., & Jarvis, E. D. (2015). Convergent differential regulation of SLIT-ROBO axon guidance genes in the brains of vocal learners. *The Journal of Comparative Neurology*, 523(6), 892–906. https://doi.org/10.1002/cne.23719
- Washburn, J. O., Gross, M. E., Mercer, D. R., & Anderson, J. R. (1988). Predator-induced trophic shift of a free-living ciliate: Parasitism of mosquito larvae by their prey. *Science*, 240(4856), 1193–1195. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.3131877
- Wehling, M. (1997). Specific, nongenomic actions of steroid hormones. Annual Review of Physiology, 59, 365–393. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.physiol.59.1.365
- Wild, J. M. (1997). Neural pathways for the control of birdsong production. *Journal of Neurobiology*, *33*(5), 653–670.
- Wiley, R. H. (1971). Song Groups in a Singing Assembly of Little Hermits. *The Condor*, 73(1), 28–35. https://doi.org/10.2307/1366121
- Williams, B. R., & Houtman, A. M. (2008). Song of Costa's Hummingbird (Calypte Costae). *The Auk*, 125(3), 663–669. https://doi.org/10.1525/auk.2008.07058
- Wingfield, J. C., Lynn, S. E., & Soma, K. K. (2001). Avoiding the "costs" of testosterone: Ecological bases of hormone-behavior interactions. *Brain, Behavior and Evolution*, 57(5), 239–251. https://doi.org/10.1159/000047243
- Winkler, D. W., Billerman, S. M., & Lovette, I. J. (2020). Hummingbirds (Trochilidae), version 1.0. *Birds of the World*. https://doi.org/10.2173/bow.trochi1.01
- Wolf, L. L. (1978). Aggressive Social Organization in Nectarivorous Birds. American Zoologist, 18(4), 765–778.

- Wyatt, T. D. (Ed.). (2014). Animals in a chemical world. In *Pheromones and Animal Behavior: Chemical Signals and Signatures* (2nd ed., pp. 1–48). Cambridge University Press. https://doi.org/10.1017/CBO9781139030748.003
- Zann, R. (1990). Song and call learning in wild zebra finches in south-east Australia. *Animal Behaviour*, 40(5), 811–828. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0003-3472(05)80982-0
- Zann, R. A. (1996). *The Zebra Finch: A Synthesis of Field and Laboratory Studies*. Oxford University Press.
- Zeigler, H. P., & Marler, P. (2008). Neuroscience of Birdsong. Cambridge University Press.
- Zeigler, H. P., & Marler, P. (2012). Neuroscience of Birdsong. Cambridge University Press.
- Zenzal, T. J., Fish, A. C., Jones, T. M., Ospina, E. A., & Moore, F. R. (2013). Observations of Predation and Anti-Predator Behavior of Rubythroated Hummingbirds During Migratory Stopover. *Southeastern Naturalist*, *12*(4). https://doi.org/10.1656/058.012.0416
- Zusi, R. L. (2013). Introduction to the Skeleton of Hummingbirds (Aves: Apodiformes, Trochilidae) in Functional and Phylogenetic Contexts. In *Ornithological Monographs No.* 77: Vol. No. 77 (pp. 1–94). American Ornithologists' Union. https://doi.org/10.1525/om.2013.77.1.1
- Zusi, R. L., & Bentz, G. D. (1984). Myology of the Purple-throated Carib (Eulampis jugularis) and Other Hummingbirds (Aves: Trochilidae) (Smithsonian Contributions to Zoology number 385). Smithsonian Institution Press.

Acknowledgments

First, thank you very much to my supervisor Dr. Manfred Gahr for all the support throughout this long, ambitious and almost endless project. I also want to thank my original Ph.D. Advisory Committee (PAC) Dr. Maria Luisa da Silva and Dr. Michaela Hau for support in the design of the project, field assistance and commenting on manuscripts. Also, the infinite support of all the team of the Department Gahr in the Max Plank Institute for Biological Intelligence (former Max Planck Institute for Ornithology), specially, Dr. Albertine Leitão and Dr. Carolina Frankl-Vilches. The guidance and expertise of Dr. Daniel Düring on the chapter about the vocal organ of the hummingbirds. The Max Planck Society for funding this project.

The support of the International Max Planck Research School for Organismal Biology was also fundamental during this long Ph.D. All the courses, funding and mentoring were much helpful in all phases of the project. I wish all Ph.D. students would have had the possibility to be under the supporting umbrella of a grading school like that.

Infinite thanks to all the institutions and people that supported the data collection in the field. An intercontinental project like this would not be possible without the collaboration of the Federal University of Para (UFPa), Belém, Brazil, Prof. Maria Luisa da Silva, Prof. Silene Maria Araujo de Lima and the team of the Laboratory of Ornithology and Bioacoustic: Viviany Costa, Felipe Castro and Danielson Aleixo; Evandro Chagas Institute (IEC), Prof. Edivaldo de Oliveira and the National Institute of the Atlantic Forest (INMA) (former Professor Mello Leitão Biology Museum), former director Hélio de Queiroz Boudet Fernandes, the actual Sergio Lucena and all the staff of the museum.

Thanks immensely to my former Ph.D. colleagues and now friends for life that gave me strength to go through this long, though yet interesting and fun decade. To the best office mates ever: Maggie, Pietro, Nico, Shouwen, later Alena and Mekhla, you made the heaviest days lighter. The best company one can ever have in the bus, lunch, courses, whatever: Yifan, Glenn, Laurie, Theresa, Qioayi, Esteban, Sandra, and all my lovely friends which names do not come in my absent mind right now. No words in this life to describe how thankful I am to have met you, las chicas, this would not be possible without your support: Lu, Pecas, Mari and Ivy, las quiero muchissimo! NO FRIENDS, NO LIFE!

A special thanks to mom, dad, my brother, my husband, and his family that always believed in me better than myself. They supported me in every step when funding, motivation and energy were over, they were there. They hold my hand and support me unconditionally in the toughest days, to you, my eternal gratitude.

A big thanks also to my therapist Carolina Abreu for keeping me healthy and hopeful. Last, but not least, thanks to me because, despite all hurdles, I never gave up.